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ABSTRACT 

Statement No. 9 ofthe Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) requires 

state and local governments to prepare a Statement of Cash Flows for their proprietary 

funds. The accounting standard was written by the GASB in 1989 and required since 

1991. The objective of this study was to determine if users of governmental financial 

reports perceived the statement of cash flows to be useful in the analysis of proprietary 

fund operations. 

In a nationwide survey of 1,500 participants from citizen action groups, finance 

directors, city council members, county commissioners, credit rating agency personnel, 

and independent auditors, the answers to three research questions were sought: 

(1) Do users (primarily the citizenry, legislative and oversight bodies, and creditors) 

perceive the statement of cash flows (SCF) to provide useful information beyond 

what is available in the other financial statements (the balance sheet and the 

operating statement)? 

(2) Do users and preparers recognize and understand the differences between the 

Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 95 and GASB Statement 

No. 9 SCF models and are these differences significant? 

(3) Does the use ofthe dkect method or indirect method for the preparation ofthe 

Operating Activities section ofthe SCF influence users' perceptions ofthe 

usefulness ofthe SCF? 

The results ofthe survey indicate that users do perceive the SCF to provide 

information beyond what is available in the other financial statements. Also, the users 

xii 



were able to correctly apply the balance sheet, operating statement, and SCF in assessing 

specific financial analysis issues. This result indicates that users are able to adapt to 

changes in financial reporting and are not fixated on the use of one financial statement in 

assessing the operations of a proprietary fund. 

The survey results also indicate that users and preparers recognize the differences in 

the FASB and GASB models for preparing the SCF. Most respondents believe that the 

GASB model is superior to the FASB model for six reporting issues and for reporting 

cash flows by proprietary funds. 

Finally, the responses to the survey indicate that users are influenced by the method 

used to prepare the SCF. Most respondents believe that the direct method is superior to 

the indirect method for five SCF reporting objectives. Additionally, most respondents 

indicate that the direct method with a reconciliation of operating income to cash flows 

from operations should be required for all cities preparing the statement of cash flows. 

This recommendation is contrary to the method currently used by most cities in reporting 

cash flows. 

The results of this study have important ramifications for the GASB as the Board 

considers the possible implementation of a new financial reporting model. This new model 

could include a statement of cash flows prepared for the entire government. This study 

may serve as a foundation for the design and testing of a new SCF model. 
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CHAPTER I 

OVERVIEW 

Bills can't be paid with revenues; fund balance or fund equity will not do, either; 
nor will income, excess of revenues over expenditures, working capital, net assets, 
current assets, or even quick assets. Bills must be paid with CASH! (Anonymous) 

Introduction 

Cash may be the most understood element of financial reporting. Cash is the 

traditional measure of financial well-being, and it is the basis for measuring all amounts 

appearing on the financial statements. Its importance cannot be understated. As the quote 

above indicates, the amount of cash on hand is the ultimate measure of how much an 

entity can pay to providers of goods and services. Revenues, fund balance and fund 

equity, income, excess of revenues over expenditures, working capital, net assets, current 

assets, and quick assets are all important measures in the financial statements, but none is 

more important than cash. 

Measuring cash is not difficult. Reporting the causes of increases and decreases in 

cash can be difficult. Some have even questioned whether cash is the best measure to use 

in analyzing the flows of wealth in and out of an organization. Certainly, the focus ofthe 

present Statement of Cash Flows (SCF) has been debated throughout its history. Should 

the focus ofthe statement be working capital? Cash? Some other financial resource 

measure? The statement title, format, content, and the related disclosures have also been 



debated. This study examines these questions and debates and attempts to provide some 

answers. 

One might believe that these debates were finally settled with the publication of two 

accounting standards: 

• Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows 

(FASBS 95), published in 1987, and 

• Statement No. 9 ofthe Governmental Accounting Standards Board, Reporting 

Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental 

Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting {GASBS> 9), published in 1989. 

While some of these debates may appear to have been settled, the fact that there are two 

formats with different disclosure requirements has intensified the debate over the SCF in 

both the private and public sectors. This study reexamined the issues related to format, 

content, and related disclosures and raised some new issues. This analysis accomplished 

two objectives. First, the study validated the current SCF format used by governmental 

proprietary funds. Second, the study may serve as a foundation for the fijture 

development of a SCF suitable for the governmental unit as a whole. 

Statement ofthe Objective 

The objective of this dissertation was to determine if the users of governmental 

financial reports—the citizenry, government executive and legislative officials, creditors, 

and independent auditors—perceived the statement of cash flows (SCF) to be useful in the 

analysis of proprietary fund operations. The analysis included the format, content, and 



related disclosures ofthe SCF used in proprietary fund reporting and contrasted these 

elements with the SCF format used in the private sector. These comparisons were 

essential to understanding the nature ofthe SCF and whether it was important to have 

separate SCF formats for the public sector and the private sector. 

This research provides the basis for additional study and development of a SCF for use 

by all governmental funds, not just the proprietary funds. The format used for the 

government as a whole may be the one from this study, a format similar to ones used in 

the past, or a new format. The implementation of Statement No. 11 ofthe Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting-

Governmental Operating Statements (GASBS 11), and the possible implementation of a 

new reporting model may create the need for a SCF in the governmental fijnds. This new 

standard should lead to the adoption of a standard SCF format for the governmental unit 

as a whole. If so, future analysis based on this study could contribute to the initial 

development ofthe standard SCF format. 

Questions for Research 

To accomplish the primary objective, three questions concerning cash flow reporting 

are investigated in this study: 

1. Do users (primarily the citizenry, legislative and oversight bodies, and creditors) 

perceive the SCF to provide useful financial information beyond what is available 

in the other financial statements (the balance sheet and the operating statement)? 



2. Do preparers and users recognize and understand the differences between the 

FASBS 95 and GASBS 9 SCF models and are these differences significant? 

3. Does the use ofthe direct method or indirect method for the preparation ofthe 

Operating Activities section ofthe SCF influence users' perceptions ofthe 

usefulness ofthe SCF? 

Discussion ofthe Objective 

To discuss the objective of this research, it was important to first consider the 

objectives of governmental reporting. The initial attempt to establish these objectives was 

in the National Council on Governmental Accounting Concepts Statement 1 (NCGA 

CS 1), Objectives of Accounting and Financial Reporting for Governmental Units, issued 

in 1982. The first objective of this statement was of particular importance to this study: 

"To provide financial information useful for determimng and forecasting the flows, 

balances and requirements of short-term financial resources ofthe governmental unit" 

(1982, p. 2). An inherent part of this objective was the need to determine and forecast the 

cash balance and the requirement for additional cash. A SCF would be usefiil in meeting 

this objective, thus indicating the need for a SCF not only for proprietary fimds but also 

for governmental funds. 

The GASB reaffirmed this objective in its Concepts Statement No. 1 ofthe 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB CS 1), Objectives of Financial 

Reporting, issued in 1987. In this statement, the GASB states, "Financial reporting should 

provide information about how the governmental entity financed its activities and met its 



cash requirements" (1987, p. 28). A classified SCF best provides this information by 

showing: 

• the sources of cash—"met its cash requirements," and 

• the uses of cash—"financed its activities." 

Hence, the SCF required by GASBS 9 was an essential first step in accomplishing these 

objectives. However, GASBS 9 cannot be the final step since these financial reporting 

objectives were not limited to proprietary funds. The objectives apply to all governmental 

activities and funds. 

The GASB issued Statement 9 to partially accomplish the objectives of financial 

reporting, at least for the proprietary funds. GASBS 9 largely restated the GASB CS 1 

objectives: 

When used with related disclosures and information in the other financial 
statements, the information a statement of cash flows provides should help 
financial report users assess (a) an entity's ability to generate future net cash flows, 
(b) its ability to meet its obligations as they come due, (c) its needs for external 
financing, (d), the reasons for differences between operating income (or net 
income if operating income is not separately identified on the operating statement) 
and associated cash receipts and payments, and (e) the effects on the entity's 
financial position of both its cash and its noncash investing, capital, and financing 
transactions during the period. (1989, p. 3) 

Fulfillment of these SCF objectives determines the useflilness ofthe statement. The five 

objectives listed above are critical parts ofthe analysis that will be used to examine the 

research questions listed in the previous section. 

GASBS 9 provided additional support for examining the statement of cash flows. 

GASBS 9 addressed only proprietary flinds, nonexpendable trust funds, and governmental 



entities using proprietary fund accounting.̂  The governmental funds, expendable trust 

funds, and those activities that use governmental—as opposed to proprietary—accounting 

were not specifically addressed in the statement, but were certainly a factor in the design 

ofthe GASB SCF format. Indeed, in paragraphs 42 and 43 of GASBS 9, the 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (the Board) stated: 

42. . . . the Board reconsidered the need to address cash flow reporting and 
formally added a cash flow reporting project to its agenda. The Board concluded 
that the best approach to the project was to provide prompt, interim guidance for 
proprietary and similar XmsX funds and, after completion ofthe measurement focus 
and basis of accounting project, to evaluate the need for cashflow reporting by 
governmental funds. This evaluation will be made as part ofthe overall 
reexamination ofthe governmental financial reporting model. 

43. Pending further study, the Board beheves it would be desirable to prescribe 
a cash flow format that is appropriate for both governmental and proprietary 
funds. Although the format prescribed in this statement for proprietary funds may 
also be appropriate for governmental funds, the Board notes that further study for 
governmental funds may indicate that a somewhat different format may provide 
the optimal approach for both governmental and proprietary funds. As a result, 
readers should be aware that the overall reexamination ofthe governmental 
financial reporting model will also include a reexamination ofthe requirements of 
this Statement, (emphasis added) 

The design of a SCF format suitable for all funds used by governmental entities is the 

ultimate goal of this research, but not of this dissertation. The objective of this study was 

to complete the first in-depth analysis ofthe "interim guidance" provided by GASBS 9 for 

the SCF. Future research vdll address the objective of designing a SCF suitable for use by 

all governmental funds. Thus, this study was an initial step in the "overall reexamination 

ofthe governmental financial reporting model" (GASBS 9, 1989, p. 18). 

Âlthough GASBS 9 applied to "proprietary and nonexpendable trust funds and governmental 
entities that use proprietary fund accounting," reference will be made only to "proprietary funds" 
when discussing GASBS 9 to make references easier and briefer. 



Research Design 

A three-step process was used to accomplish the objective of this study: to examine 

the current SCF format used in proprietary fund accounting. First, a historical analysis of 

the evolution ofthe SCF—including the eariy funds statements, the research reports and 

opinions issued by American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), and the 

SCFs required by FASBS 95 and GASBS 9—is presented. An understanding ofthe 

history ofthe SCF as it developed in the public sector and in the private sector was 

essential to understanding and assessing the need for the statement. 

Second, to establish a theoretical basis for the analysis ofthe SCF, an examination was 

made ofthe accounting literature in the areas of communication theory and fimctional 

fixation. It was important to know how and why users of financial statements interpreted 

these reports in order to understand the need for the SCF. 

Third, a survey instrument was developed that tested users' perceptions ofthe SCF 

and how the statement was used in their analysis of proprietary fiind operations. The 

instrument examined the perceived differences in the FASB and the GASB formats ofthe 

SCF. The results obtained in this survey are presented and analyzed in Chapter V. 

The remainder of this chapter is divided into three sections that address briefly the 

principal topics of subsequent chapters. These topics include: (1) the development ofthe 

current SCF formats ofthe GASB and the FASB; (2) the theory supporting this research 

and an examination of other research using the SCF and similar statements; and (3) the 

survey techniques used in this analysis. 
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Development ofthe Current SCF Formats 

The Statement of Cash Flows, as it is known today, has been in existence for less than 

six years. But the statement has been used for more than 100 years as part of a company's 

annual report. Although the report has had many names, the purpose ofthe report was 

always the same: to provide cash-related information not readily available in the balance 

sheet and the income statement. The literature review in Chapter II will examine more 

closely the development ofthe statement formats and the bases used to prepare them. The 

intent in this section was to provide a broad overview ofthe development ofthe SCF. 

A pair of time lines, one for the private sector and another for the public sector, was 

used to examine the development ofthe SCF formats using the following events: 

• Developments prior to 1963 

• APBONo. 3: 1963 to 1971 

• APBONo. 19: 1971 to 1987 

• FASBS 95: 1987 to the present 

• GASBS 9: 1989 to the present 

These time lines are shown in Figure 1-1. 

Early Attempts to Use Funds Flow Reporting 

The Private Sector 

One ofthe eariiest uses ofthe funds flows statement was in the 1863 annual report of 

the Northern Central Railroad. It was a two column report with: 
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• the beginning cash balance and the principal "receipts" in the first column, and 

• outlays for assets and expenses and the ending cash balance in the second column. 

Another early funds flow report was in the 1881 annual report of American Bell 

Telephone Company. This report included a Cash Statement vdth a section for operating 

expenses, the first such segregation (Mann, 1975). 

A variety of reporting formats were used during the next thirty years. Some 

companies used "resources and applications," while others used "net resources and 

disposition" (Rosen and DeCoster, 1969). Not until William M. Cole's Accounts: Their 

Construction and Interpretation (1908) did a funds statement get into the accounting 

literature. Some consider Cole to be the creator ofthe funds statement despite the fact 

that funds statements had been used earlier. Cole used a "Where Got, Where Gone" 

format for the fiinds statement; he did not use the term "fiands." The statement simply 

reflected the changes in the balance sheet accounts. 

Cole's book was followed by several others proposing the use of funds statements: 

• William A. Paton and Russell A. Stevenson—Principles of Accounting (1918), 

• Homer E. Gregory^Accounting Reports in Business Management (1928), 

• Roy B. Kester—Advanced Accounting (1933), and 

• Stephen GWmm—Analyzing Financial Statements (1934). 

Funds statements were introduced in the American Institute of Accountants' national 

examination for certified pubHc accountants in the 1920s. During the 1920s and 1930s 

Paul-Joseph Esquerre and H. A. Finney had a running debate in The Journal of 

Accountancy on how best to solve the examination problems on preparing a funds flows 
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statement (Rosen and DeCoster, 1969). The debate over the form, content, and 

disclosures of funds flow reports continued for several years and made it apparent that an 

accounting standard was necessary to bring order to the reporting of funds in corporate 

annual reports. 

The Public Sector 

Little was published in the academic literature about the use of funds flows statements 

in governmental accounting during this period. Most of what was published is found in 

early governmental accounting textbooks. Francis Oakey (1921) identified the need to 

report the location and custody of cash and its availability for paying immediate demands. 

Lloyd Morey (1927) used a Summary of Receipts and Disbursements. Cari H. Chatters 

and Irving Tenner (1940) used a Statement of Cash Receipts, Disbursements, and 

Balances. A more complete review ofthe formats discussed and presented in these 

textbooks is found in Chapter II. 

Like the private sector, standard-setting bodies for state and local government (SLG) 

accounting were largely inactive during this period with regards to funds flow reporting. 

However, there were some major pronouncements issued on governmental accounting and 

reporting, including: 

• National Committee on Municipal Accounting Bulletin No. 1, Principles of 

Municipal Accounting, 1934 (NCMAB 1)—established the standard of having 

municipal business-type activities follow private sector accounting and reporting 

practices. 
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• NCMA Bulletin No. 5, Municipal Funds and their Balance Sheets, 193 5 

(NCMAB 5)—expanded and continued the standards set in NCMAB 1. 

• National Committee on Governmental Accounting Bulletin No. 14, Municipal 

Accounting and Auditing, 1951 (NCGAB 14)—provided the first examples from a 

standard-setting body of early cash receipts and disbursements reports. 

Each of these publications contained principles of municipal accounting, the contents of 

which are discussed in Chapter II. 

Accounting Research Study No. 2 

The year 1961 was a significant milestone in the development ofthe SCF. In that year 

Perry Mason's "Cash Flow" Analysis and The Funds Statement was published as 

Accounting Research Study No. 2 by the American Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (AICPA). This report was the first definitive study done on what was then 

the funds statement, and it laid the groundwork for future opinions ofthe Accounting 

Principles Board (APB) ofthe AICPA and for pronouncements of both the FASB and the 

GASB. 

Mason's report had two major sections: (a) "Cash Flow" Analysis, and (b) The Funds 

Statement. In the first section Mason examined how cash flow information was reported 

in annual reports. Cash flow did not mean the same then as now. Then, the term cash 

flow was used as a synonym for cash provided by operations (net income plus 

depreciation). Now, cash flow has a much broader meaning that includes the operating, 

investing, and financing activities of a business. 
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In his cash flow analysis section Mason found that most companies used what is now 

called the "indirect method" of preparing the funds flows statement—that is, the funds 

statement started with net income and added back depreciation.̂  He also found that most 

ofthe confusion surrounding the use ofthe statement stemmed from non-fiind transactions 

such as depreciation. Mason did not make any recommendations concerning a cash flows 

statement, per se. Rather, as the section title implies, he merely recommended some 

different analysis tools for using cash flow information. 

In the Funds Statement section ofthe report. Mason addressed the use of another 

statement as part ofthe annual report. He did not advocate the use of a cash flows 

statement, but rather a broader funds statement, and he defined funds as all financial 

resources—^working capital plus assets or financial resources that do not flow through the 

working capital accounts (1961, p. 54). 

Mason concluded with ten recommendations. The first two are highlighted here; all 

are discussed in Chapter II. First, he recommended that a fiinds statement "be treated as a 

major financial statement. It should be presented in all annual reports of corporations and 

be covered by the auditor's short-form report" (1961, p. 90). Second, and not 

surprisingly, he recommended as the definition of fijnds "all financial resources." This 

recommendation may indicate Mason's strong preference for the substance ofthe 

transaction over the form ofthe transaction. Some transactions would have not been 

included in the fimds statement had any other fiind definition been used. The impact of 

these and other recommendations will be seen more clearly later in this study. 

T̂his approach is also called the "add-back method" in some accounting literature. 
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APBONo. 3: 1963 to 1971 

Impact on the Private Sector 

Based largely on Mason's study, the APB issued Opinion No. 3, The Statement of 

Source and Application of Funds (APBO 3), in 1963. APBO 3 set the standard for years, 

and its influence can still be seen in the GASB and FASB SCF standards. 

APBO 3 was significant for what it did, but was perhaps even more significant for 

what it did not do. What the APB did was suggest the use of a funds statement. 

Paragraph 8 stated: 

The board believes that a statement of source and application of funds should be 
presented as supplementary information in financial reports. The inclusion of 
such information is not mandatory, and it is optional as to whether it should be 
covered m the report of the independent accountant. (1963, p. 16, emphasis 
added) 

What APBO 3 did not do was require the use ofthe funds statement. Also, the opinion 

allowed the independent accountant (auditor) to exclude the funds statement from the 

audit report even if the statement was included in the annual report ofthe corporation. 

APBO 3 also set the standard for the content ofthe funds statement. The opinion 

adopted Mason's recommendation for the definition of funds—all financial resources. The 

impact of this definition continues to be reflected in contemporary cash flow statements 

even though the format has changed radically. The funds statement required that all non-

fund transactions be included in the body ofthe statement. Today's standards require that 

non-cash transactions be excluded from the body ofthe statement, but be disclosed either 

in the notes to the financial statements (FASB) or on the face ofthe cash flows statement 

(GASB). 
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If publishing APBO 3 was intended to settle the debate over the funds statement, it 

failed. Even before it was published in October, 1963, authors attacked both APBO 3 and 

the recommendations made in the Mason study. Many authors, including Vatter (1963) 

and Paton (1963), attacked the indirect method since its use made it appear that 

depreciation was a cash inflow. Alternatively, Li (1963b) supported the use ofthe indirect 

method but called for a separate listing of all non-fund adjustments and discretionary items 

such as dividends. Mauriello (1964) proposed specific methods of presenting fund flow 

data using a "balance sheet" form and an "income statement" form that approximated the 

indirect method and the direct method, respectively. These and other criticisms of 

APBO 3 are reviewed in greater detail in Chapter ni. 

Impact on the Public Sector 

It was difficult to measure the impact of APBO 3 on governmental funds flow 

reporting. NCGAB 14 recommended that accounting and reporting for proprietary funds 

follow practices found in the private sector. This recommendation would suggest that 

SLGs had to use the funds statement in reporting for their proprietary funds. However, 

no bulletins published after the issuance of APBO 3 required the use ofthe funds 

statement. Also, relatively little attention was being paid in the accounting literature to 

funds flow reporting for government business enterprises. 
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In 1968 the National Committee on Governmental Accounting issued Governmental 

Accounting, Auditing, and Financial Reporting (GAAFR 68). GAAFR 68 was a 

restatement of NCGAB 14. GAAFR 68 addressed extensively the requirements of 

financial reporting for all types of SLG fimds, both governmental and proprietary. 

GAAFR 68 required XhdX a Statement of Sources and Application of Cash Funds 

(emphasis added) be prepared for enterprise funds. The text stated that this statement was 

similar to what was "used frequently in accounting for privately owned business 

organizations" (GAAFR 68, p. 64). However, there were two significant differences 

between the GAAFR 68 and the APBO 3 reports. First, APBO 3 only recommended ihe 

use ofthe Statement of Source and Application of Funds. GAAFR 68 required the 

statement.̂  Thus, the NCGA was the first standard-setting body to require the 

preparation ofthe fiands statement. Second, the all financing resources approach using a 

working capital basis was the recommended format in APBO 3. GAAFR 68 required a 

cash basis be used in the statement. Both of these differences are significant, and GAAFR 

68 could have had an impact on later pronouncements. An example ofthe Statement of 

Sources and Application of Cash Funds is in Chapter III and is discussed in more detail 

there. 

ĜAAFR 68 states only that the statement".. .should be prepared and included in the fmancial 
reports of governmental enterprise funds" (GAAFR 68, p. 64). However, in accounting standards 
"should" generally means "will." 
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APBONo. 19: 1971 to 1987 

Given the objections made by Vatter, Paton, Li, Mauriello, and others to APBO 3, it 

should be apparent that some issues were not sufficiently addressed in APBO 3. Also, 

more and more companies began using the fimds statement as part of their annual reports 

during the 1960s (Figure 1-2). With this changing environment (and perhaps the GAAFR 

68 requirement for a cash statement) came the need for a new statement to address the 

unanswered questions of APBO 3. That new statement was APB Opinion No. 19, 

Reporting Changes in Financial Position (APBO 19). 

1965 

Fiscal Year End 

Audited 

Unaudited 

1967 1969 1971 

Figure 1-2. Impact of APBO 3. 
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APBO 19 can be distinguished from APBO 3 by the statement of objectives (APBO 3 

did not contain a list of objectives). The APBO 19 objectives were in Paragraph 4: 

Objectives ofthe fimds statement are (1) to summarize the financing and investing 
activities ofthe entity, including the extent to which the enterprise has generated 
fimds from operations during the period, and (2) to complete the disclosure and 
changes in financial position during the period. (1971, p. 372, emphasis added) 

It is notable that APBO 19 listed financing, investing, and operating activities in its 

objectives since the reporting standard did not require that the statement be prepared using 

these three sections. Significantly, APBO 19 did not prescribe the actual format ofthe 

report but only its content. Also, even though the financing, investing, and operating 

activities were not used specifically in APBO 19, all three sections were used later in 

FASBS 95. The use of these sections in the SCF is discussed in Chapter m. 

Given that APBO 19 applied "to all profit-oriented business entities," a case may be 

made that APBO 19 was applicable to the business-type activities of governmental 

entities. There were two bases for this conclusion. First, APBO 19 referred to "all profit-

oriented business entities." This definition could be extended to include governmental 

business entities. Second, the accounting principles published by the NCMA and the 

NCGA had included provisions for accounting for municipal business enterprises in the 

same manner as private enterprises. However, the requirement to report in a similar 

manner was not included in GAAFR 68. Therefore, extending this opinion to proprietary 

fiinds would not be as apparent. 

The requirement to include the SCFP in accounting for enterprise fiinds was first 

codified as part ofthe Audits of State and Local Governmental Units (ASLGU), published 
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by the AICPA in 1974. Later, the SCFP was required in governmental accounting when 

the National Council on Governmental Accounting (NCGA)'* issued Interpretation 1, 

GAAFR and the AICPA Audit Guide (NCGAI 1), in 1975. 

While APBO 19 was widely hailed as an improvement over APBO 3, major problems 

were identified in the accounting standard. The principal problems revolved around five 

major points, including: the direct and indirect methods of preparation; the alternative 

working capital and cash bases of preparation; the objectives ofthe statement; the format 

ofthe statement; and the lack of disclosures in the statement. These and other issues are 

examined in greater detail in Chapter III. 

FASBS 95: 1987 to the Present 

FASBS 95 prescribed the SCF model for the private sector. Reasons for issuing 

FASBS 95 included the problems with APBO 19, identified briefly in the preceding 

section, and the change in the preparation basis ofthe SCFP from the working capital 

basis to the cash basis. Paragraph 2 of FASBS 95 cites as problems v^th APBO 19: 

ambiguity of certain terms, lack of comparability in the focus ofthe statement, variations 

in classifications of specific items, and reporting net instead of gross inflows and outflows. 

The FASB felt it was necessary to provide more specific meanings for the terms used in 

cash flow reporting. Also, since APBO 19 did not specify a format for the SCFP, several 

"̂ NCGA refers to both the National Committee on Governmental Accounting and the National 
Council on Governmental Accounting. Each was formed by the Municipal Finance Officers 
Association (MFOA), later replaced by the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA), and 
had the same responsibility: to establish SLG GAAP. The NCGA was replaced by the GASB in 
1984. 
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different formats were in use, making comparability between companies difficult. 

Companies would also report similar cash flows in different sections ofthe report, fiirther 

complicating comparisons. Finally, reporting net instead of gross flows obscured some 

important details about the change in financial position. 

The second reason for issuing a standard on cash flow reporting was the change from 

the working capital basis to the cash basis for preparing the SCFP. When APBO 19 was 

first issued, almost all fiinds flows statements were prepared using the working capital 

basis. However, more and more firms began preparing the statement on the cash basis. 

The change from a working capital-basis SCFP to the cash-basis SCFP was both constant 

and dramatic (Figure 1-3). The change was particularly dramatic from 1980 to 1982. 

Several significant events precipitated this change and led to the issuance of FASBS 95 

(Figure 1-4). Most of these events were actions by the FASB and were designed to sohcit 

input from users on what they felt was needed to improve financial reporting. 
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Figure 1-3. Impact of APBO 19. 
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December 1980 

November 1981 

Late in 1981 

December 1983 

December 1984 

April 1985 

May 1985 

March 1986 

July 1986 

December 1986 

Januaiy 1987 

Febmaiy 1987 

March 1987 

November 1987 

FASB issues DM, Reporting Funds Flows, Liquidity, and Financial Flexibility, which 
includes a discussion on how funds flows should be reported. 

FASB issues exposure draft of concepts statement, Reporting Income, Cash Flows, and 
Financial Position of Business Enterprises, which concludes that cash rather than 
working capital should be the focus of the funds statement 

FEI encourages members to use cash as basis for SCFP. 

FASB issues exposure draft on concepts statement. Recognition and Measurement in 
Firumcial Statements of Business Enterprises, which also examined the SCF. 

FASB issues Concept Statement No. 5, Recognition and Measurement in Financial 
Statements of Business Enterprises, which concluded that a cash flows statement should 
be part of a full set of set of financial statements. 

FASB establishes a cash flow reporting project 

FASB organizes Task Force on Cash Row Reporting. 

Advisory Group on Cash Row Reporting by Financial Institutions organized. 

FASB issues exposure draft on SCF which generated more than 450 comment letters. 

FASB meets with securities analysts specializing in financial institutions to discuss 
impact of SCF exposure draft 

FASB holds public hearing on reporting cash flows for operating activities 

FASB meets with task force to discuss comments. 

FASB meets with advisory group. 

FASB issues Statement 95. 

Figure 1-4. Events Leading to FASBS 95 (adapted from Senatra, 1988). 

Like APBO 3 and APBO 19, FASBS 95 has been the subject of considerable 

discussion concerning possible shortcomings in the reporting standard. Many have 

disagreed with allowing alternative formats, preferring instead the use of either the direct 

method or the indirect methods in the preparation ofthe operating section ofthe report. 

Others said that there was insufficient disclosure in the statement of such things as 

quarterly reporting, segment cash flows, and noncash transactions. The placement of 

some items within the SCF, including interest and dividend receipts and interest 
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disbursements, was the subject of much debate. These issues are examined more closely 

in Chapter ni of this study. 

SLG Reporting in Question: 1987 to 1989 

The issuance of FASBS 95 had a significant, if somewhat curious, impact on SLG 

reporting. Because FASBS 95 replaced APBO 19, confusion was created in SLG 

reporting. NCGAS 1 and the ASLGU specifically stated that SLGs should use the SCFP 

for proprietary fiinds. When the GASB was established in 1984, GASB Statement No. 1, 

Authoritative Status ofNCGA Pronouncements and AICPA Industry Audit Guide, 

adopted all NCGA statements and the ASLGU as GAAP. Therefore, GAAP for SLGs 

still required the use ofthe SCFP. 

However, the GAAP hierarchy in force at the time (Figure 1-5) required that SLGs 

first follow GASB statements and interpretations. If the GASB had not issued a statement 

or interpretation that specifically addressed an issue, FASB statements and interpretations 

were to be used as SLG GAAP. Therefore, even though NCGAS 1 required the use of 

the SCFP, FASBS 95 had effectively superseded APBO 19, thus requiring the use ofthe 

SCF in proprietary fund accounting. 

As discussed in the previous section, the shift in the basis of preparation ofthe SCFP 

from a working capital basis (Figure 1-3) to a cash basis had been one ofthe contributing 

factors in the issuance of FASBS 95. This dramatic shift had not occurred in the pubhc 

sector. For the two years prior to the effective date of GASBS 9, there had not been a 
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move towards a cash-based SCFP by the public sector (Figure 1-6) as there had been in 

the private sector.^ 

State and Local Government Accounting and Financial Reporting 

1. Pronouncements ofthe Governmental Accounting Standards Board [includes, to the extent that they have 
not been superseded, NCGA Standards and Interpretations and excerpts from certain AICPA pronouncements 
that were recognized as authoritative in GASB Statement No. 1] 

2. Pronouncements ofthe Financial Accounting Standards Board [includes, to the extent they have not been 
superseded, APB Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins] 

3. Pronouncements of [other] bodies composed of expert accoiuitants that follow a due process procedure, 
including broad distribution of proposed accounting principles for public comment, for the intended purpose of 
establishing accounting principles or describing existing practices that are generally accepted [includes AICPA 
audit and accounting guides and Statements of Position, as well as pronouncements of hospital, college and 
\miversity, and nonprofit organization association committees] 

4. Practices or [other] pronouncements that are widely recognized as being gaia-ally accepted because they 
r&pxtstni prevalent practice in a particular industry or the knowledgeable application to specific circumstances of 
pronouncements that are generjdly accepted [includes AICPA 'Trends and Techniques" and other studies of 
current accounting and reporting practices] 

5. Other accounting literature [includes textbooks, journal articles, speeches, and the like] 

Figure 1-5. GAAP "Hierarchy" (adapted from Freeman, Shoulders, and Lynn, 
1988, p. 17). 

To address the confiision and apparent contradiction of APBO 19 and FASBS 95, the 

GASB ruled that until it could issue its own standard, SLGs could report changes in 

financial position for proprietary fiinds using either the SCFP under APBO 19 or the SCF 

from FASBS 95. However, if the SCF was used, the SLGs still had to comply vdth the 

requirements of APBO 19 (GASBS 9, 1989). As Figure 1-6 shows, not many SLGs 

adopted the SCF format of FASBS 95, and some ofthe governments that adopted 

FASBS 95 continued to call the SCF a SCFP. 

T̂he information presented in Figure 1-6 was obtained in a convenience survey of fiscal years 
(FYs) 1988 through 1991 Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports (CAFRs) available in the 
Governmental Accounting Research Center (GARC) at Texas Tech University. 

file:///miversity


24 

SCFPWC 

SCFP Cash 

[JJ] FASBS 96 

S GASBS9 

1968 1869 1990 1991 
FtocalYavEnd 

Figure 1-6. SCFP/SCF Reporting for Governments. 

GASBS 9: 1989 to the Present 

GASBS 9, issued in September 1989, was the governmental accounting response to 

FASBS 95 and provided the current SCF model for SLG reporting. The requirements of 

GASBS 9 were very similar to those of FASBS 95. In fact, GASBS 9 stated: 

Except for the modifications to the categories in FASB Statement 95 . . . and the 
change in focus ofthe reconciliation of net cash flow from operating activities, all 
other applicable provisions of FASB Statement 95 are present in this statement 
. . . . To reduce the potential for other departures from FASB Statement 95, 
which might result from interpretation, the Board decided that, generally, the 
language in FASB Statement 95 should be repeated, where appropriate, in this 
Statement. As a result, the requirements and language in this Statement closely 

follow, and sometimes are identical to, the requirements and language in FASB 
Statement 95. However, in some instances, the FASB addresses cash flow issues 
. . . that are largely irrelevant to governmental enterprises, and the GASB does not 
deal with them in this Statement. Certain governmental enterprises may need 
guidance in these few areas . . . and may look to FASB 95 and its amendments. 
(1989, pp. 30-31, emphasis added) 
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The similarities and differences in the two accounting standards are analyzed in 

Chapter III. A line-by-line comparison ofthe two statements may be found in Appendix A 

to this study. 

Little has been v^tten to date on the SCF in governmental reporting in the academic 

or practitioner accounting literature. There has been some analysis comparing FASBS 95 

and GASBS 9 and a brief examination ofthe direct and indirect formats. These analyses 

are examined more closely in Chapters II, III, and IV. 

THEORY DEVELOPMENT 

Cash Flow Reporting Studies 

In examining the development ofthe statement of cash flows, it was necessary to 

review how funds flow information was used in accounting literature. Primarily, three 

types of studies have been made: predictive studies; event studies; and format studies. 

The predictive studies sought to determine whether fiinds flow or cash flow information 

was usefial in predicting security prices. Several studies—including Staubus (1965), 

Barlev and Livnat (1986), Raybum (1986), Bowen, Burgstahler, and Daley (1987), and 

Charitou and Ketz (1991)—found the information to be useful in predicting security 

prices. Other studies—including Ball and Brown (1968) and Beaver and Dukes (1972)— 

did not find the information to be usefiil. As can be seen from the dates of publication, 

only one of these studies, Charitou and Ketz (1991), was published after the release of 

FASBS 95. 
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The event studies examined whether fimds flow or cash flow data were usefiil in 

predicting bankruptcies or loan defaults. All the studies examined were published prior to 

the release of FASBS 95. Generally, the results of these studies were mixed. Some 

studies found the use of fiinds flow or cash flow to be usefiil in predicting these events— 

Beaver (1968) and Gentry, Newbold, and Whitford (1985b)—while others found little use 

for the data—Casey and Bartczak (1984), Gentry, Newbold, and Whitford (1985a), and 

Bradbury and Newby (1989). 

While all ofthe studies are examined in greater detail in Chapter III, they have only a 

minor impact on this research project. Predictions ofthe impact of fiinds flow or cash 

flow data on security prices, other than the possible effect on municipal bond prices, are 

not a problem in SLG reporting. Also, while bankruptcies and loan defaults do occur in 

the public sector— t̂he default ofthe Washington Public Power System and the bankruptcy 

of Orange County, California, being notable examples—the events are not as common in 

the public sector. However, it is instructive to see how fiinds flow and cash flow 

information have been used in the past in order to point out how this study is different 

from earlier research. Also, this analysis may be useful in fiiture research. 

There have been a few studies that have specifically addressed the format ofthe funds 

flow and cash flows statements. Some of these articles were reviewed in the previous 

section. Generally, the articles v^tten from an academic perspective found the direct 

method of preparing the SCF—computing gross cash inflows and outflows from 

operations—^to be preferable. Although the concept ofthe direct method was a relatively 

new one, most of these authors felt that reporting the computation of cash flows from 
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operations by adding depreciation to income made it appear that depreciation was a 

source of cash. In contrast, most ofthe articles written from a practitioner perspective 

supported the indirect method—adjusting net income for noncash times and changes in 

current asset and liability accounts—in preparing the SCF. Generally, this method was 

supported by practitioners for two reasons: (1) making the adjustments to compute cash 

flows from operations was often easier than calculating the gross cash inflows and 

outflows ofthe direct method; and (2) the use ofthe indirect method reconciled cash 

flows from operations to net (or operating) income. 

Other articles examining the format ofthe SCF are Klammer and Reed (1990 and 

1991). In the 1990 study, the authors examined the use ofthe indirect method and direct 

method in preparing the SCF in the private sector. Using bank analysts as subjects, they 

found that the choice of method made a difference in the loan decision ofthe analyst. In 

the 1991 study, Klammer and Reed examined the alternative methods in the pubhc sector 

and found the direct method to be preferred, although their results were not statistically 

significant. This latter study indicated the need for more in-depth analysis ofthe format 

issue, and this issue is one ofthe research questions for this study. 

Functional Fixation Studies 

Two separate theories on the use ofthe SCF in financial reporting were used as the 

basis for this research. The first theory was fimctional fixation. This theory held that 

people tend to focus on one thing as being the answer to a particular problem or issue. 

The foundation for this theory was in the psychology literature, most notably in studies by 



28 

Duncker (1945), Adamson (1952), Flavell, Cooper, and Loiselle (1958), and Birch and 

Rabinowitz(1951). 

The theory was first used in accounting by Ijiri, Jaedicke, and Knight (1966) who 

stated: 

Psychologists have found that there appears to be a "fimctional fixation" in most 
human behavior in which the person attaches a meaning to a title or subject (e.g., 
manufacturing cost) and is unable to see ahemative meanings or uses. People 
intuitively associate the value of an item through past experience, and often do not 
recognize that the value ofthe item depends, in fact, upon the particular moment in 
time and may be significantly different from what it was in the past. Therefore, 
when a person is placed in a new situation, he views the object or term as 
previously used. (1966, p. 194) 

The majority of studies in this area have deah with the inability of users to adapt to 

changes in accounting method and the effect ofthe change on net income. Thus, the 

studies have indicated that users of financial statements are functionally fixated on net 

income rather than understanding that income can change because of changes in 

accounting methods. 

This study applied the theory of fimctional fixation in two ways. First, there was an 

a priori belief that users of SLG financial reports would have a functional fixation on two 

financial statements: the balance sheet and the operating statement. This fixation was to 

resuh in their inability to use the SCF to answer certain questions about an enterprise's 

financial position. Second, fimctional fixation may manifest itself in users who use the 

SCF to the exclusion ofthe other financial statements. This problem analysis is discussed 

in the research design section of Chapter IV. 
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Communication Theory Studies 

The second theory used in the analysis ofthe use ofthe SCF was communication 

(information) theory. This theory was based on the idea that financial reports 

communicate or provide information to users. Communication theory was used to 

examine two reporting issues: 

• the use ofthe different formats required by the GASB and the FASB for preparing 

the SCF; and 

• the use ofthe direct method or indirect method in preparing the operating activities 

section ofthe SCF. 

Analysis of these issues v̂ U attempt to discover whether one format or one method 

presented more information that the others and was easier to understand and to use. 

Communication theory had its foundation in the communication industry and the work 

of Shannon (1948). His original model contained five parts, including an information 

source, a transmitter, a channel, a receiver, and a destination. Although Shannon 

developed his model primarily for the communication industry, it was easily adapted in the 

accounting literature by Bedford and Baladouni (1962), Li (1963a), Anton (1964), Baruch 

(1968), Bostick (1968), and Fertakis (1969). All of these authors addressed different 

aspects of Shannon's communication model and further developed supporting theories on 

the aspects of communication, noise, redundancy, and the level of surprise included in a 

message. All of these studies are examined in greater detail in Chapter IV of this study. 

Communication theory can be applied to this research in several ways. First and 

foremost, the SCF is a communication tool, the objectives of which are to communicate 
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information about the cash flows ofthe enterprise to the intended users. However, little 

attention has been given thus far to the needs of users in constructing the SCF. This study 

was the first broad-based attempt to analyze the needs of users and what was important 

from their point of view. Second, as a complement to the functional fixation theory, 

communication theory may explain why some users did not use the SCF in their analysis of 

entity operations. It may be the case that users only applied the balance sheet and the 

operating statement in their analysis because they do not understand the format or content 

ofthe SCF. Third, this study examined whether a single format ofthe SCF should be used 

for both the public and private sectors. This comparison will determine if one format 

contained more usefiil information than the other. 

Thus, the theoretical basis for this study was founded upon the fimctional fixation 

theory and communication theory. Combined in a new and different manner, this study 

attempted to discover if the SCF provided to users financial information beyond what was 

available in the balance sheet and operating statement. The study also sought to determine 

whether the format and preparation methods ofthe SCF made a difference in how the 

statement was used. In the following section, the survey techniques used in achieving 

these objectives are discussed. 

Survey Techniques 

A survey instrument was used to address the three research questions identified earlier 

in this chapter. Several ofthe questions and the design ofthe questionnaire were adapted 

from eariier studies dealing with cash flow and other reporting issues, including Hebert 
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and Freeman (1992), Johnson (1991), and Klammer and Reed (1990 and 1991). 

Questions for examining the usefiilness ofthe SCF, comparing the GASB and FASB SCF 

formats, and the use ofthe SCF in analyzing proprietary fiind operations were also 

developed. 

The questionnaire was divided into three parts with an additional section to gather 

demographic data about the respondents. Part I ofthe survey addressed financial 

statement analysis issues concerning the operation of an enterprise fiind. The respondents 

were asked to provide the source ofthe information they used in making their analysis, 

thus making it possible to determine if they used the SCF. In Part II ofthe questionnaire 

the respondents were asked to compare and contrast the formats for the SCF required by 

the GASB and the FASB. In Part III the respondents were asked to compare and contrast 

the direct method and indirect method of preparing the Operating Activities section ofthe 

GASB SCF. 

A survey of SLGs, preparers and independent auditors of financial statements, and 

users (oversight bodies, credit rating agencies, and citizenry) was conducted. Random 

samples were selected from each of these groups to complete the survey. The following 

sample design was used: 

• Governments—^both cities and counties were included in the survey. The finance 

officer or similar official was surveyed in each government selected. 

— a sample of cities with a population in excess of 50,000 with at least one city in 

every state (this second requirement required relaxing the population limitation 

in some states). 
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— a sample of counties with a population in excess of 100,000 with at least one 

county from every state (where applicable—some states do not have counties). 

Names for both groups were selected from the Municipal Executive Directory and 

the County Executive Directory. 

Preparers and independent auditors. Certified Public Accountants (CPAs) 

typically have a dual role in the preparation of SLG comprehensive annual financial 

reports (CAFRs); this arrangement was particularly true in smaller governments 

but also occurs in larger ones as well. Included in this sample were: 

— CPAs who have participated as reviewers in the Government Finance Officers' 

Association Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 

program; 

— CPAs who were members of state Governmental Accounting and Auditing 

Committees; and 

— state auditors. 

Oversight bodies. Individuals in these organizations review for management 

purposes SLG CAFRs. Selected members of local government city councils and 

county commissions, chosen from the Municipal Executive Directory and the 

County Executive Directory, were used in this group. 

Credit rating agencies and creditors. These two groups are shown together 

because of their close relationship. Credit rating agencies—predominantly 

Moody's, Standard & Poor's (S&P's), and Fitch's—evaluate financial statements of 

SLGs as part ofthe credit rating process. This process has a significant impact on 
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the ability of SLGs to receive financing from creditors, mostly banks, as well as 

insurers, mutual fimds, and individuals, to name just a few. The sample included 

members ofthe National Federation of Municipal Analysts. 

• Citizenry. This group is considered to be the most important user group. 

However, at the same time it is the most difficult user group to identity and to find 

knowledgeable users of SLG CAFRs. For this reason local chapters ofthe League 

of Women Voters and other civic organizations were used as surrogates for 

citizens. 

The selection process is discussed in Chapter IV. The results ofthe survey are presented 

and analyzed in Chapter V. 

Summary 

The primary objective of this study was to examine the current statement of cash flows 

(SCF) used by the proprietary fiinds in governmental accounting. This examination was 

made to determine if the users perceive the SCF to be usefiil in the analysis of proprietary 

fimd operations. The analysis included the format, content, and related disclosures ofthe 

SCF used in proprietary fiands and contrasted these elements with the SCF model used in 

the private sector. The preceding sections of this chapter introduced the problems and 

issues and provided a summary ofthe events leading to the current standards for SCF 

reporting. The development ofthe current SCF formats including early reports, APBOs 3 

and 19, FASBS 95, and GASBS 9 has been briefly discussed. The theory development 
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section briefly discussed the bases for this research. The survey technique section 

identified the technique to be used in this analysis and how the sample was selected. 

Organization of this Study 

There are five remaining chapters in this study. Chapter II is a more in-depth review 

ofthe early attempts to develop the fiinds flows statement. Chapter III examines the four 

major accounting standards that addressed both funds flows statements and cash flows 

statements and the current accounting literature, both academic and practitioner, related to 

the development ofthe current SCF models. Chapter IV develops the theories supporting 

this study including information (communication) theory and the functional fixation 

theory, and presents some additional empirical studies using fiinds flow and cash flow 

information. Chapter IV also presents the research plan including the survey techniques, 

statistical methods, and sampling plan for the study. Chapter V presents the resuhs ofthe 

survey and the analyses of these resuUs. Chapter VI reports the conclusions, 

recommendations, contributions, and limitations of this study. 



CHAPTER n 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS LITERATURE REVIEW: 

EVElSrrS PRIOR TO 1963 

. . . those who are bent on keeping up the attack on "profits" have found in "cash
flow" a means of getting afresh handhold on the old broomstick of depreciation 
for the purpose of stirring up another cloud of dust intended to obscure financial 
realities. (Paton, 1963, p. 246) 

Introduction 

The objective of this dissertation was to examine the current Statement of Cash Flows 

(SCF) for proprietary fiinds of governments to determine if the users perceived the SCF to 

be useful in the analysis of proprietary fiind operations. The analysis included determining 

if the SCF provided information to users beyond what was already available in the other 

financial reports. Also, the format, content, and related disclosures ofthe SCF used in 

proprietary fiind reporting were examined. Each of these elements were compared to the 

SCF format used in the private sector. 

This research provides a basis for additional study and development of a SCF for use 

in the entire governmental entity. The purpose ofthe future analysis will be the designing 

and the testing of a SCF format suitable for all governmental activities. The format used 

for the government as a whole may be the one currently in use for reporting cash flows in 

proprietary fiinds, the one currently in use for reporting cash flows in private sector 

businesses, one ofthe formats used in the past which are analyzed in this chapter, or some 

35 
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new format. The implementation of Statement No. 11 ofthe Governmental Accounting 

Standards Board, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting—Governmental 

Operating Statements (GASBS 11), and the possible implementation of a new reporting 

model may create the need for a SCF in the governmental fimds. These new standards 

should lead to the adoption of a standard SCF format for the governmental unit as a 

whole. If so, the fiiture research could contribute to the initial development ofthe 

standard SCF format. 

To achieve the objective of this study it was important to review the evolution ofthe 

current SCF for governmental proprietary fiinds. This review was based on the 

accounting literature for both current SCF models: 

• the "proprietary fiind" model based on Statement No. 9 ofthe Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and 

Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary 

Fund Accounting (GASBS 9). 

• the "business" model based on Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 

No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows (FASBS 95). 

The Analysis Time Lines 

For each SCF model, the literature review in Chapters II and III examined the 

discussion surrounding the publication ofthe major accounting opinions and accounting 

standards affecting fiinds or cash flow reporting: 



37 

• Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 3, The Statement of Source and 

Application of Funds (APBO 3), published in 1963; 

• Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 19, Reporting Changes in Financial 

Position (APBO 19), published in 1971; 

• FASBS 95, pubHshed in 1987; and 

• GASBS 9, published in 1989. 

The time frame for the development ofthe private sector and public sector SCF models is 

shown by separate time lines in Figure 2-1. Also shown on the time lines are some ofthe 

significant events leading to the development ofthe SCF. Major breaks in this time line 

occurred in conjunction with the publication ofthe above opinions and standards. As will 

be demonstrated in this literature review, the development has occurred mostly on 

separate tracks resulting in separate but somewhat equal development ofthe two SCF 

models. However, at various points in time there have been both convergence and 

divergence in the models used in the public and private sectors. 

The analysis in this chapter concentrated on the events leading up to the publication of 

ABPO 3. In the private sector, the analysis was based primarily on the financial 

accounting literature that addressed the fiinds flows statements and financial accounting 

textbooks that provided examples of statements used in that time period. The public 

sector analysis primarily examined governmental accounting textbooks ofthe era because 

little was vmtten in the academic or practitioner literature about the fiinds flows statement. 

The public sector analysis also explored the accounting standards issued by the National 

Committee on Municipal Accounting (NCMA) and the National Committee on 
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Governmental Accounting (NCGA) and the limited impact these standards had on fiinds 

flow reporting. In Chapter Ul the four major accounting standards that addressed the 

fiinds flows statement or the statement of cash flows are examined in detail. Too, 

accounting textbooks, practitioner literature, and other publications are reviewed to see 

how the public and private sectors viewed and implemented each accounting standard. 

Bases of Statement Analysis 

Before beginning the discussion ofthe development ofthe SCF, it is important to 

distinguish two terms: "fiinds flow" and "cash flow." Funds flow has been associated 

with many early fmancial reports, known as "fiinds flows statements," that presented 

information not shown on the balance sheet or income statement. There was considerable 

debate as to what types of flows should be reported and how funds should be defined. 

Anton (1962) pointed out that many definitions were used for fiinds, including: 

• accumulation or deposit of resources from which supplies are drawn; 

• sum of money, especially one the principal or interest of which is appropriated or 

devoted to a specific project; and 

• money systematically collected to meet the expense of some specified object. 

Anton also noted other definitions included in the works of other authors: 

• cash or its equivalent in financial transactions (Koch, 1943); 

• money receipts and expenditures (Mack, 1941); and 

• cash and financial resources when cash and noncash items are included 

(Dobrovolsky, 1951). 
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The other term often used in this chapter is "cash flow." The use of a cash flows 

statement is relatively new, but the concept of cash flow has been used for some time. 

Given the word "cash," one would think of only currency or cash in bank. In fact, early 

authors calculated cash flow by adding depreciation to net income (Mason, 1961). More 

recently, cash flow is commonly associated with the change in cash and cash equivalents, 

with cash flows classified as either operating, financing, or investing flows. 

Funds flow and cash flow form the bases for preparing the statements that were the 

forerunners to the SCF. Whenever possible during this discussion, the term commonly 

used during that time period is used and defined as discussed in the article in question. 

Particular attention was paid to various definitions of funds. 

Six features were used to compare the fimds flows statements and cash flows 

statements analyzed in this study and are presented in this and the following chapter. The 

purpose of this comparison was to emphasize how the fiinds flows statements and cash 

flows statements evolved over time. The features compared were: the title ofthe 

statement, its format; classifications used within the statement; the basis of presentation, 

the content ofthe statement; and additional disclosures required by the statement. A 

separate table comparing these features is presented for each section of Chapter n and 

Chapter m. 

The title ofthe statement may seem to be an unusual criterion for comparison. 

However, the title served as a means of examining how early preparers and users ofthe 

fiinds flows statements actually viewed the statement. The title also provided some insight 

on what the reports were intended to present. 
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The analysis of statement/o/7wa^ was based on two features. The first feature was 

based on the current practice of preparing the SCF operating activities section using either 

the indirect method or the direct method. The indirect method starts with net income 

(FASBS 95) or operating income (GASBS 9), adjusts net income for noncash transactions 

such as depreciation, and then adds or deducts changes in current asset and current 

liability accounts. The direct method recasts the income statement in a manner that 

discloses specific cash inflows and outflows—receipts from customers and payments to 

suppliers. This terminology is relatively recent, but versions ofthe methods can be seen in 

early fiinds flows statements. For ease of comparison, the current terminology is used 

whenever possible. The second feature was based on an analysis of fiinds flows 

statements made by Anton (1954). He identified three formats: 

• Balanced format, where sources of fiinds equaled uses (applications); 

• Reconciling format, where beginning and ending balances of fiinds were 

reconciled; and 

• Residual format, where applications were subtracted from sources to determine the 

change in fiinds balance. 

The classifications used wdthin the statement refer to whether different types of fiinds 

flows or cash flows are identified. For example, GASBS 9 requires the use of four 

classifications: operating, noncapital financing, capital and related financing, and 

investing. Also, the analysis indicates whether similar classifications were used to report 

both inflows and outflows, as is the case today, or if different titles were used. 
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The basis of presentation for the fiinds flows statements traditionally was all financing 

sources, working capital, or cash. Often, in examining older examples of fiinds flows 

statements, it was difiBcult to determine which basis was used. This diflSculty arose from 

many authors using very limited examples of fiinds flows statements in their discussion of 

the statement. Also, other proposed bases are analyzed in this chapter and in Chapter III. 

The analysis will identify the basis most common in each time period. 

The content ofthe fiinds flow or cash flows statement was closely related to the basis 

of presentation. In some ways, it was possible to compare content to the measurement 

focus ofthe statement. The measurement focus ofthe fiinds flows statement could be just 

cash transactions, all transactions affecting working capital accounts, or some other 

measure. 

Finally, the disclosures required by the statements represent additional information not 

presented within the body ofthe fiinds flow or cash flows statement. These disclosures 

could be separate statements, supplemental schedules, footnotes to the financial 

statements, or some other form. The form for this additional information could have been 

a narrative description or a columnar presentation as in a financial statement. The 

disclosures were essential to understand the fiinds flows statement or cash flows 

statement. 

Funds Flow Reporting in the Private Sector 

The discussion in this section addresses the development ofthe fiinds flows statement 

prior to the issuance of APBO 3 in 1963. The examination includes some early cites in the 
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accounting literature concerning the statement and provides a detailed review of 

developments in funds flow reporting beginning early in this century. The analysis ofthe 

development ofthe fiinds flows statement in the private sector prior to 1963 can be 

divided into three sections. First, the discussion reviews the funds flows statements. This 

analysis includes the statements cited in various academic articles as well as examples used 

in accounting textbooks. This investigation provides a chronological history ofthe fiinds 

flows statement from 1863 to 1963. Second, articles from academic and practitioner 

journals are examined. Most of these articles offered comments on existing formats ofthe 

funds flows statements, although a few offered new formats. Third, the analysis concludes 

with the publication of Accounting Research Study No. 2 and is an analysis of Perry 

Mason's "Cash Flow" Analysis and the Funds Statement, pubHshed in 1961. This study 

was the foundation for APBO 3. 

The Development ofthe Funds Flows Statement 

The Early Statements 

The earUest record of a fiinds flows statement in the United States was in the 1863 

annual report ofthe Northern Central Railroad (this report format is summarized in 

Figure 2-2, as are all the reports in this section). The report, "Summary of Financial 

Transactions" (Rosen and DeCoster, 1969, p. 125), used a two-column approach: the 

beginning cash balance and three largest sources of receipts in the first column, and the 

largest outlays for assets and expenses and the ending cash balance in the second column 
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(Mann, 1975). Similarly, the Assam Company of England reported the change in cash in 

bank, cash on hand, and postage stamps (Rosen and DeCoster, 1969). 

In 1881, the American Bell Telephone Company included a "Cash Statement" in its 

annual report. This company's report was the first to have a separate section for operating 

expenses, reporting them apart from infrequent financial outlays (Mann, 1975). Some 

twelve years later the Missouri Pacific Railway Company became the first company to 

highlight changes in all balance sheet accounts. 

By 1902, the United States Steel Corporation was reporting a "Summary of Financial 

Operations of All Properties . . . Showing the Net Resources for the Year and the 

Disposition Thereof" Like the Missouri Pacific Railroad report, the U.S. Steel report 

used two sections in its presentation (Thompson and Buttress, 1988). The report showed 

the changes in current assets less current liabilities, had a separate schedule for the causes 

of major changes in current assets, and was the first to use net income as a starting point, 

adding back depreciation (Rosen and DeCoster, 1969). In its 1903 report, U.S. Steel 

modified its report to make working capital the focus (definition) ofthe fiinds flows 

statement. 

Although the developers of these eariy reports had no standards to follow, some 

trends can be seen in the development ofthe fiinds flows statement. The titles used by the 

Northern Central Railroad Company and American Bell Telephone Company did not 

provide much indication of what was contained in the reports. However, both the 

Missouri Pacific Railway Company and U.S. Steel were very specific in their titles, using 

resources and application/disposition for the first time. 
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One can also infer from the formats of these early reports that all were probably 

prepared using the balanced approach. Also, the Northern Central Railroad established an 

early form ofthe direct method by identifying the principal receipts and outlays separately. 

The Missouri Pacific Railway Company report did not follow this example, however, and 

presented only a single Hne called "Net Earnings, per Income Account" (Rosen and 

DeCoster, 1969). U.S. Steel was the first company to use the add back approach (indirect 

method) in the preparation ofthe fiinds flows statement. 

Impact of Accounting Textbooks on the Funds 
Flows Statement 

Accounting textbooks provide additional insight into the development ofthe funds 

flows statement. The statements presented in these books reflected current practice. The 

books provide insight into how academicians thought the funds flows statement should be 

formatted. For these reasons, this section presents a detailed examination ofthe fiinds 

flows statements developed in twelve texts by ten authors (Figure 2-3). 

WiUiam M. Cole (1908) was among the first authors to include the fiinds flows 

statement in a textbook presentation. Cole used funds flows statements in four books 

published between 1908 and 1921 (Rosen and DeCoster, 1969). Cole's most often cited 

book. Accounts— Their Construction and Interpretation (published in 1915 as a revision 

of his 1908 edition) used the "Where Got" and "Where Gone" statement (Figure 2-4). 

Cole's format reported only net balance sheet changes, not gross changes, thus ignoring 

important transactions such as the acquisition or disposal of capital assets. The statement 
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was prepared using the balanced approach common in other early reports, and it provided 

no classifications beyond the title ofthe statement. 

Where 
(or Receipts ( 

Supplies 
Cash 
Accounts payable 
Profit and loss 

Real estate and plant 
Bills receivable 
Accounts receivable 
Cash 
Capital stock 
Reserve fund 

got 
3r Credits^ I 

-10,000 
-260,000 
+20,000 
+20.000 
310.000 

-20,000 
-5,000 
-5,000 

-20,000 
+100,000 
+20.000 
170.000 

1906 

1907 

Where gone 
(or Expenditures or 

Real estate and plant 
Bills receivable 
Accounts receivable 
Merchandise 

Merchandise 
Depreciation fimd 
Reserve fimd 
Bills payable 
Accounts payable 

Debits) 

+145,000 
+52,000 
+8,000 

+105.000 
310.000 

+20,000 
+20,000 
+20,000 

-100,000 
-10,000 

170.000 

Figure 2-4. Where Got—Where Gone Statement (adapted from Cole, 1908, p. 101). 

Esquerre (1914) devoted relatively little space in his textbook to the Statement of 

Resources and of Their Application, ahhough he did debate the format ofthe statement in 

The Journal of Accountancy at some length (discussed in the next section). He believed 

that the statement was based on accounting principles and, more unportantly, a principle 

of economics: 

For everything which one receives, one has to give up something aheady in 
possession, either in the line of weahh or in the line of credit. If this is not the 
case, the recipient must have been the beneficiary of a gift, a legacy, a bequest, or a 
devise. 

Recognizing this principle, and applying it to a business concern, the statement of 
resources claims that resources include, assets once held but now consumed; credit 
once enjoyed but now partially exhausted through usage; and increases of wealth 
reinvested. (1922, p. 384-385) 
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Esquerre's fimds flows statement format could be viewed as a modification ofthe 

Missouri Pacific Railway report in that it used a number of classifications. Esquerre's 

report continued the practice of using the balanced approach and reported fiinds from 

operations as a single line referring to the income statement. The statement was an 

improvement on Cole's basic format in that it provided classifications of resources and 

applications. 

Paton and Stevenson (1918) used a two-column statement, but did not give the 

statement a name beyond the colunmar titles. In their text they stated that the presentation 

was a convenient way to present comparative balance sheet information. As with Cole 

and Esquerre, Paton and Stevenson used the balanced approach, using the net change in 

the surplus account as the means to balance the statement. 

Paton and Stevenson did not use a classified report; rather, they listed what occurred. 

Also, they apparently were not worried about the effect of nonfiind (non-cash) 

transactions since they included changes in discounts on bonds and stocks and the 

allowance for doubtfiil accounts as sources and uses, respectively. One should also note 

that Paton and Stevenson did not see their statement as a stand-alone report, stating: 

Some accountants make a statement of this sort an end in itself, but it can readily 
be seen that such statements would be of very little use to the average investor in 
an enterprise. This statement is, in fact, a mere tool to be used in analyzing 
balance sheet items. . . . This method of analyzing comparative balance sheets is 
convenient in reading the published reports of corporations. (1918, p. 592) 

Gregory (1928) is said to have advanced Paton and Stevenson's reporting format with 

two improvements (Anton, 1962). First, he eliminated "nonfijnd" effects on balance sheet 

changes. Gregory stated: 
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There are, however, a large number of changes in balance-sheet items found in 
practice, which find their way into the reports that are non-pecuniary in nature. 
These changes are not "fimds" in the strict sense ofthe word but are the result of 
bookkeeping entries made in the ledger. They have no real value, and since their 
presence tends to give an erroneous reading to the source and utilization of fimds, 
it is necessary to determine what these adjustments are, and also in what manner 
they cause false conclusions regarding the changes in the financial structure. (1928, 
p. 84) 

The second improvement was the use of a classified report achieved by combining items 

into main groups. While eariier reports usually had two sections (sources and uses, or the 

equivalent), the information in these two sections were typically lists of what occurred 

during the period. Gregory went beyond this listing and summarized the statement 

information by using asset and liability groupings similar to balance sheet classifications. 

Gregory continued the use ofthe balanced approach; the balancing items were increases in 

working and trading assets and current assets.^ In addition, Gregory's report also 

provided a supplementary schedule of what happened to profits and reserves, which could 

perhaps be a forerunner to today's reconciliation (1928, p. 95-96). 

By the 1930s the fimds flows statement was standard material in accounting textbooks 

(Anton, 1962). Kester (1933) used a fimds flows statement very similar to Gregory's, but 

one that is prepared in much greater detail. Kester's 1933 edition presented the calculation 

of net profit for the year as a source of fiinds using the indirect method, in a break from 

eariier formats, but continued the use ofthe balanced approach. 

^Working assets and trading assets are typically the same thing. As used in Esquerre's textbook, 
they are goods in process and inventories of materials and supplies (1914, p. 388). Working assets 
and working capital are not the same thing. Working capital is the difference between current assets 
and current liabilities. 
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An important feature of Kester's textbook was, in fact, an error. The author, in an 

effort to define fimds, stated that fiinds were the same as cash. Anton (1962) pointed out 

that this was a common problem in early textbooks. Kester's format broke new ground by 

grouping together net working capital items, however, which could be considered a step 

towards defining fijnds as working capital. 

At this point, at least according to Anton (1962), there was some regression in the 

development ofthe fimds flows statement in two textbooks. Gilman (1934) used a format 

similar to the current indirect format. Decreases in assets and increases in liabilities and 

net worth were reported as sources of fiinds, with the corresponding increases and 

decreases being reported as disposition of fiinds. Gilman used the balanced approach in 

the preparation ofthe statement, the balancing made possible by the change in earned 

surplus. 

Guthmann's 1935 accounting textbook presented another curious regression in format 

for the fiinds flows statement. Guthmann used a format similar to Gilman that, according 

to Anton (1962), was little more than a simple elaboration of Cole's format. However, 

Guthmann's format used groupings instead of a simple listing of what occurred. Also, 

Guthmann presented a summary of balance sheet changes over a five-year period, whereas 

previous fiinds flows statements had covered only one year. 

Kester (1939) revised his textbook but not his fiands flows statement. The 1939 

edition ofthe book was noteworthy because it presented the first Statement of Cash Funds 

(Figure 2-5). The statement was comparable to his eariier Statement of Funds format. 

Both statements used the balanced approach. However, the sources and uses of cash were 
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not grouped. Rather, a complete listing of each was provided. The statement reported 

the beginning cash balance as a source of cash and the ending balance as a use of cash. 

The Jackson and Edwards Company 
Statement of Cash Fimds 

For the Year Ended June 30,1939 

Cash Available—Sources 

Balance on Hand, June 30,1938 $20,000.00 
Collections from Customers $718,250.00 
Interest Income 250.00 
Notes Receivable 1,000.00 
Bonds Payable 50,000.00 
Capital Stock 25.000.00 794.500.00 

Total Cash available for use $814.500.00 

Cash Used—Applications 

Payments for Purchases $479,500.00 
Sales Salaries 73,000.00 
Advertising 91,000.00 
Sundry Selling Expense 10,000.00 
Office Salaries 30,000.00 
Office Supphes 5,000.00 
hisurance 2,000.00 
Taxes 3,000.00 
Simdry Expenses 1,500.00 
hterestCost 7,500.00 
Land 20,000.00 
Plant and Equipment 30,000.00 
Notes Payable 25,000.00 
Dividends 12,000.00 
Balance on Hand June 30,1939 25.000.00 

Total Cash Used $814.50000 

Figure 2-5. Statement of Cash Funds (adapted from Kester, 1939, p. 597). 

The progression of textbook examples continues with baton's Advanced Accounting 

textbook (1941). The fiinds flows statement format used in this textbook (Figure 2-6) 

was a significant departure from the relatively simple statement used in by Paton and 
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WYE COMPANY 
Statement of Funds 

Year Ended December 31,1941 

Net Sales and Other Earnings $2,459,000 
Current Outlays for Expenses, Interest, and Taxes 2.138.000 
Earnings Available before Dividends $ 321,000 
Disposition of Capital Assets—^Net Proceeds: 

Sale of Equipment $ 5,000 
Collection of Real Estate Bonds 30.000 35.000 

Funds Available from Operations and Conversions $ 356,000 
Dividend Charges 14.000 
Balance of Funds from Operations and Conversions $ 342,000 
Bonds Issued during Year—^Proceeds $330,000 
Common Stock Issued during Year—Proceeds 225.000 $555,000 

Cost of Retiring Preferred Stock $201,000 
Outlay for Fees, Commissions, etc 5.000 206.000 349.000 

Funds Available for Expansion and Investment $ 691,000 
Cost of Additions to Buildings and Equipment $ 10,000 
Amount Invested in Hart Co. Stock 640.000 650.000 
Increase in Net Working Capital (see schedule) $ 41.000 

WYE COMPANY 
Comparative Schedule of Working Capital 

Year Ended December 31 

1940 1941 
Cash $ 122,000 $ 93,000 
Marketable Securities 65,000 
Receivables (net book value) 268,000 264,000 
Inventories 860,000 888,000 
Prepayments 26,000 28,000 

Total Current Assets $1.276.000 $1.338.000 
Current Liabilities 490.000 511.000 
Networking Capital $ 786,000 $ 827.000 

Increase in Net Working Capital (see statement of funds) 41.000 
$ 827.000 

Figure 2-6. Statement of Funds (Adapted from Paton, 1947, pp. 686-687). 

Stevenson in the 1918 edition of their textbook. Paton defined the need for a funds flows 

statement by stating: 

The so-called "statement of fiinds" is an important technical means of bringing to 
light underlying financial operations and movements—^the ebb and flow of 
economic forces in terms of major elements and factors—^which are not directly 
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revealed in reports ofthe balance-sheet and income-statement type, no matter how 
carefully prepared and arranged. This statement is used, in other words, to 
assemble in systematic form the essential effects and resuhs of all transactions and 
operations for a given period—usually one year—upon the primary financial 
sinews ofthe enterprise. In particular it is designed to reflect the relation ofthe 
revenue stream to the cash or equivalent resources ofthe business and to display 
the composition and disposition ofthe amount of net income (or loss) in terms of 
such resources. It is not a statement of receipts and disbursements, but it focuses 
attention upon the funds aspect ofthe major activities. It endeavors to trace the 
entire flow of financing and operation, in the broadest sense, in so far as these 
processes contact the working-capital section ofthe business structure. (1941, 
p. 678, emphasis added) 

Paton was one ofthe first to specifically define funds in his textbook. He stated that it 

could be broadly defined as all financial investments (somewhat akin to all financial 

resources that is discussed later in this chapter) or as narrowly as cash resources. Instead 

of using one of these definitions, Paton compromised with: 

All factors comprised in the current position ofthe enterprise—all truly current 
assets and obligations—are considered as affecting "Uquid" capital or funds; and 
the movement—ebb and flow—of funds for a period of time, accordingly, is 
considered to be represented by the financial streams passing through the working-
capital diedi. (1941, pp. 678-679, emphasis added) 

Paton also departed from the balanced approach to preparing the fiinds flows statement. 

Instead, he used "'running-account' display ofthe income-statement type" (1941, p. 679), 

which is similar to the residual approach. 

Paton identified some uses and limitations ofthe statement. The uses ofthe statement 

included explaining what happened to revenues and fiinds coming from new financing, 

how profits were used, and how losses were absorbed. The Umitations included the 

inability to trace specific sources of fiinds to specific uses and the inapplicable nature of 
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the statement to some businesses where no new financing activities or movement of 

working caphal occurred. 

Kester significantly revised his format ofthe fiinds flows statement in the 1946 edition 

of his textbook (Figure 2-7). Inmiediately obvious was the change in the title ofthe 

ROLLINS & COOK CORPORATION 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL OPERATIONS 

For the Year Ended December 31,1945 

Funds Available 
WORKING C APH-AL-DECEMBER 31,1944: 

Current Assets $274,250.00 
Current Liabilities 172.500.00 $101,750.00 

NEW FUNDS PROVIDED: 

From Income Operations: 
Revenue from Sales $1,250,000.00 
Expenditures for Cost of Goods 

Sold andExpenses 1.066.750.00 $183,250.00 
Capital Stock—New Second Preferred 150,000.00 
Bonds Payable—Additional Bonds 200,000.00 
From Sales of Plant and Equipment 50.000.00 583.250.00 

TOTAL FUNDS AVAILABLE $685,000.00 

Funds Expended 
INVESTMENTS FOR PERMANENT OR LONG-TERM USES: 

Additions to Plant and Equipment $536,000.00 
DISTRIBUTIONS TO STOCKHOLDERS: 

Retirement of First Preferred Stock 50,000.00 
Dividends: 

First Preferred Stock $13,000.00 
Second Preferred Stock 12.000.00 25.000.00 

TOTAL FUNDS EXPENDED 611.000.00 

Unexpended Funds 
WORKING CAPITAL—DECEMBER 31,1945: 

Cun-ent Assets $228,000.00 
Current Liabilities 154.000.00 
Balance, December 31,1945 $ 74.000.00 

(Working capital a year ago, $101,750, now $74,000, indicates a decrease of $27,750 during the year.) 

Figure 2-7. Statement of Financial Operations (adapted from Kester, 1946, p. 674). 
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statement: the "Statement of Funds and Their Application" was replaced by "Statement of 

Financial Operations." Gone, too, was the definition of funds as cash and the "Statement 

of Cash Funds." Instead, the funds flows statement was prepared using the working 

capital format, following the example set by Paton (1941). 

Kester clearly identified the funds received from sales revenues as well as the fiinds 

expended on the cost of sales. Kester also distinguished between fiinds expended for 

long-term investments and those funds that were returned to stockholders. Finally, the 

format was significantly different. In 1933, Kester used a balanced approach; the 1946 

edition used the reconciliation approach that started with the beginning working capital 

balance, clearly disclosed the funds provided and fiinds expended, and concluded with the 

ending working capital balance. The format was an adaptation of Paton's model (1941). 

Instead of reporting the actual change in working capital, as did Paton, Kester (1946) 

reported the beginning and ending working capital balances and placed the net change in 

working capital in a footnote to the statement. 

Both Paton's and Kester's funds flows statements are similar in format to the SCF 

prepared direct method. Paton reported "net sales and other earnings" net of "current 

ouflays for expenses, interest, etc." (1941, p. 686). Kester reported "The New Funds 

Provided from Income Operations" as the difference between "Revenues from Sales" and 

"Expenditures for Cost of Goods Sold and Expenses" (1946, p. 644).^ These calculations 

were a significant departure from the formats used by earlier authors who reported only 

Unfortunately, Kester's format does not disclose where he would have reported other revenues, 
such as interest and dividends. 
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the increase or decrease in the surplus account. Also, Kester's and Paton's statements 

avoided the annoying problem of nonfiind transactions, a problem found in earUer funds 

flows statement formats and in the indirect format used in the SCF today. 

Another curious regression in the development ofthe fiinds flows statement occurred 

with Guthmann's new textbook (1953). The format used for the fimds flows statement 

was a throwback to the Cole format. In fact, Guthmann regressed even from his own 

improvement by reporting resuhs for one year only instead ofthe five years used in his 

1935 edition ofthe textbook. 

Paton and Paton (1955) used the same format as the 1941 edition of Paton's textbook. 

The 1955 edition added some important ideas concerning the use ofthe fiinds flows 

statement. The authors observed: 

Thus the funds statement—a means of weaving together the complete record of 
incoming and outgoing fiinds—^may well be regarded as an essential supplement to 
the major statements, if not entitled to ranking as a third type of statement 
Increasing recognition of this point of view is evidenced by the expanding use of 
some form of funds presentation in pubUshed corporate reports. (1955, 
pp. 440-441, emphasis added) 

Also, the authors pointed out that transactions not affecting fiinds should be excluded 

from the statement entirely. In later fiinds flows statements these transactions were 

included in the body ofthe statement. The current models ofthe SCF include the 

transactions in additional schedules. 

The last textbook reviewed from this time period is Milroy and Walden (1960). These 

authors presented three concepts for use in flow statements: (1) a cash concept of fiinds; 

(2) a working capital concept of fiinds; and (3) a net monetary assets concept of fiinds. 
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In reviewing the statements, certain trends stand out. First, the statements had the same 

title (Statement of Funds Provided and Applied). Second, the statements used the same 

format, which was similar to the current indirect method of presentation. Anton (1962) 

indicated that this format was the most common one used in practice at the time. Third, 

only the cash-flow statement presented the changes in working capital accounts in the 

body ofthe statement; the other statements used a separate schedule. 

Milroy and Walden (1960) did not make a recommendation in favor of one format. 

They did point out two disadvantages ofthe working capital concept: 

• it is often misinterpreted to be cash, and 

• it makes no distinction between monetary working capital assets and other 

working capital assets, such as inventory, which are essentially deferred costs. 

They also pointed out that the cash concept avoided the first disadvantage while the net 

monetary assets avoided the second disadvantage. 

The textbooks reviewed in this section represent one ofthe primary means of setting 

reporting standards prior to 1963.^ The other means was the accounting academic 

Uterature. However, the accounting literature primarily conmiented on current 

developments in accounting textbooks, ahhough some textbooks did reflect the current 

T̂he organization responsible for setting accounting standards during this period in accordance 
with the Securities Act of 1934 was the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). But the SEC 
had passed on this responsibility to the American Institute of Accountants (ALA) and its Committee 
on Accounting Procedure (CAP). However, the CAP did not issue any reports addressing the fimds 
flows statement issue. In 1959, the ALA changed its name to the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (AICPA) and the CAP was replaced by the Accounting Principles Board (APB). 
The APB issued two opinions addressing the fimds flows statement. 
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accounting literature as well. In the next section the accounting Uterature addressing the 

fiinds flows statement and published prior to 1963 is reviewed. 

Analysis ofthe Funds Flows Statement in the 
Academic Literature 

Discussion ofthe fiinds flows statement was not limited to exploratory statements or 

textbooks prior to 1963. There also were debates in the accounting literature on the 

format and content ofthe statement (summarized in Figure 2-8). One ofthe more 

interesting debates revolved around solutions to various states' CPA examinations at the 

time. The debate was largely held in the pages of 77?̂  Journal of Accountancy "Students' 

Department." The two principals of this debate were Paul-Joseph Esquerre and H.A. 

Finney. 

The CPA examination written by the AIA for May 1921 included a problem requiring 

the preparation of a statement of resources and their application. A solution, written by 

the editor H.A. Finney, was provided in the "Student's Department" ofthe July 1921 issue 

of The Journal of Accountancy. The solution was prepared using a balanced statement 

approach. There was some distinction as to the sources of fiinds—net profits, issue of 

bonds, sale of investments, and sale of machinery—and to the use of fiinds— purchases of 

fixed assets, payment of dividends, and increase in working capital. This last application 

of fiinds, increase in working capital, was supported by a separate schedule. Finney's 

format ran somewhat counter to the approaches common at the time. As noted, it had 

some classifications, whereas the statement recommended by Paton and Stevenson (1918) 
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did not. However, the classifications of transactions did not follow the model proposed by 

Esquerre in 1914, perhaps sparking the debate that was to come. 

In the May 1925 issue of The Journal of Accountancy, Esquerre took exception to the 

format used by Finney. Esquerre pointed out two principal problems wdth Finney's 

answer: 

• fiinds were never defined, but different interpretations could be made for both cash 

or asset fimds; and 

• the format advanced the theory that a means of providing fiinds was to consume 

assets or write-off intangibles."* 

As an ahemative, Esquerre provided a different solution to the problem. This format was 

quite different fi-om the one Esquerre used in his 1914 textbook, but included some 

adaptations of that earUer format. This new format was based on the idea of changes in 

corporate wealth—and provided a substantially different treatment ofthe amortization of 

intangibles and the depreciation of capital assets than did Finney's response to the 

question. 

Finney responded to Esquerre's comments at length in the July 1925 issue of The 

Journal of Accountancy. Finney acknowledged the problems associated with the word 

"fiinds." He stated that the term "fiinds" should not be restricted to cash—if so, the fiinds 

flows statement would be more properly called a statement of receipts and disbursements. 

Instead, Finney offered that "resources" would be a better word to use than "fiinds" 

(Finney, 1925). As to the problem of adding back depreciation, Finney correctly pointed 

"̂ This complaint is commonly made today concerning the use ofthe indirect method in the SCF. 
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out that, "fiinds were provided by the profits, not by the depreciation; the effect ofthe 

depreciation provision was to make the net profits somewhat smaller than the fiinds 

provided by the profits" (1925, p. 506). This comment is instructive not only for the 

Finney/Esquerre debate, but also for the debate over the direct method versus indirect 

method that continues today. 

Rosen and DeCoster (1969) credited Finney with creating the climate for the fiinds 

flows statement becoming the third major financial report. Finney gained the interest of 

academics in the working capital format for the statement for four reasons: 

• the use of working capital was a good teaching device; 

• the use of working capital tended to concentrate on infrequent inter-entity 

(external) transactions rather than the detail of other formats; 

• the use of working capital provided a clearer liquidity perspective that the other 

formats; and 

• there was a desire to have uniformity in the preparation ofthe fiinds statement, and 

working capital could provide this standard (1969, p. 130). 

The other articles on the fiinds flows statement published prior to 1963 can be largely 

characterized as practitioner-oriented. All ofthe articles commented on the format ofthe 

fiinds flows statement or made recommendations to improve the format. The articles 

selected for this review seem to be cited more often in other articles addressing the fimds 

flows statement. Although this is not a citation analysis, the articles summarized here do 

appear to be the major ones addressing the fiinds flows statement. 
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Kunze (1940) cited the fiinds flows statement as becoming more popular with bankers, 

accounting firms, and that even "some companies publish the statement in their annual 

report to stockholders" (1940, p. 222). Kunze cited several problems with the fiinds flow 

statement format: 

• adding back depreciation under such titles as "non-cash charges," "Costs which did 

not require cash outlay," and "Expense items not involving cash" (1940, pp. 222-

223). Kunze pointed out that there were other such non-cash charges incurred 

during the period including many receivables and payables. He stated that it would 

be inconsistent to add back depreciation if adjustments for these other items were 

not made as well. 

• including a decrease in prepaid expenses in the funds provided section ofthe 

statement. Kunze stated that this would only be a source of funds if the policy was 

cancelled. Thus, showing the expiration ofthe insurance poUcy as a source of 

fiinds is misleading to the reader. 

• the use ofthe word "fiinds." Kunze pointed out that there was no generally agreed 

upon definition for funds. Therefore, he advocated avoiding a word with so many 

different meanings. 

Kunze went on to point out that before a "good form of fimds statement" (1940, 

p. 223) could be developed, it was first necessary to determine what the report was to 

represent. He advanced three theories: (1) cash receipts and disbursements; (2) the flow 

of values through the working capital section ofthe balance sheet; and (3) all changes in 

balance sheet accounts (1940, p. 224). Kunze stated that if the first theory was used, then 
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the statement should be clearly marked as a cash summary and should exclude non-cash 

items. If the third theory was used, then the title ofthe statement should indicate as much. 

Kunze settled on the second theory as the one most used in practice. He suggested a 

format that used a modification ofthe direct method for presenting flows from operations 

and then reconciled beginning and ending net current assets (working capital). Kunze's 

use ofthe reconciliation approach was a departure from practice at that time. Almost all 

textbooks and most writers in the accounting literature were using the balanced approach. 

Kunze seemed to be proud ofthe fact that neither the word "fiinds" nor the words 

"working capital" appeared anywhere on the statement. He also suggested several 

advantages of this form, including: 

• the statement showed changes only in the current section ofthe balance sheet, 

which was consistent with his second theory; 

• the statement reported gross profit-and-loss figures (essentially income before 

depreciation), thus avoiding the confiision of starting with net income and adding 

back depreciation; 

• reporting the change in net current assets was much simpler than using the 

balanced form ofthe statement; and 

• the title ofthe statement prepared the user for what was to foUow (1940, p. 225). 

The advantage of reporting gross profit-and-loss figures is particularly significant given 

the current debate over the SCF. Use ofthe indirect method—used by most firms in the 

private sector and by many cities—results in the problem Kunze was trying to avoid. 
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Myer (1941) also identified the definition of fiinds as a problem in the fiinds flows 

statements pubUshed at that time. He avoided the term "net current assets" used by Kunze 

and used the simpler definition of working capital. His two-part statement was unique and 

concentrated on reporting changes in working capital items and then using the income 

statement accounts and changes in non-working capital balance sheet accounts to explain 

the changes. This format is somewhat akin to the format commonly used with the 

Statement of Changes in Financial Position (SCFP), which is discussed in Chapter III. 

Writing in "The Accounting Exchange," Littleton (1943) suggested that the 

application-of-funds statement had not been used as much as possible, and that it could 

become a useful tool for clarifying the balance sheet. Littleton then introduced SelUe 

(1943) as providing some comments on terminology. Littleton also suggested that 

someone should explore the philosophy ofthe fiinds flows statement. 

SelUe (1943) believed that the fiinds flows statement was an important tool for 

showing investors and management how a firm acquired fiinds and how the fimds were 

subsequently invested. However, he pointed out that few were using the statement to 

make such an evaluation, and he identified some problems with statements in use at the 

time and made some recommendations for improvement. 

First, SelUe objected to confusing titles within the statement such as "Funds provided 

by Net Profit" and "Funds provided by Depreciation" (1943, p. 160). He caUed the first 

title "an anachronism retained from the good old days when depreciation was a convenient 

mystery and income taxes an evil that could be avoided" (1943, p. 160). SelUe 

recommended avoiding these problems by avoiding depreciation ahogether in the fiinds 
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flows statement and using gross revenues less expenditures to compute fiinds provided by 

operations, a method similar to the direct method. 

SelUe also reconmiended that the additional disclosure of changes in net working 

capital—a common supplemental schedule used in the funds flows statement at that 

time— b̂e cross-referenced in the fiinds flows statement itself He recommended that the 

schedule be rearranged to report separately current assets other than prepaid expenses, 

prepaid expenses, current liabilities other than accruals, and accrued liabilities. 

Moonitz (1943) was one ofthe first authors to address a particular issue in the fiinds 

flows statement rather than the entire statement— t̂he inclusion of inventories in the 

definition of fiinds. He offered three definitions of fiinds: 

• at a minimum, cash on hand plus demand deposits; 

• cash on hand, demand deposits, secondary cash reserves, and short-term promises 

to pay cash; and 

• as an outer limit, cash, short-term receivables, and highly marketable securities 

used as secondary cash reserves less short-term payables. 

Inventories and prepaid expenses, the other current assets, are clearly missing from all 

three definitions. Moonitz believed that inventories, in particular, were not part ofthe 

stream of cash or promises to pay cash, and thus were not funds. He supported the 

narrower definition of fiinds over the broader ones. 

McCarthy (1948) described how important the fiands flows statement was to 

understanding the financial statements as a whole. He was the first author to take issue 

whh the title ofthe statement by identifying several thles that were in use at the 
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time—including Statement of Funds, Statement of Sources and AppUcations of Funds, and 

Statement of Source and Disposition of Funds—and recommending a new and more 

descriptive title: the Statement of Changes in Financial Position (1948, p. 309). He 

indicated that using the funds flows statement had several advantages including providing 

a tool to show possible dividends for stockholders, wages for employees, and the flow of 

fiinds from profits and borrowings to investments in capital assets. McCarthy 

reemphasized the problem of depreciation as a source of fiinds and caUed for better 

disclosure. He did not advocate the use ofthe direct method of preparation, and he cited 

an example of a balanced approach statement when many were supporting the residual or 

reconciUation approaches. 

Littleton (1943) recommended a study ofthe philosophy ofthe fiinds flows statement; 

Carson (1949) attempted to fulfill that recommendation. Carson, reviewing the recent 

history ofthe fiinds flows statement, commented, "There is some reason to hope that the 

statement may some day rank with the balance sheet and income statement as a basic 

accounting report" (1949, p. 161). The balance of his article is devoted to exploring how 

the fiinds flows statement could become the focus of financial accounting, relegating the 

periodic computation of income to secondary importance. 

In a brief "Technical and Professional Note" in The Journal of Accountancy, Miller 

(1950) was among the first to recommend changing from a working capital-basis fiinds 

flows statement to a change in cash statement. He recommended the change because of 

what he perceived to be the complex and technical format ofthe funds flows statement. 

He feh that a cash flows statement would be more easily understood, and recommended 
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what was essentially a bank statement approach. Miller's views were not widely accepted 

at the time, but this note represents an early call for a cash flows statement instead of a 

fiinds flows statement. 

Moonitz (1956), in an article reminiscent of his 1943 presentation, discussed the 

importance of preparing the fiinds flows statement but emphasized that the statement 

should be a supplement to and not a replacement ofthe income statement. He indicated 

that the balance sheet could be a substitute for the fiinds flows statement in the first year 

of a business. Then, a cumulative income statement could substitute for the fiinds flows 

statement later in the life ofthe business. However, Moonitz felt that the accurate 

reporting ofthe flow of fimds for a single period required an annual fiinds flows statement. 

Moonitz went on to argue the focus ofthe fiinds flows statement. He stated that most 

statements defined fiinds as working capital, but that some had advocated the use of cash 

to which he answered: 

A record of cash receipts and disbursements..., while usefiil in its own way and 
undoubtedly a form of "funds" statement probably is overiy-narrow in its 
orientation. A better balance would be achieved if fimds were defined somewhere 
between the narrow extreme of cash and the broad extreme of working capital; a 
useful middle point is the concept of "net money assets available for disposition." 
(1956, p. 379) 

This statement was an obvious reference to his eariier paper where he recommended 

excluding inventories from funds thus changing from working capital to net money assets 

available for disposition. 

In addition, Moonitz commented on the nonfiind adjustments popular in the 

presentation format of fiinds flows statements. He was opposed to showing depreciation 
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in the statement, thus perhaps favoring the direct method of preparation. He stated that 

showing depreciation as a source was "awkward, unnecessary, misleading, and just plain 

wrong" (1956, p. 381). Moonitz was also opposed to adjusting for bad debts since this 

amount essentially adjusted for overstated sales, thus showing in the fiinds flows statement 

only what a company expected to get from sales. 

Summarized above are the major academic literature articles, save two, vmtten prior 

to 1963 about the fiinds flows statement. These articles can be largely divided into two 

categories: those dealing with the concepts ofthe fiinds flows statement and those dealing 

wdth the format ofthe fiinds flows statement. The last two articles analyzed discuss the 

techniques of presenting the fiinds flows statements in annual reports. 

In one ofthe most comprehensive studies of funds flow reporting prior to 1963, Anton 

(1954) conducted an extensive review of fiinds flow reporting in the United States and 

Canada.̂  His objective in the study was to examine the techniques used in presenting 

fiinds flow information. He stated that the most widespread use ofthe fimds flows 

statement came after Worid War II, and he cited three reasons for this trend: 

• The grov^h of management-controUed companies (as compared to owner-

controUed companies) thus making the demonstration of accountability for fiinds 

as important as the computation of income. 

• The reUance on the generation of internal fiands for financing major expansions 

making funds management and planning extremely important. 

• External pressure on management to more fiilly explain or account for profits. 

T̂his article was a forerunner to Anton's 1962 book cited often in this chapter. 
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To complete his analysis, Anton sent fiinds flows statement surveys to 500 American 

and Canadian corporations; 290 companies responded. Anton reported the resuhs ofthe 

study using a series of tables addressing a number of issues. The issues addressed and the 

general findings are in Figure 2-9. The major results ofthe study were: 

• the working capital concept of funds was the most prevalent, although not the only 

one used; 

• most companies used the statement for internal purposes only; and 

• most companies used the statement as a summary device (1954, p. 627). 

Issue 

Number of companies using funds statement 

AvailabiUty of statement to interested parties 

Length of time in use 

Concept [focus] used in preparing the statement 

Objective for presenting report to stockholders 

Form of funds statement 

Handling of depreciation 

Titles given to statement 

General Findings 

68% of respondents used the statement 
Higher percentage of large companies used the 

statement compared to smaller companies 

97% made the report available to management 
19% made the report available to outsiders 
More small companies made the statement 

available to banks indicating possible source 
of major financing 

Most companies started using statement within last 
20 years 

Most companies presenting statement to 
stockholders had done so in last 10 years 

More than half used working capital but at least 
seven other bases identified 

Most used it to report financial changes not readily 
apparent on other statements or to explain 
function and use of profits 

All used highly summarized formats 

Need for more adequate disclosure 

Most used "Source and application of funds" in title 

Figure 2-9. Issues and Resuhs of Anton's (1954) Study. 
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Kempner's 1957 study differed from Anton's in one major way. Instead of sending 

surveys to corporations, Kempner sent his survey to 152 accounting firms asking them 

how they advised their cUents on the use ofthe fiinds flows statement. His survey was 

divided into four sections designed to determine: 

• the extent to which the statement was used; 

• the attitude and degree of acceptance ofthe fiind statement by the client; 

• the form ofthe statement; and 

• the manner of preparation (1957, p. 72). 

Kempner received 90 responses to his questionnaire, including 15 of 22 responses 

from the national accounting firms. The general findings for each ofthe issues identified 

above are summarized in Figure 2-10. The major resuhs ofthe study were: 

• ahnost two-thirds ofthe audit reports included the fiinds flows statement in its 

scope, compared to about one-third ten years before the study; 

• the decision to include or exclude the report did not seem to vary with the size of 

the client; 

• most respondents considered the statement to be important; 

• smaller clients were dependent on the auditor to prepare the statement and were 

more enthusiastic about including it in the auditor's opinion; 

• most fiinds flows statements were prepared for one year, and detail was kept to a 

minimum; and 

• most used the word fiinds in the title ofthe statement. 
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Issue 

Proportion of a firm's audit reports that include the 
fimds statement 

Firm practices of including or omitting statement in 
audit reports 

Function of fiinds statement 

Location of funds statement in auditors report 

CUent attitude towards statement 

CUents preparing own statement 

Difficulty of statement comprehension 

Time period covered by statement 

Amount of detail in statements 

Concept of funds 

Mechanical form ofthe statement 

Funds statement titles 

Treatment of depreciation 

Operating data in funds statement 

Importance of reconciling net income 

General Finding 

Most finns included fiinds statement in audit 
reports; opposite of previous 10 years 

Most firms included statement regardless of client 
size 

Most companies used statement to explain changes 
in working capital or sources of fiinds 

Most firms included statement as a minor schedule 
in text of audit report 

Most agreeable to including statement once they 
understood the value 

Most companies had auditor prepare the statement 

Most companies had slight to no difficulty 
understanding concepts 

Most statements prepared on an annual basis 

Most statements of moderate length 

Most statements used working capital 

Most statements prepared showing increase or 
decrease in fiinds 

Most statements used sources and applications of 
fiinds 

Most statements had depreciation added back to net 
profit 

Most statements had net income as a single number 
[indirect method] 

Most companies believed it was very important 

Figure 2-10. Issues and Resuhs of Kempner's (1957) Study. 

There are several points that may be contrasted in the Anton and Kempner studies. 

First, the concept of fiands, or the basis for the preparation ofthe fiinds flows statement, is 

directly comparable between the two studies. Anton identified seven distinct measures for 

the statement, working capital being used by 50.5 percent ofthe companies while another 

26.5 percent used the cash basis. This is comparable to Kempner's study who found that 
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75.3 percent used the working capital basis while only 5.7 percent used the cash basis. 

The second most often used basis in Kempner's study was ah balance sheet items (14.6 

percent); this same basis was used only 2 percent ofthe time in Anton's study. It is 

diflficuh to speculate what could have caused the apparent shift in basis, but a review of 

the Accounting Trends & Techniques publications for the end ofthe 1950s reveals that the 

cash receipts and disbursements report slowly declined in use until 1960 when no one used 

it. 

Another comparison that can be made is the format ofthe fiinds flows statement 

prepared. As noted earlier, there were three popular formats for preparing the fiinds flows 

statement: (1) the balanced form; (2) the reconciling form; and (3) the residual form. 

Ranking the formats based on Anton's study, the balanced form was the most popular 

foUowed by the residual form and then the reconciling form. Kempner found the residual 

form to be the most popular foUowed by the balanced form and then the reconciling form. 

The two studies were consistent in the least popular format (reconciling) but differed on 

the most popular. These results are even more interesting considering the current form 

used in both the public and the private sectors: the reconciling form. 

Finally, it is possible to compare the treatment of depreciation and other nonfiind 

events. While the wording is not exactly the same, there seems to be four ways of handling 

depreciation. The results of both studies are summarized in Figure 2-11. The contrasting 

results are puzzUng, but taking the first two methods as a unit—disclosing depreciation as 

a separate item—indicates that most firms did it this way. 
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Treatment 

Depreciation shown as a separate item, but added to profit 

Funds reported fi^om profits before depreciation and other 
non-fimds changes; depreciation amount given short or 
parenthetically 

Depreciation handled through "Expenditures net of 
depreciation charges" 

Depreciation shown as a separate item; no reconciliation to 
net profit offered 

Anton's 
(1954) Study 

35.7% 

10.7% 

3.6% 

50.0% 

Kempner's 
(1957) Study 

84.2% 

4.5% 

1.1% 

10.2% 

Figure 2-11. Treatment of Depreciation and Other Non-Fund Charges. 

Accounting Research Study No. 2 

Many ofthe accounting textbooks and much ofthe accounting literature addressing 

funds reporting have been reviewed in the previous sections of this chapter. The capstone 

of these textbooks, papers, and studies was Perry Mason's study, "Cash Flow" Analysis 

and the Funds Statement, published as Accounting Research Study No. 2 (ARS 2) by the 

AICPA in 1961. Mason summarized much ofthe academic and practitioner research done 

prior to 1961. ARS 2 served as one ofthe bases for what was to foUow: publishing 

accounting standards on fimds flow reporting. Mason's study concluded with several 

recommendations concerning cash flow analysis and the use ofthe fiinds flows statement. 

The discussion in this section reviews ARS 2 and examines closely Mason's 

recommendations. How those recommendations affected the standard-setting actions that 

followed is discussed in the next chapter. 
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"Cash Flow" Analysis 

Mason's report had, as indicated by the title, two major sections: 

• "Cash Flow" Analysis, and 

• The Funds Statement. 

In the first section Mason examined how cash flow information was reported in annual 

reports. He observed that cash flow was being defined or used seven different ways: 

1. in the investments and security analysis literature, 

2. in the statistics presented in the financial review section of annual reports, 

3. in the cash flow statement, 

4. as the designation for funds from operations in a fiinds statement, 

5. in discussions concerning capital investment decisions, 

6. with reference to cash budgets and forecasts, 

7. with regards to cash management techniques. 

Mason used the fourth definition in his study, ahhough he did not like it, stating. 

The term cashflow, however, is a misnomer—it is neither cash nor flow. The net 
income is, with rare exceptions, computed on an accrual basis, not a cash basis. 
Adding back such items as depreciation does not convert the net income to 
something which can properly be called cash flow or income, since the resuh still 
reflects such things as sales and purchase of goods and services on account.... 
The word̂ oM ,̂ however, is inappropriate since the amount involved is an algebraic 
sum, the balance or the resuh, of a flow of many transactions rather than being a 
measure ofthe flow itself . . . We shall continue to use it [cash flow] in Part I of 
this report, but we deplore the employment of such inaccurate terminology and 
urge the adoption of a more appropriate phrase. (1961, p. 5) 

As a part of his study. Mason used the 1959 edition of Accounting Trends & 

Techniques. He pointed out that ofthe 600 companies surveyed, 190 prepared some form 
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of fiinds flows statement. Of these, 39 companies used a cash flow approach in preparing 

the fiinds flows statement. He found that the most frequent means of disclosing cash flow 

information were: 

• mentioning h in the President's cover letter (Figure 2-12), 

• making a graphical presentation (Figure 2-13), and 

• including it in the financial highlights for the year (Figure 2-14). 

Mason found that most companies used what is now called the "indirect method" of 

preparing the fiinds flows statement—that is, starting with net income and adding back 

depreciation. Finally, he discovered that most ofthe confiision surrounding the use ofthe 

statement stemmed from nonfiind transactions such as depreciation. 

May Department Store Company 
Cash Flow 

Depreciation and amortization, including real estate subsidiaries not consolidated, totalled $12,971,000 
in 1959 as compared to 11,760,000 in 1958. Combined with earnings, depreciation brought total cash 
flow ofthe companies to a new high of $5.17 per share of common stock, as compared to $4.67 per 
share in 1958. 

We obtain an exceptionally high cash flow fi-om depreciation per dollar of sales for a department store 
because we own the bulk of our real estate. This flow of fiinds into the business provides an important 
source of capital for future growth. 

Finance and Real Estate 

The company and its unconsolidated real estate subsidiaries spent $21,800,000 in 1959 for new branch 
store and shopping center construction and for remodeling existing stores as compared to $20,100,000 
the year before. We plan to spend more than $40,000,000 for these purposes in 1960, in the initial 
stages of our five year expansion and modernization program. This $100,000,000 program will not 
require new equity financing. It is anticipated that adequate fiinds will be provided by a 30-year, 5%, 
$50,000,000 mortgage loan combined with the cash flow from depreciation and retained earnings . . . 

Figure 2-12. President's Letter (adapted from Mason, 1961, pp. 16-17). 



78 

Earnings p«r shar« 

3.5 

CASH FLOW (Per Share) 
(Net Earnings plus Depreciation) 

Z5 

2 

1.5 

1 

0.5 

1960 1953 1956 
D Net Earnings • Depredation 

1959 

Figure 2-13. Graphical Presentation (adapted from Mason, 1961, p. 22). 

In concluding the cash flow analysis section ofthe report. Mason drew five 

conclusions and recommendations (see Figure 2-15 for a complete Ust). The first item 

identified cash flow, the sum of net income plus expenses that do not use fiinds (e.g., 

depreciation), to be a useful analytical tool. It seems contradictory that Mason would 

include in his recommendations the use of an idea which he opposed early in his study. 

Mason did not, however, propose an ahemative term for something he disliked so much. 

In this recommendation Mason effectively endorsed what is now called the indirect 

method of computing cash flow. 
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Allied Laboratories 

Net Sales 

Net Profit before Taxes 

Income Taxes 

Net Profit after Taxes 
Per Share 

Funds Generated by Operations 
Per Share 

Cash Dividends 
Per Share 

Additions to Plant 

Working Capital at End of Year 

Stockholders' Equity at End of Year 
Per Share 

1959 

$30,164,000 

$4,098,000 

$2,100,000 

$1,998,000 
$2.52 

$2,526,000 
$3.18 

$1,029,000 
$1.30 

$881,000 

$14,064,000 

$20,684,000 
$26.05 

1958 

$30,707,000 

$4,277,000 

$2,200,000 

$2,077,000 
$2.64 

$2,501,000 
$3.18 

$794,000 
$1.05 

$1,290,000 

$13,629,000 

$19,474,000 
$24.73 

Figure 2-14. Financial Highlights (adapted from Mason, 1961, p. 28). 

In the second point Mason, as other authors had done previously, emphasized that 

depreciation and similar items were not sources of fiinds. Instead, using these items with 

net income or loss is but a short-cut method for computing fiinds from operations. 

The third recommendation was simply an observation on the means of financing an 

expansion of plant and equipment. Mason suggested that expansions could be funded only 

with resources avaUable from recognizing depreciation. However, he strongly indicated 

that these fiinds would be largely used to finance replacement of plant and equipment with 

the financing for expansions coming from new sources. 
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1. "Cash flow" in financial analysis means net income after adding back expense items which currently 
do not use funds, such as depreciation. (It may also involve deducting revenue items which do not 
currently provide fimds, such as the current amortization of deferred income.) This concept of "cash 
flow" as the amount of assets or fiinds made available after meeting current requirements of revenue-
earning operations is a vaUd and useful analytical tool. It can be used effectively as one ofthe major 
factors in judging, for example, the ability to meet debt-retirement requirements, to maintain regular 
dividends, and to finance replacement and expansion costs. 

2. Depreciation and other similar "non-fiind" charges to operations are not "sources" of funds. The 
amount ofthe "non-fund" items, however, can be properly used, together with the net income or net loss, 
in the measurement of cash flow if operations are successfiil, or ofthe drain on current resources if 
operations are unsuccessfiil. This is a convenient or short-cut means of computing the funds provided by 
operations. 

3. It is possible under some circumstances that an expansion of physical plant and equipment can take 
place without additional equity or debt fmancing, where depreciation and other similar factors are 
present. There is a strong presumption, however, that the major portion ofthe retained fiinds associated 
with depreciation accounting will be needed to fmance replacements, and that the funds required for 
expansion must in large part be provided by the retention of earnings or other additional invested capital. 

4. In no sense can the amount of cash flow or cash income be considered a substitute for or an 
improvement upon the net income, properly determined, as an indication ofthe results of operations or 
the change in fmancial position. Under some circumstances, especially where the accounting methods 
used are significantiy different, cash-flow calculations may improve the comparability of operating 
statistics from one company to another. There are, however, many other differences between companies 
which make effective comparisons exfremely difficult. For example, the elimination of depreciation 
would not avoid the lack of comparability ofthe cost ofthe plant and equipment where the acquisitions 
were made at different price levels. 

5. The presentation of cash-flow data in annual reports of corporations can be greatly improved. The 
inclusion of a well-designed comparative funds statement in the annual report should be come a 
generally accepted practice. It should be accompanied by interpretive comments and charts which 
would provide the reader with useful information as to the conduct of fmancial affairs by the 
management during the period covered by this type of operating statement. Isolated comments or 
statistics concerning cash flow should be avoided since they are generally meaningless and often 
misleading. 

Figure 2-15. Mason's Cash Flow Conclusions and Recommendations. 

In the fourth recommendation Mason iterated that cash flow (income) could not be a 

substitute for net income. Mason was, in effect, reemphasizing the fact that an accrual-

based calculation was far superior to a cash-based one. 
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Finally, Mason called for improving the cash flow data presentation in annual reports. 

He recommended using more charts to avoid misleading and meaningless statistics that 

would only serve to confiise the financial statement user. 

The Funds Statement 

In the "Funds Statement" section ofthe report. Mason addressed the use of another 

statement as part ofthe annual report. He did not advocate the use of a cash flows 

statement, but rather a broader fimds statement. Crucial to the development of his report 

and his recommendations were his definitions of fiinds: 

• Uteral cash—^undeposhed cash and demand deposhs in banks; 

• cash and marketable securities; 

• net monetary (or quick) assets—cash on hand and in the bank, cash in process of 

collection (receivables), and secondary cash reserves (temporary holdings in U.S. 

government bonds and other highly marketable securities) less cash in process of 

disbursement (short-term payables); 

• working capital—net current assets; and 

• all financial resources—assets or financial resources that do not flow through the 

working capital accounts (1961, pp. 51-54). 

Mason pointed out that the narrower definitions—the first four in the list—all share an 

important shortcoming: the use of these definitions might omit transactions that are 

important although they do not directly affect cash or working caphal currently. He also 

made the point that the use of any ofthe first four definitions of fiinds would unnecessarily 
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restrict flexibility in the preparation of a fiinds statement. Hence, Mason supported the 

use of aU financial resources as the definition of fiinds. 

Mason identified the same three means of preparing the fiinds statement as did Anton 

and Kempner: the balanced approach, the residual approach, and the reconciUation 

approach. Ofthe three. Mason favored the balanced approach, but, curiously, did not 

include an example of h in the section of his study addressing form and arrangement ofthe 

funds flows statement. As to the arrangement of items within the statement. Mason 

identified five types of sources and four types of applications of funds. The sources were: 

(1) revenue-earning operations; (2) disposition of noncurrent assets; (3) reduction in 

working capital; (4) increase in debt; and (5) capital contributions by stockholders. The 

uses were: (1) acquisitions of noncurrent assets; (2) increase in working capital; 

(3) reduction of debt; and (4) distributions to stockholders (1961, p. 78).̂  

Mason concluded with ten recommendations (see Figure 2-16 for the complete text). 

The principal reconrmiendations included: 

• a fiinds statement be prepared as a major financial statement of an annual report 

and be included in the scope ofthe audhor's opinion on the annual report. 

• not surprisingly, all financial resources be used as the definition of fiinds. 

• the title ofthe statement need not be uniform and that the order of presentation 

need not be standardized. 

^Mason's study had two other sections not specifically reviewed here: Technical Problems and 
Consolidated Funds Statements. 



83 

1. The fiinds statement should be treated as a major fmancial statement. It should be presented in all annual 
reports of corporations and be covered by the auditor's short-form report. 

2. The statement should be broad enough in scope and in its concept of "funds" to make it a report of all fmancial 
management operations. It should not be merely a reconciliation of cash or working capital. The definition of 
"funds" as "all financial resources," or as spending or purchasing power, comes closest to this conception ofthe 
function ofthe funds statement. The title need not be uniform, but should be as descriptive as possii)Ie. "Summary 
of Financial Activities" or some similar title is recommended. 

3. It should be standard practice for the management to include in the annual report interpretive comments related 
directly to the funds statement which assist the reader in understanding the fmancial policies, plans, and operations 
ofthe company. As indicated in Part I ["Cash Eow" Analysis], comments and statistics of "cash flow" should not 
be presented apart from or without reference to the funds statement. 

4. There should be no standard arrangement ofthe items within the funds statement. Instead, it should be 
designed to disclose and emphasize the more important fmancial events ofthe period covered by the statement. 
Related items may be shown together when the result contributes to the clarity ofthe statement. Unimportant items 
may be combined. The change in working capita! should not be shown as a single item unless the changes in 
individual current assets and liabilities are immaterial. 

5. The more popular form ofthe statement which begins with net income [indirect method] is recommended for 
general use, but great care should be taken to avoid giving the impression that depreciation and other such 
adjustments are "sources" of funds. The best way to accomplish this is to begin the statement with the adjusted net 
income, the "funds provided from operations," and show the details ofthe calculation in a footnote. 

6. The form which begins with total revenue [direct method] instead of net income is acceptable and has certain 
advantages, but it is not recommended as a preferred arrangement. If it is used, disclosure ofthe non-fund items 
which have been omitted in the computation ofthe amount derived from operations is desirable. 

7. Gross changes in capital stock and in liabilities should be shown where the amounts are material. The proceeds 
from an issue of securities should appear as a separate source of funds. 

8. Where significant in amount, the proceeds from the sale of property should be disclosed and shown separately 
from the acquisition of noncurrent assets. 

9. The consolidated funds statement should present the combined fmancial operations as though a single business 
unit were involved. The significant net income figure, therefore, is not the net income after deducting the share of 
minority interest, if there is such, but is the consolidated net income or the net income ofthe group of companies as 
a whole. Dividends to minority shareholders should be combined or grouped with dividends to parent-company 
shareholders. 

10. Comparative and cumulative funds statements should be encouraged. Except at the end ofthe first year of 
operations of a new or reorganized company, a two-year comparative statement should be presented as one ofthe 
group of major financial statements. Comparative funds statement data for longer periods, such as five or ten years, 
should also be included in the annual report, following the pattem adopted by the company for other financial 
summaries. 

Figure 2-16. Mason's Funds Statement Conclusions and Recommendations. 
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• the use ofthe indirect method (starting v t̂h net income and adding back nonfiind 

transactions) so long as care was taken to emphasize that nonfiind transactions 

were not sources of fiinds. Mason did identify that a direct method could be used, 

but said it was not preferable. 

The impact of these recommendations and how the accounting profession reacted to them 

will be seen more clearly as this study reviews standards related to fiinds flow and cash 

flow reporting. 

Funds Flow Reporting in The Public Sector 

Compared to the private sector, significantly less development ofthe fiinds flows 

statement is found in the accounting literature for the public sector for the period prior to 

1963. The possible reasons for this lack of development include: (1) the impact of 

budgeting on financial reporting; and (2) the influence of reporting for governmental fiinds 

on aU aspects of reporting for all government activhies. The writing that did address fiinds 

flow . eporting was predominantly in textbooks. This section first explores some possible 

reasons for the limited development of fiinds flow reporting in governmental accounting. 

Then, the section summarizes the presentations of some governmental accounting 

textbooks that in some ways approximate the fiinds flows statement but are still different 

in many material respects. 



85 

Influential Factors Affecting Funds Flow 
Reporting in the Public Sector 

The Impact of Budgeting on Financial Reporting 

A factor in the lack of development of a fimds flows statement in governmental 

accounting may have been the close relationship between budgeting for governmental 

units and their accounting processes. The cash basis of accounting was very closely 

related to budgeting in the public sector. This relationship resulted in what was commonly 

caUed a budgetary basis of accounting, and its use could have had an effect on what types 

of reports were prepared. 

In the National Committee on Municipal Accounting Bulletin No. 1, Principles of 

Municipal Accounting (1934) (NCMAB 1), Principles 5 and 6 stated that revenues and 

expenditures, respectively, should be accounted for through the budgetary control 

accounts. Such a requirement would normally necessitate use ofthe budgetary (cash) 

basis of accounting. The requirement would not necessarily prohibit use of a modified 

accrual basis of accounting to account for revenues and expenditures. To do both, 

however, particularly in an era prior to common use of computers, would have required 

great effort and considerable cost. Most state and local governments (SLGs) would have 

probably been unwiUing to use these dual methods of accounting. As a resuh most sets of 

accounting records would have been kept on the cash basis. The immediate impact would 

be an awareness ofthe flow of funds (cash) into and out ofthe SLG's accounts making a 

fiinds flows statement an unnecessary dupUcation. 
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NCMA BuUetin No. 5, Municipal Funds and Their Balance Sheets (1935) 

(NCMAB 5), which more clearly defined the accrual basis of accounting as being 

preferred for governments, also stated, "The general accounting system should include 

budgetary control accounts for both revenues and expenditures" (NCMAB 5, Principle 7, 

p. 75). Thus, NCMAB 5 had requirements for both budgetary controls and the use ofthe 

accrual basis of accounting. The common resuh was SLGs maintained their records 

throughout the year on the cash basis and then prepared accrual based reports once a year 

to comply whh generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). This apparent 

contradiction made GAAP a "once a year nuisance" (Anonymous). 

The budgetary relationship was also explicitly stated in the governmental accounting 

textbooks of this time period. Since most SLGs were and are required to budget for their 

operations, legal requirements could become a major factor in accounting for these 

operations. Chatters and Tenner (1940) recognized this requirement when they stated. 

Again, legal provisions may determine what shall or shall not be included as 
revenue. For example, if a municipality is operating under a cash basis law [as was 
conmion], it has no ahemative but to keep ks books on the basis of cash receipts 
and disbursements in so far as revenues and expenditures covered by the law are 
concerned. Some governmental units keep their records in such a manner that they 
can report their revenues and expenditures on both the cash and the accrual basis. 
(1940, p. 21) 

This comment was fairly consistent with other textbooks. 

When NCGA Bulletin No. 14, Municipal Accounting and Auditing (NCGAB 14) was 

pubUshed in 1951, reports were required that compared budgetary (estimated) amounts 

with actual amounts for both revenues and expenditures and encumbrances. These reports 

were prepared on the budgetary basis, thus emphasizing the importance ofthe budget in 
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financial reportmg. Given that the budget was often prepared on the cash or near-cash 

basis, the financial reporting for these comparisons would then approximate certain 

aspects of a fiinds flows statement, ahhough it would be shown on two separate 

statements—one for revenues and another for expenditures and encumbrances—instead of 

a single fiinds flows statement. Thus the budget requirements in SLG accounting would 

negate the drive for a fimds flow report, at least in the governmental fiinds. 

It must be noted that few governments prepared budgets for their proprietary fiinds. 

This being the case, there would be no budget-to-actual statement for proprietary funds. 

Therefore, the budgetary requirements discussed above might have a lesser impact on 

funds flow reporting. However, the fact that a separate fiinds flow report was not 

prepared for governmental fiinds may have made it less likely that a fiands flow report 

would be prepared for the proprietary fiinds. Also, NCGAB 14 made no mention of a 

fiinds flows statement in the discussion on financial reporting for business-type fiinds 

desphe the fact that use of fiinds flows statements were fairiy common in the private 

sector. 

The Influence of Governmental Fund Reporting 

It is very difficult to separate the influence of governmental fimd reporting from the 

impact of budgeting. As has already been demonstrated, the budgetary requirements of 

governmental fiinds have an impact on governmental financial reporting which, in turn, 

may have had an impact on proprietary fund reporting. However, there is another factor 

affecting reporting: the tradhional governmental model or accounting equation. 
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In governmental fiind accounting and reporting the emphasis is on working caphal. 

The basic accounting equation is 

CURRENT ASSETS = CURRENT LIABHITIES+FUND BALANCE. 

Restated, this equation becomes: 

CURRENT ASSETS - CURRENT LIABILITIES = FUND BALANCE, 

which is the working caphal equation where fund balance equals working caphal. Whh 

this accounting and reporting focus, h logically follows that the operating statement, 

which measures the changes in assets, liabilities, and fiind balance through the nominal 

accounts, would also use this same focus. As a result, the governmental fund operating 

statement approximates a fiinds flows statement prepared on the working caphal basis. 

Thus, the governmental fiinds, at least, would not require a separate fiinds flows 

statement. 

However, the accounting equation for the proprietary funds should not be overlooked. 

This accounting equation is: 

CURRENT ASSETS+NONCURRENT (FIXED) ASSETS = 

CURRENT LL^ILITIES + LONG-TERM LIABILITIES + FUND EQUTTY. 

This equation does not convert as easily to a working caphal format as does the 

governmental fund accounting equation. Nonetheless, the influence ofthe governmental 

fund equation on the reporting format continued to be significant. Apparently, there was 

never a perceived need for a fiinds flows statement in ehher the governmental fiinds or the 

proprietary fiinds. 
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Impact of Governmental Accounting Textbooks 
on Funds Flow Reporting 

Although the NCMA and NCGA bulletins never mentioned or required a fiinds flows 

statement, there was considerable discussion in governmental accounting textbooks of 

funds flow reporting. This section presents a review ofthe development of some types of 

fiinds flow reporting formats discussed m those textbooks. A summary ofthe funds flows 

statements examined in this section is in Figure 2-17. 

Oakey (1921) feh h was important that the custody of cash (for the treasurer or the 

custodian) be reported as well as the amounts avaUable to meet the immediate cash 

demands ofthe municipality (for the disbursing officer). Preparing cash receipts and 

disbursements statements from the point of view ofthe accounting officer and the 

treasurer was supported later by Hackett (1933). Oakey identified three types of 

schedules that could be used to report this information: 

• a distribution of cash balances between deposhories, shoving the name of each 

depository and the amount deposhed therein; 

• the amount of cash in each office; and 

• the distribution of cash according to fiinds shoving the cash balance of each fimd 

(1921, p. 471). 

His textbook included several examples of reports that met these requirements including 

the City of New York (Figure 2-18), the City of Chicago (Figure 2-19), and the City of 

Philadelphia. 
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Morey (1927) had a very simple statement designed to show the beginning and ending 

cash balances m each fiind. The report also showed the gross receipts, disbursements, and 

transfers (to other funds within the government) for each fund. The format he used is in 

Figure 2-20. The report could be used as a reconciliation technique for verifying balances 

in the Treasury (1927, p. 107). This same format was used by Morey and Hackett (1942). 

STATEMENT 10—SUMMARY OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS 

Fund 

1. General 
2. Special 
3. , etc. 

Totals 

Balance 
Previous 
Report 

Receipts 

13,801.80 
5,400.00 

$19,201.80 

Disburse
ments 

2,907.44 
1,221.50 

$4,128.94 

Transfers 
(net) 

-1,000.00 
+1,000.00 

Balance 
This Date 

9,894.36 
5,178.50 

$15,072.86 

Figure 2-20. Summary of Receipts and Disbursements (adapted fi^om Morey, 1927, 
p. 107). 

Chatters and Tenner (1940 and 1947), Tenner (1955), and Tenner and Lynn (1960) 

identified a total of six different cash reports classified into two general groups—^those 

reports prepared for budgetary administration and other types of reports. Ofthe six 

identified in the textbook, one summary report could be considered the equivalent of a 

fiinds flows statement (Figure 2-21). Note that this statement is somewhat similar to the 

one used by Morey (1927) in that h separated receipts and disbursements from interfimd 

transactions. Also, the interfund transactions were broken out between receipts and 

disbursements instead of using a single column as did Morey. Finally, note that the 

location ofthe deposhs by bank was indicated. Thus the report meets the first and third 
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requirements set by Oakey (1921), ahhough those requirements were not restated by 

Chatters and Tenner. 

Early Efforts in Standard-Setting for Funds 
Flow Reporting 

In a 1937 preliminary committee report. Standard Practice in Municipal Accounting 

and Financial Procedure, the NCGA made some specific recommendations on what 

reports should be included in the annual financial report for a municipality. Ofthe twelve 

statements recommended, two were the: 

• Statements of Cash Receipts and Disbursements, which was only required in 

certain funds and was not required ofthe proprietary fiinds, and 

• Summary Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements, which was to be 

prepared for the government as a whole but reported receipts and disbursements 

for each fiind. 

While no format was provided for these statements, the text ofthe publication did describe 

a format similar to the one used by Morey.^ 

Although this preliminary committee report did not include examples ofthe two cash 

receipts and disbursements statements, both were included in NCMAB 14. The Statement 

of Cash Receipts and Disbursements (Figure 2-22) was recommended for use in four 

funds—Special Assessment Funds, Bond Funds, Sinking Funds, and Trust and Agency 

Funds. The Summary Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements—All Funds 

ĥi analyzing later bulletins ofthe NCGA, this preliminary report was apparently never adopted as 
a formal bulletin, but the report may have had some impact on governmental accounting textbooks. 
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(Figure 2-23) was prepared for all funds in the governmental unit and is very similar to 

Morey's (1927) simple cash statement. 

Name of Municipality 
Trust and Agency Funds 

STATEMENT OF CASH RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS 
For Fiscal Period 

Cash Balances (Beginning of Period) $62,190 

Receipts: 

Pension Contributions $ 9,500 
Interest ^'^^^ 
Taxes and Interest for Other Governmental Units (Itemize by units) 800,000 
Deposits ^'^^ 
Gifts 40,000 
LoansRepaid 20,000 
Revenue from Endowment Fund —zJJO 

TotalReceipts $̂ ^Q-̂ ^Q 

Total ^ 2 4 2 ^ 

Disbursements: 

Investments Purchased—Par Value $ 49,000 
Premiums on Investments Purchased —^50 

Total S^^-^'O 
Less: Discounts on Investments Purchased 2Q0 
Total Investments Purchased ^ ^^'4^0 

Accrued Interest on Investments Purchased ^°^ 
Pensions Paid -roc'nnn 
Taxes and Interest Paid Over to Other Governmental Units atemize by umts) . . . . ' J^ 
Deposits Refunded o\lC) 
Expenditure of Revenue Receipts of Non-expendable Trusts ^^Z 
Loans Made 0' 1 so 
Earnings Paid to Revenue Fund $803630 

Total Disbursements ^ ' 

Cash Balance (End of Period) ^\39filO 

Figure 2-22. Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements (adapted from NCGAB 14, 
1951, pp. 102-103). 
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Name of Municipality 
SUMMARY STATEMENT OF CASH RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS 

ALL FUNDS 
For Fiscal Period 

Fund 
Balance 

(Beginning 
ofPeriod) 

Receipts Disbursements 

General Fund 
A Special Revenue Fund 
A Woiking Capital Fund 
Special Assessment Funds 
Bonds Funds 
Sinking Funds 
Trust and Agency Funds 
A Utility or Other Enterprise 
Fund 

$65,500 
23,725 
30,000 

311,290 
259,100 
49,103 
62,190 
157.950 

$958,858 

$1,333,500 
266,700 
96,000 

318,095 
356,250 
114,530 
880,510 
500.900 

$3,866,485 

$1,326,250 
265,200 
105,900 
371,150 
287,000 
131,755 
803,630 
573.450 

$3864,335 

Balance 
(End of 
Period) 

$72,750 
25.225 
20,100 

258,235 
328,350 
31,878 
139,070 
85.400 

$961,008 

Figure 2-23. Summary Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements—All Funds 
(adapted from NCGAB 14, 1951, p. 147). 

Even though reports similar to the fiinds flows statements used in the private sector 

were never reviewed in the governmental accounting literature, there were some efforts 

made in reporting the flow of cash through the governmental entity. While this may seem 

to be a minor point now, h may have had an impact when governments started using the 

equivalent of a fiinds flows statement in the late 1960s. This impact will be examined 

more closely in the next chapter. 

Summary 

The purpose of this chapter was to review and discuss the development ofthe funds 

flows statement in the private sector and the lack of similar development in the pubhc 

sector from 1863-the eariiest mention of such a statement-to 1963. The year 1963 was 
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selected as the cutoff for this chapter because it corresponds with the first accounting 

standard that addressed the fiinds flows statement: Accounting Principles Board Opinion 

No. 3, The Statement of Source and Application of Funds (APBO 3). This part ofthe 

Uterature review provided the foundation for APBO 3. In Chapter III, APBO 3 and the 

other accounting standards that followed are reviewed as are the accounting Hterature and 

accounting textbooks that addressed the fiinds flows statement and the statement of cash 

flows in the pubhc sector and the private sector. 



CHAPTER m 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS LITERATURE REVIEW: 

THE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

To most local governments the preparation of GAAP-based comprehensive 
annual financial reports is a once-a-year nuisance. (Anonymous) 

Introduction 

In Chapter II the events leading up to the publication ofthe first accounting standard 

that addressed the fiinds flows statement, Accountmg Principles Board Opmion No. 3, 

The Statement of Source and Application of Funds (APBO 3), were examined in detail for 

both the private sector and the public sector. This chapter continues the examination of 

the development ofthe Statement of Cash Flows (SCF) by examinmg the four major 

accounting standards issued since 1963 that addressed fiinds flow or cash flow reporting: 

• APBO 3, pubHshed in 1963; 

• Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 19, Reporting Changes in Financial 

Position (APBO 19), pubHshed in 1971; 

• the "business" SCF model based on Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 

No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows (FASBS 95), pubHshed in 1987; and 

• Statement No. 9 ofthe Governmental Accountmg Standards Board, Reporting 

Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental 

Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting (GASBS 9), pubHshed in 1989. 

99 
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Also examined in this chapter are the accounting practitioner-oriented literature, 

accounting textbooks, and other publications that addressed fiinds flow or cash flow 

reporting in the public and private sectors. The analysis in this chapter is summarized 

using a modification ofthe time line used in Chapter II (Figure 3-1). 

This chapter continues the use ofthe six features identified in the previous chapter for 

analyzing the fiinds flows statements and cash flows statements found in the accounting 

Uterature. These features include: the title ofthe statement; its format; classifications 

used within the statement; the basis of presentation; the content ofthe statement; and 

additional disclosures required by the statement. A separate table is devoted to the 

comparison of these features for each section of this chapter. 

APBO 3: 1963 to 1971 

APBO 3 was the first attempt by any accounting standard-setting body—in the private 

sector or the public sector—to estabUsh an accepted format for the fiinds flows statement. 

However, APBO 3 did not actually set the format ofthe statement. Based largely on 

Mason's 1961 study, the opinion described the fiinds flows statement, defined some 

concepts, and discussed disclosures. It did not present a suggested format for the 

statement. 

This section provides a three-part analysis of APBO 3. Fhst, the section presents a 

detailed analysis ofthe opinion. Second, the section reviews the accounting Hterature, 

mcluding both articles and textbooks, addressing the fiinds flows statement in the private 
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sector. Third, the section analyzes governmental accounting textbooks and NCGA efforts 

to estabUsh standards for fiinds flow reporting and contrasts these efforts with APBO 3. 

Figure 3-2 presents a comparison of all standards addressing either funds flows statements 

or cash flows statements. 

The Opinion 

APBO 3 was issued by the Accounting Principles Board (APB) ofthe American 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) in October 1963. As previously stated, 

this opinion was the first to specifically address the funds flows statement issue. In the 

introduction, the APB recognized that accountants had been preparing a fiinds flows 

statement for a number of years, primarily for management's use. The APB also 

recognized that investors were beginning to realize the importance of a funds flows 

statement in the external financial reporting of corporations. Paragraph 3 ofthe opinion 

stated: 

The Accounting Principles Board has considered the matter of reporting the flow 
of fiinds of a business enterprise. Certain aspects of this matter are referred to in 
this Opinion, includmg (1) the importance of information about the flow of fiinds, 
(2) the essential features ofthe flow of a company's fiinds from a reporting 
standpoint, and (3) the distinction between information regarding flow of funds 
and information regarding net income. (1963, p. 14) 

In addressing the first and second aspects, the APB stated in Paragraph 4: 

Information about the sources from which a company obtains fiinds and the uses to 
which such funds are put may be usefiil for a variety of purposes affecting both 
operatmg and investment decisions. Some of this information is evident from the 
financial statements. The statement of source and application of fiinds is helpfiil 
because it presents other information which ordinarily cannot be obtained from 
the financial statements and because h presents articulated information about the 



103 

s 
s 
a 
Q 

i l l -
I - -g-S §< 

S" b ^ O .S C 3 
W ;g < ffl SO H fc I 



104 



105 

o 

J 5 . 2 i 
ll 
I 
f 
I 
8-
•9 

C 

^ , 2 3 

_ o _ 
O 00 O 

00 w M 7 

3 I I .s I 
1 
•5 e 
CO o 

c 
o ^^ 

i ̂  
1.l (S M .5 O 

o 
u 

3 

CQ 

u 

S 
o 

> 

I 
CA I 

> 

.S 

I 
S 

> I 
00 
.S 

e 
b 

•g 

£ 
E 

c V o ;s 
Q 3 £ 

c o 

u e o 

S 
CO 

o 
4> 

S — 
GO b 

00 
ON 

1 
Qotn 

s-B-B 

b < CO 

6 
Z. 

s 
CO 

CO U l 

> 

3 
60 

OO 
.S u 

.S 
b 

•l..a 

§ n 
'Z< 

1-5 
as ^ 
t3 < 

to 

00 
c 

'i 
I 

I 
I 
Q ^ £ 

1 
TS .2 
« •a E -J 

u 
e 
o 
u 
« 

OS 

u 
o 

I 
3 .2 
CO b 

ov 
00 
ON 

ON 

d 

3 
CO 

§ 
O u 

I 



106 

flow of fiinds. A statement of source and application of funds cannot supplant the 
income statement, but h can provide a useful and significant summary of certain 
transactions which, taken by themselves, have meaning, namely those affecting the flow of 
fiinds. (1963, p. 14, emphasis added) 

Clearly, the APB feh that the statement of source and appHcation of fiinds (SSAF) would 

be a usefiil tool both inside the company (operating decisions) and to external users ofthe 

financial statements (investing decisions). The APB recognized that the SSAF would 

contain information already available in the annual financial report and some ofthe 

information not currently available. However, the APB made it clear that the SSAF was 

not to be considered a replacement ofthe income statement but a statement that provided 

usefiil information not available in the income statement. 

The APB realized h was necessary to define the focus ofthe statement in order to 

distinguish the information to be presented in the SSAF. As Mason (1961) pointed out, a 

number of different measures were used to prepare the fiinds flows statements—including 

cash, quick assets, and working caphal—^with the working caphal measure being the most 

popular. In determining the focus ofthe SSAF, the APB stated that the use of cash would 

be too narrow and would change the statement to a recapitulation of cash receipts and 

disbursements (1963, p. 14). The APB recognized the problems associated with cash flow 

in Paragraph 6 ofthe opinion: 

The term "cash flow" has been used to refer to a variety of concepts, but hs most 
common meaning in financial literature, and to a lesser extent in the accounting 
Uterature, is the same as "fiinds derived from operations" in a statement of source 
and application of fiinds. It is often defined as "net income plus depreciation," or 
"net income before deducting depreciation, depletion, amortization, etc." 
Synonyms which are sometimes used include "cash earnings," "cash income," and 
"cashthrow-ofif."(1963,p. 14) 
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In order to address fiirther the third aspect from Paragraph 3, the APB needed to 

make h clear that there was a difference between the mformation presented on the income 

statement and the mformation in the fiinds flows statement. The APB was obviously 

worried that the idea of cash flow might be supplanting what h considered to be more 

information when h stated in Paragraph 7, 

Many ofthe comments made in connection with "cash flow" analysis leave the 
reader with the erroneous impression that "cash flow" or "cash earnings" is 
superior to net income as a measure of a company's real earnings power. .. . The 
amount of "cash flow" or the "cash flow per share" has often been presented in the 
president's letter, the financial review, or the statistical section ofthe annual report 
of a corporation apart from or in the absence of a complete statement of source 
and appHcation of fiinds in the report. In other words, there has been a growing 
tendency on the part of some people to single out one ofthe hems on the 
statement of source and application of fiinds, thereby implying that this figure is 
more important than other information regarding the flow of fiinds and often 
carrymg the impHcation that "net income plus depreciation" is the best measure of 
a company's profitability. . . (1963, p. 16) 

Therefore, one ofthe reasons for issuing this opinion was to make clear that the cash flow 

information on the SSAF was of secondary importance to the accrual-based information 

on the income statement. 

In issuing the opinion, the APB stated. 

The Board [APB] believes that a statement of source and appHcation of fiinds 
should be presented as supplementary information in financial reports. The 
inclusion of such information is not mandatory, and it is optional as to whether it 
should be covered in the report ofthe independent accountant. (1963, p. 16, 
emphasis added) 

The APB seemed to contradict hself First, the APB stated that the SSAF should be 

included in the financial report. Typically, the word "should" indicates "wiU," as in "the 

statement will be presented." In the second sentence, however, the APB cleariy stated 
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that the mclusion ofthe SSAF was not mandatory. Also, the SSAF was to be presented 

not as a financial statement of equal status with the others in the financial report, but as 

supplementary information. The APB was trying to reemphasize the secondary nature of 

the information in the SSAF. Indeed, the APB went on to state in Paragraph 15: 

The amount of fiinds derived from operations cannot be considered as a substitute 
for or an improvement upon property determined net mcome as a measure of 
resuhs of operations and the consequent effect on financial position. . . . The 
Board regards computations of "cash flow per share" as misleading since they 
ignore the impact of cash expenditures for renewal and replacement of facilities 
and tend to downgrade the significant economic statistic of "earnings per share." 
(1963, pp. 17-18) 

To define the basis ofthe statement, the APB stated in Paragraph 9: 

The concept of "funds" underlying the preparation of a statement of source and 
appHcation of funds should be consistent whh the purpose ofthe statement. In the 
case of statements prepared for presentation in annual reports, a concept broader 
than that of working capital should be used which can be characterized or defined 
as "all financial resources," so that the statement will include the financial aspects 
of all significant transactions, e.g., "nonfiind" transaction such as the acquisition of 
property through the issue of securities. (1963, p. 16) 

By adopting the all financial resources definition of fiinds, the APB accepted the 

recommendation ofthe Mason report. 

Other points made about the SSAF in APBO 3 included: 

• No requirement for consistent format. Related hems could be shown together and 

less significant (material) hems combined (Paragraph 10). 

• No established thle for the statement, although some recommendations were made, 

including: 

• "Statement of Resources Provided and Applied " and 

• "Statement of Source and Application of Funds" (1963, p. 17, Paragraph 11). 
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• The requirement that increases in noncurrent assets and liabilities and capital stock 

be disclosed separately, when material. 

• No clear definition as to whom the opinion applied. Did h apply only to the 

private sector—where most AIA and AICPA reporting and auditing standards 

appUed—or was h also applicable to the public sector? Given that most AIA and 

AICPA rules applied only in the private sector, one could assume that APBO 3 did 

not apply to SLGs. But there was no guidance on this point in the statement. 

The failure by the APB to prescribe a format for the statement was particularly 

important. While "all financial resources" was provided as the definition for fiinds, the 

opinion did not require a cash basis or working capital basis for the statement. Nor did h 

specify a direct or indirect format for preparation. The opinion was void of any guidance 

on how to actually prepare the statement. This lack of information may have contributed 

at least in part to the problems faced in implementing the opinion, and h was certainly one 

ofthe factors that led to replacing the statement. 

It was important to reexamine APBO 3 in light of Mason's (1961) recommendations 

(see Figure 2-16). Ofthe ten recommendations, #1—^which required the SSAF—^was 

completely ignored. Recommendations #5 and #6—on the format ofthe statement—^were 

largely ignored since APBO 3 did not prescribe a format. The other recommendations 

were largely implemented. But certainly recommendations #1, #5, and #6 were among the 

most important of Accounting Research Study No. 2 (ARS 2), and these were not put into 

effect by ABPO 3. The failure to include these recommendations in the opinion may have 

been a contributing cause ofthe problems that occurred once APBO 3 was implemented. 
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The Impact on Financial Accounting 

The Academic Lherature 

APBO 3 was attacked immediately. Pauher (1963) examined what should be included 

in the concept of fiinds and how the fiinds flows statement should be arranged or 

formatted. Pauher called for including in the concept of fiinds four types of accounts: (1) 

cash, (2) marketable securities, (3) accounts receivable, and (4) accounts payable. The 

fourth account was to be subtracted from the sum ofthe first three accounts to calculate a 

net fiinds poshion. Pauher supported excluding from the concept of fiinds six types of 

accounts, including: 

• inventories; 

• prepaid expenses; 

• dividends payable; 

• notes payable (current loans and portion of long-term debt due whhin one year); 

• accrued pension plan expense; and 

• accrued taxes. 

The inventory and prepaid expenses exclusions were supported by Moonitz (1943). 

Pauher also supported a definite format for the statement by identifying four components 

ofthe report: 

• fiinds flowing in (sources, including capital provided from stocks and bonds, 

income from investments and proceeds from the sale of fixed assets, and current 

operations). 
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• fiinds flowing out (applications, including the acquisition of fixed assets, other 

investments, financial costs, debt retirement, and caphal liquidation), 

• fiinds conversion (changing the nature of fiinds from current to long-term or from 

cash to inventory), and 

• nonfiind transactions (issuing debt to acquire fixed assets). 

Pauher opposed Mason's indirect method of calculating fijnds flow from operations, 

instead supporting the independent calculation ofthe flow (direct method). 

Parker (1963) was concerned with the disclosure issue, specifically involving the 

combining of certain items. APBO 3 allowed combining of items that were not significant, 

although it did require that increases and decreases of noncurrent assets and liabilities and 

caphal stock be disclosed separately. What the opinion did not address was the disclosure 

of situations where firms negotiated and repaid exactly the same amount of short-term 

credh in a period. Such an event would be lost in the netting in the SSAF. Parker cited 

the need to disclose both the new debt and the payment ofthe old debt in order to 

accurately reflect the flow of fiinds. This issue was not resolved until much later in the 

standard-setting process. 

Paton (1963) attacked the idea of cash flow in financial reporting. First, he 

admonished those supporting cash flow measurements by stating, 

The current campaign to glorify "cash-flow" measurements evidently leans heavily 
on two ancient and persistent notions, not soundly grounded to say the least, 
regarding depreciation. One of these is the idea, fostered in part by careless and 
misleading description by accountants themselves, that the depreciation deduction 
in the income statement is not a "cash" cost. The truth is, of course, that 
depreciable property doesn't grow on the bushes or fall like manna from heaven. 
Typically such assets acquired by the processes of construction or purchase, and 
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sooner or later actual disbursements of cash—wm checks on bank accounts—are 
required to meet the costs incurred. And the periodic depreciation charge typicaUy 
represents a slice ofthe expenditures made to acquire the buildings and equipment 
employed in operation—a sUce designed to measure the capacity to render service 
that is currently consumed or exhausted The second mistaken notion, very 
widely held, is that the process of accruing depreciation somehow "provides 
fiinds." . . . Recognizing depreciation doesn't provide a dime, and the same can be 
said of all other cost accruals. (1963, pp. 244-245) 

He feh that the calculation of cash flow by starting whh net income and adding back 

depreciation was "sloppy and inadequate as a tool in the area of cash administration or 

fiind analysis" which was "not worthy of general approval or use by the accounting 

profession in any connection" (1963, p. 246). Paton did recognize the importance of cash 

flow analysis in forecasting, developing financing programs and dividend policy, and 

planning for expansion, but did not want h included in financial reporting. 

Li (1963b) also addressed the format issue. He called attention to the fact that 

nonfiind adjustments to net income did not involve either the receipt or expenditure of 

fiinds, but to include them on the fiinds flows statement made it appear that these 

adjustments were sources or uses of fiinds. Instead, Li endorsed an approach that would 

adjust total revenue for out-of-pocket expenses and ignore depreciation. This approach 

sounds very similar to the current direct method. Like Moonitz, Li supported showing the 

effects of inventory adjustments separately, preferably as an application of fiinds. 

Drebin (1964) was also disturbed about the depreciation issue in the SSAF. He 

accurately pointed out that the cost of using durable goods (fixed assets) was just as much 

a real cost as were the costs of labor and materials, and that a company could not make a 

profit unless these costs were recovered. However, since adding back depreciation did 
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not make any economic difference, it was really an unnecessary procedure. Drebm 

pointed out numerous instances when adding back depreciation resulted in information 

that was very misleading to financial statement users. He indicated that h was important 

for the accountmg profession to address this problem, and felt h to be in the best interests 

of all to remove this "add back" problem from financial reporting. 

Although APBO 3 did not divide the SSAF into sections, Mauriello (1964) discussed 

the preparation ofthe operating section (actuaUy the computation of fiinds flow from 

operations, or, in the terminology of that period, "cash flow"). He identified two possible 

methods: 

• Balance sheet form, which started whh net income, made adjustments for 

depreciation and other nonfiind transactions, and then made adjustments for 

changes in the working capital accounts (current assets and UabiUties). 

• Income statement form, which adjusted revenues and expenses for the working 

capital accounts and ignored the nonfiind items such as depreciation. 

The balance sheet form and the income statement form are essentially the same as the 

indirect method and the direct method, respectively. However, Mauriello's income 

statement form recast the income statement on the cash basis while maintaining an income 

statement format. The direct method, while similar, does not follow this procedure. 

Nonetheless, the comparison is a valid one. 

MaurieUo objected to the use ofthe income statement form for several reasons. First, 

he found h difficuh to see the purpose of any method that attempted to assign to specific 

working caphal accounts to making adjustments in income statement hems. He felt that 
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working caphal accounts could affect a number of income statement accounts, thus 

making the restatement meaningless. Second, he believed that h would be confiising to 

restate the income statement from its tradhional accrual format to a cash format.̂  Third, 

he was worried, as was the APB, about the impact of recreating a cash-based measure of 

net income that might appear to be an alternative to the accrual-based measure of net 

income. 

What Mauriello proposed to replace the SSAF was a two-part statement—(1) a fiinds 

flows statement and (2) a cash flows statement—that would reflect all the changes in the 

period. Specifically, he recommended: 

• an all inclusive fiinds statement showing the changes in all balance sheet accounts; 

• a cash flows statement that would reconcile the changes in working capital to the 

changes in cash; 

• the funds flows statement prepared using the balance sheet approach; and 

• showing depreciation as measuring the conversion of fixed assets at book value to 

working caphal (1964, p. 357). 

Staubus (1966) was concerned with the concepts of fiinds flow. Both ARS 2 and 

APBO 3 used aU financial resources as the defining concept ofthe fiinds flows statement. 

Staubus identified four possible measures, including: 

^Apparently, a common practice at this time was to recompute the mcome statement but on a cash 
basis. Bedford (1968) used this type of disclosure. 



115 

• earnings—the net change in net assets produced by recurring operations; 

• working flow—the net change in net current assets produced by recurring 

operations; 

• quick flow—the net change in net short-term monetary assets [net quick assets] 

from recurring operations; and 

• cash flow—the net change in cash from recurring operations (1966, p. 402). 

Staubus then evaluated each ofthe above options by analyzing the advantages and 

disadvantages of replacing one with the other (see Figure 3-3 for a summary of this 

evaluation). 

1. If we substitute working flow for earnings we may gain by omitting our crude measurements of 
depreciation, depletion, amortization, and provisions for deferred liabilities; but we must recognize 
the disadvantage of completely ignoring capital consumption costs and the portions of pensions, 
income taxes, etc., that are not paid currently. 

2. If we substitute quick flow for working flow, we may gain by eliminating dependence upon the 
valuation of inventories, prepayments, and deferred credits to revenue, but we expose the resulting 
net flow figure to the problems of mismatching of costs with revenues by failure to defer them when 
appropriate. 

3. If we substitute cash flow for quick flow, we may gain by avoiding the problems of valuation of 
receivables, but we lose the contribution to matching resulting from the use ofthe accrual method of 
recognizing revenues and costs. 

4. To reverse the substitution, if we switch from cash flow to quick flow we gain better matching of 
costs and revenues through the use ofthe accrual technique, but must accept the problems of 
valuation of receivables. 

5. If we substitute the more refmed concept of working flow for quick flow, we gain the better 
matching contributed by short-term deferrals of merchandise costs, prepayments of services, and 
revenue received in advance, but we take on measurement difficulties relating to these deferrals, 
especiaUy inventory valuation. 

6. If we switch to earnings from working flow, we improve the relevance of the flow concept to 
investor's interests by providing for consumption of long-lived assets and for long-term delays in 
payment for some costs, but we must face up to the related measurement problems, especially 
depreciation. 

Figure 3-3. Evaluation of Asset Flow Concepts. 
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Staubus never recommended one method over another. Instead, he maintamed that 

the selection of a concept would depend on the need ofthe user. Unfortunately, only a 

single financial statement can be prepared. However, his comments do make a 

comparison of ahemate concepts that could be usefiil later in determining the concept for 

a new statement. 

In what were two ofthe few empirical studies ofthe impact of APBO 3, Rosen and 

DeCoster (1969) and Fess and Weygandt (1969) examined how the opinion affected 

financial reporting of major U.S. companies. Rosen and DeCoster randomly selected 100 

companies from the Fortune 500 and found: 

• in 1962, 39 companies presented a SSAF in accordance with APBO 3; 

• by 1965 this total had increased to 83 companies with 

• 49 ofthe companies using a working capital format, 

• 22 ofthe companies using a balanced report format (sources = applications); 

• by 1967 the total had only increased to 89 companies whh 

• 51 ofthe companies using a working caphal format, 

• 28 ofthe companies using a balanced report format (1969, p. 133). 

Rosen and DeCoster also found that ofthe companies that prepared a SSAF prior to 

APBO 3, only 14 percent changed their reporting format after the issuance ofthe opinion. 

Fess and Weygandt (1969) examined how companies reported cash flow in their 

financial reports. For their survey period (1962 to 1966), the authors looked at the annual 

reports of 100 companies. They found that only 35 ofthe companies provided cash flow 

data during the period whh the following results: 
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• 12 companies followed practices contrary to APBO 3 and did not change their 

practices after the opinion was issued; 

• 9 companies did not introduce cash flow data untU after the effective date ofthe 

opinion; and 

• 14 different terms were used to refer to cash flows, including cash flow, cash flow 

per share, net cash income, net cash generated from operations, cash recovery, 

cash generation, and cash income (1969, pp. 55-56). 

ABPO 3 clearly did not have a uniform effect on companies given the diversity of 

practice. However, it did have an impact on the number of firms preparing the SSAF, as 

shown in Figure 3-4. The fact that more companies were preparing the SSAF and more 

audhors were including the statement in the scope of their opinion made it clear that a 

change to a more uniform report was inevitable. 

Financial Accounting Textbooks 

"Diversity" describes the presentation ofthe fiinds flows statement in accounting 

textbooks prior to APBO 3. Whh the issuance of APBO 3, much ofthe development had 

already taken place, but the opinion did not prescribe the format ofthe statement, only 

that one should be prepared. Textbook authors helped to fill this void and to establish the 

format. Also, in the textbooks published prior to APBO 3, most ofthe authors discussed 

the fiinds flows statement as part of a larger chapter, usually one addressing balance sheet 

analysis. For the textbooks examined in this section, all devoted an entire chapter to fiinds 

flow or fiinds analysis. This section briefly examines the impact of APBO 3 on the 
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Figure 3-4. Impact of APBO 3. 

discussion ofthe fiinds flows statement in selected accounting textbooks.^ Figure 3-5 

summarizes the examples examined in this section. 

Johnson and Kriegman (1964) were among the first to discuss in detail the preparation 

ofthe SSAF. They stated, "The fiinction ofthe statement of source and application of 

funds is to show the source of all fiinds received by a business during an accounting 

period, the disposhion made of these funds, and the net change in the amount of working 

Ŝeven textbooks are included m this discussion. Others were available but not used because the 
SSAF discussion presented m them was not sufficiently different from the textbooks used. 
Textbooks excluded were: Brock, Pahner, and Archer (1966), Vance and Taussig (1966), Meigs and 
Johnson (1967), Meigs, Johnson, Keller, and Mosich (1968), and Meigs, Johnson, and Mosich 
(1970). 
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caphal" (1964, p. 627). They emphasized that the statement was intended to measure the 

change in working capital but did not address the concept of all financial resources as it 

applied to the SSAF. The authors used a residual approach in the preparation ofthe 

statement and made the calculation of fiinds from operations the last hem. 

Johnson and Kriegman also discussed the preparation of a cash flow statement. The 

authors defined the term "cash flow" as net income plus noncash hems from the income 

statement (indirect method). Having defined cash flow in this manner, Johnson and 

Kriegman computed cash flow in their example using the direct method, contrary to the 

method used in their fiinds flows statement. They continued to use the residual approach. 

Simons and Karrenbrock (1964) began their chapter as many others did, by listing the 

questions to be answered by the SSAF, including: 

• What was responsible for the change in working caphal? 

• What was done with profits? 

• How has expansion been financed? 

• How was the bonded indebtedness paid off when operations resuhed in a 

substantial loss? (1964, p. 836) 

While Johnson and Kriegman limited their definition of fimds to working caphal, Simons 

and Karrenbrock discussed the impact of defining fiinds as working caphal, net monetary 

assets, and cash, and they included in their discussion the idea of all financial resources and 

hs impact on the SSAF. The authors discussed both the cash flows statement and the 

SSAF and provided examples of both. In both statements the indirect method was used in 

computing fiinds or cash from operations. 
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Fmney and Miller (1965) discussed both the SSAF and the concept of cash flow in 

their chapter, ahhough only the SSAF format was presented. The authors again used the 

mdhect method in presenting the flows from operations calculations. It was interesting to 

contrast this presentation to the format used by Finney in 1921. The format had changed 

radically, but many ofthe same disclosures were still present. 

The discussion ofthe SSAF by Hylton (1965) was unique because ofthe in-depth 

discussion ofthe concepts ofthe fiinds flows statement and the very hmited example for 

the format ofthe fiinds flows statement. Hylton began his discussion by examining the 

different definitions of fiinds, including cash, liquid assets (cash, marketable securities, and 

current receivables), liquid assets less current liabilhies, current assets, working caphal, 

and total resources (all assets). He then discussed how the use of any of these definitions 

could limit the content ofthe SSAF, thus supporting the poshion for the all financing 

sources concept of preparing the statement. Hylton provided a limited discussion on the 

form and content ofthe SSAF, concluding his chapter by urging users to adopt a title for 

the statement consistent with the content ofthe statement. 

The presentation ofthe SSAF by Black, Champion, and Brown (1967) was 

noteworthy for one point: presentation of actual financial statements as format examples. 

One ofthe statements they used. El Paso Natural Gas Company, is shown in Figure 3-6. 

The company used cash as the basis ofthe statement and used the direct method to 

compute the sources of fiinds from operations. 
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SOURCE AND DISPOSITION OF FUNDS • 1963 

Cash Balance, Beginning of Year $39.882.517 

Source of Funds 
Sales and Other Operating Revenues 512.251.974 
Less Our Payments For 

Gas, Products, Materials, Wages, and Services 328,640,443 
Federal, State, and Local Taxes (Excluding Deferred Income Tax) 16,294,700 
Interest and Other Charges 45.320.382 

390.255.525 
Left a Balance from Operations 121,996,449 

We Also Received From 
Sale of Properties and Investments 24,772,502 
Short-Term Loan 124,566,364 
Sale of Production Payment 8,000,000 
Sale of Preferred Stock by Subsidiary 5,000,000 
Other Sources 7.176.755 

All of Which Provided Funds for the Year 301.462.070 

Disposition of Funds 
Refunds Made in Settlement of Rate Cases 155,667,858 
Expenditures for Properties, Plant, and Equipment 54,865,557 
Retirement of Bonds, Debentures, and Other Long-Term Debt 65,717,432 
Retirement of First Preferred Stock 3,925,000 
Dividends 

Preferred 6,748,226 
Common 22.859.383 

309.783.456 
CashBalance, End of Year $31.561.131 

L 
Figure 3-6. El Paso Natural Gras Company. 

Bedford (1968) used what he called a "more conventional format" ofthe fiinds flows 

statement (1968, pp. 664-665). This format was noteworthy principally because ofthe 

use of separate schedules to compute fiinds provided by operation and to provide 

additional disclosures about the statement. The fiinds provided by operations calculation 

essentially restated the income statement in a cash format and used the direct method to 

calculate the amount. Depreciation was disclosed on the face ofthe presentation, but no 
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amount was shown indicating h had no effect on fiinds. If using this format was more 

conventional as Bedford indicated, one must wonder why the format was not seen in other 

textbook examples. 

Welsch, Zlatkovich, and White (1968) presented several unique formats for the SSAF. 

Perhaps the most unusual placed the applications of working caphal before the sources. 

The authors stated that the only reason for doing this was to make a decrease in working 

caphal easier to present and to make understanding the financial statement easier. A very 

detailed SSAF provided separate disclosures for those items included in net income that 

did not require or provide working caphal. A third example included explanations ofthe 

sources and uses of working capital to better explain the changes to users. 

The examples of SSAF formats used in the textbooks and discussed above show the 

diversity of methods used to examine changes in working capital. If these examples can 

be considered a reflection of actual practice, then h is obvious there was little 

standardization in the preparation ofthe statement. And, since the use ofthe statement 

increased as the 1960s passed, the need for more guidance on the preparation ofthe SSAF 

was evident. That guidance would come in the form of another APB opinion. 

The Impact on Governmental Accounting 

The impact of APBO 3 on governmental accounting and reporting is difficuh to assess 

for several reasons. First, as was noted in Chapter II, there was little reason to have a 

fiinds flows statement in governmental reporting. Second, the hterature on governmental 

reporting in general was very limited compared to the amount of literature available on 
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financial accounting and reporting. Third, ofthe hterature that was available, very little 

was devoted to the discussion ofthe fiinds flows statement. 

Limited Textbook Example 

Indeed, an excellent example of how limited the discussion was on the fiinds flows 

statement can be found in a governmental accounting textbook written by Mikeseh and 

Hay (1968). Although the book totaled 758 pages in length, the authors devoted only two 

paragraphs to the fiinds flows statement and related matters. Their discussion briefly 

mentioned the cash receipts and disbursements statements discussed in Chapter II and 

referred students to intermediate accounting textbooks (like the ones discussed in the 

previous section) for more information on the SSAF. 

GAAFR 68 

What may be considered the major event ofthe period regarding the development of 

the funds flows statement—and for most of governmental accounting and reporting—^was 

the pubUshing of Governmental Accounting, Auditing, and Financial Reporting by the 

NCMA in 1968 (GAAFR 68). GAAFR 68 was the first major rewrite ofthe principles of 

governmental accounting since NCMAB 14, and it was the first publication in the public 

sector to specifically address the fiinds flows statement (Figure 3-2). 

In Chapter I, "Principles of Governmental Accounting and Reporting," Principle 13 

addressed the statements to be prepared. The principle stated: 
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Fmancial statements and reports showing the current condition of budgetary and 
proprietary accounts should be prepared periodically to control financial 
operations. At the close of each fiscal year, a comprehensive annual financial 
report [CAFR] covering all funds and financial operations ofthe governmental unit 
should be prepared and pubhshed. (1968, p. 14) 

In the discussion ofthe principle, the Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements was 

specifically mentioned as being important for certain fiinds, but the SSAF was not included 

in the discussion. 

GAAFR 68 provided samples ofthe Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements. 

One format (Figure 3-7) was shown for certain governmental fiinds—the trust and agency 

fiinds. Significant detail was provided for the receipts and disbursements. The other 

format (Figure 3-8) was prepared for the governmental entity as a whole. This statement 

was included in the discussion ofthe financial section ofthe CAFR and was one ofthe 

recommended reports. This report was comparable to the cash statements found in the 

governmental accounting textbooks discussed earlier. 

In the chapter addressing enterprise funds (Chapter VI), GAAFR 68 stated, 

A statement of sources and application of fiinds, similar to that used frequently in 
accounting for privately-owned business organizations, should be prepared and 
mcluded in the financial reports of governmental enterprise fimds. (1968, p. 64, 
emphasis added) 

The format ofthe statement (Figure 3-9) differed from what was used in the private sector 

in one very important way: it was to be prepared on the cash basis, not the working 

caphal basis as was common in the private sector. Also, the statement was prepared using 

considerably less detail than the private sector examples shown eariier. Finally, and 

perhaps most importantly, GAAFR 68 required that the statement be prepared for 
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Illustration 36 
Name of Governmental Unit 

TRUST AND AGENCY FUNDS 
STATEMENT OF CASH RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 19x2 
Total 

^ , ^ , -. All Funds 
CashBalance, January 1,19x2 $ 119 690 
Receipts 

Employees' Contributions jg Q93 
Employer's Contributions 79404 
^terest 33'3-79 
Investments Redeemed 25 oOO 
School Property Tax Collections 800000 
Performance Deposits 5000 
^ ^ •. 40,000 
Loans Repaid by Borrowers 20 000 
Revenues from Earnings of Endowment Principal Fund 2,150 
Premiums for Employees' Hospitalization 42,800 

TotalReceipts $1.126.826 
Total Cash Available 1 246 516 

Disbursements: 
Investments Purchased at Par 185 ooO 
Premiums on frivestments 1 2OO 

Total 186,200 
Less: Discounts on Investments 2OO 
Total Investments 186,000 
Accrued Interest on Investments Purchased 600 
Refimds—^Resignations 20,250 
Refunds—^Death 5,495 
Retirement Annuity Payments 22,750 
Tax Collections Paid to School District 725,000 
Deposits Refimded 5,000 
Merit Awards 2,370 
LoansMade 15,000 
Earnings Paid to Endowment Revenue Fund 2,150 
Payments to Hospital Insurance Company 45.200 

Total Disbursements 1.029.815 
Cash Balance, December 31,19x2 $ 216.701 

Figure 3-7. Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements. 

government "business-type" fiinds, while the private sector accounting standard in force at 

the time—APBO 3—only suggested thsit a SSAF be prepared. 



128 

Illustration 50 
Name of Governmental Unit 

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS—ALL FUNDS 
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31,19x2 

Fund Balance Balance 

1-1-X2 Receipts Disbursements 12-3 l-x2 

General Fund $184,600 $1,317,500 $1,243,600 $258,500 

Special Revenue Funds: 
Parks 29,525 258,500 248,500 39,525 
stale Gasoline Tax 14,710 422,500 414,750 22,460 
Motor Vehicle License 1,320 201,000 196,900 5,420 
Parking Meter 16,060 79,700 79,500 16,260 
Juvenile Rehabilitation 8,320 207,600 198,200 17,720 

Debt Service Funds: 
1970 Civic Center — 2,500 — 2,500 
1941 School Building 25,219 8,230 7,145 26,304 
1966 Parks and Playgrounds 760 23.725 20,210 4,275 
1960 Street, Bridge, & Drainage 4,305 92,250 85,800 10,755 

Capital Projects Funds: 
Municipal Auditorium 260,000 1,250 246,000 15,250 
Barton Heights Recreation Center — 414,500 414,500 — 
Storm Sewer System 33,000 — 25,000 8,000 
City-County Civic Center — 1,381,250 1,069,000 312,250 
Congress Avenue Bridge 66,100 100,000 70,000 96,100 

Enterprise Funds: 
Water and Sewer Fund 137,760 1,420,986 1,301,710 257,036 

Intragovemmental Service Funds: 
Central Garage Fund 50,000 96,000 116,300 29,700 

Trust and Agency Funds: 
Employees'Retirement 56,050 214,216 194,095 76,171 
Endowment Revenues 900 2,150 2,370 680 
Performance Deposits 20,750 5,200 5,000 20,950 
Endowment Principal 3,140 42,460 43.150 2,450 
Revolving Loan Principal 5,450 20,000 15,000 10,450 
School oLict Tax 25,800 800,000 725,000 100,800 
Hospital Medical Services 7,600 42,800 45,200 5,200 

Special Assessment Funds 
Improvement District No. 77 201,640 50,900 202,200 50,340 
Improvement District No. 79 105,900 7,900 26,050 87,750 
Improvement District No. 80 _ ^ _ _ m 0 9 5 . ^ ^ 2 ^ ^^±m 

TOTAl^ALL FUNDS Sl.258.909 $7.416.212 $7.104.180 $1-570.941 

BALANCES CLASSIHED BY DEPOSrTORY: ^ ^̂ ^ 
Change and Petty Cash Funds 085 704 

? t p : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : 257:036 
^ ^ ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : 216.701 

Total Balance 12-3 l-x2 SIJJM^ 

Figure 3-8. Combined Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements—All Funds. 
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Illustration 25 
Name of Governmental Unit 

WATER AND SEWER FUND 
STATEMENT OF SOURCES AND APPLICATIONS OF CASH FUNDS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 19x2 

Cash Funds Were Provided by: 
Net Operating Income before Depreciation $307,070 
Non-operating Income 8,830 
Contributions from Subdividers 650,666 
Contributions from Customers 22,000 
Cash—^Revenue Bond Construction 127,883 
Cash WithFiscal Agent 6.262 

Total Cash Funds Provided $1,122,711 

Cash Funds Were AppUed to: 
Non-operating Expenses 92,988 
Reduction of Current Liabilities 451,524 
Increases in Restricted Assets for Revenue Bond 

Debt Service 32,180 
Purchase of Investments (Customers' Deposits) 8,000 
Additions to Utility Plant in Service 324,453 
Retirement of Revenue Bonds 44,000 
Retirement of General Obligation Bonds 50,000 
Increase in Current Non-cash Assets —290 

Total Applications of Funds 1,003,435 
hicrease in Cash Funds during the Year 119,276 
CashBalance, Januaiy 1,19x2 131J60 
CashBalance,December31,19x2 $ 257,036 

Figure 3-9. Statement of Sources and Applications of Cash Funds. 

Unfortunately, no information is readily available on how widely this statement was 

used in governmental reporting. However, the increased usage ofthe SSAF in the private 

sector and the issues involved with h discussed eariier in this section were sufficient reason 

to encourage the APB to issue a second opinion addressing funds flows statements. This 

opinion and hs impact on private sector and pubhc sector accounting and reporting are 

discussed in the next section. 
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APBO 19: 1971 to 1987 

The issuance of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 19, Reporting Changes in 

Financial Position (APBO 19), in March 1971, forever changed the way the flow of funds 

were reported. Until this opinion, the preparation of a funds flows statement was optional 

in the private sector but required in the public sector by GAAFR 68. Increased usage of 

the statement by U.S. companies and the requirement ofthe Securities and Exchange 

Commission to include the SSAF in some filings encouraged the APB to issue a new 

opinion that would require the statement be a part of a company's annual report.̂  This 

section examines the content of APBO 19, the Statement of Changes in Financial Poshion, 

and the impact on accounting literature in both the private sector and the public sector. 

The Opinion 

APBO 19 (Figure 3-2) can be immediately set apart from APBO 3 by the statement of 

objectives (APBO 3 did not contain a list of objectives). The APBO 19 objectives were 

stated in Paragraph 4: 

Objectives ofthe funds statement are (1) to summarize the financing and investing 
activities ofthe entity, including the extent to which the enterprise has generated 
funds from operations during the period, and (2) to complete the disclosure and 
changes in financial position during the period. (1971, p. 372, emphasis added) 

APBO 19 listed financing, investing, and operating activities in hs objectives but did not 

require that the SCFP be prepared using these three sections. Significantly, APBO 19 did 

not prescribe the actual format ofthe report but only hs content. Although these sections 

Âccountmg Series Release #117, issued in October 1970, required a SSAF for certain 
registrations and other reports. 
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were not used m the SCFP, all three sections are used later in FASBS 95 and influenced 

the sections used in GASBS 9. 

The APB may have feared that the SCFP could replace some ofthe other financial 

statements. To guard against such a replacement, APBO 19 stated the relationship ofthe 

SCFP and the other financial statements: 

The funds statement is related to both the income statement and the balance sheet 
and provides information that can be obtained only partially, or at most in 
piecemeal form, by interpreting them. . . . The funds statement cannot supplant 
either the income statement or the balance sheet but is intended to provide 
information that the other statements either do not provide or provide only 
indirectly about the flow of funds and changes in the financial position during the 
period. (1971, p. 372, Paragraph 5, emphasis added) 

This statement was probably intended to avoid some ofthe problems ofthe past including 

the tendency of some companies to place more emphasis on their cash earnings than on 

their accrual-based net income. 

The concept of funds continued to be a major issue. Several accounting textbook 

authors discussed different concepts that could be used to prepare the statement (see 

Simons and Karrenbrock (1964) and Hyhon (1965)). In Paragraph 6 ofthe opinion, the 

APB identified the various measures that could be used to define funds including cash and 

working capital. But, the statement made clear that the use of any of these measures as 

the basis for the statement would exclude important financing and investing transactions 

fi-om the funds flows statement. To avoid this problem, APBO 19 used the all financing 

resources as the basis ofthe statement, as had APBO 3. 

In deciding when the SCFP should be prepared and what types of businesses should 

use the statement, the APB specified that: 
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When financial statements purporting to present both financial poshion (balance 
sheet) and resuhs of operations (statement of income and retained earnings) are 
issued, a statement summarizing changes in financial position should also be 
presented as a basic financial statement for each period for which an income 
statement is presented. These conclusions apply to all profit-oriented business 
entities, whether or not the reporting entity normally classifies hs assets and 
liabilities as current and noncurrent. (1971, pp. 373-374, Paragraph 7, emphasis 
added) 

Thus APBO 19 required the preparation ofthe SCFP. APBO 3 stated the SSAF was 

optional. 

Given that APBO 19 applied "to all profit-oriented business enthies," a case may be 

made that APBO 19 also was applicable to the business-type activities (proprietary funds) 

of governmental entities. There are two bases for this conclusion. First, APBO 19 

referred to "aU profit-oriented business enthies." This definition naturally would have 

mcluded governmental business-type enthies. Second, the accounting principles pubhshed 

by the NCMA and the NCGA, discussed eariier in this chapter, included provisions for 

accounting for municipal business enterprises in the same manner as private enterprises. 

How the requirement to include the SCFP in accounting for proprietary funds was 

established wiU be examined in the next section. 

Unlike the requhements of APBO 3, APBO 19 specified the title for the report. In 

APBO 3, the Board had only recommended a thle and offered two that could be used. In 

this opinion, the APB specified that "Statement of Changes in Financial Poshion" would 

be the title aU companies would use (1971, Paragraph 8). 

In describing the content and preparation ofthe SCFP, APBO 19 stated: 

The ability of an enterprise to provide working capital or cash from operations is 
an important factor in considering hs financing and investing activhies. 
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Accordingly, the Statement should prominently disclose working caphal or cash 
provided from or used in operations for the period,.... The statement should 
begin with income or loss . . . and add back (or deduct) items recognized in 
determining net income or loss which did not use (or provide) working capital 
[e.g., depreciation, amortization, depletion] or cash during the period. . . . An 
acceptable alternative procedure, which gives the same result, is to begin with 
total revenue that provided working capital or cash during the period and deduct 
operating costs and expenses that required the outlay of working caphal or cash 
during the period. (1971, pp. 374-375, Paragraph 10, emphasis added) 

In this paragraph the APB established what is now referred to as the indirect method and 

direct method for preparing the SCFP. The APB continued to recommend the use ofthe 

indirect method. The direct method, while allowed, was clearly labeled only as an 

"acceptable alternative procedure." This alternate method was never mentioned in 

APBO 3. APBO 19 also allowed the use of either cash or working caphal as the basis for 

preparing the SCFP, another point on which APBO 3 was silent. 

APBO 19 never stated a preferred method of presentation—indirect method or direct 

method or working caphal-basis or cash-basis. However, since the direct method was 

called the "acceptable ahemative procedure," h can easily be inferred that the indirect 

method was the preferred procedure. And, since "working caphal" always came before 

"cash," h can also be inferred that the former was preferred to the latter. 

APBO 19 was also much clearer than ABPO 3 on the content ofthe funds flows 

statement. APBO 19 directed the following individual disclosures: 

• changes in each element of working caphal (unless the SCFP shows the flow of 

cash, in which case this account would not be disclosed separately); 

• effects of other financing and investing activhies, whether or not working caphal 

(or cash) is affected; 
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• purchases of long-term assets; 

• proceeds fi^om the sale of long-term assets not in the normal course of business; 

• conversion of long-term debt or preferred stock to common stock; 

• issuance, assumption, redemption, or repayment of long-term debt; 

• issuance, redemption, or purchase of caphal stock for cash or other assets; and 

• dividends to shareholders (1971, pp. 377-377, Paragraphs 12-14). 

APBO 19 was not without hs problems, however. The principal problems concerned 

five major issues: 

• The option of using ehher the indirect method or direct method of preparing the 

operating flows section ofthe statement. 

• The option of using ehher working caphal-basis or cash-basis. 

• Attempting to accomplish too much in a single statement. 

• The format ofthe statement. 

• Insufficient disclosure in the SCFP. 

Each of these issues and the impact of APBO 19 on financial accounting textbooks are 

discussed in the fohowing section. 

The Impact on Financial Accounting 

The Academic Literature 

The discussion in the academic hterature can be divided into five areas. The first is the 

debate over the method used to calculate operating cash flows—the direct method or the 

indirect method. The second area addresses the basis used to prepare the report— 
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working caphal or cash. Third, the discussion examines the debate over the objectives of 

APBO 19. Fourth, the format ofthe SCFP is reviewed. Finally, the disclosures of 

APBO 19 are analyzed. 

The Direct Method Versus the Indirect Method The debate over the method to be 

used to compute the fiinds flow from operations has been one ofthe most contested issues 

of APBO 19 and, as will be seen later, ofthe Statement of Cash Flows. Mauriello (1964) 

debated the issue even before h was called the direct method versus the indirect method. 

Discussed earlier in this chapter, Mauriello was opposed to restating the income statement 

in a cash-basis format, a format demonstrated by Bedford (1968). The objections to 

APBO 19 did not, however, revolve around the restatement ofthe income statement but 

just the funds from operations section ofthe SCFP. 

As noted in the previous section, the funds from operations section ofthe statement 

could be prepared in either ofthe formats shown in Figures 3-10 and 3-11. Kemp (1971) 

identified the failures ofthe indirect method as: 

• the method tended to represent adjusting hems (depreciation) as sources or uses of 

fiinds when, in fact, they were just adjustments, and 

• the method resuhed in an incorrect figure being labeled "fiinds provided from 

operations." 

Kemp beheved the direct method to be superior because h avoided these problems and 

provided a "fi-ont door" instead of "back door" approach to calculating fiinds provided by 

operations. 
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NET INCOME 
+ 

ITEMS WHICH DID NOT PROVIDE OR USE WORKING CAPFTAL OR CASH 

(E.G., DEPRECL\TI0N, AMORTIZATION, AND DEPLETION) 
± 

CHANGES IN CURRENT ASSET AND CURRENT LIABILITY ACCOUNTS 

Figure 3-10. Indirect Method. 

TOTAL REVENUE THAT PROVIDED WORKING CAPITAL OR CASH 

OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES THAT USED WORKING CAPITAL OR CASH 

Figure 3-11. Direct Method. 

Geise and Klammer (1974) provided similar justification in supporting the direct 

method. They felt that the use ofthe direct method—which they called the flow-through 

method—exphcitly showed the inflows and outflows from operations. The flow-through 

method also avoided showing depreciation as a source of fiinds by excluding depreciation 

entirely fi^om the computation. 

Heath (1978) indicated that the principal advantage ofthe direct method was that h 

showed the actual sources and uses of cash (which he preferred to working capital). He 

beheved that the use ofthe indirect method was like calculating net income by using the 

change in stockholders equity adjusted for non-income hems. He stated, "The indirect 

method of calculating cash provided by operations is pernicious because it is almost 

certain to continue to confiise financial statement users by reinforcing the incredible belief 

that profits and depreciation are sources of cash" (1978, p. 99). 
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Swanson (1986) thought the indirect method offered certain advantages over the 

direct method. First, the mdirect method helped to distinguish net income and cash flows. 

From the earlier discussion on APBO 3, one ofthe most asked questions concerning the 

fiinds flows statement was what happened to the profits (net income). Swanson believed 

that the indirect method answered this question. Second, Swanson believed that the use 

ofthe indirect method highlighted the allocations (e.g., depreciation, bad debts) whose 

treatment as expenses or revenues affected the quality of income. By adding back (or, in 

some cases, deducting) these items, Swanson believed that users might gain a better 

understanding that different methods of allocating fixed asset historical costs 

(depreciation) or uncoUectible accounts (bad debts) could affect net income differently. 

Understanding these differences could improve how users evaluate intercompany 

comparisons when the companies use different allocation methods. 

Working Capital Versus Cash. Another issue was whether working caphal or cash 

should be used as the basis of presentation given the all financing resources concept ofthe 

SCFP. A review ofthe literature indicates that debate intensified in the late 1970s and 

continued into the 1980s. The reason for this timing can be seen in Figure 3-12, which 

reports the change in basis fi-om 1971 to 1986. In the early years, most fimds flows 

statements were prepared using the working caphal-basis, but this basis changed as greater 

emphasis was placed on a cash-basis statement by the Financial Executives Institute and 

the FASB. 
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Woridng Capital 

Cash 

1972 1974 1976 1978 1980 1982 1984 1986 

Fiscal Year End 

Figure 3-12. Impact of APBO 19. 

All but one ofthe articles reviewed for this study supported changing the basis of 

preparation fi-om working capital to cash. Heath (1978) supported a cash-basis statement, 

stating, "Current habilities are not paid whh current assets; they are paid with cash" (1978, 

p. 98). Heath feh that to show where profits went, a physical measure, cash, was needed. 

Coleman (1979) urged the change to be made as part of an overall restructuring ofthe 

fiinds flows statement. Heath, addressing the same issue again in 1981, indicated that 

most bankers were interested in cash flows for credh analysis, stating, "Debts are paid 

with cash, and a person concerned with solvency is, therefore, concerned with a firm's 
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cash, hs clahns on cash, hs obligations to pay cash, and hs ability to engage in transactions 

that increase its cash" (Heath, 1981, p. 3). 

Only one ofthe articles reviewed for this study did not support the change to a cash-

basis statement, and h was written in response to Heath (1978). Swanson and 

Vangermeersch (1979) criticized the use ofthe cash-basis for three reasons: 

(1) the possibilities for cash manipulation are endless; 

(2) there is a potentially erratic pattem associated with actual cash receipts and 

payments; and 

(3) the use of cash goes against accmal accounting. 

Heath, responding in the same article, objected to the third point because he said he 

intended the cash flows statement to be a supplement to the accrual-based balance sheet 

and income statement, not to replace either statement. As to the other two points, the 

same could be said about working capital although to a lesser extent. 

Objectives of APBO 19. As noted earlier in this section, ABPO 19 estabhshed some 

objectives to be achieved by the SCFP: 

(1) to summarize financing and investing activhies ofthe entity, including the 
extent to which the enterprise has generated fiinds from operations during the 
period, and (2) to complete the disclosure of changes in financial statement during 
the period. (1971, p. 372, Paragraph 4) 

Many authors feh that these objectives were too broad and resuhed in use ofthe SCFP 

trying to accomplish too much. Spiller and Virgil (1974) wrote that the statement should 

accomphsh only one ofthe above objectives, leaving the other to a separate report. They 

did not indicate which objective should belong to the SCFP; they merely stated they 
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wanted the objectives hmited to a single point. Heath (1978) feh that the first objective 

was too broad and the second was unattainable for the SCFP and recommended a different 

reporting format (discussed later in this chapter). 

Format ofthe SCFP. Of particular concern to a number of authors was the general 

format and content ofthe SCFP. Grinnell and Norgaard (1972) wanted the effects of 

prior period adjustments excluded from determining cash flows from current operations. 

The authors also wanted cumulative effects of changes in accounting principle excluded 

from the calculation of funds flow from operations. 

Spiller and Virgil (1974) indicated a need for greater grouping within the SCFP. 

APBO 19 did not specify the particular format the SCFP was to take. In the objectives 

statement, the opinion did recognize different types of flows including investing, financing, 

and operating flows. These authors wanted the investing and financing flows to be 

grouped according to causes and to use more gross instead of net reporting. Although not 

specifically stated, Spiller and Virgil may have been making a case for grouping all 

financing activities together in one section ofthe statement and placing all investing 

activities in another section, as is currently done in the SCFs. 

Buzby and Falk (1974) presented a unique SCFP to replace the APBO 19 model. 

Shown in Figure 3-13, this format presented three measures of fiinds flow—cash, working 

caphal, and total financing sources—on a single statement. The authors also endorsed the 

use ofthe direct method for preparing the operating section ofthe report. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FINANCDU. POSITION 

Cash Noncash hems 
affecting working 

caphal 

Working Caphal Noncash hems 
not affecting 

working capital 

Total (all 
financing 
sources) 

Figure 3-13. Buzby and Falk SCFP Model. 

Although he did not present any altemates, Regazzi (1974) objected to several things 

in the SCFP. These included: 

• a weak thle, 

• a statement that looked like a bookkeeping schedule, 

• a statement lacking in organization and subgroupings [similar to Grinnell and 

Norgaard (1972) above], 

• the statement hself was too long, and 

• the statement included too much extraneous information (1974, p. 50). 

Heath (1978), as noted eariier in this section, felt that the SCFP was trying to 

accomplish too much in a single statement. He also wrote that the SCFP was little more 

than a coUection of plus and minus changes in balance sheet hems (Heath, 1979). 

Therefore, he proposed replacing h with three statements: (1) a statement of cash receipts 

and payments; (2) a statement of financing activities; and (3) a statement of investing 

activities (these statements are summarized in Figure 3-14). Heath's formats had some 

overiap, ahhough he feh that h was not dual reporting since the statements showed the 

effect on cash in one statement and the effect on the caphal structure or investment 

structure in the other schedules (1978, p. 101). Some later authors objected to Heath's 

use of three statements, but his three sections are the same used by the FASB. 
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Coleman (1979), another author who favored a cash approach to the SCFP, beheved 

that the statement should separate intemally and extemally generated fiinds and break out 

capital expenditures into three types: 

• replacement and improvement expenditures, 

• compUance [regulatory response] expenditures, and 

• expansion expenditures (1979, p. 34). 

He pointed out that a reformatted statement—one that separately disclosed intemally and 

extemaUy generated flows, discretionary outflows, and external financing and other 

flows—^would improve the reporting of cash flows. He stated that the reformatted 

statement would highlight how internal cash was generated, the different levels of capital 

expenditures, and how management chose between intemal and extemal financing. 

Gariepy, Hooper, and Page (1981), like Heath, proposed replacing the SCFP with 

multiple statements, although they used only two statements (also summarized in 

Figure 3-14) instead of Heath's three statements. The statements they recommended were 

a financial flows statement and a earnings reconciliation statement. The former presented 

cash flow information required for market evaluation ofthe company; the latter reconciled 

cash flows to operating net income. They feh the use of two statements had several 

advantages, including: 

• distmguishing between real transactions, judgment transactions, and accountmg 

allocations; 

• providing all the information in the SCFP plus much more; 
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• highlighting any problems in the current financial statements; and 

• providing more information for financial statement analysis. 

Although many ofthe words and the format have changed, the approach of Gariepy, 

Hooper, and Page was similar to the format used in the FASB SCF. The first statement is 

essentially the SCF prepared on the direct basis whh greater detail in the operating section 

while the second statement is the indirect reconciliation of cash flows fi-om operations with 

net income. 

Arthur (1986) made a similar case for segregating intemally generated cash flows fi^om 

extemaUy generated flows. His format used the idea of discretionary cash flows, although 

his major repayment of long-term debt would be anything but discretionary. He believed 

that restating the SCFP in terms similar to the income statement would be helpfiil because, 

"Section I takes the message from the income statement and begins the conversion to 

reflect the effect upon cash. This much ofthe statement corresponds to the intuhive 

process most experienced managers go through as a first step in analyzing the income 

statement" (1986, p. 36). Clearly, one ofthe intended users of Arthur's fiands flows 

statement was intemal managers. 

Numberg (1983) had some very specific objections to the content ofthe SCFP. First, 

he felt the title was inappropriate since several financial statements could reflect the 

change in financial position. Second, he pointed out that the gains and losses fi-om the sale 

of fixed assets could be the resuh of over- and under-depreciation of those assets, thus 

making h possible for these gains and losses to be operating activities. Third, he believed 

that interest receipts and interest expenditures were incidental to operating activities and 



145 

should be classified as financing and investing activities'* (which many authors currently 

say about the FASB SCF). Finally, he wrote at length of allocating taxes among all the 

classes of flows and not just including tax payments in operations. 

Insufficient Disclosure in the SCFP. Several authors voiced the concem that the SCFP 

did not go far enough in providing disclosures about fiinds flows. Spiller and Virgil 

(1974) wanted certain things to be clarified ehher in the text of APBO 19 or in the SCFP 

presentation, including: 

• grouping financing and investing activities by the cause ofthe event; 

• using more gross instead of net reporting; 

• clarifying the meaning of some technical terms; 

• restrictmg reporting of extraordinary hems; and 

• providing greater guidance on the reporting of noncurrent exchanges and 

materiality guidelines for net/gross reporting. 

Lewis (1976) also advocated more gross reporting, allowing netting only with similar 

transactions. 

In contrast, Seifiick (1983) felt that the disclosure requirements of APBO 19 were 

sufficiently clear. He said the opinion had led to more disclosures and that the problem 

with disclosures lay not whh the statement but with firms not complying with the exphdt 

disclosure requirements contained in the opinion. Rueschhoflf (1973) praised APBO 19 

for hs highlighting ofthe depreciation problem and for providing more information on the 

timing effects of tax ahocations. 

'Hartgraves and Tuthill (1986) and several other authors made this same point. 
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From the above review, h should be apparent that APBO 19 had a significant impact 

on financial reporting. The opinion had problems according to many authors, but h did 

open up new avenues of financial analysis ofthe annual reports. It also created a number 

of new research opportunities which are discussed in Chapter IV of this study. 

Financial Accounting Textbooks 

Chapter II examined closely the diverse methods used to prepare the fiinds flows 

statement prior to 1963. The effect of APBO 3 on accounting textbooks published 

between 1963 and 1971 is reviewed in this chapter. This review was extensive because of 

the flexibility ahowed in the preparation ofthe fiinds flows statement by APBO 3. Much, 

but not aU, of this flexibility was removed in APBO 19, so the review of financial 

accounting textbooks in this section was limhed to only four books: Simons (1972), 

Kieso and Weygandt (1980), Needles, Anderson and Caldwell (1987), and Moore, 

Anderson, and Jaedicke (1988). 

Desphe the broad range of both publishing dates and textbooks, all four books 

presented essentially the same information and financial statement examples. All four 

books offered examples ofthe working capital-basis and the cash-basis SCFP—the format 

of which are summarized in Figure 3-14 by referring to Simons only. Both ofthe SCFPs 

used the indirect method in calculating fiinds (cash) fi-om operations and the residual 

format for the statement. Also, none ofthe textbooks prepared a classified SCFP using 

the operating, investing, and financing sections. Neither the method nor the format was 

surprising given the resuhs ofthe studies discussed above. 
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The Impact on Governmental Accounting 

APBO 19 had a different impact on governmental accounting fi-om what one might 

suspect. Desphe the argument supporting the application of APBO 19 to governmental 

business-type fiinds, nothing authoritative was issued by the NCGA to specifically make 

the apphcation until 1975. The AICPA, however, did take a major step to require the use 

ofthe SCFP in governmental reporting. 

In September 1974 the Committee on Govemmental Accounting and Audhing 

(GAAC) ofthe AICPA published the Industry Audit Guide, Audits of State and Local 

Govemmental Units (ASLGU). In this audit guide, the GAAC stated. 

Generally, fair presentation of financial position and resuhs of operations in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles [GAAP] requires that the 
financial statements of each fiind include [1] a balance sheet, [2] a statement of 
revenues and expenditures (or separate statements of revenues and expenditures 
or, in each case, expenditures and encumbrances, whichever is appropriate), and 
[3] a statement of changes in fiand balance. In the case of an enterprise fiind, in 
addition to the statements comparable to those mentioned above, a statement of 
changes in financial position is required, in accordance with Accounting 
Principles Board Opinion No. 19, "Reporting on Changes in Financial Position." 
(ASLGU, 1974, p. 75, emphasis added) 

As a resuh, for the first time, an APB opinion had been made specifically applicable to 

govemmental accounting and reporting. 

Although the ASLGU changed a number of things in govemmental accounting and 

reporting, the GAAC made one other particulariy bold change in the audit guide. In 

addressing the principles of govemmental accounting established by GAAFR 68, the 

GAAC reevaluated Principle 2. In GAAFR 68, Principle 2 stated. 

If there is a conflict between legal provisions and generally accepted accounting 
principles applicable to governmental units, legal provisions must take 
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precedence. Insofar as possible, however, the govemmental accounting system 
should make possible the fiiU disclosure and fah presentation of financial poshion 
and operating resuhs in accordance with generally accepted principles of 
accounting applicable to govemmental units. (1968, p. 4, emphasis added) 

The GAAC reworded this principle in the ASLGU stating, 

A govemmental accounting system should incorporate such accounting 
information in hs records as necessary to make h possible to both (a) show 
compliance with all applicable legal provisions and (b) present fairiy the financial 
poshion and resuhs of operations ofthe respective fimds and financial position of 
the self-balancing account groups ofthe govemmental unit in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles. Where these two objectives are in 
conflict, generaUy accepted accounting principles take precedence in financial 
reporting. 

Where there is a need to report the compliance of financial transactions with legal 
requirements and it can be reported in supplemental schedules, this form should be 
used. (1974, pp. 12-13, emphasis added) 

Clearly, GAAFR 68 and the ASLGU were in conflict. The standard-setting bodies of 

the pubhc sector had held since their inception the importance of complying with the law 

in accounting and financial reporting. The GAAC contradicted this compliance by stating 

that GAAP was to take precedence over the law. The GAAC made reporting legal and 

budgetary compliance secondary to meeting the requirements of GAAP. 

To address the contradiction between the AICPA and the govemmental accounting 

standards-setting bodies, the National Council on Govemmental Accounting issued 

NCGA Interpretation No. 1, GAAFR and the AICPA Audit Guide (NCGAI 1), in 1975.' 

In it the NCGA recognized the contradiction and stated: 

The responsibility ofthe independent auditor for expressing an opinion on a basis 
of generally accepted accounting principles is recognized. Where the objective of 

B̂oth the National Committee on Govemmental Accounting and the National Council on 
Govemmental Accounting are abbreviated NCGA. 
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the govemmental entity is an unqualified opinion on the financial statements, 
legal compliance, if not adequately disclosed in the financial statements, could be 
presented by the govemmental body in the formal supplemental statements or 
schedules. (1975, p. 3, emphasis added) 

The NCGA thus predicated the adherence to GAAP over legal compliance only in cases 

where the objective ofthe govemmental entity was an unqualified opinion on its financial 

statements. NCGAI 1 also adopted the SCFP as one ofthe required financial statements 

for enterprise fiinds, although no recommended format was provided in the interpretation. 

The use ofthe SCFP was demonstrated in several govemmental accounting textbooks. 

One ofthe first govemmental accounting textbooks to recognize the SCFP and the impact 

ofthe ASLGU was the fijnd accounting textbook by Lynn and Freeman (1974). This 

textbook presented a highly detailed cash-basis SCFP (Figure 3-15) and a more 

summarized version ofthe working caphal-basis SCFP (Figure 3-16). The authors noted 

that h was the cash basis that was preferred by the NCGA. This preference was stated in 

the enterprise fimd chapter of GAAFR 68. Both statements that Lynn and Freeman 

presented used the indirect method for computing the fiinds fi-om operations and the 

residual format ofthe statement.̂  Hay (1980 and 1985), on the other hand, used the 

balanced approach in preparing a working caphal-basis example ofthe SCFP and did not 

prepare a cash-basis example. Figure 3-17 summarizes the two textbook examples. 

T̂he presentation ofthe SCFP did not change substantially in the Lynn and Freeman (1983) 
textbook. 



A GOVERNMENTAL UNIT 
Electric (Enterprise) Fund 

Statement of Changes in (Unrestricted Cash) Financial Position 
For Period Ended (Date) 

Sources of unrestricted cash: 

150 

Operations 

Net Income 

Add: Expenses not requiring unrestricted 
cash outlays— 

Depreciation of facilities and 
equipment 

Increase in current liabilities .. 

Deduct: Deductions from expenses not 
affecting cash requirements: 

Amortization of bond premium 
Increase in current receivables (net of 

allowance for uncollectible accounts) 
Increase in inventory of materials and 

supplies 
Increase in prepaid insurance 

$ 36,000 
67.800 

$ 300 

36,676 

20,000 
600 

Total provided by operations 

Other sources 
Contribution from municipality 
Assumption of ABC bonds payable . . 
Assumption of ABC vouchers payable 
Issuance of bonds 
Contribution from subdividers 

Total provided by other sources 

Total provided 

Uses of unrestricted cash: 
Acquisition of land 
Acquisition of buildings 
Acquisition of improvements other than buildings 
Acquisition of machinery and equipment 
Acquisition of initial accounts receivable 
Acquisition of initial inventory of materials and supplies 
Retirement of bonds 
Increases in net assets restricted for: 

Customers' deposits 
Debt service 
Principal and interest reserve 
Contingencies 

Total Uses 
Increase in unrestricted cash 

$ 60 
9,000 
10,450 
3.000 

$ 38,600 

103,800 

(51.516) 

$84,824 

400,000 
500,000 
10,000 

202,000 
30.000 

50,000 
90,000 
707,000 
160,500 
50,000 
10,000 
50,000 

22.510 

Figure 3-15. Statement of Changes in (Unrestricted Cash) Fund Balance. 

1.142.000 

$1,226,824 
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A GOVERNMENTAL UNIT 
Electric (Enterprise) Fund 

Statement of Changes in (Working Capital) Financial Position 
For Period Ended (Date) 

Sources of Working Capital 

Operations: 

Net Income 
$ 38,600 

Add: Expenses not currently requiring 
working capital— 

Depreciation offacilities and equipment . 36,000 

Deduct: Deductions from expense not currently 
providing working capital— 
Amortization of bond premium (2>Q)(y) 

Total provided by operations $ 74 300 

Other sources 
Contribution from Municipahty $400 000 
Contributions from subdividers 30 000 
Assumption of ABC bonds 500,000 
Issuance of bonds 202.000 

Total provided from other sources 1.132.000 

Total provided $1,206,300 

Uses of Working Capital 

Acquisition of land 50,000 
Acquisition of buildings 90,000 
Acquisition of improvements other than buildings 707,000 
Acquisition of machinery and equipment 160,500 
Retirement of bonds 50,000 
Increases in net assets restricted for: 

Customers' deposits $ 60 
Debt service 9,000 
Principal and interest reserve 10,450 
Contingencies 3,000 22.510 
Total Uses 1.080.010 

Increase in unrestricted cash $ 126.290 

Figure 3-16. Statement of Changes in (Working Caphal) Financial Poshion. 
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NCGAI 1 was superseded by NCGA Statement 1, Governmental Accounting and 

Financial Reporting Principles (NCGAS 1), issued in 1979. One ofthe objectives of 

NCGAS 1 was to incorporate the critical points ofthe ASLGU and NCGAI 1 into the 

financial reporting principles of GAAFR 68. 

Two changes were made in the principles by NCGAS 1 that were of concem in this 

study. First, NCGAS 1 resolved the conflict created by the ASLGU concerning the 

precedence ofthe law and GAAP in Principle 1 by stating, 

ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING CAPABILITIES 

1. A govemmental accounting system must make it possible both: (a) to present fairly 
and with full disclosure the financial position and resuhs of financial operations of 
the fimds and account groups ofthe govemmental unit in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles; and (b) to determine and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal and contractual provisions. (1979, p. 2, 
emphasis added) 

NCGAS 1 thus put on the same level GAAP and legal requirements, thereby removing the 

legal requirements fi^om the subordinate poshion mandated in the ASLGU. 

Second, the principle addressing which financial statements were to be included in the 

CAFR was restated to include the SCFP. Principle 12, in part, stated. 

General purpose financial statements may be issued separately from the 
comprehensive annual financial report [CAFR]. Such statements should include 
the basic financial statements and notes to the financial statements that are essential 
to fair presentation of financial position and operating results (and changes in 
financial position of proprietary funds and similar Trust Funds). (1979, p. 4, 
emphasis added) 

NCGAS 1 also included an example ofthe SCFP (Figure 3-18). The statement was 

prepared: 
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using the indirect method for computing funds fi-om operations; 

on a working caphal basis, instead ofthe cash-basis used in GAAFR 68; and 

uses the residual format for the statement. 

EXAMPLE 5 
Name of Govemmental Unit 

Combined Statement of Changes in Financial Poshion— 
All Proprietary Fund Types and Similar Tmst Funds 

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 19x2 

Sources of Working Capital Separate columns provided 
Operations: for Proprietary Fund Types, 

Net Income Fiduciary Fund Types, and 
Items not requiring (providing) working capital Totals (Memorandum 

Depreciation Only) 
Working Capital Provided by Operations 

Cash from revenue bond construction account 
Contributions 

Total Sources of Working Capital 

Uses of Working Capital: 
Acquisition of property, plant, and equipment 
Retirement of general obligation bonds 
Retirement of revenue bonds payable 
Repayment of advance from General Fund 
Net decreases in other current liabilities payable from 

restricted assets 
Net increase in other restricted assets 

Total Uses of Working Capital 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Working Capital 

Elements of Net Increase pecrease) in Working Capital 
Cash 
Investments 
Receivables (net of allowances for uncoUectibles) 
Due from other ftinds 
Inventory of supplies 
Prepaid expenses 
Vouchers payable 
Confracts payable 
Accrued liabilities 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Working Capital 

The notes to the fmancial statements are an integral part of this statement. 

Figure 3-18. Statement of Changes in Financial Position. 
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Summarv 

Little is written about the SCFP in the govemmental accounting academic literature. 

However, several factors adversely affecting the use ofthe SCFP in the private sector 

were discussed earlier in this section. These factors, combined with the change in 

preparation basis ofthe SCFP fi-om working capital to cash, made h inevitable that the 

FASB would issue a standard replacing APBO 19. The factors discussed above and the 

change m preparation basis were not relevant in the public sector and served to complicate 

reporting for SLGs when APBO 19 was replaced by the FASB. 

FASBS 95: 1987 to the Present 

The Standard 

FASBS 95 provided the current SCF model for the private sector. The reasons for 

issuing FASBS 95 included the problems whh APBO 19—discussed in some detail in the 

preceding section—and the change in the preparation basis ofthe SCFP fi-om the working 

caphal basis to the cash basis. Paragraph 2 of FASBS 95 ched the problems whh 

APBO 19: ambiguity of certain terms; lack of comparability in the focus ofthe statement; 

variations in classifications of specific hems; and reporting net instead of gross inflows and 

outflows. 

The FASB feh h was necessary to provide more specific meanings for the terms used 

in cash flow reporting. Also, since APBO 19 did not specify a format for the SCFP, 

several different formats were in use, making h difficuh to compare SCFPs between 

companies. Companies also reported similar cash flows in different sections ofthe report. 
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fiirther complicating comparisons. Finally, reporting net instead of gross flows obscured 

some important details about the change in financial poshion. 

The second reason for issuing a standard on cash flow reporting was the change from 

the working caphal basis to the cash basis for preparing the SCFP. When APBO 19 was 

first issued, almost all reports were prepared using the working caphal basis. However, 

more and more firms began preparing the statement on the cash basis. The change from a 

working caphal-basis SCFP to the cash-basis SCFP was both constant and dramatic 

(Figure 3-12). The change was particularly dramatic from 1980 to 1982. Several 

significant events preciphated this change and led to the issuance of FASBS 95 

(Figure 3-19). 

FASBS 95 made some major changes from APBO 19. These changes included: 

• a clear statement ofthe objectives ofthe SCF (Paragraph 5); 

• a specific definition of cash and cash equivalents (Paragraph 7); 

• reporting gross and net cash flows (Paragraphs 11-13); 

• the classifications of cash receipts and payments (Paragraphs 15-23); 

• the content and format ofthe statement-allowing both the direct and indirect 

methods of preparing the operating section (Paragraphs 26-31); and 

• information about the disclosure of noncash transactions (Paragraph 32). 

Each of these points is discussed in greater detail below.' 

'The complete text ofthe Statement is m Appendix A of this study. This appendix is a Ime-by-
line comparison of FASBS 95 and GASBS 9. Some reformatting was made to accommodate the 
comparison. 
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December 1980 

November 1981 

Late in 1981 

December 1983 

December 1984 

April 1985 

May 1985 

March 1986 

July 1986 

December 1986 

January 1987 

February 1987 

March 1987 

November 1987 

FASB \ssuesDM,Reporting Funds Flows, Liquidity, and Financial 
Flexibility, which includes a discussion on how funds flows should 
be reported. 

FASB issues exposure draft of concepts sMsmcnt, Reporting 
Income, Cash Flows, and Financial Position of Business 
Enterprises, which concludes that cash rather than should be the 
focus ofthe funds statement. 

FEI encourages members to use cash as basis for SCFP. 

FASB issues exposure draft on concepts si&iemeiit. Recognition and 
Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, 
which also examined the SCF. 

FASB issues Concept Statement No. 5, Recognition and 
Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, 
which concluded that a cash flow statement should be part of a full 
set of set of financial statements. 

FASB establishes a cash flow reporting project. 

FASB organizes Task Force on Cash Row Reporting. 

Advisory Group on Cash How Reporting by Financial Institutions 
organized. 

FASB issues exposure draft on SCF which generated more than 450 
comment letters. 

FASB meets with securities analysts specializing in fmancial 
institutions to discuss impact of SCF exposure draft. 

FASB holds pubUc hearing on reporting cash flows for operating 

activities 

FASB meets with task force to discuss comments. 

FASB meets with advisory group. 

FASB issues Statement 95. 

Figure 3-19. Events Leading to the Issuance of FASBS 95 (adapted from Senatra, 1988). 
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The Objectives of FASBS 95 

Paragraph 5 of FASBS 95 stated the objectives ofthe SCF: 

The information provided in the statement of cash flows, if used with related 
disclosures and information in the other financial statements, should help investors, 
credhors, and others to (a) assess the enterprise's ability to generate positive fiiture 
net cash flows; (b) assess the enterprise's ability to meet hs obligations, hs ability 
to pay dividends, and hs needs for extemal financing; (c) assess the reasons for 
differences between net mcome and associated cash receipts and payments; and (d) 
assess the effects on an enterprise's financial poshion of both hs cash and noncash 
mvesting and financing transactions during the period. (1987, p. 2) 

Certamly this list of objectives was much longer than the one included in APBO 19, but 

was h any different? The basic ideas fi-om APBO 19 can be seen in these objectives, but 

the FASBS 95 list was much more detailed. One ofthe criticisms of APBO 19 was that 

the objectives were too broad. These four objectives also encompassed a wide range but a 

manageable one. The emphasis in FASBS 95 was on cash flow. The emphasis in 

APBO 19 was not as clearly stated. 

Definition of Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Another ofthe objections to APBO 19 was the opmion's failure to specify a basis of 

preparation for the SCFP and hs contmued use of terms considered to be somewhat 

ambiguous (e.g., aU financial resources, funds, etc.). FASBS 95 avoided these problems 

by identifymg cash and cash equivalents as the basis of preparation for the SCF. 
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FASBS 95 defines cash and cash equivalents by stating, 

A statement of cash flows shall explain the change during the period in cash* and 
cash equivalents. The statement shall use descriptive terms such as cash or cash 
and cash equivalents rather than ambiguous terms such diS funds. The total 
amounts of cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and end ofthe period shown 
m the statement of cash flows shall be the same amounts as similarly thled line 
hems or subtotals shown in the statements of financial poshion as of those dates. 

For purposes of this Statement, cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are both: 

a. Readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
b. So near their maturity that they present insignificant risk of changes in 

value because of changes in interest rates. 

Generally, only investments with original maturities^ of three months or less qualify 
under that definition. (1987, pp. 2-3, paragraphs 7 and 8) 

Thus, FASBS 95 used more specific terms than did APBO 19. FASBS 95 required the 

use of cash and cash equivalents as the basis for preparing the SCF. APBO 19 allowed 

ehher the working caphal-basis or the cash-basis. While one might beheve the definition 

of "cash" was obvious, FASBS 95 clearly defined the term. 

T̂his is the text of Footnote 1 m FASBS 95: 

Consistent with common usage, cash included not only currency on hand but demand 
deposits with banks and other fmancial institutions. Cash also includes other kinds of 
accounts that have the general characteristics of demand deposits in that the customer may 
deposit additional fimds at any tune and also effectively may withdraw funds at any tune 
without prior notice or penalty, all charges and credits to those accounts are cash receipts or 
payments to both the entity ownmg the account and the bank holdmg it. For example, a 
bank's grantmg of a loan by creditmg the proceeds to a customer's demand deposit account is 
a cash payment by the bank and a cash receipt ofthe customer when the entry is made. 

'This is the text of Footoote 2 of FASBS 95: 

Original maturity means original maturity to the entity holding the invesUnent. For example, 
both a three-month U.S. Treasury bill and a three-year Treasury note purchased three months 
fi-om maturity qualify as cash equivalents. However, a Treasury note purchased three years ago 
does not become a cash equivalent when its remaming maturity is three months. 
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Gross Versus Net Reporting of Cash Flows 

Another complaint about ABPO 19 was that h lacked definitive guidance on what 

types of event had to be recorded at gross and what types could be netted. FASBS 95 

was very specific about this reporting, stating: 

For certain hems, the tumover is quick, the amounts are large, and the maturities 
are short. For certain other hems, such as demand deposhs of a bank and 
customer accounts payable of a broker dealer, the enterprise is substantively 
holding or disbursing cash on behalf of its customers. Only the net changes during 
the period in assets and liabilities whh those characteristics need be reported 
because knowledge ofthe gross cash receipts and payments related to them may 
not be necessary to understand the enterprise's operating, investing, and financing 
activities. (1987, p. 4, Paragraph 12, emphasis added) 

This paragraph addressed the net versus gross issue in much more detail than did 

APBO 19, but if SpiUer and Virgil (1974) and Lewis (1976) were writing today, they 

would probably ask: How fast is "quick"? How much is "large"? What is "short"? These 

terms were not defined in FASBS 95 and required professional judgment to answer. 

Classifications of Cash Flows 

In the objectives statement in APBO 19, the APB identified three classifications of 

business activhies: financing, investing, and operating. It was noted earlier in this study 

that the remainder of APBO 19 did not refer to these classifications nor was a sample 

statement using these classifications presented in the opinion. Also, none ofthe textbooks 

reviewed in this study included samples ofthe SCFP showed one with these 

classifications. 



161 

However, these three classifications formed the backbone of FASBS 95. The SCF 

must be prepared using each classification, if appropriate. Each classification was defined 

in the statement as follows: 

• Investing Activities—making and collecting loans and acquiring and disposmg of 

debt or equity instruments and property, plant, and equipment and other 

productive assets. 

• Financing Activities—obtaining resources from owners and providing a return on 

that investment; borrowing and repaying money; and obtaining and paying for 

other resources obtained on long-term credit. 

• Operating Activhies—essentially a residual category, these activities include 

anything not defined as belonging in the investing or financing activhies, including 

cash receipts for dividends and interest and cash disbursements for interest (these 

definitions were adapted fi-om paragraphs 15, 18, and 21, respectively, in 

FASBS 95). 

Content and Format ofthe SCF 

APBO 19, in the opinion of many ofthe writers ched eariier in the study, did not 

provide sufficient guidance on the content and format ofthe SCFP. Undeniably, content 

and format were discussed (in paragraphs 9 through 14 of APBO 19), but few details were 

given. FASBS 95 provided significantly more guidance for the content and format ofthe 

SCF, hsting specific disclosures that were to be made each ofthe three sections 

(paragraphs 26 and 27, specifically, and paragraphs 16, 17, 19, 20, 22, and 23, generally). 
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FASBS 95, like APBO 19, allowed the use of either the direct method or indirect 

method in preparing the operating activities section ofthe SCF. The direct method was 

identified as the preferred method. If the direct method was used, a reconciliation of net 

income to net cash flows from operating activities must be presented as a separate 

schedule. APBO 19 allowed the use of ehher method, and did not require the 

supplemental disclosure required in FASBS 95. 

The FASBS 95 SCF was prepared using an adaptation ofthe reconciliation approach 

discussed earlier in this chapter and in Chapter II. The eariy funds flows statements using 

this approach typically started whh the beginning balance (usually working caphal), 

reported the items causing working caphal to change, and finished with the ending 

balance. FASBS 95 modified this approach slightly by reporting cash flows from 

operating, investing activities, and financing activhies to determine the net change in cash 

and cash equivalents. This amount was then added to the beginning balance of cash and 

cash equivalents to report the ending balance. This ending balance should reconcile to an 

amount on the balance sheet. 

Disclosure of Noncash Transactions 

In the history ofthe funds flows statement the use ofthe term nonfund or noncash 

transactions has been somewhat confiasing. Mostly, the terms have referred to 

transactions or events that did not affect the basis for preparing the funds flows statement. 

For example, issuing long-term debt to acquire a caphal asset would be a nonfiand or 

noncash transaction since no cash or working capital was involved in the transaction. At 
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other times, the terms have been used to refer to those transactions and events not 

requiring the use of cash or working capital. An example of this definition was 

depreciation. In the context of FASBS 95, noncash transactions used the first definition. 

In the preparation ofthe SCFP, APBO 19 directed the all financing resources 

approach. This meant that a noncash or non-working caphal transaction would be shown 

as both a source and a use of fimds. This requirement was commonly referred to as 

placing the substance ofthe transaction over the form ofthe transaction. From the 

example above, issuing the long-term debt is the source of fiinds, while the acquisition of 

the caphal asset is the use ofthe funds. The substance ofthe transaction was that cash 

would be received for the long-term debt, and this cash would then be used to acquire the 

caphal asset. 

In FASBS 95, these noncash transactions were treated as unique events and are 

disclosed separately in a section thled "Noncash Investing and Financing Activities" 

(FASBS 95, p. 9, Paragraph 32). FASBS 95 required disclosure of these activities by 

stating, "Those disclosures may be ehher narrative or summarized in a schedule, and they 

shaU clearly relate the cash and noncash aspects of transactions involving similar items" 

(FASBS 95, p. 9). The statement was silent as to the placement ofthe disclosure, but in 

practice it may be included in the notes to the annual report or on the face ofthe SCF. By 

adopting this separate disclosure guideline, the FASB elected to use the form ofthe 

transaction over hs substance. In substance, the exchange belongs in the SCF. However, 

since the form was not a true cash transaction, the FASB elected to exclude it fi-om the 

SCF. 
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Effect of FASBS 95 on the Accounting Literature 

Like APBO 3 and APBO 19, FASBS 95 has been the subject of considerable 

discussion concerning possible shortcomings in the reporting standard. Many have 

disagreed with allowing ahemate formats, preferring instead the use of ehher the direct 

method or the indirect method in the preparation ofthe Operating Activities section ofthe 

report. Others say that there is insufficient disclosure in the statement for such things as 

quarterly reporting, segment cash flows, and noncash transactions. The placement of 

some hems within the SCF, including interest and dividend receipts and interest 

disbursements, has also been debated. These concems are examined more closely below. 

The Direct Method Versus Indirect Method Debate 

Of aU the issues surrounding the issuance of FASBS 95, this one—the use ofthe direct 

method or indirect method in preparing the Operating Activhies section ofthe SCF—has 

attracted the most interest. Seven articles were examined for arguments in support of and 

in opposition to each method, including Boze (1987), O'Leary (1988), Mahoney, Sever, 

and Theis (1988), Zega (1988), Kistler and Hamer (1988), Thompson and Buttross 

(1988), and Richardson (1991). The advantages and disadvantages discussed in these 

articles are combined and hsted in Figure 3-20. Ofthe seven articles, only two— 

Mahoney, Sever, and Theis and Kistler and Hamer—preferred the indirect method to the 

preferred method. But the empirical data, taken fi-om the 1989 through 1991 editions of 

Accounting Trends & Techniques, support the use ofthe indirect method. As seen in 

Figure 3-21, most companies use the indirect method. 
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The Direct Method of Preparing the SCF 

Advantages 

Easier to compute 

Ability to compare operating revenues and 
expenses of similar companies 

Consistent with other sections 

More consistent with Statement of Financial 
Accounting Concepts No. 5, Recognition and 
Measurement in Financial Statements of 
Business Enterprises (SFAC 5, 1984) which 
required information on cash receipts and 
payments 

Additional data available for analysis 

More informative 

Enhances abihty to make interperiod comparisons 

Incremental costs are not significant 

The Indirect Method 

Advantages 

Highlights differences between net income and net 
cash from operating activities 

Less expensive to implement 

Provides a bridge between the income statement 
and the balance sheet 

Easier to understand 

Disadvantages 

Costly to implement 

May require changes in accounting system to 
implement 

Relatively uninformative 

Use may imply that cash flow from operations is a 
better measure ofthe results of operations than 
accrual-based net income 

of Preparing the SCF 

Disadvantages 

None specifically cited, although the advantages of 
the direct method could be used as 
disadvantages of using the indirect method 

Figure 3-20. Direct Method versus Indirect Method Debate. 
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Figure 3-21. Method Used to Report Cash Flows. 

Disclosure Requirements of FASBS 95 

Studies addressing the disclosure requirements of FASBS 95 generally examined what 

was left out ofthe required disclosures or the placement of some disclosures. Articles 

reviewed with these observations include Bracken and Volkan (1988), Senatra (1988), 

O'Leary (1988), Zega (1988), Kistler and Hamer (1988), and Alderman and Minyard 

(1991). The points made by these authors are summarized in Figure 3-22. 

The suggestion to move the disclosure of noncash transactions to the footnotes has 

also been refilled in the literature. Kistler and Hamer (1988) supported keeping h on the 

face ofthe statement to provide maximum disclosure on the face ofthe statement. 
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1. Report fixed and variable components of operating cash outflows. 

2. Increase fi-equency of reporting to quarteriy basis fi-om current annual basis. 

3. Require segment reporting. 

4. In addhion to what is already reported, include the following items in the 
operating cash flow reconciliation: 
• provision for bad debts. 
• amortization of bond premiums and discounts. 
• changes in deferred taxes. 

5. Have separate hnes in the operating activities section for cash paid for product 
costs (wages) and selling, general, and administrative expenses. 

6. Move the disclosure of noncash transactions to the footnotes since h 
comphcates the statement presentation and fails to meet the objectives of 
SFAC 5 on reporting only cash receipts and disbursements. 

7. Report interest and dividends received as investing activities cash flows and 
interest paid as a financing activhies cash flow instead of reporting all three as 
operating activities cash flows. 

Figure 3-22. Suggested Disclosure Requirements for FASBS 95. 

The reporting of interest receipts and disbursements and dividend receipts has been a 

particularly divisive issue, even before the issuance of FASBS 95. In the "Basis for 

Conclusions" section of FASBS 95, the FASB indicated that many ofthe respondents to 

the exposure draft for the SCF favored reclassifying these hems. The FASB decided, 

however, to include them in the Operating Activities section because all three items are 

used in determining net income. The FASB felt that most users favored including in the 

Operating Activities section all hems used to calculate net income to facilhate the 
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understanding ofthe differences between the accmal-based net income amount and the 

operating cash flow amount (FASBS 95, 1987). 

SLG Reporting in Question: 1987 to 1989 

Because FASBS 95 replaced APBO 19, a dilemma was created in SLG financial 

reporting. NCGAS 1 specifically stated that SLGs would use the SCFP for proprietary 

funds. When the GASB was established in 1984, GASB Statement No. 1, Authoritative 

Status ofNCGA Pronouncements and AICPA Industry Audit Guide, adopted all NCGA 

bulletins and the ASLGU as GAAP. Therefore, GAAP for SLGs still required the use of 

the SCFP. 

However, the GAAP hierarchy in force at the time (Figure 3-23) required that SLGs 

first follow GASB statements and interpretations. If the GASB had not issued a statement 

or interpretation specifically addressing an issue, FASB statements and interpretations 

were to be used as SLG GAAP. Therefore, even though NCGAS 1 required the use of 

the SCFP, FASBS 95 had effectively superseded APBO 19, thus requiring the use ofthe 

SCF in proprietary fund accounting. 
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State and Local Government Accounting and Financial Reporting 

1 Pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board [includes, to the extent 
that they have not been superseded. National Council on Govemmental Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations and excerpts from certain AICPA pronouncements that were recognized as 
authoritative in GASB Statement No. 1] 

2. Pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board [includes, to the extent they 
have not been superseded. Accounting Principles Board Opinions and Accounting Research 
Bulletins] 

3. Pronouncements of [other] bodies composed of expert accountants that follow a due process 
procedure, including broad distribution of proposed accounting principles for public comment, for 
the intended purpose of establishing accounting principles or describing existing practices that are 
generally accepted [includes AICPA audit and accounting guides and Statements of Position, as 
well as pronouncements of hospital, college and university, and nonprofit organization association 
committees] 

4. Practices or [other] pronouncements that are widely recognized as being generally accepted 
because they Tepresent prevalent practice in a particular industry or the knowledgeable 
application to specific circumstances of pronouncements that are generally accepted [includes 
AICPA "Trends and Techniques" and other studies of current accounting and reporting practices] 

5. Other accounting literature [includes textbooks, journal articles, speeches, and the like] 

Figure 3-23. GAAP Hierarchy (adapted from Freeman and Shoulders, 1988, p. 16). 

Also, the shift in the basis of prepararion ofthe SCFP from a working capital-basis to 

a cash-basis had been one ofthe contriburing factors in the issuance of FASBS 95 

(discussed in the previous section). For the two years prior to the effective date of 

GASBS 9, there had not been a move towards a cash-based SCFP by the public sector 

(Figure 3-24) as there had been in the private sector (Figure 3-12).̂ ^ The reasons the 

shift had not occurred in the public sector are the same reasons that the funds flows 

statement never took hold (discussed in Chapter II). 

°̂The mforaiation presented m Figure 3-24 was taken from Comprehensive Annual Fmancial 
Reports for fiscal years 1988 through 1991 available m the Govemmental Accountmg Research 
Center at Texas Tech University. 
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Figure 3-24. SCFP/SCF Reporting in the Public Sector. 

To address the confijsion and apparent contradiction, the GASB mled that until h 

could issue hs own standard, SLGs could report changes in financial position for 

proprietary fimds using either the SCFP under APBO 19 or the SCF from FASBS 95. 

However, if the SCF was used, the SLGs stiU had to comply with the requirements of 

APBO 19 (GASBS 9, 1989). As shown in Figure 3-24, not many SLGs adopted the SCF 

format of FASBS 95. Even some ofthe governments that did adopt FASBS 95 continued 

to call the SCF a SCFP. 
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GASBS 9: 1989 to the Present 

GASBS 9, issued in September 1989, was the govemmental accounting response to 

FASBS 95 and provided the current SCF model for SLG reporting. The requirements of 

GASBS 9 are very similar to those of FASBS 95. In fact, GASBS 9 states: 

Except for the modifications to the categories in FASB Statement 95 . . . and the 
change in focus ofthe reconciliation of net cash flow from operating activities, all 
other applicable provisions of FASB Statement 95 are present in this statement 
. . . . To reduce the potential for other departures from FASB Statement 95, 
which might resuh from interpretation, the Board decided that, generally, the 
language in FASB Statement 95 should be repeated, where appropriate, in this 
Statement. As a resuh, the requirements and language in this Statement closely 
follow, and sometimes are identical to, the requirements and language in FASB 
Statement 95. However, in some instances, the FASB addresses cash flow issues 
. . . that are largely irrelevant to govemmental enterprises, and the GASB does not 
deal with them in this Statement. Certain governmental enterprises may need 
guidance in these few areas . . . and may look to FASB 95 and its amendments. 
(1989, pp. 30-31, Paragraph 74, emphasis added) 

Despite the similarities in the two statements—in definitions of cash and cash equivalents, 

allowing the use ofthe direct method or the indirect method in preparing the Operating 

Activities section ofthe SCF, and in noncash disclosures—there were some significant 

differences. In Appendix A to this study, a line-by-line comparison ofthe two statements 

and a summary ofthe major differences and similarities is provided. The major similarities 

and differences are also discussed in detail below. 

Similarities of GASBS 9 and FASBS 95 

There are many similarities between the two statements, including wording, 

definitions, objectives, and many other elements. All of them are identified in Appendix A. 
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The examination in this section is limited to the major similarities, selected because they 

coUectively form the foundation ofthe two statements. 

Both statements use the same definition for cash and cash equivalents. Since the 

preparation ofthe SCF depends on how these terms were defined, a clear definition was 

essential to the successful use ofthe statement. There were only minor differences in the 

examples used for cash equivalents, and, except for FASBS 95 excluding certificates of 

deposh, the differences can be attributed to the operating environments ofthe pubhc and 

private sectors. 

The second major similarity was the disclosure requirements for what must be 

reported as a gross cash flow and what types of events can be netted. Given the major 

concem in the SCFP literature about what could be netted, stating as clearly as possible 

the mles for netting could be significant. 

Both statements allowed the use of either the direct method or the indirect method in 

preparing the Operating Activities section ofthe SCF. Also, both reporting standards 

encouraged the use ofthe direct method. The guidance for completing each method was 

essentially the same except for the point of reconciliation in the indirect method, which is 

discussed shortly as a major difference in the two statements. 

FinaUy, both statements required that noncash transactions be disclosed separately. 

Both statements allow the use of a narrative approach or a schedule. FASBS 95 is not 

specific on where the disclosure must be; GASBS 9 states that, "The schedule may be 

presented, if space permhs, on the same page as the statement of cash flows" (GASBS 9, 
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Paragraph 37, emphasis added). This statement does not require that it be presented on 

the same page (on the "face") ofthe statement. 

There is a curious issue present in this disclosure requirement. The "Basis for 

Conclusions" section of GASBS 9 stated, "The Board therefore eliminated the option to 

present the information in the notes to the financial statements" (1989, p. 28, Paragraph 

68). However, the "Basis of Conclusions" is a nonauthoritative section ofthe statement; 

thus, the option has not been eliminated. This discrepancy has caused some confusion in 

govemmental reporting, as may be seen in Appendix B of this study, which summarizes 

current SCF reporting problems in the public sector. 

Differences in GASBS 9 and FASBS 95 

There were some major differences in the SCFs required by GASBS 9 and FASBS 95. 

These differences included the sections used in each statement, the differences within the 

operating section, and the substance over form conflict in both statements. This section 

presents an in-depth discussion of these differences. 

Sections Used in the SCF 

Perhaps the most obvious difference was in the number of sections used by each 

standard in the preparation ofthe SCF. As was noted eariier in this chapter, FASBS 95 

used three sections in preparing the SCF: 
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• Operating Activities; 

• Investing Activities; and 

• Financing Activities. 

GASBS 9 used four sections: 

• Operating Activhies; 

• Investing Activities; 

• Noncaphal Financing Activhies; and 

• Caphal and Related Financing Activities. 

From the above lists h was apparent that the GASB and the FASB used similar thles for 

two sections ofthe SCF—Operating Activities and Investing Activhies. However, the 

similarity largely ended with the section title. There were significant differences in these 

two sections, just as there were significant differences in the classifications used for 

financing transactions. The differences in all sections are summarized in Figure 3-25. The 

means of classifying and reporting different types of transactions are summarized in 

Figure 3-26. 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

The Operating Activities sections had the same purposes in both reporting standards. 

The section was a residual category where cash flows not belonging to the other sections 

were placed. There were differences whhin the operating section between the reporting 

standards, but these are discussed later in this section. 
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SCF SECTION 

Operating 

Noncapital Financing 

Capital and Related Financing 

Financing 

Investing 

GASBS 9 

The residual section, this section 
reports information not included 
in the other sections. 

Prepared using the indirect 
method, the reconciliation 
starting point is operating 
income, which excludes cash 
receipts from interest and 
dividends and cash payments for 
interest. 

Borrowing money for purposes 
other than to acquire, construct, 
or improve capital assets and 
repaying those amounts, 
including interest. 

The acquiring and disposing of 
capital assets; borrowing money 
for acquiring, constructing, or 
improving capital assets, 
repaying amounts borrowed, 
including interest; and paying for 
capital assets acquired on credit. 

Not used. 

Borrowing distributed between 
Noncapital Financing and Capital 
and Related Financing Sections, 
depending upon use. Acquiring 
resources and paying for them 
included in Capital and Related 
Financing Section. 

Making and collecting loans and 
acquiring and disposing of debt 
or equity instruments. Reporting 
interest and dividends receipts on 
loans and debt and equity 
instruments. 

FASBS 95 

The residual section, this section 
reports information not included 
in the other sections. 

Prepared using the indirect 
method, the reconciliation 
starting point is net income, 
which includes cash receipts 
from interest and dividends and 
cash payments for interest. 

Not used. 

All borrowing reported in 
Financing Section. Interest 
payments reported in Operating 
Section. 

Not used. 

Acquiring and disposing of 
capital assets reported in the 
Investing Section. All 
borrowing, including acquiring 
capital assets, reported in the 
Financing Section. Interest 
payments reported in the 
Operating Section. 

Borrowing money and repaying 
amounts borrowed and obtaining 
and paying for other resources 
acquired using long-term credit. 

Making and collecting loans and 
acquiring and disposing of debt 
or equity instruments and 
property, plant, and equipment 
and other productive assets. 

Figure 3-25. Differences in Statement Sections Required by GASBS 9 and FASBS 95 
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Transaction 

Interest and Dividends Receipts 

Interest Payments 

Borrowing for operational 
purposes and repayment of debt 

Borrowing for the acquiring, 
constructing, or improving of 
capital assets and repayment of 
debt 

Acquiring, constructing, or 
improving capital assets 

Issuing debt in direct exchange 
for capital assets 

GASBS 9 
Classification 

Investing Section 

Capital and Related Financing 
Section if on debt incurred for 
acquiring, constructing, or 
improving capital assets. 

Noncapital Financing Section for 
all other debt. 

Noncapital Financing Section 

Capital and Related Financing 
Section 

Capital and Related Financing 
Section 

The initial transaction is reported 
as a noncash transaction. The 
subsequent repayment ofthe debt 
is reported in the Capital and 
Related Financing Section 

FASBS 95 
Classification 

Operating Section 

Operating Section 

Financing Section 

Financing Section 

Investing Section 

The initial transaction is 
reported as a noncash 
transaction. The subsequent 
repayment ofthe debt is reported 
in the Financing Section 

Figure 3-26. Transaction Reporting Differences in GASBS 9 and FASBS 95 (adapted 
from Freeman and Shoulders, 1992, Section 3, p. 8). 

Cash Flows from Investing Activhies 

The mvestmg section of GASBS 9 was used primarily for the reporting of cash flows 

related to the purchase and sale of investment instmments such as corporate debt and 

equity instmments and the debt issues of other governments. Cash flows related to loans 

and cohections made on those loans are also reported in this section. The section also 

includes cash received as interest and dividends on the investments. 
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The FASBS 95 SCF model also reported cash flows related to the purchase and sale 

of investment instmments and loan payments and collections in the Investing Activities 

section. FASBS 95 included the acquisifion and disposal of property, plant, and 

equipment in the Investing Activities section. 

Thus, there were significant similarities and differences in the Investing Activhies 

section ofthe two SCF models. Both models report the purchase and sale of investment 

instmments and the payment and collection of loans in this section. However, the two 

models differed on the reporting of capital asset acquishions and disposals and the 

reporting of cash received in the form of interest and dividends on investments. 

Cash Flows fi-om Financing Activities 

The FASBS 95 model was the only one to use this section. Reported in this section 

were the cash flows related to a company issuing debt and equity and the subsequent 

retirement or repurchase of these instmments. FASBS 95 also included dividends paid on 

equity in this section but excluded interest paid on debt. The GASBS 9 model divided 

these financing transactions into two separate classifications: noncapital financing 

activities and caphal-related financing activities. 

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activhies 

Desphe the name given to this section by the GASB, this section reported the cash 

flows that did not come from continuing sources and are used to support the operations of 

a proprietary fiind. These cash flows included proceeds fi-om issuing debt or receiving 
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cash fi-om another fund within the government. Also included in this section were the 

repayment ofthe debt, interest on that debt, and transfers made to other funds that were 

not part ofthe operations ofthe proprietary fund. By including interest paid on noncaphal 

debt in this section, the GASB avoided one ofthe problems encountered by the FASB 

when the FASB classified these payments as operating expenditures. 

Two factors have led to some confusion in the use of this section. The first factor was 

issuing debt to support operations. Generally, governments plan for the continuing 

operations of a proprietary fund to be sufficient to pay for all the fund's operating 

expenditures. Should the fund have persistent deficit problems it may be necessary to 

issue debt in order to finance that deficit. This type of debt was operating debt, and, as 

such, was not related to the acquisition of capital assets. Therefore, the proceeds from the 

debt are reported as noncapital financing. 

However, a situation could arise whereby the proprietary fund acquired caphal assets 

with cash generated from operations. Later, when a cash flow problem developed, the 

fund replenished the cash position by issuing debt. Some have argued—^unsuccessfully— 

that this debt should be classified as capital debt since, in substance, the proceeds were 

used to acquire the caphal assets. Nonetheless, GASBS 9 required the proceeds from this 

debt to be reported as a noncaphal financing transaction. 

The second factor that has caused some confusion was a payment in lieu of taxes made 

by proprietary funds to other funds, most notably the General Fund. These payments were 

properly classified as Cash Flows from Operating Activhies on the SCF. However, an 

excessive payment in lieu of taxes—i.e., paying more than the tax bill would be for a 
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private sector business with the same assets—were considered to the same as operatmg 

transfers and are reported in the Noncaphal Financing Activhies section. 

Cash Flows from Caphal and Related Financing Activities 

The capital and related financing activhies section reported the acquishion and 

disposal of caphal assets (the Investing Activhies section in FASBS 95) and the issue and 

repayment of debt associated with the acquisition ofthe caphal assets (FASBS 95 

Financing Activities section). The interest on the capital-related debt was also reported in 

this section. 

By including capital acquishions and related debt in the same section, GASBS 9 

avoided a problem found in FASBS 95. In the private sector SCF, the acquishion of a 

capital asset by issuing debt would be a noncash transaction. The subsequent payment of 

that debt would be classified as a Financing Activhy, thus the acquishion would never be 

recognized in the Investing Activhies section ofthe SCF. 

GASBS 95 avoided this problem by combining the acquisition of capital assets with 

the subsequent retirement ofthe debt issued to acquire h. While the acquisition would still 

be reported as a noncash transaction, the repayment ofthe debt would be classified as 

caphal-related disbursements. This classification resulted in the payments being reported 

in the Caphal and Related Financing Activities section. 
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Differences Whhin the Operating Activhies Section 

Affecting the comparison ofthe operating sections ofthe two standards was another 

significant difference. In using the indirect method of preparing the operating section, 

FASBS 95 reconciled to the net income. GASBS 9 requires reconciling to operating 

income, if operating income is shown on the fund operating statement." 

This difference in reconciliations makes it possible for GASBS 9 to avoid one ofthe 

major problems in FASBS 95: the placement of interest and dividends receipts and 

interest disbursements within the SCF. Since these cash inflows and outflows are included 

in the computation of net income, the FASB believed it was important to include the flows 

in the operating section. However, a number of respondents to the FASB SCF exposure 

draft feh that the flows should be reported in the investing and financing activities 

sections, as appropriate. 

Perhaps with this problem in mind, the GASB selected operating income as the 

reconciliation point for the Operating Activities section. Interest and dividends revenue 

and interest expense are reported as nonoperating hems on the proprietary fund operating 

statement. Thus, the GASB was able to support classifying the cash flows associated whh 

these revenues as investing activities and whh interest expense as either a caphal-related 

financing activity or a noncapital financing activity. 

"GASBS 9 allowed the use of net income if operating income was not separately 
disclosed on the Operating Statement. 
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Substance Over Form 

Both GASBS 9 and FASBS 95 exclude noncash transactions from the body ofthe 

SCF. It was the intent of Mason's all financing resources basis for preparing the funds 

flows statement that all in-substance transactions be included in the funds flows statement 

(1961). The exclusion of noncash transactions from the SCF violated this mle of 

substance over form. FASBS 95 acknowledged that the noncash transactions were 

excluded in the body ofthe reporting standard. FASBS 95 did not provide guidance on 

where the disclosure of these noncash transactions is to be made, but the statement was 

clearly one of form over substance. 

It was apparent from the discussion on noncash transactions above that the GASB 

intended to place the disclosure of these transactions on the face ofthe SCF. 

Unfortunately, this intent was expressed in the nonauthoritative section of GASBS 9. 

However, in the Guide to Implementation of GASB Statement 9 on Reporting Cash Flows 

of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities That Use 

Proprietary Fund Accounting: Questions and Answers, issued in 1992 (GASBS 9 Q&A), 

the GASB remedied this situation. In response to a question concerning how noncash 

transactions should be reported, the GASB stated. 

Whatever format [narrative or tabular] is chosen, the disclosures should be made in 
a schedule to the statement of cash flows (preferably on the same page). . . . As 
discussed in paragraph 68 ofthe Basis for Conclusions of Statement 9, the 
disclosures should not be separated from the statement of cashflows by bemg 
presented in the notes to the financial statements. (1992, p. 11, emphasis added) 

While the GASBS 9 Q&A does not have the same authoritative status as the original 

statement, it could be interpreted that this requirement effectively creates a five-section 
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SCF: the four sections already discussed plus the noncash transactions. If so, GASBS 9 

effectively presents a SCF that is substance over form in nature thus solving one ofthe 

problems associated with the FASB format. 

Summary 

The development ofthe Statement of Cash Flows has been examined in detail in this 

chapter. This analysis has examined all the following events: 

• Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 3, The Statement of Source and 

Application of Funds, 1963 to 1971. 

• Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 19, Reporting Changes in Financial 

Position, 1971 to 1987. 

• FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows, 1987 to the present for the 

private sector. 

• 1987 to 1989—a period of conflict for the public sector with regards to the use of 

FASBS 95 or the SCFP. 

• GASB Statement No. 9, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and 

Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary 

Fund Accounting, 1989 to the present for the public sector. 

The pertinent statements and the available accounting academic and practhioner hterature 

have been examined to gain a better understanding ofthe impact of each ofthe accounting 

standards. 
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This chapter formed the basis for what is to come. This analysis provided the 

development ofthe Statement of Cash Flows for both the pubhc sector and the private 

sector. The problems that existed in the past and what they may be in the fiiture have been 

reviewed. With this foundation it was possible to proceed with the study ofthe Statement 

of Cash Flows. Specifically, the following research questions will be addressed: 

1. Do users (primarily the chizenry, legislative and oversight bodies, and credhors) 

perceive the SCF found only in the reports ofthe proprietary (and similar) funds to 

be useful? Does the SCF provide useful information beyond what is available in 

the other financial statements (the balance sheet and the operating statement)? 

2. Do preparers and users see the differences between the FASBS 95 and GASBS 9 

SCF models? Are the differences significant in terms ofthe preparers and users 

analyses of and decisions concerning govemment operations? 

3. Does the use ofthe direct method or indirect method for the preparation ofthe 

Operating Activities section ofthe SCF influence users' perceptions ofthe 

usefiilness ofthe SCF? 

The theories supporting this analysis are more fijlly developed in the next chapter. The 

examination will include how communication theory and functional fixation support affect 

this research. In Chapter IV, analyses of existing empirical studies on the SCFP and the 

SCF are made and the questionnaire used in this study is developed. The sampling plan 

for this study and the statistical techniques used in the analysis ofthe survey instmment 

are presented. In Chapter V the results of this survey are presented and analyzed. Also 

included in Chapter V is a fijrther discussion ofthe differences between GASBS 9 and 
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FASBS 95, to the extent that these differences affected the survey. Finally, the 

conclusions, recommendations, contributions, and limhations ofthe study are presented in 

Chapter VI. 



CHAPTER IV 

THEORY DEVELOPMEISTT AND RESEARCH DESIGN 

There is a fine line between functional fixation and ignorance. (Anonymous) 

Introduction 

Chapter I of this study provided a basic overview of this research. Chapter II explored 

in detail the early development ofthe funds flows statement. Chapter IH buih upon this 

development and explored the four major accounting standards that addressed the funds 

flows statement and the cash flows statement in the pubhc sector and the private sector. 

Chapter IH also explored the accounting hterature, accounting textbooks, and other 

pubhcations that addressed the statements. 

This fourth chapter provides the theoretical basis for this research and develops the 

research design to be used in completing this project. Chapter V examines the resuhs of 

the survey and presents the analysis ofthe resuhs. Chapter VI concludes the study with 

the recommendations, contributions, and limitations. 

The objective of this study was to examme the use ofthe Statement of Cash Flows 

(SCF) in govemmental reporting, specificaUy to examine how the proprietary fiind 

statements of cash flow are used currently. In domg so, three research questions were 

addressed: 

1. Do users (primarily the chizenry, legislative bodies, and credhors) perceive the 

SCF to provide useful financial information beyond what is available in the other 

financial statements (the balance sheet and the operatmg statement)? 

185 
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2. Do preparers and users recognize and understand the differences between the 

Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 95 (FASBS 95) and the 

Govemmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 9 (GASBS 9) SCF 

models and are these differences significant? 

3. Does the use ofthe direct method or indirect method for the preparation ofthe 

Operating Activities section ofthe SCF influence users' perceptions ofthe 

usefulness ofthe SCF? 

This chapter opens whh an examination ofthe prior accounting research that used 

funds flow or cash flow data as variables or factors in the research. This step is necessary 

to establish a basis for this research and to examine the theoretical support for this study. 

Second, the functional fixation theory and communication (information) theory are 

reviewed to provide support for each ofthe research questions. Third, the research design 

for this study is presented. This design includes the development ofthe questionnaire and 

the samphng frame used in the study. 

Theoretical Support for this Study 

In developing the theories to support this study, an examination was made of previous 

research for two reasons. First, h was important to identify the types of research done in 

the past that have used funds flow or cash flow information. Second, h was necessary to 

review those studies that reflect theories appropriate for this research project. This 

section is divided into two broad areas to present the resuhs of this review. The empirical 

studies that used fiinds flow or cash flow data or related information are examined first. 
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Then, the studies using the theories of fimctional fixation and communication 

(information) theory are reviewed. 

Prior Studies Using Funds Flow nr Cash Flow Data 

The prior studies that used fiinds flow or cash flow data as part ofthe research model 

can be divided into three categories: 

• prediction models where fijnds flow or cash flow data were used to estimate 

security prices; 

• event studies where funds flow or cash flow data were used in determining the 

likelihood of bankmptcy or loan default; and 

• studies addressing whether the formats ofthe fijnds flows statement or cash flows 

statement made a difference in how analysts review the information provided. 

Each of these categories is reviewed in this section. 

Prediction Studies 

In one ofthe early predicfion studies Staubus (1965) used funds flow (working 

caphal) data to estimate common stock values. He predicted the common stock values of 

companies by using the change in net working capital from operations. While he 

recognized the change in net working caphal had some serious shortcomings as a measure 

of operafing success, he found that net working caphal was a more reliable measure than 

earnings for predicting stock values several years in the fiiture. However, Staubus found 
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fimds flow information was less reliable than earnings in making predictions one year in 

advance. 

In their article addressing market reaction to earnings announcements, Ball and Brown 

(1968) examined residual behavior and forecast errors using the abnormal performance 

index. They concluded that funds flow—which they calculated by using operating income 

and net income before nonrecurring items—^was not as successful as earnings per share 

and net income in predicting residual behavior. 

Beaver and Dukes (1972) added an adjustment for tax deferral entries to the common 

definition of funds flow (earnings plus depreciation, depletion, and amortization). They 

then used this modified funds flow model to predict security prices. Ofthe variables used 

in their prediction models, the authors found this measure of funds flow to be the least 

consistent predictor of security prices. 

Barlev and Livnat (1986) had an advantage over the previous authors in that their 

study was based on the Statement of Changes in Financial Poshion (SCFP), whereas aU 

the other prediction studies were completed prior to Accounting Principles Board Opinion 

No. 19 (APBO 19). Bariev and Livnat sought to determine if the SCFP was related to 

security prices. It is notable that in presenting the resuhs of their study the authors divided 

the SCFP mto operating, investing, and financing secfions—such divisions were rarely 

used m practice. They found that funds from operations affected investing decisions and 

influenced rates of retum on securities. 

In an interesting contrast to Ball and Brown (1968), but supporting Staubus (1965), 

Raybum (1986) found that operating cash flow data was associated with abnormal retums 
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in security prices. She also found that the resuhs of predicting abnormal retums using 

accmal informafion were less significant than the resuhs of using cash flow information. 

Bowen, Burgstahler, and Daley (1987) examined the incremental informafion content 

of accmal informafion versus cash flow information. They found that cash flow data had 

incremental mformation content relevant to the information contained in earnings. The 

authors also found that cash flow data had incremental information content in addition to 

the information provided by eamings and working capital from operations. This study 

adds further support to the findings of Staubus (1965) and Raybum (1986). 

These early studies were based on funds flow data as defined by Accounting Principles 

Board Opinions: No. 3, 77?̂  Statement of Source and Application of Funds (APBO 3) 

and, later. No. 19, Reporting Changes in Financial Position (APBO 19). As discussed in 

Chapter III, both APB Opinions used a funds flow definition based on income plus the 

nonfund items of depreciation, amortization, and depletion. There was no effort to adjust 

for changes in other current asset and liability accounts as is current practice when 

computing cash flows from operations using the indirect method. This difference in the 

definitions of funds flow and cash flow makes comparing these early studies to today's 

SCF formats and information more difficuh. 

In the only predictive study reviewed that was published after the release of 

FASBS 95, Charitou and Ketz (1991) used a cross-secfional equity valuation model to 

examine the association of cash flows from operating, financing, and investing activities 

v^th security prices. They found that there was a strong association between cash flow 

components included in the SCF and the market value ofthe firm. They also found that 
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the SCF complements the information presented in the other financial statements. Finally, 

the authors found that the SCF provided information not cleariy presented in the balance 

sheet and the income statement. 

Events Studies 

Five studies that used funds or cash flow data to predict bankmptcies or loan defaults 

were examined for this study. All were published prior to FASBS 95. In a 1968 study, 

Beaver examined ahemative accounting measures for predicting bankruptcies. Beaver 

matched a group of seventy-nine failed companies to a group of nonfailed companies for 

the years 1959 to 1965. Two ratios were found to have the most predictive power: 

• funds flows—defined as net income plus depreciation, depletion, and 

amortization—^to total debt, and 

• net income to total assets. 

In his analysis Beaver found that the first ratio correctly predicted bankmptcies for a two 

to five year period prior to the event 76 percent ofthe time.̂  

Casey and Bartczak (1984) used three measures of cash flow to predict bankmptcies: 

operating cash flow, operating cash flow divided by current liabilhies, and operating cash 

flow divided by total liabilities. They found that operating cash flow data could not 

distinguish between firms that would fail and those that would not fail. The authors 

believed that other factors—such as debt level, access to debt and equity markets, ability 

Ht is apparent that Beaver's study mcluded fmancial reports published prior to APBO 3. From the 
analysis m Chapter II, few firms in this period published any type of fimds flow report as part of theh 
annual report. Therefore, Beaver had to prepare his own funds flow calculations. 
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to sell caphal assets, and available hquid assets—might be better indicators of 

survivability. Interestingly, some of these factors are related to the current FASBS 95 

sections ofthe SCF, so one might expect the current model to do a better prediction of 

failure than the measures used by these authors. 

Gentry, Newbold, and Whitford (1985a) used cash-based fiinds flow ratios in an 

attempt to properly classify failed and nonfailed firms. They used a logit analysis 

technique for their study and found that cash flow from operafions does not improve the 

resuhs of classifying failed and nonfailed firms. In a later study (1985b), these same 

authors used a probh model and found significance for their cash-based funds flow ratios. 

In this later article, the authors correctly classified companies as ehher failures or 

nonfailures 79 percent ofthe time using the cash-based funds flow ratios. 

In a study specifically using the SCFP, Bradbury and Newby (1989) attempted to 

determine if the use ofthe SCFP enhanced financial statement analysis. In their study the 

authors asked financial analysts questions concerning the likelihood of defauh on a loan 

and the hkelihood that a company would pay a dividend. Their study found that the SCFP 

did not enhance financial analysis for ehher of these research questions. 

Analysis of Prediction and Events Studies 

The studies reviewed in this section have had only a minor impact on this research 

project. Predictions ofthe impact on security prices, other than the possible effect on 

municipal bond prices, are not a problem in state and local govemment (SLG) reporting. 

Marquette and Wilson (1992) indicated that there is so littie activity in the trading of 
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municipal bonds, measuring the impact of changes in funds flow or cash flow data on bond 

prices would be very difficuh. Also, while bankmptcies and loan defauhs do occur in the 

pubhc sector—the defauh ofthe Washington Public Power System and the bankmptcy 

filing ofthe City of Bridgeport, Connecticut, being notable examples— t̂he events are very 

rare compared to the number of occurrences in the private sector. However, it was 

instmctive to see how funds flow and cash flow information had been used in the past in 

order to point out how this study is different from earlier research. Also, this analysis may 

be useful in future research. 

Studies Addressing the Format of Funds Flows Statements 
and Cash Flows Statements 

A number of authors of academic- and practhioner-oriented articles have examined the 

format ofthe funds flows statement and cash flows statements. Most of these studies 

were reviewed in Chapters II and III. Generally, articles written from an academic 

perspective found the direct method of preparing the SCF—computing gross cash inflows 

and outflows from operations—to be preferable. Although the concept ofthe direct 

method is a relatively new one, most of these authors feh that reporting the computation 

of cash flows from operations by adding depreciation to income made h appear that 

depreciation was a source of cash. 

In contrast, most ofthe articles written from a practhioner perspective supported the 

indirect method—adjusting net income for noncash hems and changes in current asset and 

hability accounts. Generally, this method is supported by these authors for two reasons: 
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(1) making the adjustments to compute cash flows from operations is often easier than 

calculating gross cash inflows and outflows ofthe direct method; and (2) use ofthe 

indirect method reconciles cash flows from operations to net (or operating) income. 

Klammer and Reed (1990) conducted the only two empirical studies that specifically 

addressed the issue of cash flows statement format: one addressed format issues 

associated with the FASBS 95 SCF format while the other was a very limited study ofthe 

GASBS 9 SCF format. In examining the FASBS 95 format, the authors used bank 

analysts to determine if the format ofthe operating section—the direct method or the 

indirect method—made a difference in the loan decision of loan officers. They found that 

there was less variability in the size ofthe loans that would be granted when analysts 

received a SCF prepared using the direct method, suggesting that the direct method may 

be preferable to the indirect method. 

In the study examining the GASBS 9 SCF format, Klammer and Reed (1991) 

conducted a survey to compare readability ofthe direct method versus the indirect method 

of preparing the SCF. The subjects for their study were limited to accounting professors. 

Given the analysis in Chapters II and III of this study, h was not surprising that professors 

generally preferred the direct method for presenting the operating section.̂  The authors 

stated that a more complete survey would be necessary to determine if this conclusion can 

be more generally applied to financial statement users. Examining the format used in 

preparing the operating activities section is one ofthe research questions in this study. 

T̂he results were not significant for the total sample, and the sample was lunited to 18 
participants. 
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Previous Research Supporting Theoretical Framework 
for This Study 

Functional Fixation 

Functional fixation has been defined as: 

Broadly stated, functional fixation denotes a rigid or inflexible approach to some 
phenomenon, evidenced by a habitual response to a familiar stimulus. . . . The 
hypothesis of functional fixation implies [in accounting] an inability on the part of 
users to look behind the labels attached to accounting numbers. (Bloom, Elgers, 
and Murray, 1984, p. 2) 

Research in this area has tradhionally been used to examine the inability of individuals to 

use familiar hems in a new or different way. The foundation for this theory is in the 

psychology hterature and notably in a study by Duncker (1945). This initial research was 

later rephcated in more controlled studies, some of which are reviewed here. The theory 

of functional fixation was first used in the accounting hterature by Ijiri, Jaedicke, and 

Knight (1966) and has been used again in subsequent studies. Many of these studies are 

reviewed in this section. 

The typical accounting application of functional fixation has been an analysis ofthe 

ability of financial statement users to adapt to changes in accounting method. For 

example, some studies have shown a failure of users to recognize the impact of changing 

from first-in, first-out (FIFO) to last-in, first-out (UFO) in accounting for inventories. 

This study will modify the use of this theory somewhat to examine how users of 

accounting information may fail to use an analysis tool that is relatively new: the 

Statement of Cash Flows. As will be shown later in this chapter, users, particularly those 

who are less experienced in financial statement analysis, may fail to use the SCF to answer 
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specific questions concerning cash inflows and outflows. This failure may be the resuh of 

a functional fixation of using the more familiar financial statements— t̂he balance sheet and 

the operating statement. 

Psychology-Based Studies in Functional Fixation. One ofthe eariiest studies in 

functional fixation was by Duncker (1945). In his study Duncker attempted to determine 

if a subject's experience in using an object one way would affect how the subject used the 

object in solving a different problem. He found that such specific experience did affect 

problem solving and that tools used in one problem were less available as tools to solve a 

different problem. Adamson (1952) rephcated Duncker's research in a more tightly 

controlled environment and arrived at the same resuhs. Flavell, Cooper, and Loisehe 

(1958) used similar research techniques to again show the existence of functional fixation. 

However, they were carefijl to point out that the problems had to be of a similar level of 

diflSculty. 

Birch and Rabinowitz (1951) also examined the concept of functional fixation, but 

attempted to introduce some different terminology. Instead of concentrating on fimctional 

fixation, these researchers viewed problem solving as involving ehher reproductive 

thinking or productive thinking. Problem solving by means of reproductive thinkmg 

occurred when skills previously mastered in other problems are used to solve a new 

problem. Solvmg problems in this manner is very similar to the fimctional fixation 

problem. Productive thinking was viewed as a counterpart to reasoning where past 

experience is repattemed and restmctured to solve the current problem. 
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These psychological studies in functional fixation addressed the solving of mechanical 

problems. None reflected how fimctional fixation might be applied to solving 

mathematical or financial problems. This assignment was left to future researchers in 

other fields. 

Functional Fixation in the Accounting Lherature. Ijiri, Jaedicke, and Knight (1966) 

were the first researchers to apply functional fixation in an accounting context. Their 

article was not an empirical study but rather a theoretical analysis of several issues. The 

authors applied fimctional fixation in their analysis by stating: 

Psychologists have found that there appears to be a "fimctional fixation" in most 
human behavior in which the person attaches a meaning to a title or object (e.g., 
manufacturing cost) and is unable to see ahemative meanings or uses. People 
intuhively associate the value of an hem through past experience, and often do not 
recognize that the value ofthe hem depends, in fact, upon the particular moment in 
time and may be significantly different from what it was in the past. Therefore, 
when a person is placed in a new situation, he views the object or term as used 
previously. (1966, p. 194) 

The authors established feedback as a criteria that must be present in order for fimctional 

fixation to occur. They presented this relationship graphically (Figure 4-1). In this 

system, feedback must be present to allow a decision maker to adjust to changes m 

accounting processes or methods. Then, even with feedback, fimctional fixation could stiU 

cause the decision maker to fail to adjust for changes in accounting methods. 

Using an experimental design to test Ijiri, Jaedicke, and Knight's apphcation of 

fimctional fixation in accounting, Jensen (1966) tried to discover if changes in inventory or 

depreciation accounting methods made a difference in how analysts interpreted financial 

statements. His experimental results indicate that all ofthe financial factors under study 
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Figure 4-1. Impact of Feedback and Functional Fixation. 

had a significant impact on the portfolio and security valuation decisions ofthe 

participants in the study. Of particular importance was the significance of net eamings 

measurements. Jensen stated that this significance could be caused by a fimctional fixation 

on the net eamings concept. 

BuTiberg and Nath (1967) apphed fijnctional fixation to reports by pointing out that, 

"The lack of feedback, the presence of functional fixation, and an ill-stmctured 

environment can ah lead to misinterpretation ofthe accounting data by the user" (1967, 

p. 469, emphasis added). They indicated that given the presence of fimctional fixation, it 
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was necessary to design reports carefiilly so that they could be tailored to the needs ofthe 

user who ". . . cannot be expected to go beyond the face ofthe report" (1967, p. 471). 

In another experiment, Dopuch and Ronen (1973) examined fimctional fixation by 

testing whether the subjects could distinguish between real income differences and 

accounting differences. The subjects were given four sets of very basic financial 

statements where the only difference was the inventory method used. Notably, the SCFP 

was excluded from the financial statement sets. The subjects were given a description of 

the method used by each company. The subjects were then asked to make investment 

decisions conceming the firms. The researchers found that the subjects were fooled by the 

accounting changes. This failure by the experimental subjects to adapt to a different 

situation could indicate the existence of a functional fixation. 

Ashton (1976) gave credh to Ijiri, Jaedicke, and Knight (1966) as being the impetus 

for his study. He pointed out that all ofthe experiments in the psychology literature on 

fimctional fixation had three common characteristics: (1) the tests used had a time series 

orientation; (2) the investigations examined only individual behavior; and (3) the 

experiments were concemed with finding new functions for common objects (1976, p. 3). 

The experiment in Ashton's study was concemed with determining the extent to which 

individual decision makers change their decision processes after the occurrence of an 

accounting change as evidenced by the effect of this recognizable change on subsequent 

decisions. For this experiment, Ashton used a change in accounting data—from fiiU cost 

to variable cost— t̂o study the effect on pricing decisions. In analyzing his resuhs, Ashton 
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found that most subjects did not adjust their decision processes in response to an 

accounting change. This result indicated the existence of a fimctional fixation. 

Bloom, Elgers, and Murray (1984) also examined fimctional fixation in product 

pricing. To test theh" hypothesis that users were unable to look behind the labels attached 

to accounting numbers, the authors designed an experiment to see if a cosmetic and fiiUy 

disclosed change in depreciation method would affect product pricing decisions. The 

authors found that subjects failed to adjust adequately for the difference in accounting 

method, again indicating the existence of fimctional fixation. 

Impact of Functional Fixation on This Research. This study applies the theory of 

fimctional fixation in two ways. First, there is an a priori belief that users of SLG financial 

reports wih have a fimctional fixation on two financial statements: the balance sheet and 

the operating statement. This fixation may resuh in their inability to use the SCF to 

answer certain questions about an enterprise's financial poshion. This fixation is shown 

graphically in Figure 4-2. 

Second, financial statement users may be functionally fixated on the concept of cash. 

This fixation could cause these people to use the Statement of Cash Flows to the exclusion 

ofthe other statements. Also, there may be some fixation on terms in the FASBS SCF 

model that have a different meaning in the GASB SCF model thus possibly causing some 

confiision in the use ofthe SCF. 
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Figure 4-2. Functional Fixation in Financial Statement Analysis. 
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decision making. 

User will not apply SCF 
In decision making. 

Communication Theory 

The second theory apphed in the analysis ofthe use ofthe SCF is communication 

(information) theory. Communication theory apphed to financial reports examines how 

accountants prepare reports so that information can best be communicated to users of 

these financial statements. Principles of communication theory were applied to two 

reporting issues: 

• the use ofthe different formats required by the GASB and the FASB for preparing 

the SCF; and 

• the use ofthe direct method or indirect method in preparing the operating activities 

section ofthe SCF. 

Analysis of these issues attempted to discover whether one format or one method 

presented more information and was easier to understand and to use. 
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Research in Communication Thenrv in Accounting One ofthe early important articles 

on communication theory was: "A Mathematical Theory of Communication." Shannon 

(1948) presented the first concise view of what comprised a communication system. 

Shannon's communication model established a system composed of five parts: 

• information source—produces a message to be communicated; 

• transmitter—produces a signal suhable for transmission over a channel; 

• channel—medium that transmits a signal (message) from the transmitter to the 

receiver; 

• receiver—reconstmcts the message from the signal; 

• destination—person for whom the message was intended (1948, p. 380). 

A graphical representation of this model is shown in Figure 4-3. This system has been 

broadly interpreted in the accounting literature. 

Channel 

Information 
Soutre c_:> Transmitter liilll^ Receiver Destination 

Message Signal 
Signal 

Received 
Message 

Figure 4-3. Shannon's (1948) Communication Model. 

Shannon's communication model can be adapted for use in govemmental accounting 

by assigning some recognizable names to the components (Figure 4-4). The information 

source is the accounting records ofthe entity. The transmitter is the accountant who 

prepares the comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) from the accounting records. 
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The CAFR then becomes the channel to send the information from the entity to the user. 

The receiver could be the news media or bond rating agencies that interpret and report 

municipal financial information for the ultimate users. Finally, the destination would be 

the users ofthe financial report. For the purposes of this study, users are the citizenry, 

govemment legislative officials, creditors and bondholders, govemment finance officials, 

and independent audhors. 

CAFR 

Accounting 
Records cr> Accountant 

News 
Media 

F.S. Users 

Signal 
Signal 

Received 

Figure 4-4. Accounting Communication Model. 

Shannon stated that the fundamental problem in communication was selecting a 

message at the information source and then reproducing it exactly or approximately at the 

destmation. Part ofthe problem in reproducing the message is the noise variable. In 

Shannon's model noise is a random occurrence that causes some problem in the 

transmission ofthe message. In accounting, the noise variable could be functional 

fixation, financial statements presenting apparently conflicting information, or some other 

factor. This element is shown in Figure 4-5. 

Bedford and Baladouni (1962) were among the first to apply communication theory to 

accounting. They viewed the fiinction of accounting as a communication process in an 

economic system. Drawing on Shannon's work, they stated that there was no magic 
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Figure 4-5. Introduction ofthe Noise Variables. 

number of elements that are necessary to form a communication system, but that there 

were three indispensable elements: the source, the message, and the destination. In terms 

ofthe model presented in Figure 4-5, the source was the accounting records; the message 

was the financial statements; and the destination was the user. 

Bedford and Baladouni believed that there were three important aspects of 

communication. Examining these aspects from an accounting sense makes the analysis 

easier. First, there had to be fidelity in the message—what was understood by users ofthe 

financial statements was what was intended by the accountant. Second, the message had 

to have significance. To be significant the message had to a degree of relevance and 

adequacy in relation to the economic events the message represents. Finally, there had to 

be feedback where the accountant could review the message and have the opportunity to 

fix errors in the message. Thus, h became important for accountants to design messages 

(financial statements) that have a high degree of fidelity and are significant. 
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Li (1963a) also examined the elements of a communication system defined by Bedford 

and Baladouni (1962). Li used the same three elements as Bedford and Baladouni— 

source, message, and destination. However, Li used three different aspects of 

communication: technical, semantic, and effectiveness. Li stated that the technical aspect 

of communication deah whh the correct and effective transmission of information. The 

semantic aspect placed emphasis on the content ofthe information being conveyed. 

Finally, the effectiveness aspect was concemed whh how the information conveyed 

affected the receiver ofthe message (financial statement users). 

To apply these aspects to accounting, Li indicated that it was necessary for accounting 

to report only those business events that are verifiable. Intemal transactions, such as 

periodic recognition of depreciation were judgmental and should be excluded. However, 

the author stated that such an exclusion could lessen the usefulness and value ofthe 

accounting information conveyed. He went on to note that in a funds flows statement, 

intemal transactions are either ignored or adjusted, thus reporting information that is both 

useful and verifiable. 

Similarly, Anton (1964) used communication theory to analyze some measurement 

aspects of accounting on three levels: the technical, the semantical, and the influence 

levels. He beheved that only in the technical sense of communication theory could data 

even approximate information. At the semantical level, one attempted to convey meaning 

by communicating information. Finally, the influence level was the ability for information 

to make a difference, to be significant, or to be usefiil. Each of these terms was the 

equivalent of Li's technical, semantic, and effectiveness aspects of communication theory. 
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Anton also stated that a necessary condition for using information was the processing 

of that information. In order to process the information, Anton said h was first necessary 

to aggregate the information. The process of aggregation was the stmcturing ofthe 

information in such a way as to make h understandable to users while at the same time 

minimizing the amount of data necessary to make the information usefiil. In the 

communication model presented in Figure 4-5, this aggregation occurs when the 

accountant prepares the CAFR from the accounting records ofthe city. Stmctured 

properly, this aggregation or summary of data can be more usefiil than providing all the 

data; stmctured improperly, the summary will lose vital information. Thus, the heart of 

communication theory was to develop an aggregation method that is informative but 

lessens or eliminates redundancy and "noise" (1964, p. 6). 

The matter of aggregation was addressed later by Bamch (1968). He stated, "We 

assume that users of financial information would in principle prefer to have access to 

detailed rather than aggregated figures in their decision making; therefore, aggregation 

resuhs in a loss of information to these users" (1968, p. 237). In his theoretical study he 

sought a means to measure the loss and to design aggregation procedures that would 

lessen the loss of information. He believed that information theory could provide a 

measure stating, "Information theory provides a measure to quantify the loss of 

information through aggregation, given that the candidates for aggregation are already 

determined and the relative size ofthe hems is the only thing that is important" (1968, 

p. 260). 
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While both Bamch and Anton addressed the problems of aggregation, Bostick (1968) 

followed Anton by addressing the ideas of redundancy and noise. Bostick stated that the 

amount of information contained in a message was based on the amount of surprise 

provided by that information. The author believed that if one received a message but 

could not predict fiiture occurrences from h, there was zero redundancy. Therefore, 

redundancy was an increasing fiinction of predictability—as the ability to predict fiiture 

occurrences increased, so did redundancy. 

To analyze the relationship of redundancy and predictability, Bostick used a scale with 

zero redundancy at one end and 100 percent redundancy at the other. The author stated 

that with zero redundancy the message would achieve the greatest efficiency but would 

lose much of its accuracy—since repetition assists in ensuring the correct interpretation of 

the message. However, with 100 percent redundancy there would be absolute accuracy, 

but no efficiency and no communication—since there would be no surprise or no new 

information from the message. Bostick stated that h was thus necessary to develop a 

balance between efficiency and accuracy in order to have an effective communication 

system. Bostick went on to point out that all the factors that served to reduce the 

accuracy of a message could be grouped together and called noise, the same term used by 

Anton (1964) and Shannon (1945). 

The idea of surprise in a message was also discussed by Fertakis (1969), ahhough he 

used different terms. He stated that. 

If the perceived situation is what was expected by the observer, the information 
content ofthe message is small. However, if a difference exists, and if the 
difference is greater than expected, the information content ofthe message is large. 
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In general, the greater the variation between the message content and the 
expectations ofthe receiver, the larger the information value ofthe message. 
Thus, the information content of data is apparently based upon the existence of 
expectations or standards and a measurement or feedback of data regarding a 
recognizable real-worid phenomenon. (1969, p. 687) 

Thus, surprise is an essential element of communicating information that is usefiil. Also, h 

must be realized that the information content ofthe message will be measured by some 

feedback based on recognizable real-worid events. Accountants seek to measure these 

events, but can only do so for those that are measurable, thus making h necessary for 

financial statement users to have feedback about information not in the financial reports. 

Fertakis observed that, "The increasing 'search time' that is involved in the individual's 

attempt to find relevant decision-oriented information in financial reports has generally 

resulted in his failure to attempt to obtain such information" (1969, p. 689). It is essential 

that information in financial reports be presented in a manner that was understandable to 

most users. If the financial reports are not prepared in this manner, Fertakis beheved that, 

"... the greater the amount and diversity of accounting data to which the user is exposed, 

the greater is the potential for misunderstanding, confijsion, and hinderance to rational 

investment action" (1969, p. 689). This concept of search time was very similar to 

Bimberg and Nath's (1967) functional fixation concem. They believed that, "... the 

design and content of intemal reports must be carefully tailored to meet the needs ofthe 

user. He cannot be expected to go beyond the face ofthe report" (1967, p. 471). 

Impact of Communication Theorv on This Studv. Communication theory can be 

applied to this research in several ways. First and foremost, the SCF is a communication 

tool, the objectives of which are to communicate information about the cash flows ofthe 
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enterprise to the intended users. However, as Abdel-khalik (1974) pointed out, 

information theory has been criticized for adopting the point of view ofthe supphers of 

information and ignoring users' needs. Indeed, this statement can easily be apphed to the 

SCF, smce the statement was developed with relatively Httle user mput about the format 

or content ofthe statement. This study is the first broad-based attempt to analyze the 

needs of SCF users and what is important from the users' point of view for the content and 

format ofthe statement. 

Another concem of this research is whether the SCF presents information that is usefiil 

beyond what is available in the balance sheet and the operating statement— t̂he basis ofthe 

first research question. As was discussed in the previous section, some users of financial 

reports may limit their analysis to the balance sheet and the operating statement. This 

hmitation may be caused by a functional fixation to only use those reports whh which the 

user is most familiar. However, it may also be the case that they use only the balance 

sheet and the operating statement because they do not understand the format or content of 

the SCF. To discriminate between these two effects h wiU be necessary to expand the 

survey to include questions about the SCF only. 

A third application of communication theory is whether a single format for the SCF 

should be used for both the public and private sectors. To make this comparison, the 

models required by the GASB and the FASB wih be compared to determine if one format 

better communicates usefiil information than the other. 

Finally, the levels of surprise, redundancy, and noise are important factors in this 

study. If the SCF does not present any new information or information beyond what is 
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available in the other reports, there will be little surprise in the statement, thus making hs 

information content low. Also, the presentation of both the direct method and the 

reconciliation, as is currently required when the direct method is used, may be too 

redundant and thus confiise the user. And, there may be some element of noise in the use 

ofthe indirect method because hs use may make h appear that certain hems are sources or 

uses of cash when, in fact, these hems are not sources or uses of cash. 

The theoretical basis for this study has now been established. Functional fixation and 

communication theory are supporting elements for the research. In the following section, 

the questionnaire to complete this research study is presented and analyzed whh 

appropriate linkage to the theories developed in this section. 

The Research Design 

A questionnaire was designed to address the three research questions identified earlier 

in this chapter. Some ofthe questions and part ofthe design ofthe questionnaire have 

been adapted from earlier studies dealing whh cash flow and other reporting issues, 

including Hebert and Freeman (1992), Johnson (1991), and Klammer and Reed (1990 and 

1991). Questions for examining the usefulness ofthe SCF, comparing the GASB and 

FASB SCF formats, and the usefiilness of either the direct method or indirect method of 

preparing the Operating Activities section were developed. The development ofthe 

survey instmment is discussed in this section. The questionnaire may be found in 

Appendix C of this study. 
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Organization and Constmction ofthe Ouestionnaire 

The questionnaire has three parts, each related to the three research questions. In this 

section the organization and constmction ofthe questionnaire is presented together with 

linkages to the theory and the research questions. To facilhate the comparison to the 

questionnaire, the discussion in this section follows the format ofthe instmment. 

The complete survey instmment consists of two booklets: the Questionnaire Booklet 

and the Information Booklet. The Questionnaire Booklet consists of three parts. The 

Information Booklet also has three parts with each part containing the financial reports to 

be used in completing each part ofthe questionnaire. Part I ofthe questionnaire examines 

the ability of a respondent to interpret financial reports. Part II asks the respondent to 

differentiate between the GASB and the FASB formats for preparing the SCF. Part III 

examines the altematives for preparing the operating activhies section ofthe SCF: the 

direct method and the indirect method. The questionnaire concludes with a demographics 

section to gain some insight on who completed the questionnaire. 

Parti 

Part I ofthe questionnaire requires the respondent to answer a series of questions 

conceming an analysis of a set of financial statements. The purpose of this part ofthe 

survey is to address the research question: 

Do users (primarily the citizenry, legislative bodies, and creditors) perceive the 

SCF to provide useful financial information beyond what is available in the other 

financial statements (the balance sheet and the operating statement)? 
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Included m the Information Booklet are three statements: the Balance Sheet, the 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Equity (operating statement), 

and the Statement of Cash Flows for the fictional City of Middle Station.^ Two versions 

ofthe Information Booklet will be distributed to the respondents. One version contains a 

SCF prepared using the direct method; the other version includes a SCF prepared using 

the indirect method. 

The Information Booklet also establishes a scenario for the questions. Essentially, 

two-year comparative statements are presented for the city. The respondent is provided 

information about the size ofthe city, the surrounding area, and the resuh ofthe audit 

report for the city as a whole. 

The eight questions are designed to examine the ability ofthe respondent to answer 

certam financial statement analysis questions. Five ofthe questions (#1, #2, #4, #5, and 

#7) relate specifically to the events reported in the three financial statements. The other 

three questions (#3, #6, and #8) are more general in nature and pertain to the tradhional 

use of financial statements as a whole rather than specific points reported whhin them. 

The respondent is not required to calculate answers to questions, only to rate the 

hnportance ofthe three financial statements in evaluating the assertions made about the 

operations ofthe fund. It is hoped that h will be possible to measure the degree of 

fimctional fixation experienced by the respondent in answering the questions—particulariy 

T̂o prepare the fmancial reports, I examined the statements prepared by over 500 cities m the 
United States and then designed the statements to resemble as much as possible those used m actual 
practice. The results ofthe analysis ofthe SCFs for these cities may be found m Appendix B of this 
study. 
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if the SCF is not used. It may also be possible to measure the effectiveness ofthe SCF 

formats if the responses to questions are different based upon which version ofthe SCF 

was received. 

Partn 

Part II ofthe questionnaire is designed to compare the usefiilness ofthe GASB and the 

FASB SCF formats. This section largely addresses the second research question: 

Do preparers and users recognize and understand the differences between the 

FASBS 95 and the GASBS 9 SCF models and are these differences significant? 

This part consists often pairs of questions. The question pairs are designed to 

differentiate between the two SCF formats to determine if the design differences in the 

two formats are necessary and appropriate. This section is a direct appHcation of 

communication theory in that it attempts to determine which format contains the most 

information for the user. The respondent is asked to select one of two conflicting 

statements addressing issues in the GASBS 9 and the FASBS 95 SCF formats. Once a 

selection is made, the respondent is then asked to identify the degree of preference for the 

statement selected using a four-point scale from "no preference" to "strong preference" for 

the statement selected. 

The Information Booklet presents two complete SCFs: one prepared using the 

GASBS 9 format and the other prepared using the FASBS 95 format. Both reports are 

prepared for the same govemmental unit. The information in the statements is based on a 

common balance sheet and operating statement. Government-unique hems, such as 
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interfimd transfers, have been included to make the differences in the two formats more 

obvious and realistic. 

Part III 

Part III ofthe survey is an attempt to determine if users prefer the direct method or 

indirect method of preparing the SCF. It is directly related to the third research question: 

Does the use ofthe direct method or indirect method for the preparation ofthe 

Operating Activities section ofthe SCF influence users'perceptions ofthe usefulness 

ofthe SCF? 

In this part, the respondent is given five issues related to reporting objectives ofthe 

operating section ofthe SCF. The respondent is asked to choose either the direct method 

or the indirect method as the best method to accomplish the objective. Then, as in Part II, 

the respondent is asked to indicate the degree of preference for the selection using the 

same four-point scale. The attempt here is to measure the amount of information 

communicated by the two opposing formats for preparing the operating activities section 

ofthe SCF. The answers to the questions in this section may be linked to a particular 

answer in Part II. This Hnkage is explored more fiilly later in the research method section 

of this chapter. 

The Information Booklet contains information defining for the respondent the direct 

method and indirect method of preparing the SCF. This information might be more 

appropriately placed in the Questionnaire Booklet, but presenting h in the Information 

Booklet establishes a link between the definition and the presentation. The data for the 
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SCFs are taken from the nonauthoritative example in GASBS 9 and are not related to the 

other SCFs presented in the Information Booklet. 

Respondent Demographic Data 

The information in this section is intended to assist in the analysis ofthe other three 

parts ofthe questionnaire. The primary information gathered from these questions 

include: 

• the type of user that completed the questionnaire (chizen, govemment official, 

accountant, etc.). This information will be known from a code assigned to each 

questionnaire, but the user's response will be used to verify it. 

• the respondent's familiarity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) 

and with state and local govemment financial reports. 

• information regarding the respondent's involvement in govemmental accounting, 

reporting, and audhing. 

The Sampling Frame 

Selection ofthe groups to be surveyed for this study is based on a study done by 

Jones, Scott, Kimbro, and Ingram (1985) for the GASB. The researchers attempted to 

identify the different types of user groups that were used in eariier studies about 

govemmental accounting and reporting practices. The users of financial reports that were 

found in more than one prior study included: (1) extemal management and legislative 

bodies; (2) taxpayers, voters, and other chizenry; (3) investors and creditors; (4) intemal 
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management; (5) grantors and other voluntary resource providers; (6) customers; 

(7) employees and labor groups; (8) regulatory bodies; and (9) public interest groups. 

From these nine categories, the authors developed three user groups: 

• the chizenry, 

• legislative and oversight bodies, and 

• investors and credhors. 

The groups were later incorporated into GASB Concepts Statement No. 1, Objectives of 

Financial Reporting (GPSB, 1987). 

These same three categories of users were surveyed as part of this study. Also, two 

groups have been added to the sample frame. The first group is govemment finance 

officers. This group has been added because they must use the SCF on a regular basis, 

and they have a major impact on which format (the direct method or the indirect method) 

is used to prepare the statements.'* The second group, independent auditors of financial 

statements, was added because ofthe significant role they serve in the preparation ofthe 

financial statements for local governments. The audhors may also influence the selection 

ofthe method used to prepare the SCF. Random samples were selected from each of 

these groups to complete the survey. The following sample design was used. 

''This group was added to the list of users of govemmental accountmg and fmancial reporting by 
the GASB Mission Statement (GASB, 1992). 
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Chizenry 

The chizenry is considered to be the most important user group because h is the group 

to whom the govemment is primary accountable. However, the citizenry is the most 

difficuh user group to identify and to find knowledgeable users of SLG CAFRs. For this 

reason previous studies have used members of different organizations, including the 

League of Women Voters, as surrogates for chizens. This study continued to use 

members ofthe League of Women Voters and other local organizations that are famihar 

with reporting on local govemment finance and budgeting operations. 

Legislative Bodies 

Cities with a population of at least 50,000 and counties with a population of at least 

100,000 were included in the sample. While it would be desirable to solich comments 

from aU sizes of governments, smaller governments often do not have proprietary fiinds. 

As a resuh, officials from these govemments would not have the experience necessary to 

complete the survey. To attempt to ensure geographical diversity, at least one city and 

one county (when applicable) were selected from each state. This diversity requirement 

required relaxing the population requirement in some cases. 

Individuals from govemment legislative bodies, primarily city councils and county 

commissions, review local govemment annual reports for management purposes. While, 

legislative bodies can be at both the local and state levels, the emphasis for this study were 

local officials. Names of these individuals were randomly selected from the Municipal 

Executive Directory and the County Executive Directory. 
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Credh Rating Agencies and Credhors 

These two groups, credit rating agencies and creditors, are shown together because of 

their close relationship. Credh rating agencies—predominantly Moody's, Standard & 

Poor's (S&P's), and Fhch's—evaluate financial statements of SLGs as part ofthe credh 

rating process. This process has a significant impact on the ability of SLGs to receive 

financing from creditors, including banks, insurors, and mutual fiinds. The sample came 

from the National Federation of Municipal Analysts and other organizations. 

Govemment Finance Officials 

The finance officer or similar official was surveyed in each govemment selected. The 

names and addresses for the officials selected were taken randomly from the Municipal 

Executive Directory and the County Executive Directory. Both city and county officials 

were included in the sample. 

Independent Audhors 

Audhors typically play a dual role in the preparation of state and local govemment 

(SLG) comprehensive annual financial reports (CAFRs). Some auditors, usually Certified 

Public Accountants (CPAs), only audh the reports prepared by the cities and counties. 

Others may prepare and audh the reports. This an-angement is particularly tme in smaller 

govemments but occurs in larger ones as well. As a resuh, h was necessary to ask the 

auditors whether they are only performing an audit fiinction or if they also assist in putting 

a government's financial statements in the proper format. 
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Included in this sample are: 

• representatives from the major accounting firms in the United States; 

• members of state-level Govemmental Accounting and Auditing Committees; 

• accountants known to audh SLGs. This group wih be selected from a review of 

CAFRs on file in the Govemmental Accounting Research Center at Texas Tech 

University; and 

• state auditors. The names and addresses of these auditors were taken from the 

State Executive Directory. 

Summary 

This chapter addressed three essential areas of this dissertation. First, a review ofthe 

Hterature supporting this study is presented. This examination has included the prior 

studies that had been made using fiinds flow and cash flow data as part ofthe research and 

the studies addressing the format ofthe fiinds flows statement and cash flows statement. 

This analysis was followed by a review ofthe two basic theoretical elements that support 

this project: functional fixation and communication theory. These theories were then 

applied to the current project by reviewing how the Questionnaire Booklet and 

Information Booklet were assembled and the questions designed. Finally, the sampling 

frame for the study was developed. In the following chapter the hypotheses to be tested, 

the resuhs ofthe survey, and the analyses of these results are presented. 



CHAPTER V 

SURVEY RESULTS AND ANALYSIS 

"Fudge Factor": The numerical factor by which experimental results must be 
multiplied to be in agreement with theory. (Dickson, 1978, p. 57) 

Introduction 

The objective of this study was to determine if users of govemmental financial reports 

perceived the statement of cash flows to be useful in analyzing proprietary fund 

operations. To attain this objective, h was first necessary to build a foundation for the 

analysis. The information presented in Chapters II and HI provided a comprehensive 

examination ofthe history and development ofthe statement of cash flows (SCF). The 

material in these chapters reviewed previous attempts to develop a fimds flows statement 

and a cash flows statement. Also, the current accountmg standards that require the SCFs 

m both the public sector and the private sector were analyzed m detail. Chapter IV then 

buih the plan used to accomplish the objective— t̂he survey instmment—and identified 

those organizations and individuals to be mcluded in the survey. 

This chapter presents the resuhs ofthe survey effort. The discussion begms with an 

examination ofthe survey process. This analysis is foUowed by a brief reexamination of 

the mstmment and the mailing process. Next is an mitial analysis ofthe number of surveys 

sent and received. Finally, there is a detaUed analysis of each part ofthe survey. 

The analysis phase of this chapter is divided into three parts, corresponding to the 

three major parts ofthe questionnaire. Each part ofthe analysis includes five hems: 

219 
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(1) the research question related to that part ofthe survey; (2) the survey resuhs; (3) the 

hypotheses developed to analyze the resuhs; (4) the statistical and graphical analyses of 

these hypotheses; and (5) the answer to the research question with some addhional 

analysis of that answer. The respondent demographic data gathered from the completed 

surveys are in Appendix E. 

The Survey 

The Instmment 

The envelope sent to each recipient contained five separate items. First, a cover letter 

from the researcher explained the survey and what was expected from the recipient. 

Second, another letter from David R. Bean, the Director of Research for the GASB, 

encouraged the person to respond to the survey. Third, the recipient received a 

Questionnaire Booklet, consisting of a three-part survey and the Respondent Demographic 

Data. Fourth, the person received one of two Information Booklets used in the survey. 

Fifth, each person was given a postage paid envelope to retum the completed survey. 

The Questionnaire Booklet had three parts, and the analyses of these parts wiU focus 

on the research question associated with each part. The parts ofthe survey were: 

• Part I examined the financial statements prepared for a proprietary fiind of a local 

govemment and attempted to assess the usefijhiess of these financial statements in 

evaluating eight financial analysis issues. 

• Part n compared the SCF models required by Statement No. 9 ofthe 

Govemmental Accounting Standards Board, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary 
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and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Govemmental Entities That Use Proprietary 

Fund Accounting (GASBS 9), and Statement of Financial Accountmg Standards 

No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows (FASBS 95). This comparison uses seven pairs 

of statements to evaluate the organization and content ofthe two models. Three 

other pairs of statements examined addhional financial reporting issues. 

• Part ni ofthe survey examined the use ofthe dhect method versus the indirect 

method in preparing the Cash Flows from Operating Activities section ofthe 

GASBS 9 SCF. The examination used five objectives of SCF reporting to attempt 

to differentiate between the two methods. A sixth question examined the three 

altematives for preparing the section. 

There were two versions ofthe Information Booklet. Two different versions were 

required to compare the different formats ofthe Statement of Cash Flows (SCF) for Part I 

ofthe survey. One booklet contained the SCF prepared using the dhect method (DM) 

format while the other booklet contained the SCF prepared using the indhect method (IM) 

format. Both booklets explained the general nature ofthe survey and contained the 

financial statements used for each part ofthe survey. 

The Recipients 

As discussed in Chapter IV, there were five groups of recipients in this survey. These 

groups were: 

• Finance directors from major cities and counties; 

• Members of citizen advocacy groups, such as the League of Women Voters; 
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Legislative officials from major cities and counties; 

• Credh rating agencies and credhors selected from the membership ofthe National 

Federation of Municipal Analysts; and 

• Independent audhors selected from independent pubhc accounting firms and the 

fifty state auditor offices. 

One thousand five hundred surveys were mailed. The surveys were divided equaUy 

among the recipient groups identified above. One-half of each recipient group received 

the direct method (DM) Information Booklet while the other half received the indirect 

method (IM) booklet. The surveys sent to finance directors and legislators were fiirther 

divided between city and county officials. Approximately 59 percent ofthe surveys were 

sent to city officials and 41 percent were sent to county officials. Table 5-1 reports the 

number of surveys sent and the number of responses received from each recipient group. 

Table 5-1. Analysis of Surveys Sent, Undeliverable, and Completed. 

Groups 

City Finance Directors 
City CouncU Members 

County Finance Dhectors 
County Commissioners 

NFMA Members 

Auditors 

Citizen Groups 

Totals 

Surveys 
Mailed 
DM IM 

88 88 

88 88 

62 62 
62 62 

150 150 
150 150 

150 150 

750 750 

Undeliverable 
Surveys 
DM IM 

2 2 
0 0 

0 1 
1 2 

5 5 
4 1 

11 9 

23 20 

Adjusted # 
of Surveys 
DM IM 

86 86 

88 88 
62 61 
61 60 

145 145 
146 149 

139 141 

727 730 

Responses 
Received 

DM IM 

35 32 
14 9 

28 31 
6 7 

28 32 

68 72 

31 32 

210 215 

Note: In this table and fiiture tables for Part I of the survey, DM refers to the 
Information Booklet, and IM refers to the mdirect method Information 

direct method 
Booklet. 
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The Process 

The Mailing 

Each survey sent was numbered using a code that would identify the specific recipient 

or that recipient's organization. For most ofthe recipients the actual name and address 

was known. However, surveys sent to recipients in the Citizens group went to 

organizations, such as the League of Women Voters of West Hartford, CT. It was then 

left to the League President to ask for a volunteer from the organization to complete the 

survey. 

The mitial maUing for the survey was sent on June 16, 1993. The mailing consisted of 

two cover letters, the Information Booklet, the Questionnaire Booklet, and a postage-paid 

response envelope. A foUow-up mailing was sent to aU nonrespondents on September 8, 

1993. The foUow-up mailing contained the same materials as the initial mailing except the 

cover letter from the GASB. The cover letter included in the foUow-up maUing mentioned 

the mitial maUing and encouraged the recipient to respond. A follow-up postcard was sent 

on September 23, 1993. The postcard alerted or reminded the recipients ofthe survey and 

asked them to complete and retum h as soon as possible. Examples ofthe letters and the 

postcard are in Appendix D. 

The Response 

Ofthe 1,500 surveys sent out, 43 surveys were undeliverable for various reasons, 

usuaUy because the recipient was no longer at that address or the address was invalid. Of 

the remaming 1,457 surveys, 425 usable responses were received. Table 5-2 presents a 
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summary ofthe responses by the analysis groups.̂  Also, Figure 5-1 reports the response 

rates across the USA by state. 

Table 5-2. Analysis of Response Rates. 

Response Groups 

Fmance Directors 
Citizens & Legislators 
Creditors 
Audhors 

Code 

A 
B 
C 
D 

Totals 

Responses 
DM 

63 
51 
28 
68 

210 

Received 
IM 

63 
48 
32 
72 

215 

Response Rates 
DM 

42.6% 
17.7% 
19.3% 
46.6% 
28.9% 

IM Total 

42.9% 42.7% 
16.6% 17.2% 
22.1% 20.7% 
48.3% 47.5% 
29.5% 29.2% 

It can be noted immediately that the response groups in Table 5-2 are different from 

the recipient groups in Table 5-1. It was always the intention in this survey to combine the 

city finance directors and the county finance directors into a single analysis group. Also, 

the plan was to combine the city council members and the county commissioners into a 

single legislator analysis group. These groups are shown separately in Table 5-1 solely to 

report the distribution of surveys between cities and counties. 

Further combination ofthe response groups was not intended. However, as shown in 

Table 5-1, the number of responses received from city councU members and county 

commissioners was poor. Only 20 of 141 legislators (14.2 percent) receiving the direct 

method survey responded, and only 16 of 148 legislators (10.8 percent) receiving the 

indhect method survey responded. Since the numbers were so low, there was a concem 

that the smaU sample size could cause analysis problems. Therefore, the decision was 

N̂ote the letter codes provided m Table 5-2. hi fiiture tables where space is lunited these codes 
wiU be used m lieu ofthe longer titles. Also, these codes are used m graphical presentations. 
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made to combine the Legislator group with the Chizen group for analysis purposes. 

Special statistical comparisons revealed no significant differences in the analysis ofthe 

Citizen group alone and the combmed Chizens and Legislators group. These tests 

indicated that combming these two groups would not pose a problem for the analysis. 

Not all responses received were completed accurately. There were many 

Questioimaire Booklets where the respondent did not follow the instmctions. Some 

respondents did not answer all questions or issues. Occasionally, a respondent omitted an 

enthe part ofthe survey. Perhaps the most often ignored section was the Respondent 

Demographic Data section. While sufficient information to make some analyses was 

provided, many respondents left aU the questions in the demographics section blank. 

Other problems with incomplete responses are presented in each ofthe foUowing sections. 

Part I: The Importance ofthe SCF in Financial Analysis 

The objective of Part I ofthe survey was to answer the following research question: 

Do users (primarily the chizenry, legislative bodies, and credhors) perceive 

the SCF to provide usefiil mformation beyond what is avaUable in the other 

financial statements (the Balance Sheet and the Operatmg Statement)? 

This section exammes the procedures used to measure this perceived usefulness ofthe 

SCF by assessmg the abUity ofthe respondents to properly use the three financial 

statements. 



227 

The Situation 

In Part I ofthe survey the recipient was asked to examme eight financial analysis issues 

that relate to the financial statements prepared for a SoHd Waste Disposal Enterprise 

Fund. The Information Booklet (shown in Appendix C) provided general information 

about the City of Middle Station and about the city's comprehensive annual financial 

report (CAFR). The Information Booklet also contained three financial statements: the 

Balance Sheet, the Operating Statement, and the SCF. The Balance Sheet and the 

Operating Statement were the same for all recipients. The only difference was in the 

method used to prepare the SCF. One-half of the recipients received a SCF prepared 

using the dh-ect method for the Cash Flows from Operating Activities section. The 

remahiing respondents received a SCF prepared using the indirect method. 

Current generaUy accepted accounting principles (GAAP) require that a SCF prepared 

using the direct method also present a schedule reconcUing operating income to cash flows 

from operating activities. This schedule is very similar to the Operating Activities section 

of a SCF prepared using the indirect method. However, one test in this part ofthe study 

is to determme if the method used to prepare the Operating Activities section affected how 

respondents evaluated the SCF. Therefore, the direct method SCF did not include the 

reconcUiation required by GAAP. 

The eight financial analysis issues were selected to assure some diversity in the 

responses ofthe recipients. Each issue is best evaluated by using one financial statement, 

with the other statements of lesser or no hnportance. The recipient was asked to rate the 
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usefiihiess each financial statement in analyzing the issue using the foUowing four-pomt 

scoring system: 

1 for the financial statement that is ofthe greatest importance m analyzmg the issue; 

2 if the financial statement is of moderate importance; 

3 if the financial statement is ofthe least importance; and 

4 if the financial statement is of no importance. 

The recipient was instmcted to use the ratings 1, 2, and 3 only once for each financial 

analysis issue, but the 4 rating could be used more than once for each issue. 

Problems with the Responses 

Ofthe three parts ofthe survey, this one had the most individual response errors. The 

most frequent error was respondents rating two or three financial statements with the 

same numeric score—other than 4—despite instmctions to the contrary. For example, on 

issue #8 a common erroneous response was to assign all three financial statements a 

greatest importance (1) rating. Responses with this error were dropped from the analysis. 

Other respondents did not rate all the financial statements for particular issues. If the 

problem was not severe, only those issues were dropped from the analysis. If the 

respondent left the financial statements unrated for several issues, the entire response was 

dropped from the analysis. 

Table 5-3 summarizes the impact of these errors on the analysis. The table reports the 

total number of responses received by each response group, the average number and 

percent ofthe total used in the graphical analysis, and the number and percent ofthe total 
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used m the statistical analysis. The failure ofthe respondent to properly rate each financial 

statement resuhed in eliminating that response for the graphical analysis. The number of 

responses shown here is an average because there is some variabUity m which responses 

were dropped from the analysis. For example, for the Fmance Directors group (A) 124 

responses were received. Of these 124 responses, only eight respondents failed to answer 

issue #4 correctly while 25 respondents failed to answer issue #8 correctly. 

Table 5-3. Analysis of Part I Responses. 

Response 
Group 

A 
B 
C 
D 

Totals 

Total 
Responses 

126 
99 
60 

140 
425 

Average Number of 
Responses Used in 
Graphical Analysis 

106 84.1% 
81 81.8% 
52 86.7% 

126 90.0% 
365 85.9% 

Responses Used in 
Statistical Analysis 

97 77.0% 
65 65.7% 
45 75.0% 

101 72.1% 
308 72.5% 

Fewer responses are used in the statistical analysis because the analysis technique 

automaticaUy ehminates aU incomplete responses. So, an error on one analysis issue 

ehminates a respondent from the graphical analysis for that issue only. However, the same 

error ehminates the respondent from the entire statistical analysis. From the above 

example on the number of finance director respondents, aU 25 respondents who failed to 

answer issue #8 correctly were eliminated from the statistical analysis. In addhion, four 

others were eliminated for not answering another issue correctly. 

There are steps that can be taken to eliminate these response errors by estimating what 

the response would have been based on the other responses in that group. Unfortunately, 
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some response groups were quhe small and all groups had low correlations between 

responses. Therefore, this technique was not used in this study. 

Analvsis ofthe Results 

The primary tests for this part ofthe survey were based on a vector of responses from 

five ofthe eight financial analysis issues included in Part I ofthe survey. The issues 

selected were: 

#1 To determine if sufficient operating revenues were eamed from 1992 operations to 

finance 1992 operating expenses. 

#2 To determine the method of financing property, plant, and equipment acquisitions 

during 1992. 

#4 To determine if sufficient cash flows were received from 1992 operations to pay 

for 1992 operating expenditures. 

#5 To assess whether fiiture cash flows will hkely be sufficient to meet fiiture debt 

service principal and interest requirements. 

#7 To determine if cash received from customers equaled fees charged to customers 

during 1992. 

These five issues were selected for this analysis because h was believed that most 

respondents would rate the SCF as being the most important financial statement for 

evaluating each issue. 
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Hypotheses to be Tested 

To answer the research question for this part ofthe survey two hypotheses were 

developed. The hypotheses, stated in both the null and alternate forms, were: 

HQI: There is no difference in the mean vectors for the direct method subgroup 

and the indhect method subgroup within each response group. 

Hj,i: There is a difference in the mean vectors for the dhect method subgroup 

and the indhect method subgroup within each response group. 

H02: There is no difference in the mean vectors for each response group within 

SCF method. 

H32: At least one response group mean vector is different from the other 

response group mean vectors within SCF method. 

In the formulation of this study, it was difficult to predict the outcomes of these 

hypothesis tests. This study is the first attempt at a comprehensive examination ofthe 

differences m the reporting content ofthe SCF as compared to the other major financial 

statements. The speculation was that if the two different forms ofthe SCF conmiunicated 

the same information, then the mean vectors ofthe two subgroups for hypothesis #1 

would be the same. For hypothesis #2, the speculation was that at least one subgroup 

mean vector would be different, although no prediction was made conceming which 

method— t̂he direct method SCF or the indhect method SCF—would contain the 

differences. 
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Statistical Analysis 

The statistical analysis for Part I examined the average responses to a vector of 

financial analysis issues. The issues for which the SCF was most likely to be highly rated 

were selected for this vector. This vector was used to analyze both hypotheses in Part I. 

Figure 5-2 demonstrates graphically the tests being made for these hypotheses. The 

lines and symbols on the graph show the average rating for the SCF given by all 

respondents for the five financial analysis issues listed above. There is a clear indication 

that the respondents differed on their responses to issue #7 based on the version ofthe 

SCF received. This difference is explored in greater detail in this section. 

All Response Groups 

0 

Direct 
B 

Indirect 

SC1 SC2 SC4 SC5 SC7 
Financial Statement Analysis Issues 

Higher Score = Lesser Importance 

Figure 5-2. Comparison of Direct Method and Indirect Method Respondents. 

For the statistical tests of significance a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) 

technique was used. MANOVA requires that four assumptions hold tme for the technique 

to provide accurate results. These assumptions are: 
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1. Units are randomly sampled from the population of interest. 

2. Observations are statisticaUy independent of one another. 

3. The dependent variables have a multivariate normal distribution within each group. 

4. The groups have a common within-group population covariance matrix (Bray and 

Maxwell, 1985). 

Ofthe four assumptions, only the last one was in question for this part ofthe survey. It 

was expected that the ratings given the financial statements would have a high degree of 

correlation since there was an expected "correct" answer to each issue in the vector. This 

correlation did not occur. 

The most likely explanation ofthe lack of correlation was the limited scale used for 

ranking the importance ofthe financial statements. Also, the respondents may have not 

fijUy understood the financial statements and the issues presented in this study, which 

could have led to inconsistent or incorrect responses. Nonetheless, since the correlation 

should have occurred, h was feh that relaxing this assumption did not invalidate use ofthe 

MANOVA technique. 

Hypothesis #1 

Before testing the fh-st hypothesis, a preliminary test was made to test for differences 

between all direct method respondents and all indirect method respondents. The statistical 

test was: 

f̂ DMi ~ ^̂ IMi 
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where, 

DM = respondents receiving the dhect method SCF; 

IM = respondents receiving the indirect method SCF; and 

i = vector issues. 

The test controlled for both the response group and the SCF method received by the 

respondent. The results of this test are summarized in Table 5-4 for the response group 

effect. Table 5-5 for the method effect, and Table 5-6 for the interaction effect. The 

response group effect and the method effect were statistically significant for all four test 

statistics. The interaction effect was not statisticaUy significant. 

Table 5-4. Test for Response Group Effect. 

Statistic 

WrUks' Lambda 

PUlai's Trace 
Hotelling-Lawley Trace 

Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 

0.827 

0.18 

0.202 

0.155 

F 

3.888*** 
3 799*** 

3.962*** 

9.2213*** 

NumDF 

15 

15 

15 
5 

DenDF 

817 
894 

884 
298 

Note: For all tables reporting an F, the statistical significance will be shown by using one or 
more asterisks. The system is: * for a statistical significance of 0.1 to 0.0501; ** for a 
statistical significance of 0.05 to 0.0101; and *** for a statistical significance of 0.01 
or better. Also, Num DF refers to numerator degrees of freedom and Den DF refers to 
denominator degrees of freedom. In some tables these numbers will be shown as 
subscripts to the "F" as in F^^ DF. D™ DF-

Table 5-5. Test for Method Effect. 

Statistic 

WiUcs' Lambda 

PUlai's Trace 
HoteUing-Lawley Trace 

Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 

0.9499 

0.0501 

0.0527 

0.0527 

•^5,296 

3.1224*** 

3.1224*** 

3.1224*** 

3.1224*** 
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Table 5-6. Test for Interaction Effect. 

Statistic Value 

Wilks' Lambda 0.966 0.6874 
PiUai's Trace 0.034 0.6878 
Hotelling-Lawley Trace 0.035 0.6871 
Roy's Greatest Root 0.027 1.6034 

Num DF Den DF 

15 
15 
15 
5 

817 
894 
884 
298 

Perhaps of even greater importance was the statistical significance ofthe individual 

financial analysis issues. The significance of these variables is summarized in Table 5-7. 

As this table shows, all ofthe issues were significant for the response group effect. Only 

two ofthe issues were significant for the method effect: 

• #2—determining the method of financing for property, plant, and equipment 

acquisitions; and 

• #7—determimng if cash received from customers equaled fees charged to 

customers during 1992. 

None ofthe financial analysis issues were significant for the interaction effect. That result 

was not surprising since the interaction effect was not statistically significant. 

Table 5-7. Analysis of Vector Issues. 

Issue 

1 
2 
4 

5 
7 

DF: Rei 

Response Group 
F 

3.05** 
n Q ^ * * * 

3.57** 
2.19* 
4 -74*** 

Method 
F 

0.40 
3.35* 
0.03 
0.35 

12.12*** 

sponse Group = 3, Method = 5, Interactio 

Interaction 
F 

0.25 
0.97 
0.68 
0.33 
1.34 

n = 3, Error = 300. 
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The degree of statistical significance for the financial analysis issues in the response 

group effect was not surprising given the significance of that effect. What is somewhat 

unexpected is the significance of issue #2 in the method effect. Both SCF methods—the 

direct method and the indirect method—report the information on the financing for 

property, plant, and equipment acquishions in the same manner. For this issue to be 

StatisticaUy significant is intriguing, and h is explored in greater detail in the fimctional 

fixation section of this chapter. 

The statistical significance of issue #7 is not surprising. The direct method and 

indirect method have very different formats for reporting this information. This difference 

is analyzed fiirther in this section and in the functional fixation section ofthe chapter. 

Based on the prehminary test, it was possible to test each response group for within 

group differences in the direct method respondents and the indirect method respondents. 

These analyses required a refinement ofthe earlier model, making the statistical test for 

this phase ofthe analysis: 

f^DMhi ~ M ÎMhi 

where, 

DM = respondents receiving the dhect method SCF; 

IM = respondents receiving the indirect method SCF; 

h = response group (Finance Dhectors, Citizens and Legislators, Credhors, and 

Audhors); and 

i = vector issues. 



237 

This test controUed for the response groups, resuhing in a separate set of statistics for 

each group. The resuhs ofthe tests are summarized in Tables 5-8 through 5-11. 

Table 5-8. Method Effect—Fmance Dh-ectors Group (A). 
Statistic 

WUks' Lambda 
PUlai's Trace 

HoteUing-Lawley Trace 
Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 
0.9659 
0.0341 
0.0353 
0.0353 

-^5,91 

0.6420 

0.6420 

0.6420 

0.6420 

Table 5-9. Method Effect—Chizens and Legislators Group (B). 

Statistic 
WUks' Lambda 
PUlai's Trace 
HoteUing-Lawley Trace 
Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 

0.9176 

0.0824 

0.0898 

0.0898 

5,59 

1.0592 
1.0592 
1.0592 
1.0592 

Table 5-10. Method Effect—Creditors Group (C). 
Statistic 

WUks' Lambda 
PiUai's Trace 
Hotelling-Lawley Trace 
Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 
0.7196 
0.2820 
0.3928 
0.3928 

^5,39 

3.0461 ** 
3.0461 ** 
3.0461 ** 
3.0461 ** 

Table 5-11. Method Effect—Audhors Group (D). 

Statistic 

WUks' Lambda 
PiUai's Trace 
HoteUing-Lawley Trace 

Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 
0.9712 
0.0288 
0.0297 

0.0297 

^5,95 

0.5641 
0.5641 
0.5641 

0.5641 
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Further evidence ofthe relationships between the direct method respondents and indirect 

method respondents for each response group is shown in Figure 5-3. 

The SCF method did not have a significant effect on the ratings given the SCF for the 

overaU model for any ofthe four analysis groups except the Credhors. This resuh was not 

surprising, given the graphical evidence in Figure 5-3. The statistical significance in the 

Credhor group may be the resuh of an anomaly caused by the relatively small sample size. 

However, the significance ofthe individual issues may have also been a factor in the 

Credhor group (Table 5-12). The Citizens and Legislators group (B) and the Credhors 

group (C) were the only groups v^th variables that made a statistically significant 

contribution to the model. This relationship was apparent only for Issue #7 in the graphs 

m Figure 5-3. The significance of Issue #2 in the Credhor group was not obvious from 

the graph and may, again, be attributable to the small sample size. 

Table 5-12. Analysis of Vector Issues—All Response Groups. 

Issue 

1 
2 
4 
5 
7 

A 

^1,95 

0.15 

0.01 

0.31 

1.36 

1.91 

B 

Fl.63 

0.00 

2.10 

0.78 

0.09 

3.20* 

C 

^1,43 

0.00 

4.81** 

0.00 

0.04 
J c /*** 

D 

^1,99 

1.45 

0.05 

0.59 

0.12 

0.36 

What was most interesting from this analysis was the apparent inconsistency between 

the prelimmary tests and the response group tests. Issue #7 proved to be significant in the 

prehminary test. In the response group tests h was significant only for the Chizens and 

Legislators group and the Credhors group. From the graphical analysis it appeared that 
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issue #7 should have also been significant for the Finance Dkectors group, but the 

statistical analysis did not support this conclusion. It was apparent from Figure 5-3 that 

there was httle difference in the Audhors group. This resuh could be expected since this 

group has perhaps the greatest training and experience of all the response groups in the 

use of financial statements. 

From these statistical tests and graphics presentations there can be but one conclusion 

conceming the first hypothesis: there was insufficient evidence to reject the hypothesis 

that there was no difference in the mean vectors for the direct method subgroup and the 

indirect method subgroup within each response group. This conclusion would seem to 

show that there was no difference in how users perceive the SCF format in providing 

information usefiil in financial statement analysis. 

However, for issues #2 and #7 there were statistically significant differences for the 

complete sample. For issue #2, the difference is puzzling since the two SCF methods 

report the information for this issue in identical fashion. However, issue #7 was the only 

issue in which the information reported by the two SCF formats was different, so hs 

statistical significance was not surprising. Unfortunately, only the Chizens and Legislators 

group and the Credhors group were individually significant. 

Hypothesis #2 

Based on the preliminary test above, h was clear that the response group effect was 

significant and did have an effect on differences between the means ofthe direct method 

respondents and the indirect method respondents. This statistical significance was fiirther 
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supported by the significance ofthe financial analysis issues, summarized in Table 5-7. AU 

ofthe issues contributed significantly to the model. 

The test ofthe hypothesis was made by comparing the responses of each response 

group withm SCF method. The model for this test was: 

^Aij = UBij = Hcij = Moij 

where, 

A, B, C, D = response group; 

i = vector issues; and 

j = method (direct or indirect). 

The test controlled for the method resuhing in separate statistics for the direct method 

(Table 5-13) and the indirect method (Table 5-14). 

Table 5-13. Response Group Effect—^Dhect Method SCF. 

Statistic 
WUks' Lambda 

PUlai's Trace 
Hotellmg-Lawley Trace 
Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 
0.8755 
0.1286 
0.1375 
0.0904 

F 
1.2179 
1.2183 
1.216 

2.4601** 

NumDF 
15 
15 
15 
5 

DenDF 
828 
906 
896 
302 

Table 5-14. Response Group Effect— Îndirect Method SCF. 

Statistic 

WUks' Lambda 
PUlai's Trace 
HoteUing-Lawley Trace 
Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 
0.8354 
0.1721 
0.1881 
0.1245 

F 
1.7976** 
1.7890** 
1.8013** 
3.6615** 

NumDF 
15 
15 
15 
5 

DenDF 
400 
441 
431 
147 

As these tests show, the response groups were not significantly different when 

evaluating the importance ofthe direct method SCF. However, there was a significant 
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difference between the groups m the evaluations ofthe indhect method SCF, although the 

tests did not mdicate which response groups were different. The graphs m Figure 5-4 

show no significant differences in the direct method respondents. There was some 

variation in average ratmgs—particularly for the Citizens and Legislators group, but the 

trend Imes were generally the same. 

However, this same group in the indirect method evaluation did vary significantly from 

the other groups. This variation may be the cause ofthe differences found in the statistical 

analysis. An analysis ofthe individual variables (Table 5-15) provided some support for 

this conclusion. For both SCF methods Issue #7 proved to be a statistically significant 

contributor to the model. This resuh was not unexpected given the earlier analysis. 

Table 5-15. Analysis of Vector Issues—SCF Methods. 

Issue 

1 
2 
4 
5 
7 

Direct Method 

-^3,304 

1.82 
0.39 
0.11 
1.02 
2.29* 

Indirect Method 

^3,149 

1.30 
0.47 
3.93*** 
1.36 
3.05** 

What was unexpected was the significance of Issue #4 m the mdirect method analysis. 

This issue had not been significant m the other MANOVA tests. What may be key m this 

analysis was that cash inflows from operations and cash outflows for operating 

expenditures were not separately reported on the mdirect method SCF as they were for 

the dhect method SCF. However, both statements did report "Net Cash Provided (Used) 

by Operating Activities." Nonetheless, the difference m reporting could have adversely 
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affected how the respondents who had the indirect method SCF rated the importance of 

the SCF. 

For hypothesis #2 the speculation was that at least one subgroup mean vector would 

be different. However, no prediction was made concemmg which method— t̂he direct 

method SCF or the indkect method SCF—would contain the differences. The resuhs of 

Test #3 indicate that there were no differences among the mean vectors for the direct 

method response groups. However, at least one mean vector was different for the indirect 

method response groups. Therefore, the hypothesis should be rejected. 

Based on the graphical analysis (Figure 5-4), the mean vector ofthe Chizens and 

Legislators group appeared different from the others. However, in the statistical analysis, 

the Creditors group was the only group in which the method of SCF presentation made a 

statistically significant difference, so the mean vector of this group could be different from 

the others. The speculation was that it was the Chizens and Legislators group that was 

different since the earlier test for the Credhors was not restricted to examining the indirect 

method. 

Functional Fixation 

One fear m this analysis was that respondents would be fimctionally fixated ehher on 

the Balance Sheet and the Operating Statement or the SCF. The former was a concem 

because these statements would be more famUiar to the respondents than the SCF. The 

SCF was a relatively new statement—the requirement for the statement had only been in 

existence for two years at the time ofthe survey. Also, the Balance Sheet and Operating 
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Statement have been used for many years, so the respondents were more accustomed to 

seemg these statements as part ofthe financial report for proprietary fimds. 

The other possibUity was that respondents would be fixated on the SCF to the 

exclusion ofthe other two statements. This fixation was possible because the thle of this 

statement—Statement of Cash Flows—contains a word very famUiar to most users of 

financial statements. It was feared that the users' familiarity with cash could cause some to 

employ this financial statement to the exclusion ofthe others in the analysis ofthe financial 

issues. 

In order to evaluate whether fimctional fixation existed in the evaluations ofthe 

financial statements, a graphical analysis was made of Part I ofthe survey. This analysis 

examined the frequency of ratings for each ofthe financial analysis issues. There were 

two purposes of this analysis. First, an attempt was made to discover trends and compare 

the responses to the expected rating ofthe financial statements. Second, the analysis 

attempted to measure the degree of fimctional fixation of respondents on certain financial 

statements. A separate section is devoted to each analysis issue. 

Figures 5-5 through 5-12 report the response frequencies for each analysis issue. Each 

figure contains six graphs. Each graph shows the percent ofthe respondents for each 

response group (A, B, C, and D) that selected each rating. There are three pairs of 

graphs—one pair each for the Balance Sheet, the Operating Statement, and the SCF. The 

graphs on the left side ofthe figure are for those respondents that received the direct 

method SCF; the graphs on the right side ofthe figure are for those respondents that 

received the indirect method SCF. The SCF method is shown at the bottom of each 
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column. This analysis presents the responses in the same order as the issues were hsted in 

the Questionnah-e Booklet. 

Issue #1 

The first financial analysis issue was: "Jo determine if sufficient operating revenues 

were eamed from 1992 operations to finance 1992 operating expenses.'' The expected 

ratmgs ofthe financial statements for this issue were: 

• Balance Sheet 4 

• Operatmg Statement 1 

• SCF 4 

These ratmgs were expected since only the operating statement reports operating revenues 

and operating expenses. The SCF was not critical in this analysis; there should be no 

difference m the rating for the two SCF formats. 

As shown in Figure 5-5, most ofthe respondents foUowed the expected pattem. Some 

respondents rated the Balance Sheet higher than anticipated. However, the percentages 

were very low, with only the Creditors group exceedmg the 25 percent level in assigning 

the Balance Sheet a lesser importance (3) rating. 

What was unexpected was the rating given to the SCF by aU the groups. The only 

financial statement that reports operating revenues and operating expenses was the 

operatmg statement. Yet, more than 50 percent ofthe respondents in three response 

groups assigned the SCF a moderate importance (2) rating. Several possible explanations 

for these unexpected ratings are explored below. 
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One explanation for the high SCF rating may be "the bottom Hne" ofthe Operatmg 

Activities section. The last Ime of this section reports Net Cash Provided (Used) by 

Operatmg Activities. This Hne could easily be confiised with the difference m operatmg 

revenues and operating expenses, which is, of course, operatmg income. The respondents 

could beheve that the SCF showed the general nature ofthe fimd's ability to generate 

sufficient operating revenues to finance operating expenses. 

Another potential reason for the support given to the SCF could be the organization of 

the Operatmg Activities section. For the respondents who received the direct method 

SCF, five cash flows were reported in this section. One of these Hnes was simply caUed 

"Other Operatmg Revenues." This line could caU attention to the SCF and resuh in the 

higher ratmg. Another line, called Cash Paid to Employees, was also very simUar to a 

typical operatmg expense: Salaries and Wages Expense. The simUarity in terms and 

perceived usefiilness may explain why the respondents who received the direct method 

SCF gave the statement a high rating. 

For the respondents receiving the indhect method SCF there was an even more direct 

Hnk between the SCF and the operating statement. The first line in the body of this SCF is 

Operating Income, which could immediately draw the respondents' attention. Having this 

line on the statement could make the respondents believe that this statement was reporting 

operatmg mcome, and thus cause them to give the SCF a high ratmg. 

One other resuh regarding this issue can be seen in Figure 5-5. Three ofthe four 

response groups receiving the dhect method SCF had a higher percentage of respondents 

ratmg the SCF as being moderately important than did the respondents that received the 
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indirect method SCF. Only in the Auditors group was there a sHghtly higher percentage of 

respondents supportmg the indirect method SCF. 

Issue #2 

The second financial analysis issue the respondents were asked to consider was: "To 

determine the method of financing for property plant and equipment acquisitions in 

1992." An innovation in GASBS 9 was the separation ofthe acquishion of caphal assets 

from other long-term investments. As a resuh, the Caphal and Related Financing 

Activities Section may give some indication ofthe financing sources for caphal asset 

acquishions. The section did not report which caphal assets were acquired with what 

resources. However, the absence or presence of debt in this section would give some 

indication of whether financing came from intemal or extemal sources. Since this section 

was prepared in the same manner for both the direct and indirect method, no differences 

were expected between these two groups. 

Alternatively, it was possible to determine changes m caphal asset and debt accounts 

by examining the Balance Sheet. So, this statement might also provide some insight on 

how the acquisitions were financed. Since the Operating Statement reports neither debt 

nor capital asset acquisitions, it should not be important in this analysis. For these 

reasons, the expected ratings for the financial statements were: 

• Balance Sheet 2 or 3 

• Operating Statement 4 

• SCF 1 
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As shown in Figure 5-6, the respondents followed this general pattem. The Balance 

Sheet evaluations show no discernible trend either within or between the dhect and 

mdirect groups. Some evaluations ofthe Operating Statement were higher than expected, 

particularly when compared to the Balance Sheet alone. The SCF, however, was rated 

highest by all analysis groups. The fact that more chizens and legislators in the direct 

method group rated the SCF higher than did the indirect group was confiising since, as 

noted, the appHcable section ofthe SCF was prepared the same way for both SCF 

versions. 

Issue #3 

The next issue presented for analysis was: 'To assess the current financial position of 

the enterprise fund." Reporting the financial poshion ofthe enterprise fiind is the purpose 

ofthe Balance Sheet.̂  For this reason, the ratings for this issue were expected to be: 

• Balance Sheet 1 

• Operating Statement 4 

• SCF 4 

As shown in Figure 5-7, the responses generally followed the expected pattem. What 

was of interest here were the relatively high ratings given the other statements. The 

Operating Statement was considered the second most important statement, and the SCF 

received only slightly lower ratings. 

În the Statement of Accountmg Concepts No. 5, Recognition and Measurement in Fmancial 
Statements of Business Enterprises, the FASB does not use the title Balance Sheet for this 
statement: the titie is the Statement of Financial Position (FASB, 1984). 
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A possible explanation for these ratings may He in how the Operating Statement 

prepared for a proprietary fiind is different from an Income Statement prepared for a 

business. For an Income Statement the "bottom line"—quhe Iherally the number at the 

bottom ofthe body ofthe statement—is Net Income. However, for an enterprise fimd 

Operating Statement, Net Income is not the bottom line. It is the Fund Equity balance at 

year-end. As a resuh, the Operating Statement has a dhect link to the financial poshion of 

the fiind. 

The SCF also has a link to the financial position ofthe fimd. Many people beheve how 

much cash one has is an important measure of a sound financial position. Since the 

bottom Hne ofthe SCF is the balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents at year-end, some 

respondents may have viewed this as a measure of current financial position and given the 

SCF a higher rating than expected. 

Issue #4 

The fourth analysis issue was: "To determine if sufficient cashflows were received 

from 1992 operations to pay for 1992 operating expenditures" Almost by definition, and 

because ofthe unavoidable wording ofthe statement, this issue required the highest 

rankmg be given to the SCF. The other financial statements should not have even been 

considered. Thus, the expected ratings were: 

• Balance Sheet 4 

• Operating Statement 4 

• SCF 1 
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The actual ratmgs generally followed expectations (Figure 5-8), with two notable 

exceptions. First, the Operating Statement received a higher ranking than expected from 

aU groups, but particularly the credhors. This rating may be the resuh of some users 

misinterpretmg Net Income as cash flow. Others may be referring to the budget for the 

general govemment. Many govemments prepare their budgets on a cash basis. Thus, 

some users might confiise the Operating Statement with the operating budget. However, 

this error should not occur with the members ofthe Credhors group. These respondents 

are tramed to analyze municipal financial statements. 

The second notable exception was the difference in the Citizens and Legislators group 

when comparing the direct method and the indirect method responses. Approximately 80 

percent ofthe dh-ect method respondents rated the SCF as 1, but only 65 percent ofthe 

indhect respondents did so. This difference may be the result of a difference in the 

operating section ofthe SCF. Both methods have the same line: Net Cash Provided 

(Used) by Operating Activities. However, the direct method reports the operating cash 

receipts separately from the operating expenditures, thus making it more obvious that 

there was a difference in the two numbers. The indirect method Operating Activities 

section starts with "Operating Income," which was found on the Operating Statement. 

This line may have caused some users to believe the Operatmg Statement had greater 

hnportance than it warranted. 
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Issue #5 

"To assess whether future cashflows will likely be sufficient to meet future debt 

service principal and interest requirements" was the fifth issue presented for analysis in 

Part I ofthe survey. This issue was adapted from a stated purpose ofthe SCF found m 

GASBS 9: ". help financial users assess . . . [an entity's] abihty to meet hs obHgations 

when they come due . . ." (GASB, 1989, paragraph 7). Consequently, h was expected 

that the SCF would be the most highly rated statement, with the others scoring lower. 

Thus, the expected ratmgs were: 

• Balance Sheet 2 to 4 

• Operating Statement 2 to 4 

• SCF 1 

As Figure 5-9 reports, the results were mixed, but there were some definite trends. 

The Citizens and Legislators group and the Audhors group followed the expected pattem 

of ratmg the SCF the highest. However, the Finance Dhectors group was divided on the 

rating. The direct method respondents selected the SCF as the most important statement, 

but the mdhect method respondents selected the Balance Sheet, the only group to do so. 

The only group to select the Operatmg Statement as the most important statement was 

the Creditors group. Nevertheless, there were differences withm this group. The direct 

method respondents overwhelming selected the Operatmg Statement as the most usefiil 

statement for this analysis with over 60 percent of these respondents making this selection. 

These respondents also selected the SCF as having moderate importance. The indhect 

method respondents, while still supporting the Operating Statement, were more diverse in 
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their statement selection. These respondents were also less clear on their support for the 

SCF. While they generally selected the SCF as having moderate importance, there was 

very Httle difference between this rating and the other three ratmgs assigned to the 

statement. 

The reasons for the mixed results on this analysis issue were not as definite as on some 

other issues. As noted on the first page of this study, only one thing can enable an entity 

to meet hs obligations when they come due: cash. Therefore, there must be sufficient 

cash inflows in order for an entity to pay its obHgations. For this reason the SCF should 

have been the most highly ranked statement. As noted, three ofthe four groups did rate 

the SCF as being the most important financial statement, but not with the same degree of 

support as in the other issues. 

However, some respondents may have believed that to measure an entity's abUity to 

meet hs obligations, one must know what those obligations were. Since, the Balance 

Sheet was the only financial statement with this information, these respondents may have 

feh this statement should receive the highest ranking. Also, the Balance Sheet reports the 

amount of cash on hand at the end ofthe period. This amount could suggest the abihty of 

the entity to meet hs fiiture obHgations. 

The Credhors group could have taken another approach to analyzing this issue. As 

emphasized above, one ofthe critical features of this issue is vfhethei future cash flows 

will be sufficient to meet future debt principal and interest payments. The Credhors group 

may have analyzed this issue from the perspective that only the Operating Statement 

reports the potential fiiture eamings ofthe enterprise fimd. Just because the SCF reports a 
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certam type of cash flow in the current period is not an mdication that those same cash 

flows wUl be reported m the fiiture. However, the Operating Statement is frequently used 

m analysis to assess the strength of a fiind's operations, thus providmg an mdicator of 

fiiture potential. This form of analysis may provide some explanation for the Credhors 

group ratings on this issue. 

Issue #6 

The next financial analysis issue presented to the respondents was: "To assess the 

results of operations ofthe enterprise fund for 1992" Just as Issue #3 was directly linked 

to the Balance Sheet, this issue was directly linked to the Operating Statement. Even the 

wording ofthe issue would seem to lead most respondents to choose the Operating 

Statement as the most important. Therefore, the expected ratings were: 

• Balance Sheet 4 

• Operating Statement 1 

• SCF 4 

The resuhs in Figure 5-10 supported the expectation that the Operating Statement 

would be rated as the most important statement. However, there were unexpected resuhs 

m this analysis. The first was the strong support given to the SCF as being important in 

the analysis of this issue. AU groups, except the dhect method Credhor group 

respondents, made the SCF the clear choice for havmg moderate importance (2) in 

evaluating the resuhs of operations. 
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The relatively high rating given in this issue may have been caused by the same effects 

found m the issue #1 analysis. Both analysis issues exammed the operations ofthe entity. 

Therefore, a possible cause of rating the SCF was, agam, the Operatmg Activities section 

ofthe SCF. This section may give users the idea that the SCF was important in evaluating 

the resuhs of current year operations. There may be some foundation for this behef since 

having cash inflows from operations exceedmg cash outflows is an important measure. 

What was surprising was the strength ofthe support. 

The other surprising result was the mixed support given the balance sheet. It was 

expected that this statement would be rated as having no importance (4). Instead it 

received a variety of ratmgs with no clear trend developing. Also, the direct method 

Creditors group was divided evenly in their selection ofthe moderate importance financial 

statement. A fiiU one-third of each group rated the Balance Sheet and the SCF as havmg 

moderate hnportance (3). 

Issue #7 

The seventh issue for analysis was: "To determine if cash received from customers 

equaled fees charged to customers during 1992." Of aU the issues raised in this analysis, 

this issue had the most diverse possible ratings. The answer to the issue can be derived in 

several ways. Perhaps the easiest was to compare current year's receivables with the prior 

year's receivables. If the number was higher for the current year than for the prior year, 

the obvious answer was that cash received was less than the fees charged. Thus, the 

answer can be taken from the Balance Sheet alone. 
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A second choice—available to only the recipients receiving the indirect method 

SCF—^was to look at the change in accounts receivable reported as an "(Increase) 

Decrease m Accounts Receivable." This one line reported to the user whether the 

amounts were equal just by the presence of a number. 

Fmally, a third choice—available only to the recipients receiving the direct method 

SCF—^was to compare numbers on the Operating Statement and the SCF. This 

comparison was perhaps the most difficuh of all as h required comparing the "Cash 

Received from Customers" line to the total of five different lines in the Operating 

Revenues section ofthe Operating Statement. The total of these lines was not reported on 

the Operating Statement, thus requiring some addition by the user. 

Given this analysis one might be confiised as to the expected ratings. Nonetheless, for 

this study the expected ratings were: 

• Balance Sheet 2 to 3 

• Operating Statement 2 to 4 

• SCF 1 

The resuhs in Figure 5-11 generally supported this expectation. However, there was 

one major unexpected resuh. When comparing the dhect method respondents to the 

mdirect method respondents, a greater percentage of all analysis groups receiving the 

direct method SCF rated the SCF higher than did those receiving the indirect method SCF. 

This condhion exists although the indirect method SCF contains a single Hne reporting the 

change in accounts receivable. 
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However, the change in accounts receivable may not be an obvious answer to the 

issue. The issue asked the recipient to compare the cash received to the fees charged. 

Therefore, many respondents may have been searching for an amount that reports the 

amount of cash received. That amount was reported only on one financial statement: the 

SCF prepared usmg the direct method. Consequently, the high rating given by the dhect 

method respondents was understandable. 

The mixed resuhs given the Operating Statement and the Balance Sheet were another 

mteresting factor in this analysis. Only persons receiving the direct method SCF would be 

expected to compare the SCF to the Operating Statement to analyze the issue, so the 

moderate hnportance (2) ratings given the Operatmg Statement were understandable. 

What was more difficult to understand were the lower ratings for the Operating 

Statement. Also, the mixed resuhs and low ratings given the Balance Sheet were 

unexpected given that accounts receivable was reported on this statement. 

Issue #8 

The last issue for analysis in Part I ofthe survey was: "To assess the credit worthiness 

ofthe enterprise fund" More than any other issue, this one was open to interpretation by 

the users. There were no expected ratings given the broad nature ofthe issue. However, 

both the GASB and the FASB imply that assessing credh worthiness was a purpose ofthe 

SCF. This implication could have caused the respondents to select the SCF as being the 

most hnportant financial statement. 
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The resuhs reported in Figure 5-12 do not support this expectation. GeneraUy, the 

Balance Sheet was the most highly rated statement, followed by the Operating Statement, 

and then the SCF. Only the Credhors group departed from this trend givmg the Balance 

Sheet and Operating Statement approximately equal ratings. All the response groups 

rated the SCF as having only some importance. The Chizens and Legislators group that 

received the indirect method SCF splh the ratings between least importance (3) and no 

importance (4). 

The resuhs in this issue may be contrasted to the results in issue #5. In issue #5 the 

ratings were mixed, with no statement being assigned a greatest importance (1) rating. 

But issue #5 tends to be more specific than issue #8 as the former issue addresses only the 

abiUty of an entity to meet its obligations when they come due. Issue #8 may have been 

interpreted by the users as more broad-based, and thus requiring more information than 

issue #5. If this interpretation is correct, than one can understand the selection ofthe 

Balance Sheet as the most important statement since h contains a wider range of 

information than the other two financial statements. In selecting the Operating Statement 

as being more important than the SCF, the reasoning may have been that the Operatmg 

Statement provides a wider measure of results—net income— t̂han the SCF which only 

reports the sources, uses, and balances of cash. 

Functional Fixation Revished 

The results shown in the figures and analyses above indicate that the fear of fimctional 

fixation was unfounded. Only with Issue #5 did a clear pattem of response fail to develop. 
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For most other issues the expected pattem developed, although not always with the rating 

that was expected. Nonetheless, all user groups correctly apphed the appropriate financial 

statement to the appropriate issue, suggestmg that fimaional fixation was not a problem m 

this survey. 

The analysis ofthe responses in this section also lends validity to the statistical 

analyses earher in this section. It was relatively clear that the respondents understood the 

issues and made the appropriate selections for rating the financial statements. Though the 

statistical results were not as highly correlated as expected, the evaluations in this section 

do support the statistical techniques used earlier. 

Addhional Analysis 

Based on the above analyses, the answer to the research question for Part I ofthe 

survey must be: users do perceive the SCF to provide usefiil information beyond what is 

avaUable in the other financial statements. The users correctly apphed the Balance Sheet, 

the Operating Statement, and the SCF in financial analysis. The fear that some users 

might be fimctionally fixated on either the Balance Sheet and the Operatmg Statement or 

the SCF was not supported by the analysis. 

There were some unexpected results in the secondary ratings given certain financial 

statements for certain issues, but the "greatest hnportance" rating was generally given to 

the expected financial statement for aU issues by all user groups. This abihty to use 

financial statements correctly may indicate a capacity of users to adapt to changes in 
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financial reporting. The last chapter of this study speculates on what this capacity may 

mean for fiiture changes in govemmental reportmg. 

Also, the hypothesis that the format ofthe SCF would not make a statistically 

significant difference m the way most respondents use the SCF cannot be rejected. There 

was some expectation that the dhect method would be evaluated differently than the 

indirect method. However, the statistical analysis does not support this conclusion. The 

one exception would be when users want to compare fees charged to customers to cash 

coUections from customers (Issue #7). To some, this may seem a minor point. However, 

being able to separate operating cash inflows from operating cash outflows may be 

important to some users. The indirect method SCF does not provide this separation, and 

the significance of Issue #7 indicates that it is important to at least some user groups. All 

user groups considered the direct method to be of greater importance than the indirect 

method, even if this rating was not statistically significant. 

Part H: A Comparison ofthe GASB and FASB 
Models for the SCF 

The goal m Part II was to answer a two-part research question: 

(1) Do the preparers and users recognize and understand the differences 

between the FASBS 95 and the GASBS 9 SCF models and (2) are these 

differences significant? 
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To answer this question, seven separate issues were posed to the recipients. The 

respondents' answers to these questions should mdicate whether they recognize and 

understand the differences in the two reporting models. 

The Situation 

In Part II ofthe survey the recipients were to respond to ten pairs of issues addressing 

govemmental financial reporting. The Questionnaire Booklet instmcted the recipient to 

examine two SCFs presented in the Information Booklet (both booklets are in Appendix 

C). AU persons received the same SCFs. One SCF was presented using the model 

requh-ed by GASBS 9 while the other was prepared using the FASBS 95 model. 

The SCF models include government-unique hems such as interfimd transfers and 

loans and payments in Heu of taxes to highlight the differences in the two models. Both 

SCFs used the direct method and included the required reconciliation of operating income 

(or net income for the FASB model) to net cash provided by operating activities. The 

purpose ofthe dual display was to demonstrate how a govemment enterprise fiind would 

report using each model. Private sector-unique hems such as issumg stock or paying 

dividends were excluded. 

This part ofthe survey contained ten pahs of issues for analysis. Seven pairs 

specifically addressed issues related to the two SCF models. The other three issues 

addressed reporting issues related to the SCF but not restricted to h. The scormg system 

used in this section was: 
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1 no preference; 

2 little preference; 

3 moderate preference; and 

4 strong preference. 

The recipient was cautioned that this scoring system was different from the one used m 

PartL 

Problems with the Responses 

The problems with the responses were less severe in Part II than in Part I. In this part 

ofthe survey, respondents tended to answer all ofthe questions or to leave the entire part 

blank. A few respondents indicated a preference for one statement but did not circle a 

number to indicate the degree of preference. Even fewer respondents circled the degree of 

preference without indicating which statement they preferred. Given the systematic nature 

ofthe erroneous responses, the analysis excluded all respondents who did not complete 

the survey correctly. Table 5-16 presents a summary ofthe response rate for this part of 

the study. 

Table 5-16. Summary of Part II Responses. 

Analysis 
Group 

A 

B 

C 

D 
Totals 

Total 
Responses 

126 

99 

60 

140 

425 

Responses Used m Graphical 
and Statistical Analyses 

119 

74 

49 
128 

370 

94.4% 

74.7% 

81.7% 
91.4% 

87.1% 
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Because of some scoring problems in this part ofthe survey, the decision was made to 

drop the degrees of preference scoring from this analysis. Instead, the emphasis was 

placed on the number of respondents selecting each SCF model, and not the preference 

mdicated for that selection. It was feh that the degree of preference might obscure what 

was otherwise majority support for a particular model. 

To replace the analysis ofthe degree of preference, a means test was made to 

determme if there was a statistical difference between the number of respondents that 

selected either the GASB model-related response or the FASB model-related response. 

This test compared the number of responses to a constant—0.5—^which is the proportion 

that would have selected the GASB model-related response had the sample split evenly. If 

the mean is statisticaUy different than the constant, then there is a difference between the 

selections. 

Analysis of Responses 

The primary analysis in Part II ofthe survey was based on the six pairs of issues that 

were dhectly related to model differences between the two SCF models. Table 5-17 

summarizes these pahs and the method of scoring. One other pair—#10—exammed the 

recipient's overall preference for one ofthe two models. The intention was for this pair to 

summarize the recipient's preference. Instead, issue #10 actually proved to cause some 

analysis problems, which are discussed later in this section. 
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Table 5-17. Summary of SCF Model Issues. 

Issue # 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

7 

Summary 

Reporting mterest 
received on mvestments. 

Reporting debt issued to 
finance operations. 

Reportmg subsidies paid 
to other fiinds. 

Reporting mvestments m 
long-term investments in 
marketable securities. 

Reportmg interest paid on 
debt. 

Reporting subsidies 
received from other fimds. 

a 
b 

a 
b 

a 
b 
a 

b 

a 
b 

a 
b 

Responses 
FASB—operating activity 
GASB—mvesting activity 

GASB—^noncapital financing activity 
FASB— f̂inancmg activity 

GASB—^noncapital financmg activity 
FASB—operating activity 
FASB—investmg activity (aU long-term 
investments) 
GASB—investmg activity restricted to 
noncapital investments 
FASB—operating activity 
GASB— f̂mancmg activity 
FASB—operatmg activity 
GASB—^noncapital financmg activity 

Scoring 

0 
1 

1 
0 

1 
0 

0 

1 
0 
1 
0 
1 

Hypotheses to be Tested 

Because ofthe change made in the analysis technique, some ofthe wording ofthe 

hypotheses origmally proposed had to be changed. The revised hypotheses designed to 

address the research question for this part ofthe survey—stated in the nuU and ahemate 

forms—^were: 

H03: For each response group, there is no difference in the number of 

respondents selecting the GASB model-related response and the number of 

respondents selecting the FASB model-related response. 

H,: For each response group, there is a difference in the number of respondents 

selecting the GASB model-related response and the number of respondents 

selectmg the FASB model-related response. 
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B^: For each response group, there is no difference in the number of 

respondents selecting the GASB model as superior overall and the number 

of respondents selectmg the FASB model as superior overaU. 

H34: For each response group, there is a difference in the number of respondents 

selectmg the GASB model as superior overall and the number of 

respondents selecting the FASB model as superior overall. 

It was impossible to establish an a priori poshion on these hypotheses during the 

development of this research. During the Exposure Draft phases for both GASBS 9 and 

FASBS 95 there was considerable discussion on the placement of various hems within 

each model. This study was the attempt to make a comprehensive examination to 

compare the two models. Given the different reporting practices found in the public and 

private sectors—discussed in Chapters II and IH of this study—some differences were 

expected in both hypotheses. 

Statistical Analysis 

The test statistic for this part ofthe survey was a two-tailed t-test. Use of a t-test 

requhes satisfying three assumptions. These assumptions are: 

(1) The two samples being compared are independent. 

(2) The samples are drawn from normal populations. 

(3) The two population variances are equal (Ott, 1984). 

For this analysis h is believed that all three assumptions have been met. The two samples 

for each analysis issue should be independent from one another. The responses being 



274 

compared were those ofthe respondents favoring either the GASB model or the FASB 

model for a particular issue. Also, statistical analyses ofthe data mdicate that the samples 

were drawn from normal populations, and there was no evidence that indicates the 

population variances were not equal. 

The model used in each test in this section was: 

ĈK = ^Fi = 0 . 5 

where: 

G = respondents selecting GASB model response, 

F = respondents selecting FASB model response, 

i = model issue number (1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 7). 

Hypothesis #3 

To address the third hypothesis it was necessary to examine each model issue 

presented in the Information Booklet. The organization of this section is similar to the 

fiinctional fixation analysis in Part I ofthe survey. The section presents an analysis of each 

issue vdth the results from all response groups and addhional comments about the results. 

There were no anticipated scores for each issue since this was the first survey to compare 

the GASB and FASB models ofthe SCF. 

Model Issue #1. This issue addressed reporting cash receipts for interest eamed on 

investments. This issue is one ofthe basic differences between the GASB and FASB 

models. The FASB model reports the cash receipts for interest eamed on financial 

investments m the Operating Activities section. There was some discussion before the 



275 

issuance of FASBS 95 on where this amount should be reported. In the Exposure Draft 

for the accounting standard the receipts were reported in the Operating Activities section. 

Some respondents stated that the receipts should more properly be reported in the 

Investing Activities section because the interest represents a retum on those mvestments.' 

The FASB ches three principal reasons for maintaining the Operatmg Activities 

classification: 

• Almost all businesses classified cash receipts for interest as operating cash flows on 

the Statement of Changes in Financial Position (SCFP), the foremnner financial 

statement to the SCF. 

• Interest received is commonly considered an operating cash flow by banks and 

other financial institutions. 

• The FASB perceived widespread support for the idea that the Operating Activities 

section should contain those items used to calculate net income to facUitate the 

reconcihation of net income to cash flows from operations (FASB, 1987). 

The GASB model placed the interest eamed on investments in securities (equity and 

debt instmments that are not cash equivalents) in the Investing Activities section. The 

GASB also used this section to report the purchase and sale of these investments. In the 

"Basis for Conclusions" for GASBS 9, the Board stated: 

The nature of investmg activity in the govemmental environment is focused on the 
acquishion and disposhion of debt and equity instmments of other enthies rather 
than on the investment of ownership caphal in caphal assets. Therefore, h is more 

T̂he FASB uses the mvestmg section to report the acquisition and sale of all long-term 
mvestments, mcludmg both capital assets (property, plant, and equipment) and mvestments m 
securities. 
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usefiil to reclassify investment eammgs (mterest and dividends) as inflows from 
mvestmg rather than from operating activities. This presents a clearer picture of all 
the cash flows from investing activities and is consistent with the reclassification of 
mterest expense discussed earlier. (GASB, 1989, p. 24) 

The GASB thus avoided some fimdamental flaws found in the FASB's support for 

placmg mterest eamed in the Operating Activities section. First, the FASB ched the 

widespread reporting of interest eamed as operating cash flows on the SCFP. Based on 

the analyses in Chapters II and HI, h was apparent that very few SCFPs were prepared 

usmg the Operating, Investing, and Financing sections allowed under APBO 19. Most 

SCFPs were limited to Sources and Uses of either cash or working capital, depending on 

the basis selected by the company and hs accounting firm. Second, the FASB stated that 

interest was an operating cash flow for banks and other financial institutions. This 

statement was tme, but one must consider the nature of operations for a financial 

institution: to eam interest on investments. Corporations rarely reported interest as 

operating revenue (or income). Instead, a classified operating statement reports interest as 

a nonoperating or other revenue. A classified operating statement prepared for a 

govemment reports mterest as nonoperating revenue. Third, the FASB supports hs 

decision to report interest as an Operating Activity to facilhate the reconcihation of cash 

flows from operations to net income. The GASB avoided this problem by reconciling 

cash flows from operations to operating income rather than to net income. 

The results ofthe survey provided overwhehning support for the GASB model on this 

issue (Figure 5-13). More than 80 percent ofthe respondents in all the response groups 

selected the GASB statement in this analysis pair. The t-test resuhs reported in 
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Table 5-18 indicate that for the complete sample and all response groups the percentage of 

respondents selecting the GASB model-related issue was statistically different than 0.5. 

This resuh clearly indicated the preference for reporting interest received on mvestments 

in the Investing Activities section. 

% of Respondents 
100 

• GASB 
• FASB 

B C 
Response Groups 

D 

A = Finance Directors B = Citizens and Legislators C = Creditors D = Auditors 

Figure 5-13. Reporting Interest Received on 
Investments (Model Issue #1). 

Table 5-18. Model Issue #1. 

Response 
Group 

All 
A 
B 

C 
D 

t-value 
21.5150*** 
15.2853*** 
10.7831*** 
9.1084*** 
9.4021 *** 

Model Issue #2. This issue addressed the problem of reporting the proceeds from debt 

issued to finance operatmg activities. The FASB reported all debt in the same section: 

Fmancing Activities. The FASB stated that this section includes "... obtaining resources 

from owners and providing them with a retum on, and a retum of, their investment; 

borrowing money and repaying the amounts borrowed, or otherwise settling the 

obligation; and obtaining and paying for other resources obtained from credhors on long-

term credh" (FASB, 1987, p. 5). 

The GASB made the decision to break out debt proceeds into two sections depending 

on the purpose ofthe debt issue. For debt issued to support operations, the GASB model 

used Noncaphal Financing Activities. For debt issued to purchase caphal assets, the 
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GASB model used Caphal and Related Financing Activities. To support this break out, 

the GASB stated: 

Perhaps the most obvious difference [between govemments and corporations] is 
the absence of transactions with "owners" m govemmental enterprises. 
Govemmental enterprises do not seU stock, pay dividends, or engage in other 
transactions with ovmers; consequently, the significance ofthe "financing" 
category as defined in [FASBS 95] is diminished. The absence of ownership 
mterests and infiision of owners' caphal, however, does not mean that 
govemmental enterprises do not engage in financmg activities. On the contrary, 
govemmental enterprises can obtain "financing" from a wide variety of sources, 
and cash flow information about the sources and uses of financing is needed. 

Many govemmental enterprise fiinds and pubhc authorities finance their operations 
and manage their cash flow activities in a manner that makes a clear distinction 
between "operating" and "caphal." Caphal budgeting and long-range capital 
plaiming are common, and may even be required by law in some jurisdictions. 
Information about the cash inflows and outflows of a capital program is usefiil for 
identifying the level of capital spending and the nature and adequacy ofthe sources 
of fiindmg for the projects. (GASB, 1989, p. 22) 

Thus, the GASB sought to distinguish between debt issued to support operations 

(Noncapital Financing Activities) and debt issued to acquire caphal assets (Caphal and 

Related Fmancing Activities). 

The resuhs ofthe survey (Figure 5-14) show that most respondents beheved the 

distmction between operating debt and caphal debt was important. All response groups 

supported the GASB model of reportmg the operatmg debt separately from the caphal 

debt. The t-test resuhs in Table 5-19 promote this conclusion. As in the first issue, the 

percentage of responses for the complete sample and aU response groups were statistically 

different than the constant. The resuh indicated that distmguishing between caphal debt 

and operating debt was important to aU response groups. There was an a priori behef that 

many auditors might support reporting aU debt proceeds in the same section as it would 
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make the reporting more shnilar to the private sector, but this condition did not hold m the 

analysis. 

% Of Respondents 

Response Groups 

A = Finance Directors B = Citizens and Legislators C = Creditors D = Auditors 

Table 5-19. Model Issue #2. 

Response 
Group 

AU 
A 
B 

C 
D 

t-value 
9.4985*** 

5.4036*** 
4.0976*** 
6.3120*** 

4.3399*** 

Figure 5-14. Reportmg Operating Debt Proceeds 
(Model Issue #2). 

Model Issue #3. This issue addressed a government-unique problem of reporting 

transfer payments to govemmental fiinds. Transfers between fiinds were not an issue in 

private sector financial reporting, so FASBS 95 did not discuss the issue. However, this 

analysis assumes that using the FASB model was an option, so reporting transfers was still 

an important consideration. 

Transfer payments between fiinds—otherwise known as interfimd transfers—can 

represent significant cash flows. Interfimd transfers also represent significant economic 

and poUtical transactions for a govemment. So much so, in fact, that the GASB 

recognizes two types of interfimd transfers: operating transfers (the issue here) and 

residual equity transfers (GASB, 1994). 

For the analysis of this issue, the point to be considered was the reporting of an 

operatmg transfer by a proprietary fiind. The fiind operating statement reports the 
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transfers after revenues and expenses, but before net mcome.* In theory, reportmg 

transfers in the Operating Activities section is acceptable if one adopts the FASB criterion 

of including all elements used m the calculation of net income in that section. But smce 

the GASB used operating mcome as the reconcUiation pomt for the Operating Activities 

section, reporting transfers between fiinds in the Noncaphal Financing Activities section 

was more appropriate. The GASB included these types of payments in this section by 

statmg, "Cash outflows for noncaphal financing activities include . . . cash paid to other 

fimds, except for quasi-extemal operating transactions" (GASB, 1989, p.8, emphasis 

added ).' 

Figure 5-15 reports the survey resuhs for this issue. As with the first two issues, most 

respondents in each group supported the GASB model for presenting transfer payments. 

The Finance Directors group did have many respondents (33 percent, or 39 of 119 

respondents) who supported the FASB model on this issue. Several comments were made 

by Fmance Directors regardmg this issue, including: 

• Depends on why the transfer was made. 

• / / depends on the purpose ofthe transfer (one time transfer, indirect cost 

allocation, etc.). 

These comments indicate there may be some confiision on the reportmg of cash payments 

to other fiands. The same point of confiision could also result in the responses received 

"•An example of a proprietary fimd operatmg statement is on page 2 ofthe Information B(X)klet m 
Appendix C. 

^Quasi-extemal operatmg transactions are the result of a transaction made between fimds as part 
ofthe ordmaiy course of busmess for die fimds mvolved. 
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from the Citizens and Legislators group that also had many respondents favoring the 

FASB approach. 

The resuhs ofthe t-tests, reported m Table 5-20, generaUy supported the GASB 

model for reporting operating transfers. However, unHke the other issues, not aU response 

groups had a statistically significant percentage selecting the GASB model-related issue. 

The Chizens and Legislators group mean was not significant, mdicating that this group 

may not beheve reporting operating transfers m a section other than the Operatmg 

Activities section is appropriate. This finding is particularly important given that the 

chizenry is the group for whom the financial statements are primarily intended. The 

findmg may indicate the need for a change or the need for a process to better educate the 

pubhc as to the poHtical and economic nature of operatmg transfers. 

% of Respondents 
100 

• GASB 
• FASB 

B C D 
Response Groups 

A = Fmance Directors B = Citizens and Legislators C = Creditors D = Auditors 

Table 5-20. Model Issue #3. 

Response 
Group 

All 
A 
B 

C 
D 

t-value 
7.8522*** 
3.9867*** 
1.1653 
4.1010*** 

6.5064*** 

Figure 5-15. Reporting Transfers to Govemmental 
Funds (Model Issue #3). 

Model Issue #4. The reporting of cash payments for long-term investments m 

marketable securities and caphal acquishions was the subject of this issue. As discussed 

previously in issue #1, the FASB model reports all long-term investments m financial 
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securities and capital assets in the same section: Investing Activities. The FASB defined 

this section by stating, "Investing activities include making and coUectmg loans and 

acquiring and disposing of debt or equity instmments and property, plant, and equipment 

and other productive assets, that is, assets held for or used m the production of goods or 

services by the enterprise (other than materials that are part ofthe enterprise's inventory)" 

(FASB, 1987, p. 4). There was no other discussion of this issue in FASBS 95. 

The discussion on issue #2 provided some support for the GASB decision to create 

separate sections for reporting financial investments and investments in capital assets. The 

GASB went on to state that, "the Board believes an addhional category for 'caphal and 

related financing' activities wUl provide usefiil information about the caphal activities of 

govemmental enterprises" (GASB, 1989, p. 22). Therefore, this issue was a principal 

difference between the two models. 

As shown m Figure 5-16, most respondents in all response groups selected the GASB 

model as preferable on this issue. Only in the Audhors group did more than 20 percent of 

the respondents favor the FASB model. This support may be part of a suspected 

mcHnation by some audhors to prefer to have theh govemmental cHents prepare the SCF 

usmg the same model used by the audhors private sector clients. These resuhs are 

supported by the t-test (Table 5-21). The respondents for the complete sample and each 

response group was statistically different than the constant, indicating a clear preference 

for reporting cash paid for security investments separately from cash paid for caphal 

assets. 
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% of Respondents 

100 
• GASB 
• FASB 

Response Groups 

A = Rnanc8 Directors B = Citizens and Legislators C = Creditors D = Auditors 

Table 5-21. Model Issue #4. 

Response 

Group 

AU 

A 
B 

C 
D 

t-value 

14.8189*** 

10.5729*** 
6.3185*** 
9.1084*** 

5.9803*** 

Figure 5-16. Reporting Cash Payments for Long-
Term Investments (Model Issue #4). 

Model Issue #5. Issue #5 was very similar to Issue #1 in that h was a debt-related 

issue. This issue analyzed reporting cash paid for interest on debt. This issue was another 

major difference between the GASB and FASB SCF models. In commenting on the 

responses received to the exposure draft for the SCF, the FASB stated: 

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft favored classifymg interest paid as a cash 
flow for financmg activities . . . . Those respondents generaUy said that mterest 
paid Hke dividends paid, is a direct consequence of a financing decision and thus 
shoiild be classified as a cash outflow for financmg activities. That is, both interest 
and dividends are retums on the capital provided by creditors and investors, and 
both should be classified with retums of those amounts because the distortion 
between retums o/and retums on investment are largely irrelevant m the context 
of cashflows. (FASB, 1987, p. 31) 

The FASB then provided the same three issues used to support the placement of mterest 

and dividends received to support the placement interest paid. 

The GASB's decision to separate noncapital financing transactions from capital and 

related financing transactions was discussed previously. The GASB provides fiirther 

support for the distmction by stating: 
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The financing category in [FASBS 95] includes cash inflows and outflows related 
to both capital and noncaphal borrov̂ dng. Caphal borrowing activity is another 
major element ofthe caphal and related financing category. 

To show the complete picture of aU cash inflows and outflows from financing, 
acquhing, and disposing of caphal assets, h is necessary to include interest 
payments in this category rather than in the operatmg category. 

Shnilarly, interest on noncapital debt is classified as noncaphal financing so that h 
is treated consistently with capital interest and gives a more complete picture of all 
inflows and outflows arising from noncaphal debt transactions. (GASB, 1989, 
pp. 23-24, emphasis added) 

Also, as with interest revenue, the proprietary fiind operating statement reported interest 

expense as a nonoperating item. Thus, the reconcihation of operating income to cash 

flows from operations provided fiirther support for excluding interest payments from the 

Operating Activities section. 

The graphical analysis shown in Figure 5-17 provides an interestmg contrast to the 

preceding issues for the Credhors group. All response groups contmued to have most of 

the respondents favoring the GASB model for this issue. However, the Credhors group 

has less than 50 percent of hs respondents supporting the GASB model. This was an 

intrigumg departure from the other issues where this group has generaUy given much 

stronger support to the GASB model. This departure is particularly puzzling given the 

groups strong support for reporting interest received on investments as an Investing 

Activity. A possible explanation is that many members of this group are in the banking 

busmess where interest paid is accounted for as an operating expense. 

The resuhs ofthe t-test confirm this unusual finding (Table 5-22). The percentage of 

respondents in the Creditors group selecting the GASB model-related response is not 
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significantly different than the constant, indicating that the group may not be convmced 

that reporting cash paid for interest on debt should be reported m a section other than the 

Operatmg Activities section. The percentages for the other groups and the complete 

sample were statistically different than the constant. 

% of Respondents 
100 

Response Groups 

A = Finance Directors B = Citizens and Legislators C = Creditors D = Auditors 

Figure 5-17. Reportmg Interest Paid on Debt (Model 
Issue #5). 

Table 5-22. Model Issue #5. 

Response 
Group 

All 
A 
B 
C 
D 

t-value 
8.6555*** 
5.9274*** 
3.7891*** 
0.7107 
5.9803*** 

Modgl IsStfg #7. This issue addressed reportmg subsidies received to support 

proprietary fijnd operations. This type of subsidy was not discussed in FASBS 95 as 

private sector businesses do not have transactions of this type. Nonetheless, the FASB 

model could stUl be used in reporting this type of subsidy. Using the FASB model the 

reporting of these subsidies would be the same as those m issue #3; the payments would 

be reported in the Operating Activities section. 

The GASB had stated that proprietary fiinds were to be used, "to account for a 

government's ongoing organizations and activities that are similar to those often found in 

the private sector" (GASB, 1994, p. 46). The Board identified two circumstances m 

which the use of a proprietary fijnd would be appropriate by stating the fiinds were: 
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to account for operations (a) that are financed and operated m a manner similar to 
pnvate business enterprises—where the intent ofthe governing body is that the 
costs . . . of providing goods or services to the general pubhc on a contmumg basis 
be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) where the 
governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues eamed, 
expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for caphal mamtenance, pubhc 
poHcy, management control, accountability, or other purposes. (GASB, 1994, p 
18) 

Usmg the first criteria for proprietary fiinds in this issue, evidently the GASB did not 

intend for operating transfers to proprietary fiinds to be considered part of operations but 

rather as a nonoperating subsidy. Therefore, support for reporting subsidies as a 

Noncaphal Fmancing Activity would be consistent with the intent ofthe GASB. 

As with the other issues, most ofthe respondents in all response groups favored the 

GASB model (Figure 5-18). Only the Citizens and Legislators group had more than 30 

percent ofthe respondents supporting the FASB model. The resuhs ofthe t-test were 

equaUy clear (Table 5-23). The percentage of respondents for the complete sample and all 

response groups again being statistically different than the constant. This difference 

mdicates that the response groups do support reporting subsidies paid to proprietary fiinds 

separately from cash flows from operations. 
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% of Respondents 
100 

• GASB 
DFASB 

B 
Response Groups 

A = Finance Directors B = Citizens and Legislators C = Creditors 0 = Auditors 

Table 5-23. Model Issue #7. 

Response 

Group 

AU 

A 

B 

C 

D 

t-value 

10.2361*** 

6.7788*** 

2.1426** 

4.5747*** 

6.7819*** 

Figure 5-18. Reporting Subsidies Paid to Proprietary 
Funds (Model Issue #7). 

From the graphical analyses and t-tests presented above, there can be but one 

conclusion for Hypothesis #3: there is sufficient evidence to reject the hypothesis that 

there is no difference in the number of respondents selecting the GASB model-related 

response and the number of respondents selecting the FASB model-related response. The 

graphs in this section show that an overwhelming number of respondents selected the 

GASB model-related responses, and in all but two cases the percentage making those 

selections was statistically different than 0.5. This difference indicates that h was not by 

chance alone that the respondents selected the GASB model-related responses. 

Hypothesis #4 

There was only one issue related to hypothesis #4: Model Issue #10. This last issue 

was mtended to be the defining issue for this section ofthe analysis. The respondent was 

to mdicate which SCF model was superior overall: the GASB SCF or the FASB SCF. 

This issue was to be used to divide the preceding issues for analysis purposes. It was 
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origmaUy mtended to provide a basis for evaluatmg responses to the mdividual issues and 

to serve as a measure ofthe overall effectiveness ofthe GASB and FASB models for 

presentmg the SCF. 

The issue was straightforward. The recipient was asked to select ehher the GASB 

model or the FASB model as superior overaU, and then to rate the selection using the 

same scale used in the other evaluations. As shown in Figure 5-19, most ofthe 

respondents in each analysis group selected the GASB model as superior. This resuh was 

not surprising given the analysis ofthe preceding six issues. The t-test resuhs for this 

issue, shown in Table 5-24, support the graphical evidence. As m most ofthe previous 

issues, the percentage of respondents selecting the GASB model as being superior overall 

for the complete sample and aU the response groups was statistically different than the 

constant. Thus, there is sufficient evidence to reject Hypothesis #4 that there is no 

difference in the number of respondents selectmg the GASB model as superior overall to 

the FASB model. 

% of Respondents 

100 
• GASB 
• FASB 

Response CaToups 

A = Finan«Drec»ors B = Citizens and Legislators C = CredHofs D = Auditors 

Figure 5-19. Determining the Superior Model: 
GASB or FASB (Model Issue #10). 

Table 5-24. Model Issue #10. 

Response 

Group 

AU 

A 

B 

C 

D 

t-value 

11.4957*** 

8.8181*** 

2.3984** 

3.6829*** 

7.6670*** 
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Addhional Analysis Problem 

However, there was a glaring mconsistency in this analysis. Ofthe 370 responses used 

in the analysis of this section, 84 arrived at a surprismg conclusion. A special scoring 

system was designed to compare the preferences mdicated for the first six model issues 

with the selection made in model issue #10. In this scormg system respondents with high 

scores on the previous six model issues should prefer the GASB model. Respondents with 

low scores should prefer the FASB model. 

Twenty-three ofthe 290 respondents (8.2 percent) indicating a preference for the 

GASB model had low scores. Sixty-one ofthe 90 respondents (67.8 percent) indicating a 

preference for the FASB model had high scores. This inconsistency led to some very 

strange results which caused the responses to this issue not to be used in the other 

analyses. 

StUl remaining was the issue of why a total of 84 respondents (22.7 percent ofthe 

total number used m this section) were not consistent in their ratings. There were two 

possible explanations for this inconsistency. The first was that respondents did not pay 

sufficient attention to the wording ofthe last question to answer h consistently with theh 

earher responses. If only a few respondents had been inconsistent, this explanation might 

be sufficient. But given the number of respondents that were mconsistent, this explanation 

is probably not sufficient. 

A more Hkely cause of this mconsistency was a general lack of knowledge conceming 

the GASB and hs reporting requirements. If the number of chations in The Wall Street 

Journal was an indication of how famihar individuals are with the GASB, one can 
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conclude that the degree of familiarity was quite low. For the period January 1, 1993, to 

July 31, 1994, a survey ofthe Journal showed that the FASB was the subject of 

44 articles. When eight other national publications were added to this survey, the number 

of articles addressing the FASB grew to 90.̂  All these articles could create a "halo" effect 

for the FASB. 

For the same period there was absolutely no mention ofthe GASB in any ofthe 

publications. This lack of coverage was even more surprising given the events ofthe past 

year. The GASB issued eight accounting Standards, several important Exposure Drafts, 

and two extensive Invitations to Comment. Also, there was considerable debate over the 

disclosure requh-ements in the municipal bond market. Through h all, however, there was 

no mention ofthe GASB. Therefore, h was possible that some respondents selected the 

FASB model as superior simply because of a lack of famUiarity with the GASB or the 

"halo" effect ofthe FASB. 

Some consideration was given to eliminating the inconsistent responses from the 

analysis and using the same techniques used for Part I ofthe survey. However, h was 

found that for most analyses the elhnination of these inconsistent responses did not have a 

statistically significant impact. Also, dropping these responses would have eliminated 

more than 25 percent ofthe Chizens and Legislators group and Credhors group from the 

analysis. 

T̂he other publications are the Atlanta Constitution/Atlanta Journal, Boston Globe, Chicago 
Tribune, Christian Science Monitor, Los Angeles Times, The New York Times, USA Today, and 
Washington Post. 
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Other Reporting Issues 

Three other issues presented in Part H ofthe survey—issues #6, #8, and #9—were 

other govemmental reporting issues unrelated to the SCF model debate. These issues 

addressed: 

• the reconciliation of operating income or net income to the cash flows from 

operating activities in the SCF; 

• the financial statements prepared for the govemmental fiinds and proprietary 

fiinds; and 

• the financial statements prepared for govemment enterprises and private sector 

businesses. 

This section presents a separate analysis of each issue. The format and statistical analyses 

were the same as in the previous section.̂  

Reporting Issue #6. This issue asked the respondent to determine whether the 

reconcUiation of net income (FASB model) or operating income (GASB model) to cash 

flows from operating activities was essential or redundant to understandmg the SCF. This 

issue is central to the preparation ofthe SCF, and the respondents' opmions of h should be 

hnportant to both the GASB and the FASB. Both boards highly recommended the 

preparation ofthe SCF using the direct method, which requhes the preparation ofthe 

reconciliation as part ofthe SCF. The a priori behef m this study was that most 

respondents would find it redundant. 

T̂he issues m this section are referred to sunply as Reportmg Issues, not Model Issues, m order to 
differentiate them from the issues previously discussed. 
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Therefore, the resuhs were unexpected. As Figure 5-20 clearly shows, aU response 

groups beUeve that the reconcUiation was essential to understandmg the SCF. Also, the 

t-test resuhs reported in Table 5-25 mdicate that the percentage of respondents for the 

complete sample and aU the response groups is statistically different than 0.5. This resuh 

indicates that the respondents do believe the presentation ofthe reconcUiation of operatmg 

income (or net income) to cash flows from operating activities is essential to 

understanding the SCF. 

100 
• Essential 
• Redundant 

B C D 
Response CsTOups 

A = Fii»nceDiroctofs B = Citizens and Legislators C = Crediton D = Auditoi3 

Table 5-25. Reporting 

Response 

Group 
All 
A 
B 
C 
D 

Issue #6. 

t-value 
11.3323*** 
6.4582*** 
4.7575 *** 
9.1084*** 
5.0103*** 

Figure 5-20. ReconcUiation Essential or Redundant to 
SCF (Reporting Issue #6). 

This issue was an intemal vahdity check for Part m ofthe survey. Respondents 

supportmg the mclusion ofthe reconcUiation m the SCF should support option "c" for the 

preparation ofthe SCF. This relationship proved to be tme m approximately 95 percent 

ofthe responses. 

Reporting Issue #8. In this issue the respondent was asked to indicate whether 

govemmental fiind financial statements should be different from the proprietary fiind 

financial statements, mcluding the SCF. This issue addressed a fimdamental financial 

reportmg issue that was a subject of a current GASB Invitation to Comment (YTC), 
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Govemmental Financial Reporting Model (GASB, 1994). The ITC presents two possible 

new financial reporting models. Model 1 maintains financial statements that are very 

shnUar to— b̂ut not the same as— t̂he current financial statements. Model 2 would 

radicaUy change the financial statements and use the same model for all fiinds. Therefore, 

the responses to this issue may be similar to what the GASB can expect to receive in 

response to its ITC. 

That potential similarity makes the information shown in Figure 5-21 and the t-tests 

reported in Table 5-26 all the more interesting as the GASB debates the ITC. Three of 

four response groups supported keeping the current presentation: that the financial 

statements should be different for govemmental fiinds and proprietary fiinds. Only the 

Chizens and Legislators group would make the financial statements the same. This was 

also the only group that did not have a statistically significant score in the t-test analysis 

(Table 5-25). The Chizens and Legislators group probably supported makmg the 

statements the same because some among them beheve it would make the statements 

easier to understand. Based on comments received in the survey, most respondents in this 

group had difficulty interpreting the proprietary fiind financial statements. It was 

unfortunate that the survey did not include a question on which model—a govemmental 

model or a proprietary model—would be preferable. Future research may address this 

question. 
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% of Respondents 
100 

80 -
• Oifrefsnt 
a Same 

Response Groups 

A = Finance Directon B » Citizen and Legislaton C = Qeditors D = Auditon 

Figure 5-21. Presentation of Govemmental Fund and 
Proprietary Fund Financial Statements 
(Reporting Issue #8). 

Table 5-26. Reportmg 
Issue #8. 

Response 
Group 

AU 

A 
B 

C 
D 

t-value 
5.9813*** 
7.4004*** 

-1.1653 

2.5628** 
3.3028*** 

Reporting Issue #9. In the final issue of Part n the recipient was asked to choose 

between having govemmental enterprises use the same financial statements as private 

sector businesses or having govemmental enterprises use unique financial statements. This 

issue was simUar to issue #8 m that h addressed the model ofthe financial statements. The 

difference was in the comparison: issue #8 kept the comparison within the govemmental 

envh-onment; issue #9 examined the issue between the pubhc sector and the private sector. 

One often debated issue was whether govemments should use the same financial 

reportmg model as the private sector. This research issue Ihnits this question to examine 

only the busmess-type enterprises of govemment and not the enthe govemmental 

reportmg model. The general trend ofthe responses, shown graphically m Figure 5-22, 

was approximately the same as the responses to issue #8, but there were some significant 

differences. 

There was a significant declme in the support for different financial statements by the 

Finance Directors group and the Audhors group. The largest declme occurred with the 
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Finance Directors group. This declme was surprising, but h could be attributed to the 

private sector accounting background of many finance directors. The decHne m the 

Audhors group was not as great but may reflect a desire by members of this group to have 

a more homogeneous set of financial statements to audh. 

The t-test resuhs for this issue were just as confiising (Table 5-27). WhUe the 

complete sample was statistically significant, the significance level was the lowest of all the 

analyses for this part ofthe survey. Also, two groups— t̂he Chizens and Legislators group 

and the Audhors group—^were not statistically different than the constant (0.5), indicating 

that the groups were undecided on the issue. 

% of Respondents 
100 

80 

IL 

• Different 
DSame 

B 
Response CaTOups 

A^FimnoeDiiecton B = Citizens and L^blatora C = Oeditors D = Auditors 

Figure 5-22. Presentation of Govemmental 
Enterprises and Private Sector 
Busmesses Financial Statements 
(Reporting Issue #9). 

Table 5-27. Reporting 
Issue #9. 

Response 
Group 

All 
A 
B 

C 
D 

t-value 
2.5133** 

2.3342** 
-1.6462 

2.9145*** 
1.6007 

Additional Analvsis 

Based on the Part II survey analysis the answer to the research question is: preparers 

and users do recognize and understand the differences between the FASBS 95 and the 

GASBS 9 SCF models and the differences definitely were significant. The response 

groups generally supported the GASB model responses for all model issues, although 
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there were some variations. Also, the survey respondents selected the GASB SCF model 

as superior overaU to the FASB SCF model. What was most surprising in this conclusion 

was that even the Auditors group selected the GASB SCF model as superior. The 

anticipated resuh ofthe research was that this group would prefer to use the FASB SCF 

model. Such a selection would have made the audh process easier as both theh pubhc 

sector and private sector clients would be using the same SCF model. 

From the other issues in this section, three other conclusions are possible. All 

response groups support including the reconcihation of operating income or net income to 

net cash flows from operations as part ofthe SCF. This conclusion is explored more fiilly 

m the next section. Too, all response groups except the Chizens and Legislators group 

support having different financial statements for the govemmental fiands and the 

proprietary fiands. The hnpact of this conclusion is explored in Chapter VI. Finally, the 

Fmance Directors, Credhors, and Auditors groups support using different financial 

statements for public sector and private sector enterprises. Like the model selection 

conclusion above, the Audhors support for this issue was surprising. This issue is 

examined in more detail in Chapter VI. 
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Part ni: The Use ofthe Dhect Method or Indhect Method 
in Preparing the Statement of Cash Flows 

The research question this part ofthe survey attempted to answer was: 

Does the use ofthe direct method or mdhect method for the preparation of 

the operating section ofthe SCF mfluence users' perceptions ofthe 

usefiilness ofthe SCF? 

Ofthe three research questions, this one is perhaps the most difficuh to answer. Perhaps a 

better research method might have been to ask respondents to "grade" the performance of 

two or more proprietary fiinds based solely on the SCF. Their answers could have then 

been used to evaluate the format ofthe SCF. Instead of making such evaluations, this 

section ofthe survey had two purposes. First, h sought to distinguish between the 

ahemate methods of preparing the SCF. Second, an attempt was made to soHch the views 

ofthe recipients in determming which format best communicates the resuhs of cash flows 

from operations to users. 

The Situation 

In Part m ofthe survey the recipient was asked to evaluate the ahemate methods for 

preparing the Operating Activities section ofthe SCF: the direct method or the indirect 

method. The Information Booklet (shown in Appendix C) described each method. 

Included m the discussion was an explanation that current generaUy accepted accounting 

principles (GAAP) requires the presentation of a reconcUiation of operating income to net 

cash flows from operatmg activities whenever the direct method is used. However, 
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because the goal of this part ofthe survey was to test individuaUy the dh-ect method and 

the indh-ect method, the recipient was mstmcted to ignore the reconcUiation requhement 

and to examine the methods independently. Also presented in the Information Booklet 

were two Cash Flows from Operating Activities schedules—one for each method, with 

each type clearly marked. All recipients had the same information available for this part of 

the survey. 

The Questionnaire Booklet listed five reporting objectives for evaluating the Operating 

Activities section. The recipient was to select the method—direct or indirect— t̂hat best 

supported each objective. Once the method was selected, the recipient was asked to 

indicate the degree of preference using the foUowmg scoring system: 

1 iw preference; 

2 little preference; 

3 moderate preference; and 

4 strong preference. 

The recipient was told that this scale was the same scoring system used in Part II ofthe 

survey. 

This section included one additional reporting objective. The recipient was asked to 

consider what SCF format should be required if aU govemments were to report usmg the 

same format. Three altematives were given: 
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• Indh-ect method only; 

• Dh-ect method only (without the reconcUiation of operatmg income to net cash 

flows from operating activities); or 

• Dh-ect method with the reconcihation provided as addhional disclosure (caUed the 

dual method in this analysis and identified as Dual on the appropriate graphs). 

The recipient was also asked to report the degree of preference for the method selected 

using the same scale as above. 

Some explanation is required for the analysis of this additional reporting objective. 

For this study, the three ahematives discussed above were treated as independent methods 

for preparing the SCF. As previously noted, the use ofthe direct method to prepare the 

statement requh-es that a schedule be prepared to reconcile operating income to net cash 

flows from operatmg activities. However, to make this analysis more critical, the decision 

was made to have three separate options for the respondent to select as the best method of 

preparing the SCF. Only two of these methods are acceptable under current GAAP: the 

mdh-ect method and what is called the dual method in this analysis. The reader should not 

confiise the dual method and the direct method. The dhect method is the correct thle 

under GAAP for the dual method. But to make the distinction easier and more 

descriptive, the direct method m this study referred to only the dh-ect method m the body 

ofthe SCF and excluded the GAAP-required reconciliation schedule. 
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Problems vyith the Response<; 

The problems with the responses in Part EI were the same as the ones m Part H. 

Some respondents left the entire part blank. A few respondents indicated a preference for 

one method but did not ch-cle a number to indicate the degree of preference. Even fewer 

respondents circled the degree of preference without indicatmg which method they 

preferred. Given the systematic nature ofthe erroneous responses, the analysis excludes 

all responses that were not completed correctly. Table 5-28 presents a summary ofthe 

response rate for this part ofthe study. 

Table 5-28. Summary of Part III Responses. 
Analysis 
Group 

A 
B 

C 
D 

Totals 

Total 
Responses 

126 
99 
60 

140 
425 

Responses Used m Graphical 
and Statistical Analyses 

115 
79 
44 

119 
357 

91.3% 
79.8% 
73.3% 

85.0% 
84.0% 

The analysis ofthe degree of preference scores had the same scoring problems as in 

Part n ofthe survey. Therefore, the means test developed and used in Part n is contmued 

in this section ofthe analysis. The emphasis was placed on the number of respondents 

selectmg each method. However, h was stUl possible to use the degree of preference 

scoring in the MANOVA analysis. This analysis is presented later in this section. 
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Response Analyses 

There were two analyses for this part ofthe survey, both usmg the same information. 

In Part m ofthe Questionnaire Booklet, the recipient was asked to evaluate the foUowmg 

reportmg objectives for the SCF: 

#1 Presents the best mformation about "operating" cash flows. 

#2 Use requires presentation of other financial statements. 

#3 Language requhes little expertise in accounting to understand. 

#4 Most clearly presents the resuhs of Cash Flows from Operations. 

#5 Presents unnecessary information about "operatmg" cash flows. 

Two scormg systems were used for the analyses in this section. The first was a 0/1 

score using the system presented in Table 5-29: 

Table 5-29. Scormg System for Part HI. 

Objective 

1 

2 

3 
4 

5 

Dhect 
Method 

1 

0 
1 
1 
0 

Indhect 
Method 

0 

1 
0 
0 
1 

Two adjustments were necessary in this scoring system. Reportmg objectives #2 and #5 

were negatively worded. Therefore, these reporting objectives were reworded for the 

analysis in this section: 
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Reporting Objective #2 

Origmal wordmg: Use requires presentation of other financial statements. 

Revised wordmg: Use does not require presentation of other financial statements. 

Reporting Objective #5 

Origmal wordmg: Presents unnecessary information about "operating" cash flows. 

Revised wordmg: Does not present unnecessary information about "operatmg" 

cash flows. 

Using the reworded reporting objectives and the scoring system identified in Table 5-29 

made h possible to calculate a total score for each recipient. A high total should have 

indicated a preference for ehher the dhect method or the dual method, while a low total 

should have indicated a preference for the indirect method. 

A second scoring system was used for the principal statistical analysis in this section. 

This scoring system combined the respondent's selection of either the direct method or 

indhect method as best meeting the reporting objective and the degree of preference 

mdicated by the respondent. The system had a range of scores from -3 to 3 where: 

• -3 mdicates strong preference for the indirect method; 

• -2 indicates moderate preference for the indhect method; 

• -1 mdicates sHght preference for the indirect method; 

• 0 mdicates no preference for either the indirect method or dh-ect method; 

• 1 mdicates slight preference for the direct method; 

• 2 mdicates moderate preference for the dhect method; and 

• 3 indicates strong preference for the direct method. 
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Using this scoring system, a weighted score was developed for each respondent. This 

weighted score was also used to develop a second total score to use in this analysis. The 

possible range for this total was from -15 to 15 (negative 15 to positive 15). An 

evaluation shnilar to the one just discussed for the basic score was possible with this total. 

The lower the score, the more the respondent should favor the mdirect method. The 

higher the score, the more the respondent should support the use ofthe direct method or 

the dual method. The results of this addhional score analysis are at the end of this section. 

Hypotheses to be Tested 

Because ofthe revised scoring techniques used for this part ofthe survey, some 

modifications were required in the hypotheses in this section. There are three hypotheses 

for analysis in this part ofthe survey. These hypotheses, in the nuU and ahemate form, 

were: 

H05: There is no difference within each response group in the number of 

respondents selectmg the direct method response and the number of 

respondents selecting the indhect method response. 

H,5: There is a difference within each response group in the number of 

respondents selecting the direct method response and the number of 

respondents selecting the mdhect method response. 

IL.: There is no difference within each response group in the mean vectors for 

the five reporting objectives ofthe respondents selecting the direct method, 
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indirect method, or dual method of preparing the Operating Activities 

section ofthe SCF. 

H.̂ : There is a difference within each response group in the mean vectors for 

the five reporting objectives ofthe respondents selecting the direct method, 

indh-ect method, or dual method of preparing the Operatmg Activities 

section ofthe SCF. 

Hoj. There is no difference within each response group in the selection ofthe 

method to use in preparing the Operating Activities section ofthe SCF. 

H,,: There is a difference within each response group in the selection ofthe 

method to use in preparing the Operating Activities section ofthe SCF. 

As in the other parts ofthe survey, it was nearly impossible to predict what the 

outcomes ofthe hypotheses tests would be. However, h was anticipated that the Audhors 

group would prefer the indirect method since most of theh private sector clients use that 

method. 

Statistical Analysis 

There were three statistical analyses for Part IH ofthe survey. Hypothesis #5 

examined the individual reporting objectives. The tests here used a combmation of 

graphical analysis and the means testing. Hypothesis #6 used the selection on sixth 

reportmg objective to divide the respondents in each response group for analysis purposes. 

The weighted average responses were then arranged into three vectors based on the 

method selected as the required format for financial reporting: 
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(1) for the respondents selecting the mdhect method only; 

(2) for the respondents selectmg the dhect method only; and 

(3) for the respondents selectmg the dual method of presentation. 

The statistical test compared the three vectors within each response group. Hypothesis #7 

examined only the sixth reporting objective and used only graphical analysis. 

The statistical tests used in this section were a t-test for hypothesis #5 and multivariate 

analysis of variance (MANOVA) for hypothesis #6. The data meet aU the assumptions for 

the t-test statistic. For the MANOVA there was a major improvement from the earher 

tests in there was not a problem with the fourth assumption— t̂he groups have a common 

within-group population covariance matrix. Tests indicate that these variables were highly 

correlated, which was considered sufficient evidence that the assumption holds. 

Hypothesis #5 

As noted above, the test statistic for this hypothesis was a two-tailed t-test. The 

model used in each test m this section was: 

where: 

DM = vector for respondents selectmg the dhect method as best meeting the 

objective, 

IM = vector for respondents selecting the indirect method as best meeting the 

objective. 
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i = reporting objective (1 through 5), 

0.5 = constant used for comparison purposes. 

Usmg this hypothesis test as a foundation, mdividual graphical analyses were made of each 

reportmg objective. The purposes of these analyses were to examine how the respondents 

rated each reporting objective and to present addhional graphical evidence m support of 

the statistical findings. The graph presents the percentage of respondents that selected 

ehher the dh-ect method or indirect method as best meeting the reporting objective. 

Objective #1. The respondent was asked to rate the direct method or indirect method 

as presenting the best information about "operatmg" cash flows. An often debated issue 

related to the SCF preparation is which format best presents cash flow information that is 

not avaUable in the other financial reports. The direct method used terms that were similar 

to, but not the same as, terms used in other financial statements. For example, "Other 

Operating Revenues" may also be found on the Operating Statement. On this Operating 

Statement the amount represents what was eamed as measured by the accmal basis of 

accountmg. However, on the SCF the amount reported is the amount of cash received 

from this source. Other terms, such as "Cash Received from Customers" or "Cash Paid to 

Employees," were unique to the SCF. 

The indirect method uses many ofthe same account thles found on other financial 

statements. The section begins with "Operating Income" and "Depreciation." Both of 

these line titles were found on the Operating Statement. Depreciation is added back to 

operating income on the SCF, whereas h is a deduction on the Operating Statement. In 

the "Changes in assets and Habilities" subsection the increases and decreases ofthe current 
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assets and current Hability accounts-reported on the Balance Sheet-are presented. 

These similarities ofthe indirect method Operating Section Hne tities to tities found on 

other financial statements could cause some confiision for users when examining the SCF. 

The responses (shown in Figure 5-23) mdicated that all response groups found the 

direct method to provide the best information on operating cash flows. This level of 

support may be a result ofthe difference in terms, or the fact that the direct method 

presentation was shorter and easier to read than the indirect method. 

It is particularly important than more that 60 percent the Chizens and Legislators 

group supported the direct method. This group, as indicated earlier in the study, is 

particularly difficuh to contact and to communicate the financial resuhs to in an 

understandable format. That the group would support the use ofthe dhect method to this 

degree is quhe significant. The t-tests on this SCF objective (Table 5-30) show that all 

groups were statistically different than the constant, indicating a definite preference for the 

direct method on this issue. 

% of Respondents 

100 
• Direct 
D Indirect 

Response Groups 

A = Finance Directors B = Citiz»ns and Legislators C = Creditors D = Auditors 

Figure 5-23. Presents the Best Information About 
Operating Cash Flows (Objective #1). 

Table 5-30. Objective #1. 
Response 

Group 
AU 

A 
B 

C 
D 

t-value 
9.3857*** 

4.3045*** 
2.6877*** 

4.2675 *** 
7.7308*** 
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Qbjggtivg #2. In this objective the respondent was asked to consider which format did 

not require the presentation of other financial statements in order to be understood. 

Evaluating this objective greatly depends on the tyT)e of mformation needed from the SCF. 

If a user shnply wants to know the net cash flow from operatmg activities, either method 

reports this information equally well. However, prior research demonstrates that most 

users want addhional information beyond what is available in the other financial 

statements. Gathering this mformation from the SCF may or may not require the use of 

another financial statement. Typically, the indirect method requires the use of other 

statements to answer questions beyond simply determining the net cash flows from 

operatmg activities. 

The survey resuhs (shown in Figure 5-24) supported this conclusion but only 

moderately so. All response groups selected the direct method as the method that best 

meets this objective, but the graphic indicates there was little difference in the total 

number of respondents selecting each method. These mixed results were supported by the 

means test (Table 5-31) which indicated that the Chizens and Legislators group and the 

Credhors group were not significantly different than the constant. This resuh indicates 

that these groups may believe that proper analysis requires the use of all financial 

statements. Thus, no financial statement can be examined without the other financial 

statements. 
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Table 5-31. Objective #2. 

Response 

Group 

AU 

A 

B 

C 

D 

t-value 

4.5103*** 

3.4114*** 

1.2418 

0.5986 

3.1353*** 

Figure 5-24. Use Does Not Require Presentation of 
Other Financial Statements (Objective #2). 

Objective #3. The respondent was asked to consider which format used language or 

terminology that required little expertise in accounting to understand. An important 

characteristic of financial reporting is that the financial statements be understandable. 

Indeed, when the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2, 

Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information, the overriding characteristic was 

understandability (FASB, 1980). However, the FASB qualifies hs understandability 

characteristic by stating,"... financial reporting should be comprehensible to those who 

have a reasonable understanding of business and economic activities and are wiUing to 

study the information v̂ dth reasonable diligence" (FASB, 1980, p. 17). 

The GASB, in hs Concepts Statement No. 1, Objectives of Financial Reporting, 

makes no such qualification. The Board stated: 

Information in financial reports should be expressed as simply as possible. Users 
of govemmental reports tend to have different levels of knowledge and 
sophistication about govemmental accounting and finance. To be publicly 
accountable a govemment should issue financial reports that can be understood 
by those who may not have a detailed knowledge of accounting principles. Those 
reports should include explanations and interpretations that help users understand 
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the mformation provided. However, financial reporting should not exclude 
information merely because h is difficuh to understand or because some users 
choose not to use h. (GASB, 1987, p. 22, emphasis added) 

The GASB recognized that not aU users have the same knowledge of govemmental 

accounting and reporting. Therefore, govemmental financial statements are intended for a 

wider audience and need to be stmctured so that all members of this audience can 

understand the information provided. 

Figure 5-25 summarizes the responses to this issue. All response groups 

overwhehnmgly selected the direct method as best fiilfiUmg the objective. This selection 

probably resuhed from the terms used in the direct method presentation. The presentation 

clearly reports the amounts of operating cash received and paid. However, the indirect 

method may be seen as more confiismg since the amounts of cash received and paid are 

not reported, only changes m certam accounts. The resuhs ofthe means test (Table 5-32) 

supported this finding for aU response groups. 

% of Respondents 
100 

Response Groups 

A = Rnswce Directors B = Citizens and Legislators C = Credilors D = Auditors 

Figure 5-25. Language Requhes Little Expertise m 
Accountmg to Understand (Objective #3). 

Table 5-32. Objective #3. 

Response 
Group 

AU 
A 

B 

C 
D 

t-value 
22.7925 *** 

10.5942*** 
9.9185*** 

14.3095*** 
14.3997*** 
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QbjgCttvc #4. In analyzmg this objective, the respondents were asked to consider 

which format most clearly presents the resuhs of Cash Flows from Operations. This 

objective attempted to measure which method most clearly presents the Operatmg 

Activities net cash flow. Some might argue that there was no different from objective #1. 

However, objective #1 examined individual issues while objective #4 examined the section 

as a whole. 

Nonetheless, Figure 5-26 shows that the scoring of this issue was very similar to 

objective #1. As with the other objectives, aU user groups continue to select the direct 

method as best meeting the objective. The percentages for the Finance Dhectors and 

Citizens and Legislators groups were about the same as in objective #1. The Credhors 

and Auditors groups also had similar evaluations, but the order was opposhe. For this 

objective the Credhors group had the highest percentage of respondents supporting the 

dhect method and had the highest score. For objective #1, these poshions were held by 

the Audhors group. The means test (Table 5-33) supported the graphical resuhs, 

showing that all groups were statistically different than the constant. Clearly, all the 

response groups beheved that the direct method best presented the resuhs of Cash Flows 

from Operations. 

One aspect that could be important in this objective was that some users may have feh 

that the mdh-ect method could be reduced to essentiaUy a three-number equation: 

Operatmg Income ± Total Adjustments = Net Cash Provided. 

However, the direct method required the respondent to combine five numbers to 

determine net cash provided. While seemmgly a small difference, reducing the schedules 
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to this level may give some indication why the direct method was not as highly rated for 

objective #4 as for reportmg #1. 

% of Respondents 
100 

• Direct 
D Indirect 

Response (aroups 

A = Finance Directors B = Citizens and Legislators C = Creditors D = Auditors 

Figure 5-26. Most Clearly Presents the Resuhs of Cash 
Flows from Operations (Objective #4). 

Table 5-33. Objective #4. 

Response 
Group 

All 

A 
B 

C 
D 

t-value 
10.2955*** 
5.0287*** 

3.2119*** 
5.4096*** 
7.4004*** 

Objective #5. For the last reporting objective the respondent was asked to consider 

which Operating Activities section format did not present unnecessary information about 

"operating" cash flows. By reporting changes in current asset and Hability accounts— 

mformation that may be available from the balance sheet—some users may feel that the 

indirect method contains unnecessary information. The direct method does not suffer 

from this Hmitation. Reporting the sources and uses of cash was the basic format ofthe 

direct method. The mformation shown is "new" in that h is not avaUable in other financial 

statements. 

Figure 5-27 reflects the views ofthe respondents on this issue. Clearly all response 

groups feh that the direct method did not present unnecessary information. This fact was 

particularly tme for the Credhors group—where 100 percent ofthe respondents selected 
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tiie direct method as best meeting this objective.* The resuhs ofthe means test 

(Table 5-34) supported this conclusion. 

% of Respondents 
100 

• Direct 
D Indirect 

D 
Response Groups 

A = Finance Directors B = Citizens and Legislators C = Creditors D = Auditors 

Table 5-34. Objective #5. 

Response 
Group 

All 
A 
B 

C 
D 

t-value 
14.8725*** 

8.0078*** 
7.9901*** 

— 

5.6616*** 

Figure 5-27. Does Not Present Unnecessary 
Information About Operating Cash 
Flows (Objective #5). 

Based on the graphical and statistical analysis for hypothesis #5, the conclusion was 

that the nuU hypothesis can be rejected: there was a difference in the number of 

respondents selecting the dh-ect method response as compared to those selecting the 

indirect method response. Only for one objective—#2, the use of this method requires 

presentation ofthe other financial statements—did the Chizens and Legislators group and 

the Credhors group fail to reject the null hypothesis. Thus, the principal conclusion to be 

drawn from this analysis was that the respondents did have a clear preference for the 

method of preparing the Operating Activities section ofthe SCF: the direct method. 

«For no otiier issue m tiiis entire sUidy did aU die respondents m a response group agree on a 
single response. 
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Hypothesis #6 

were 
Before testing each response group an overaU MANOVA tested to see if there 

StatisticaUy significant differences between the response groups and the method selected. 

The general model for the statistical test was: 

^ili = M2i = M3i 

where: 

1̂,2.3 = vectors for indirect method (1), direct method (2), and dual method (3), 

i = vector reportmg objectives. 

The test controlled for both the response group and the method selected by the 

respondent for preparing the Operating Activities section ofthe SCF. The resuhs are 

summarized m Table 5-35 for the response group effect. Table 5-36 for the method effect, 

and Table 5-37 for the mteraction effect. The response group effect and the method effect 

were statistically significant for all four test statistics. The interaction effect was not 

statistically significant. 

Table 5-35. Test for Response Group Effect. 

Statistic 

WUks' Lambda 

PUlai's Trace 

HoteUing-Lawley Trace 

1 Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 

0.9057 

0.0958 

0.1026 

0.0841 

F 

2.2945 *** 

2.2624*** 

2.3227*** 

5.7692*** 

NumDF 

15 

15 

15 

5 

DenDF 

941 

1029 

1019 

343 
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Table 5-36. Test for Method Effect. 

Statistic 
WUks' Lambda 
PiUai's Trace 

HotelHng-Lawley Trace 
Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 
0.5536 
0.4524 
0.7958 

0.782 

F 
23.465*** 
19 995*** 

27.056*** 
53.491*** 

NumDF 
10 
10 
10 
5 

DenDF 
682 
684 
680 
342 

Table 5-37. Test for Interaction Effect. 

Statistic 
WUks' Lambda 
PUlai's Trace 

HoteUing-Lawley Trace 
Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 
0.9517 
0.0492 
0.0499 
0.0197 

F 
0.5672 
0.5712 
0.5642 
1.1349 

NumDF 
30 
30 
30 
6 

DenDF 
1366 
1725 
1697 
345 

Perhaps even more important was the statistical significance ofthe individual reporting 

objectives (Table 5-38). As the table shows, all reporting objectives were significant for 

the method effect, as could be expected given the analysis in the preceding section. It was 

apparent that the method had a significant effect on the selections ofthe respondents for 

all the objectives. For the response group effect only objective #1 and objective #5 were 

significant. 

Table 5-38. Analysis of Vector Objectives. 

Issue 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 

Response Group 
F 

2.32* 
0.42 
1.30 
0.38 
4.62*** 

Method 
F 

97 74*** 
4.84*** 

35.56*** 
95.57*** 
36.93*** 

Interaction 
F 

0.55 
0.56 
0.85 
0.62 
0.48 

DF: Response Group = 3, Method = 2, Interaction = 6, Error = 345. 
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Based on this analysis h was possible to proceed to the next analysis which was by 

response group. This analysis used the special seven-point weighted scoring system 

discussed earlier in this section (-3 to 3) to assign scores to the respondents based on: 

• their selection in each reporting objective of ehher the direct method or indhect 

method; and 

• the degree of preference indicated for that selection. 

The analysis compared these scores for each ofthe five objectives in Part IH plotted on 

separate lines for the indirect method, the direct method, and the dual method (Figure 

5-28). Clearly, the lines were different for all response groups. Given the scoring system 

used, h was expected that the Hnes would be arranged with the dual method Ime on top, 

the dhect method Hne between the dual method and indirect method lines, and the indirect 

method line below the other two. This arrangement was only natural since a negative 

score would indicate support for the indirect method in the scoring system used. 

What was more important in this analysis was the determination of whether the lines 

were statisticaUy different from one another. The general model for the statistical test was 

the same as the prehminary test, except that this analysis controlled for the response 

group. The resuhs of this test are shown in Tables 5-39 through 5-42. 

Table 5-39. Method Effect—Finance Directors Group (A). 

Statistic 

WUks' Lambda 
PUlai's Trace 
HoteUing-Lawley Trace 

Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 
0.4251 
0.5882 
1.3209 
1.2367 

F 
11.5281*** 
9.0827*** 

14.1337*** 

28.2687*** 

NumDF 
10 
10 
40 

5 

DenDF 
216 
218 
214 

109 
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Table S-40. Method Effect—Citizens and Legislators Group (B) 
Statistic 

WUks' Lambda 
PUlai's Trace 

HoteUing-Lawley Trace 
Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 
0.425 

0.5979 
1.2988 
1.2558 

F 
7.6879*** 
6.2261*** 
9.2216*** 

18.3352*** 

NumDF 
10 
10 
10 
5 

DenDF 
144 
146 
142 
73 

Table 5-41. Method Effect—Creditors Group (C). 

Statistic 
WUks' Lambda 
PiUai's Trace 
HotelHng-Lawley Trace 
Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 
0.4517 
0.5899 
1.1217 
1.0324 

F 
3.6104*** 
3.1795*** 
4.038*** 

7.8464*** 

NumDF 
10 
10 
10 
5 

DenDF 
74 
76 
72 
38 

Table 5-42. Method Effect—Audhors Group (D). 

Statistic 
WUks' Lambda 
PUlai's Trace 
HoteUing-Lawley Trace 
Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 
0.3963 
0.6128 
1.5002 
1.4847 

F 
13.1811*** 

9.983*** 
16.6519*** 
33.5543*** 

NumDF 
10 
10 
10 
5 

DenDF 
224 
226 
222 
113 

As these tables indicate, the Operating Activities section method choice (objective #6) 

had a statistically significant impact on the respondents' selection and rating of individual 

objectives for all response groups. These resuhs were confirmed by domg an analysis of 

the mdividual objectives, which were presented earlier in this section. The resuhs 

mdicated that the method selection can have a significant impact on how users evaluate 

the usefiilness ofthe SCF. 

Table 5-43 summarizes the significance ofthe objectives m each response group. The 

mformation m this table confirms what could be impHed from the graphs in Figure 5-28: 
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most ofthe objectives were statistically significant. As a result, h became apparent that 

the choice of Operatmg Activities section method of presentation does have an effect on 

how objectives of financial reportmg are measured. 

Table 5-43. Analysis of Vector Objectives—All Response Groups. 

Issue 
1 
2 
3 
4 
5 

A 

^2,112 

51.84*** 
1.16 

11.38*** 
56.40*** 
25.61*** 

B 

•^2,76 

34.86*** 
0.48 
gQ5*** 

27.43*** 
14.07*** 

C 

^2,41 

12.95*** 
2.62* 

13.01*** 
12.93*** 
5.71*** 

D 

^2,116 

52.15*** 
1.80 

18.14*** 
63.13*** 
23.90*** 

- These results clearly indicate that hypothesis #6 should be rejected: there was a 

difference within each response group in the mean vectors for the five objectives. The 

selection of a method—indirect method, direct method, or dual method—made a 

difference in how the respondents evaluate the method of preparing the Operating 

Activities section ofthe SCF. 

Hypothesis #7 

The examination of hypothesis #7 was limited to examining the number of respondents 

that selected each method of preparing the Operatmg Activities section ofthe SCF. 

Although not numbered as an objective in the survey, the last question asked the 

respondents to select a format for the SCF that should be used if all govermnents were 

required to report usmg the same SCF format. The choices were the indirect method only, 
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the direct method only (without the reconciliation), or the dhect method with the 

reconcUiation provided as addhional disclosure (dual method). 

Based on how the respondents selected the method that best fiilfiUed each ofthe first 

five objectives, h was expected that the direct method would prove to be the most popular 

requhed format. However, as Figure 5-29 shows, h was the dual method that was the 

most preferred method of presentation. As can be seen by the upper graph, almost 60 

percent ofthe respondents supported the required use ofthe dual method. This was the 

method recommended by the GASB. The remaining respondents were split almost evenly 

between the direct method and the indirect method, with the latter having a sHghtly higher 

percentage. 

Examining the individual response groups m the lower graph, one can see that aU the 

response groups favored the dual method. Two groups— t̂he Finance Dh-ectors and the 

Citizens and Legislators—^gave slightly more support for the indirect method than the 

dh-ect method. Only the Audhors group had more respondents selecting the direct 

method. For the Credhors group, the dual method was by far the most preferred method, 

with the mdh-ect and direct methods receiving only marginal support. 

What is readily apparent for the lower graph is the clear preference ofthe Chizens and 

Legislators group and the Credhors group for the dual method of presentation. This 

preference is mdicative of these groups wantmg as much mformation about the operations 

ofthe entity as possible. The use ofthe dual method accompHshes this goal by not only 

providmg detaUed information about the sources and uses of cash in the operation ofthe 

proprietary fimd, but also reconcUing the net cash flows from operating activities to 
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Direct 
Indirect 
Dual 

Direct 
Indirect 
Dual 

A B C D 
Response Groups 

A = Finance Directors B = Citizens and Legislators C = Creditors D = Auditors 

Figure 5-29. Part m Summary Analysis by Method. 
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operating income thus assisting these two groups in understanding the linkage between the 

financial statements. 

The graphs in Figures 5-30 and 5-31 used the special scoring systems discussed at the 

beghmmg of this section. As expected, the lower the total weighted score (Figure 5-30), 

the greater the preference for the indirect method only SCF presentation. Higher scores 

suggest a preference for both the direct method and the dual method of presentation. The 

total basic scores (Figure 5-31) were consistent with this analysis. 

For hypothesis #7 the graphical results show that there was a difference in the 

selection of presentation method. Most respondents in all groups selected the dual 

method of presentation as the method that should be required if all govemments were 

requhed to use the same format. For the other two methods, all groups were virtually 

equally divided. Therefore, hypothesis #7 should be rejected: there was a difference in 

the preference for the method to be used in preparing the Operating Activities section for 

the SCF. 

Additional Analysis 

In summary, the answer to the question raised at the beginnmg of this section is: users 

do distinguish between the ahemate methods of preparing the SCF. In the first set of 

tests, the respondents clearly found the direct method to provide more and better 

information than the mdirect method. However, when asked to select a SCF method that 

could be required of all govemments, the respondents overwhelming supported the use of 
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f of Rsspondentt 

12 

Indirect Method Only 

-9 -7 -5 

« of RMpondonts 

14 

3 - 1 1 3 
Total Weighted Score 

Direct Method Only 

I • I 

5 7 9 11 13 15 

12 

10 

8 

6 

4 h 

2 

- I 1 1 1 I I I I 

-15 -13 -11 -9 -7 -5 - 3 - 1 1 3 
Total Weighted Score 

* of Respondents 

30 

Direct Method with Reconciliation 

-15 -13 -11 -9 -7 -5 - 3 - 1 1 3 
Total Weighted Score 

9 11 13 15 

Figure 5-30. Total Weighted Scores by Method of Presentation—All Response Groups. 
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# of Respondents 

35 

# of Respondents 

60 

# of Respondents 

120 

Indirect Method Only 

Total Basic Score 

Direct Method Only 

Total Basic Score 

Direct Method with Reconciliation 

Total Basic Score 

Figure 5-31. Total Basic Scores by Method of Presentation-All Response Groups. 
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the dhect method with the reconcUiation of operating income to net cash flows from 

operations (dual method). 

That all groups would make this selection was unanticipated. What was very 

unexpected was that the Audhors group, and to some degree the Finance Directors group, 

selected this dual presentation method. Preparing the SCF in this manner requires more 

work by the finance directors and more auditing time by the audhors. For these groups to 

support the dual presentation method to the degree they did was tmly unanticipated. 

Summary 

This chapter presents the graphical and statistical analyses ofthe survey prepared for 

this dissertation. These analyses are not without problems, and the solutions are not 

always clear; but three important conclusions are possible. First, from Part I ofthe survey 

h is evident that users adapted to the mclusion ofthe SCF in the annual report of 

proprietary fiinds. The respondents in this survey correctly applied the SCF in their 

analyses of eight financial issues. Second, the users clearly indicated a preference for the 

GASB SCF format over that required by the FASB. Third, the users demonstrated a 

preference for preparing the GASB SCF using the direct method and requiring the 

reconciliation of operating income to net cash flows from operations as an additional 

disclosure. All three conclusions may have an hnportant impact on the fiiture 

developments of financial reporting not only in the public sector-which was the basis of 

this study-but on the private sector as weU. This hnpact wiU be explored more fiiUy in 

the last chapter of this study. 



CHAPTER VI 

SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

So what? Who cares? (Robert J. Freeman) 

Introduction 

This study seeks to determine if users, preparers, and mdependent audhors of 

govemmental financial reports perceive the statement of cash flows (SCF) to be usefiil m 

the analysis of proprietary fimd operations. Users of financial reports include the citizenry, 

govemment legislative officials, and credhors. City and county finance directors are 

preparers of financial reports, and audhors include both state audhors and certified pubhc 

accountants (CPAs) in public practice. Three research questions guided the study: 

1. Do users perceive the SCF to provide usefiil financial information beyond what is 

avaUable in the other financial statements (the balance sheet and the operating 

statement)? 

2. Do users and preparers recognize and understand the differences between the 

FASBS 95 and GASBS 9 SCF models and are these differences significant?^ 

3. Does the use ofthe direct method or indhect method for the preparation ofthe 

SCF Operatmg Activities section influence users' perceptions ofthe usefiilness of 

the SCF? 

'FASBS 95 represents die Fmancial Accountmg Standards Board Statement of Fmancial 
Accountmg Standards No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows, and GASBS 9 represents Statement No. 9 
of tiie Govemmental Accounting Standards Board, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and 
Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Govemmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting 
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The resuhs ofthe survey indicate that users do perceive the SCF to provide 

information beyond what is avaUable m the other financial statements. Also, the users 

correctly applied the financial statements in assessing specific financial analysis issues. 

This resuh mdicates that users are able to adapt to changes in financial reportmg. Also, 

the users are not fixated on the use of one financial statement in assessing the operations 

of a proprietary fiind. 

The survey resuhs also indicate that users and preparers recognize the differences in 

the FASB and GASB models for preparing the SCF. Most respondents beheve that the 

GASB model is superior to the FASB model for six specific reporting issues reflecting 

differences in the two models. Also, most respondents believe that the GASB model is 

superior overaU to the FASB model for reportmg cash flows of proprietary fimds. 

Fmally, the responses to the survey indicate that users and preparers are influenced by 

the method used to prepare the SCF. Most respondents beheve that the direct method is 

superior to the indirect method m meeting five SCF reporting objectives. Additionally, 

most respondents indicate that the direct method with a reconcihation of operating income 

to cash flows from operations should be required for aU cities preparing the statement of 

cash flows. This requirement is consistent with the method recommended by the GASB, 

although h is contrary to the method currently used by most cities m reporting cash flows. 

The resuhs of this study have important ramifications for the GASB as the Board 

considers the possible implementation of a new financial reporting model. This new model 

could include a statement of cash flows prepared for the entire govemment. This study 

may contribute significantly to the design of a new SCF model. 
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The discussion in this chapter reexamines the development and execution of this study. 

The resuhs, the consequences ofthe resuhs, and the recommendations based on these 

resuhs are presented and discussed in the remainder ofthe chapter. 

Summary ofthe Study 

Early Studies 

To establish a foundation for this study and for the research that will foUow, h was 

important to examine the early developments in the format, method of preparation, 

content, and disclosures ofthe fiinds flows statement and the cash flows statement. An 

analysis of ahnost 100 years of accounting voting confirmed Anton's (1954) Hst ofthe 

basic formats for the fiinds flows statements and cash flows statements: 

• Balanced format, where sources of fiinds equaled uses (appHcations) of fiinds. 

• ReconcUmg format, which usually started with the beginning balance of fimds 

(working capital or cash), added the sources of fiinds, and deducted the uses of 

fiinds to determme the ending balance of fimds. 

• Residual format, where applications were subtracted from sources to determine the 

change in the fiinds balance. 

In the early years, accountants m the private sector chose the balanced format. The 

residual format was first mentioned by Esquerre in 1925 during his debate with Finney 

over the proper format ofthe fiinds statement. However, the residual format did not 

appear m an accounting textbook until 1941 (Paton and Stevenson). Only one year 

before, in 1940, Kunze used an example ofthe reconciling format. After the early 1940s, 
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most ofthe reports in the private sector used the reconcUmg format. Anton (1954) and 

Kempner (1957) found that most firms used either the balanced format or residual format. 

By the 1960s, firms in the private sector had switched ahnost exclusively to the residual 

format, as confirmed m Chapter H of this study. However, as was shown m Chapter HI of 

the study, FASBS 95 uses a reconciling format while retaining one characteristic ofthe 

residual format— t̂he net change in cash and cash equivalents subtotal. 

The trend for the fiinds statement in the public sector was completely different. Cash 

basis reporting using the reconciling format dominated. Indeed, most ofthe statements 

were little more than cash receipt and disbursement statements. The statement examples 

mcluded m the National Committee on Govemmental Accountmg Bulletin No. 14, 

Municipal Accounting and Auditing (NCGAB 14), used the reconcUmg format, as did the 

examples in Govemmental Accounting, Auditing, and Financial Reporting (GAAFR 68), 

pubHshed by the NCGA in 1968. This choice of format is in dhect contrast with what was 

then popular in the private sector, as discussed in the previous paragraph. But the format 

is shnUar to the GASBS 9 SCF model, ahhough the presentation differs slightly. These 

differences are highhghted later in this chapter. 

The methods used to prepare the opening or "operatmg" section ofthe eariy private 

sector fiinds flows statements parallel the current direct method and indhect method. 

Some early fiinds statements recast the operating statement using a fiinds (or cash) basis-

very simUar to the dhect method. More often, however, the statements opened with net 

mcome and adjusted for non-fiind items Hke depreciation and amortization—similar to the 

mdhect method. The indirect method also caused Paton (1963) to state,"... cash flow 
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[is] a means of getting a fresh handhold on the old broomstick of depreciation for the 

purpose of stirring up another cloud of dust intended to obscure financial realities" 

(p. 246). 

In contrast, the early statements m the govemmental sector were prepared using the 

direct method. These statements were little more than reconcihations of cash balances 

that started with beginning cash balance, added receipts, deducted disbursements, and 

concluded with the ending cash balance. The examples included in NCGAB 14 followed 

this general pattem. 

The Accounting Standards 

The discussions by accounting academicians starting m the early 1900s and continuing 

mto the 1960s laid the foundation for the accounting standards that followed. The first 

standard was Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 3, The Statement of Source and 

Application of Funds (APBO 3, 1963), pubHshed by the American Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants (AICPA). The opinion recommended—but did not require— t̂he 

preparation of a Statement of Source and AppHcation of Funds. Further, the opmion did 

not specify a format, method, or basis—nor did h give an example of what the statement 

should look Hke. 

APBO 3 was foUowed in the pubhc sector by GAAFR 68. GAAFR 68 required the 

preparation of a Statement of Sources and Application of Cash Funds (emphasis added) 

for govemmental enterprise fiinds. NCGA required the cash basis and provided examples 

using the reconcUing format and the indirect method. 
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The first requirement for a fiinds flow statement in the private sector was m APB 

Opmion No. 19, Statement of Changes in Financial Position (APBO 19, 1971). 

APBO 19 requh-ed the preparation of this statement for aU busmess entities. The opmion 

allowed the Statement of Changes in Financial Poshion (SCFP) to be prepared usmg either 

the working caphal basis or the cash basis. Also, the SCFP could be prepared using ehher 

the mdh-ect method or the direct method. However, APBO 19 did not provide an example 

to demonstrate the format ofthe statement. 

There was some discussion at the time whether APBO 19 apphed to the business-type 

fiinds of govemments. After all, GAAFR 68 already required a Statement of Sources and 

AppHcation of Cash Funds. This requirement had existed for three years before the 

issuance of APBO 19. 

This ambiguity was resolved in 1974 when the AICPA issued the Industry Guide thled 

Audits of State and Local Govemment Units (ASLGU). The guide made APBO 19 

appHcable to govemments. This guide was later adopted by the National Council on 

Govemmental Accounting (NCGA) in NCGA Interpretation 1, GAAFR and the AICPA 

Audit Guide (NCGAI 1, 1975) and, subsequently, by NCGA Statement 1, Govemmental 

Accounting and Financial Reporting Principles (NCGAS 1, 1979). 

NCGAS 1 required the preparation ofthe SCFP. UnHke APBO 19, NCGAS 1 

included an example ofthe statement. The example provided a dhect contrast to the one 

shown in GAAFR 68. While the example in GAAFR 68 used the reconcUmg format, the 

iple in NCGAS 1 used the residual format. Also, the example in GAAFR 68 used the 
exami 
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cash basis, while the example in NCGAS 1 used the working capital basis. Both examples 

were prepared using the indirect method popular at the thne. 

FASBS 95 replaced APBO 19 in 1987. For the first time, a private sector accountmg 

standard prescribed a single basis and format for the flows statement: cash basis and 

reconciling format. FASBS 95 continued the option of APBO 19 by aUowmg the use of 

ehher the direct method or the indirect method. 

The issuance of FASBS 95 caused some confiision in govemmental reporting. When 

the GASB was created in 1984, Statement No. 1 ofthe Govemmental Accounting 

Standards Board, Authoritative Status ofNCGA Pronouncements and AICPA Industry 

Audit Guide (GASBS 1), directed govemments to contmue to follow the NCGA 

standards untU they were superseded by the GASB. Therefore, generally accepted 

accounting prmciples (GAAP) appHcable to govemments required the use ofthe SCFP. 

However, the GAAP hierarchy in force at the thne stated that if the GASB had not issued 

a standard addressing a particular issue, govemment accountants were to follow the 

standards ofthe FASB. Thus, this hierarchy made FASBS 95 applicable to govemments. 

Some govemmental accountants questioned whether to prepare a SCFP or a SCF. 

To solve the quandary, the GASB directed govemments to prepare ehher a SCFP or a 

SCF usmg the FASBS 95 model until the GASB could issue hs own SCF standard 

(GASB, 1987). During the transition from the SCFP to the GASBS 9 model, state and 

local govemments (SLGs) were allowed to prepare a SCFP, a SCF foUowing FASBS 95, 

or implement GASBS 9 early. Very few SLGs used the FASBS 95 model, and all SLGs 

were to foUow GASBS 9 by 1991. 
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The SCF model requh-ed by GASBS 9 differs significantly from the FASBS 95 model. 

For example, the FASBS 95 model has three sections for reportmg cash flows: operatmg, 

mvestmg, and financing. The GASBS 9 model requhes four sections: operatmg, 

noncaphal financmg, caphal and related financmg, and mvesting. Although some of these 

tities make the sections ofthe two models appear shnilar, several significant differences, 

discussed m detail in Chapter in and in Appendix A, form the basis for this study. 

GASBS 9 and FASBS 95 established the accounting standard for the public sector and 

the private sector SCFs. However, the standards did not answer all the questions or 

resolve all the issues. This study was undertaken to examine some ofthe questions and 

issues and to examine the use ofthe SCF in govemmental financial reporting. 

Development ofthe Studv 

Prior to this study, almost all accountmg research using data from the fiinds flows 

statements and cash flows statements concentrated on statements prepared in the private 

sector. As discussed in Chapter TV, that research has focused primarily on security price 

prediction studies and bankmptcy studies. However, such studies are largely 

mappropriate m the pubhc sector since the securities market is relatively inactive and 

bankmptcies are much less common. 

The goal of this research thus was to examine the hnpact ofthe SCF in the pubhc 

sector and to consider the usefiilness ofthe statement to users and preparers of 
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govemment reports. The principal theories supportmg this study, also discussed m 

Chapter IV, are the fimctional fixation theory and the communication theory. 

The fimctional fixation Hterature supports the first research question. Users might 

fixate on the balance sheet and operatmg statement in their examination ofthe operations 

of a proprietary fiind because they are accustomed to seeing these two financial 

statements. Such fixation could result in the users ignoring important information in the 

SCF. Or, users might fixate on the SCF given the mclusion of cash as part of hs titie. It 

was possible that users would be more comfortable with evaluating operations in terms of 

cash flows and balances rather than accmal-based information. This theory was examined 

m Part I ofthe Questionnaire Booklet. 

Information theory provided theoretical support for Parts II and in ofthe 

Questionnaire Booklet. The study sought to determine: 

• if the GASB or FASB model for presentmg cash flow information provided more 

usefiil information to users; and 

• if use ofthe dhect method or mdhect method of preparing the Operating Activities 

section ofthe SCF affected users' perceptions ofthe usefiilness ofthe statemem. 

l̂ ft̂ iilts nf the Survev 

To attam the objective of this study, a five-part survey was sent to 1,500 people 

throughout the United States. Recipients m the study mcluded citizens, finance directors 

from cities and counties, city councU members and county commissioners, members of 

credh rating agencies, and independent audhors. Forty-three ofthe surveys were 
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undeliverable. Ofthe remaining 1,457 surveys maUed, 425 usable responses were received 

for a response rate of 29.2 percent. 

Parti 

The primary goal in the first part ofthe survey was to determine if users perceived the 

SCF to provide information beyond that available in the Balance Sheet and Operating 

Statement of a proprietary fiind. The secondary goal was to determine if the method used 

to prepare the SCF— t̂he direct method (without the required reconciliation of operating 

income to cash flows from operating activities) or the indirect method—made a difference 

in how users interpreted the information provided by the SCF. 

First, the respondents correctly apphed the financial statements in evaluating eight 

financial analysis issues. There was little or no fimctional fixation on either the Balance 

Sheet and the Operating Statement or the SCF. This resuh indicates that users can adapt 

to changes m the financial statement presentation for proprietary fiinds. Also, h may imply 

that these users may adapt to other changes in financial reporting. This implication could 

have great hnportance as the GASB debates the possible adoption of a new financial 

reportmg model, which is discussed later in this chapter. 

Second, the method used to prepare the SCF did not have a statistically significant 

impact on the ability of users to apply the SCF to the analysis. There was some indication 

that for issue #7—determining if cash received from customers equaled fees charged to 

customers—the method of preparation did make a difference. The dhect method had the 



336 

highest hnportance ratmg for evaluating the issue. This ratmg is consistent with the issue 

smce only the dhect method reports cash received from customers. 

Partn 

In Part n ofthe Questionnaire Booklet, users and preparers were required to 

recognize and understand the differences between the GASBS 9 and FASBS 95 models of 

the SCF. Whether the preparers and users perceived these differences to be significant 

was also of interest. The respondents selected one statement from a pair of statements 

and mdicated their degree of preference for that statement. One statement described the 

GASBS 9 model for addressmg the issue while the other described the FASBS 95 model. 

AU ofthe response groups—by an overwhelming majority—favored the GASBS 9 model 

as best reporting the cash flows of a proprietary fimd. Thus, the resuhs indicate that most 

users prefer the GASBS 9 model to the FASBS 95 model. 

The recipients were also asked to evaluate three other reporting issues. First, the 

recipients were asked whether the reconcihation of operating income or net income to the 

cash flows from operatmg activities m the SCF was essential or redundant in 

understandmg and using the statement. Most respondents feh the reconcUiation was an 

essential part ofthe statement. Second, the recipients were asked to consider whether the 

financial statements prepared for the govemmental fiinds and proprietary fiinds should be 

the same or different. Most respondents indicated that the statements should be different, 

as m current generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Finally, the recipients 

were asked whether the financial statements prepared for govemment enterprises and 
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private sector businesses should be the same or different. As m the precedmg issue, most 

respondents feh the statements should be different. 

Partm 

FinaUy, the recipients were asked to evaluate the dhect method and mdhect method 

for preparing the Operating Activities section ofthe SCF. The recipients were given five 

objectives to use in evaluating the methods and were asked to indicate their degree of 

preference for each method in achieving the objective. The direct method was selected by 

most respondents in all four response groups as better meeting all the objectives. And, in 

aU but two of twenty cases, these preferences were statistically significant. 

The recipients were then asked to select one of three formats to use if all govemments 

were to prepare the SCF using the same format. The choices were: 

• the indirect method; 

• the direct method without the reconciliation of operating income to cash flows 

from operating activities; or 

• the dhect method with the reconcUiation of operatmg mcome to cash flows from 

operating activities provided as addhional disclosure. 

Based on the responses to the first five objectives, h was expected that the direct method 

would be the preferred format. However, the dhect method with the additional 

reconcUiation disclosure was the most preferred. This preference foUows the 
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recommendation ofthe GASB and the FASB for preparing the SCF. The preference also 

mdicates that most users want the additional information to use in analyzing the SCF. 

Conclusions and Recommendations 

When the proposal was made for this study, the standard question asked was, "Who 

cares?" At the time the answer was, "The GASB, the FASB, and financial statement 

users." It is time to assess the accuracy of this response. 

The GASB 

The GASB has said they do care about studies like this one. In fact, a letter from 

David R. Bean, Director of Research for the GASB, accompanied the survey and 

indicated the interest ofthe GASB in the results of this study. But more than that, the 

GASB has indicated in its accounting standards and exposure drafts the need for 

addhional research on financial accounting and reporting issues. In the "Basis for 

Conclusions" section of GASBS 9, the Board stated that: 

Pendingfurther study, the Board beheves it would be desirable to prescribe a cash 
flow format that is appropriate for both govemmental and proprietary fiinds. 
Although the format prescribed in this statement for proprietary fiinds may also be 
appropriate for govemmental fiinds, the board notes thdX further study for 
govemmental fiinds may indicate that a somewhat different format may provide the 
optimal approach for both govemmental and proprietary fiinds. As a resuh, 
readers should be aware that the overall reexamination ofthe govemmental 
financial reporting model will also include a reexamination ofthe requirements of 
this statement. (GASB, 1989, p. 18, emphasis added) 

In the recently issued Invitation to Comment (ITC), Govemmental Financial 

Reporting Model (GASB, 1994), a sHghtly redesigned SCF was mcluded, and there was a 
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request for limited comments on the new format. The redesign consisted primarily of two 

features. First, the govemmental fiinds are included as part of a combined SCF. Second, 

the cash flows in the Noncaphal Financmg Activities section and the Capital and Related 

Fmancmg Activities section are classified as ehher intemal or extemal cash flows. The 

only specific issue about the SCF included in the ITC was, "Statement No. 9 categories 

(as modified) should be used for govemmental fiinds. (If you believe they should not, 

what changes would you suggest?)" (1994, p. GV05—4). The ITC gives an indication 

that there is some interest in revising the SCF. 

This research makes three contributions to the Board's efforts in the possible redesign 

ofthe financial reporting model in general and ofthe SCF in particular. First, the study 

demonstrates that users have some abUity to adapt to changes in financial reporting. 

Second, the results ofthe study clearly show that the respondents generally preferred the 

GASB model to the FASB model for reporting cash flows. Third, the resuhs indicate that 

most users and prepares agree with the Board that the SCF should be prepared using the 

direct method with the reconcUiation of operating income to cash flows from operating 

activities provided as addhional disclosure. Each of these contributions is discussed m 

greater detail below. 

Adaptability of Users 

In Part I ofthe survey the recipients correctly apphed all three financial statements in 

addressing eight financial analysis issues. This adaptability should indicate to the GASB 

that users can adjust to changes in the financial reporting model. 
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Moreover, the GASB should remember that hs own mission statement identifies the 

primary users of govemmental financial reports as those: 

a. To whom the govemment is primarUy accountable—7Y5 citizens, 
b. Who directly represent the chizens—legislative and oversight bodies, and 
c. Who finance govemment or who participate m the financmg 

process— t̂axpayers, other govemments, mvestors, credhors, underwriters, and 
analysts. (GASB, 1993, p.l, emphasis added) 

Given this position, the GASB should reahze that not all citizens are capable of 

understandmg the current set of financial statements. Consider this statement by one 

respondent: 

Almost every question contamed language that was foreign to me. For 
example, I have no idea [what] an "enterprise fiind" is, and I have no idea 
what an operating statement is. I was reaUy disturbed by the use of 
acronyms (e.g., SCF, GASB SCF, FASB SCF). I am unfamiHar with the 
Dh-ect and Indirect methods. (Anonymous respondent, Chizen group) 

Although most ofthe respondents from the chizens action groups did quhe well in 

responding to the survey, the comment mdicates that some respondents have difficulty 

understanding the current set of financial statements. To make these statements more 

complex, as is suggested in the ITC, could be a mistake. More research into ahemate 

formats ofthe SCF is needed before the GASB adopts a SCF model for the enthe 

govemment. This model could include separate reports for separate user groups, such as 

a "popular report" usmg very straightforward and shnple financial statements for some 

users (the citizenry and legislators, for example) while providing more complete and 

complex statements for other users (credhors and credh ratmg agencies). 
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Preference for the GASB Model 

The GASB should take some degree of pride that aU response groups in this survey 

generaUy preferred the GASB model to the FASB model for presentmg cash flows. This 

findmg mdicates that the GASB made some significant improvements over the FASBS 95 

SCF model, including: 

• reporting mterest and dividend receipts m the Investing Activities section and 

mterest payments in the two fmancing sections; 

• reporting cash payments for caphal acquisitions separate from cash payments for 

long-term mvestments; 

• reporting proceeds from operating debt issues separate from proceeds from caphal 

debt issues; and 

• reportmg operatmg transfers to and from the proprietary fimd separate from the 

principal operating cash flows. 

The respondents also indicated that the format ofthe financial statements prepared for 

the govemmental fiands and the proprietary fiinds should be different. This finding 

supports Model 1 in the ITC and contradicts Model 2, which would use the same financial 

statements for all fiinds. WhUe the respondents in this survey did not have the advantage 

of seeing these models as part ofthe survey (aU responses were received before the GASB 

pubHshed the ITC), the responses definitely mdicate a preference by aU response groups to 

use separate financial statement formats for govemmental and proprietary fiinds. 
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The SCF Format 

The third major contribution to the GASB's endeavors addresses the format issue for 

the SCF. In GASBS 9, the Board stated: "In reporting cash flows from operating 

activities, govemmental enterprises are encouraged to report major classes of gross cash 

receipts and gross cash payments and their arithmetic sum—the net cash flow from 

operating activities (the dhect method)" (1989, p. 11). Thus, the Board encouraged the 

use ofthe direct method in preparing the SCF. However, the Board aUowed the use of 

the indirect method. 

The findings of this research indicate that most respondents believe the direct method 

is best for reporting cash flows from operations. Also, when given a choice of three 

methods for preparing the SCF, nearly 60 percent of all respondents (and most 

respondents in aU response groups) believe preparing the SCF using the direct method 

with the reconcihation provided as addhional disclosure should be required of all 

govemments. Thus, the GASB should consider requiring the use ofthe direct method 

with the reconciliation for the preparation ofthe SCF. 

However, one should not necessarily believe that the current SCF model is the best 

model. While this research did not address altemate models for the statement, the 

exammation of earlier formats ofthe fiinds flows and cash flows statements indicates that 

the GASB should consider some ofthe earher designs. For example, fiinds flows 

statements in the public sector traditionally used the reconcUmg format. The current 

GASB model uses a reconciling format, but has modified h from hs original form. The 

example shown in NCGAB 14 used this basic format: 
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Beghmmg Cash Balance 
+ Sources of Cash 
- Uses of Cash 
= Ending Cash Balance 

This format was modified to the current format m GAAFR 68 to use this arrangement: 

Sources of Cash 
- Uses of Cash 
= Changes in Cash 
+ Beginning Cash Balance 
= Ending Cash Balance 

Conversations with and comments from many users, particularly members ofthe Citizens 

and Legislators group, indicate that the older format set out by NCGAB 14 would be 

more easily understood by many users. These comments indicate the need for fiirther 

research to discover the most usefiil and informative format for the SCF. 

The FASB 

One might wonder why the FASB should be concemed with a study clearly aimed at 

the users of govemmental financial reports. The principal reason is the continuing 

discussion in the academic Hterature about the FASBS 95 model. As pomted out m 

Chapter m, considerable debate over the form and content ofthe Statement of Changes in 

Fmancial Position (SCFP)—the predecessor report to the SCF—led to the issuance of 

FASBS 95. Even after the publication of FASBS 95, many debates over the form, 

content, method of preparation, and disclosures continue. 
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Indeed, Numberg (1993) wrote at length about some major problems not addressed by 

or StUl confrontmg the FASB model. Numberg's discussion ofthe faults in FASBS 95 

included the three-way classification of cash flows (operatmg, investmg, and financmg), 

the classification of interest and dividend receipts and mterest payments, the disclosure of 

noncash transactions, and third-party financing transactions. What is curiously missmg 

from most of Numberg's discussion is how the GASB model alleviates or ehmmates many 

of these faults. The GASB model is mentioned only in a footnote that addresses reporting 

mterest and dividend receipts and interest payments. 

The FASB had an opportunity to address some of these problems and make changes in 

the format when h pubHshed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 117, 

Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations (TASBS 117, 1993). TheFASB 

could have adopted the govemmental model for reporting the cash flows of not-for-profit 

organizations but did not do so. In the "Basis for Conclusions" to FASBS 117, the FASB 

discusses adopting a model simUar to the GASBS 9 model and notes that an AICPA task 

force on the subject recommended the use of a caphal cash flows section. It is also noted 

that some respondents recommended splitting financmg cash flows into two sections: debt 

financmg cash flows (presumably very similar to noncaphal financing activities) and caphal 

cash flows (apparently very similar to caphal and related financing activities). FmaUy, the 

discussion notes that most ofthe respondents to the Exposure Draft for this standard 

agreed v^th the AICPA task force position. Nonetheless, the FASB decided to only 

slightly modify the FASBS 95 model for use by not-for-profit organizations. 
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The FASB should also be mterested m Part HI ofthe survey. The respondents report 

that preparing the SCF usmg the dhect method with the reconcUiation of net mcome to 

cash flows from operatmg activities provided as an additional disclosure is the preferred 

method. This method is the one origmaUy recommended by the FASB, although very few 

private sector companies use it. 

Financial Statement TTspr|! 

In retrospect, believmg that financial statement users would be interested in the resuhs 

of this study may have been naive. Perhaps h would have been better to say that financial 

statement users should be interested in this research project. Several past studies 

addressed user needs, includmg Maschmeyer and Van DanUcer (1979), Jones et al. (1985), 

and Carlson (1986). These studies attempted to define user needs over a broad range of 

matters, whUe this study focused on the Statement of Cash Flows. 

Nonetheless, the results are encouragmg. The financial statement users correctly 

apphed the balance sheet, operating statement, and statement of cash flows in evaluating 

the financial reportmg issues in Part I ofthe survey. In Part n, the users recognized the 

differences in the GASB and FASB models for preparing the SCF. FmaUy, in Part m, the 

users were consistent with their responses to earher questions in theh selection ofthe 

method of preparing the SCF. The challenge now is to find a reporting model or models 

that communicates weU with users of govemmental financial reports. 
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Limitations ofthe Research 

In any study such as this one, there are factors that contribute to Hmitmg the analysis 

and makmg interpretation and assessment difficuh. These factors are particularly evident 

m survey research, and they mclude the use of a maU survey, the experimental task 

required ofthe respondents, and the generalizabihty ofthe resuhs. 

The Survey 

As noted throughout this study, the data for analysis was gathered through a mailed 

questionnaire. The advantage of using a mailed survey is the ease of making contact with 

a variety of geographically diverse respondents. As shown in Figure 5-1, surveys were 

sent to every state. The initial survey was sent in June 1993, with a follow-up in early 

September 1993. A postcard to encourage participation was sent in late September. 

Responses were received from all these locations except Rhode Island. The 29.2 percent 

overaU response rate is excellent for this type of research. 

The principal drawback of any mail survey is that there is no way to be certain that the 

mtended recipient completed the survey. Also, there is no way to be certam that the 

respondents completed the surveys according to the instmctions and in good faith. 

However, the resuhs ofthe survey have poshive indicators. The general lack of 

systematic answers (using a preference of "3" to aU issues in Part n, for example) may 

mdicate that most respondents were dUigent in their responses. Also, the buih-in checks, 

such as Part H, issue #6 (on the presentation ofthe reconcUiation as part ofthe SCF), 

indicate that the respondents repHed in a consistent manner. 
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The Experimental Ta^k 

The situation for this survey had to be somewhat unreaHstic and mcomplete by design, 

particularly in Part I ofthe survey. In this part the recipient was asked to evaluate the 

operation of a proprietary fiind using only the balance sheet, operating statement, and 

SCF. Several respondents commented that the notes to the financial statements should 

have been included as weU. Including the notes would have been more realistic, but h 

would have doubled or tripled the size ofthe information booklet and adversely affected 

the number of responses. Realism is generally good, but not when h overwhelms the 

recipient. 

WhUe the financial statements used in the survey were accurate representations of 

what is found in govemmental reporting, some questions may have seemed a bit 

unreaHstic. The recipient was asked to evaluate only a financial issue rather than to 

answer a specific question about the operation ofthe proprietary fimd. In the early design 

ofthe study, one version ofthe survey had the recipient making some calculations and 

reporting the answer to a question and the time h took to make the calculation. Klammer 

and Reed (1991) used a shnilar process in a very limited study, but theh respondents were 

comprised entirely of accounting professors. Had a similar process been used here, the 

response rate probably would have been much lower. 

Generalizabihty 

Finally, the generalizabihty ofthe study might be questioned. While every attempt was 

made to identify and use a tme cross-section of govemmental financial statement users, 
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there may have been a limited degree of sample selection bias. Ofthe four response 

groups, the Fmance Dh-ectors group best represents the population of interest since the 

identity of aU finance directors is known. The same point is tme for the city council 

members and county commissioners in the Citizens and Legislators group. 

The other response groups were composed of surrogates for the general population of 

financial statement users and audhors. The members ofthe League of Women Voters and 

taxpayer organizations represented the citizens. Members of these organizations have 

been shown to represent interested citizens weU in this type of research. The membership 

ofthe National Federation of Municipal Analysts was used to select recipients for the 

creditors group. Finally, the independent audhors were selected from the state auditors 

and CPAs in pubhc practice from throughout the United States and represent a cross-

section of this response group. 

Because ofthe Umitations on the sample, some restrictions on the generalizabihty of 

this study exist. However, comparisons were made between the respondents to the initial 

maihng ofthe survey and the respondents to the foUow-up mailing, and no significant 

differences were found in the responses. This measurement indicates that the 

nonrespondents to the survey are very similar to the late respondents and the survey 

resuhs are generalizable to the Hmited populations used for this study. 

Suggestions for Future Research 

The possibihties for fiiture research in this area are extensive. First and foremost wiU 

be the examination of different formats for the statement of cash flows prepared for the 
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govemmental reporting entity. The GASB has akeady suggested some changes to this 

format, but has not tested or evaluated ehher this new format or other possible formats. 

Also, the accounting Hterature has virtually ignored the hnpact ofthe GASBS 9 model 

m answering some ofthe problems addressed m the FASBS 95 model. Makmg fiirther 

comparisons and contrasts similar to the initial steps in Part n is a definite research 

opportunity. 

Examinmg the impact of Statement No. 14 ofthe Govemmental Accountmg Standards 

Board, The Financial Reporting Entity (GASBS 14, 1991), on cash flow reporting is both 

a practical and an academic research opportunity. GASBS 14 has already had a significant 

hnpact on the number of fiinds and component units reported as part ofthe 

Comprehensive Annual Fmancial Report. It is suspected that GASBS 14 has had an 

hnpact on the way cash flows are reported. Whereas a govemment may have used the 

dhect method for preparing the statement prior to the adoption of GASBS 14, the 

govemment may be using the indirect method now because of Hmited information 

available from some component units. The impact of GASBS 14 on SCF reporting needs 

to be examined. 

FinaUy, the possible hnplementation of a new govemmental financial reporting model 

could have a significant impact on cash flow reportmg. A cash flow statement has ah-eady 

been suggested as a "Top ofthe Pyramid" report (GASB, 1994). However, the nature 

and scope of this report has not been explored. This research project and the ones that 

WiU follow could have a significant impact on the scope and format of fiiture cash flow 

reports prepared for state and local govemments. 
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APPENDDC A 

COMPARISON OF GASB STATEMENT NO. 9 

AND FASB STATEMENT NO. 95 

This appendix presents a Hne-by-Hne comparison and analysis of Statement No. 9 of 

the Govemmental Accounting Standards Board, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary 

and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Govemmental Entities That Use Proprietary 

Accounting (GASBS 9) and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 95, 

Statement of Cash Flows (FASBS 95). The purpose of this analysis is to compare and 

contrast the different components of these two statements. 

The organization ofthe analysis is a columnar presentation using the foUowmg three 

headings: (1) GASBS 9; (2) FASBS 95; and (3) Analysis. The first two columns contain 

the texts ofthe two statements virtually verbatim. There has been some rearrangement of 

portions ofthe text to simplify the analysis, includmg making some ofthe footnotes 

parenthetical comments. 
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î  
V3 

3 
o 

CQ " a 
xn o 

: S CQ 

1 < 

V 

CO 
es 

-o o 
a c 

CO 

CO 
3 

. 5 "w m 
BO S ^ 

t j o CQ 

2 'S ^ 
D H . S 
o o 
CO 
(U 
CO 

p 

OQ 

S < 

il 
3 * 5 wa 

C 

C4-C 

o 
§ c/3 "es CO 
&CQ 
2 CO 
CO < 

• - [ t l 
"5 O H -2 ••a -o u 

a, 
E 
o 
o 
CO 
es 

ON 

m 
CO C O 

o < 

o 
es 

A 
Vi 
es o s o 
c 
c 
o 

u o 
u 
(L> 

3 

c2 

g 
CO 
C 
o 
"3 
CO 
C <u 

JS 

o 
• • — » 

<u 
3 

o 
CO 

J2 

Ul C u 
U O 00 

03 rr. = 

2 — s-i 
•S .S -4̂  

(U = 

C -g ON 

2 JU CO 

•§ 2 S 
O CO j j 

.2 c«i :a 

u 

I 
es 

CO 

9i 

s 
S3 p 

bO 

0 3 CO 

'C 

3 « 

O Vi u 

es 

I S 

P H 2 : es 

o 

3 
es 

O 
•̂ ^ 
•T3 

CO 

O 

i 

2 "̂  
3 CO 
O 4 ) 
a CO 

" C CO 
CO es 

U 

> 

CO 
O 
O , 
<U 

"es 
t l 
<U 

c 
CO 

. 0 CO 
es ^ 
vj o 

3 a 
(U 3 

CO u 

O '•-^ 
• . S CO 

es "O 

O CO 
CO • •^ 

•ts -g 
"S 3 u « 
3 CO 

.T3 .£r>-2 00 
•^ > 3 
••H i 3 •?? "3 -a 
"5 5 3 

to o Z-
'C -^ es 

3 X) 
<0 es <u 

3 ^ 

8 « 

Si n. 

ce
s 

3 
a> £H 

,« 
?s 13 

U l 

a 
Vi 
3 
0 
CO 
es U 
U l 

.̂̂  
H 

j i : 
CO 
es 
0 

• 0 
O) 

"3 8 
CO 
CO 
cs 

T3 
3 
es 

3 
O 

•-3 - a T3 
'w 3 2 
O 3 -C 
o, bo Si 

3 £=-
es . 3 
O CO 
3 « 
3 

13 
CO 

CO 

•c 

J3 
CO 
es 
O 
§ 

. , 3 &g-2 

00 
3 • ..^ 
Ul 
3 

-o 
CO 
3 
O 

3 

3 
O 
75 

CO 
cs 

o 
es 
CO 

bO 
3 
3 

CO . 2 

o 
JD 

3 

ON 

PQ 
CO 

es 
(30 

CO S 

o ^ 
u ^ 

es t_ 

O CO 
• " * i ts 3 
2 S 

3 S2 
^ s 
O T3 
Ul » 
1 ) CO 

•5 .ST O 

«^ « Ŝ  

CO 
CO 
(U 
CO 
73 
es 

73 
Ul 

73 

3 

o 
O H 

es 

73 

o 
q=l 
JS 

CO 
eS 
O 

•3 
Ul 

3 
00 

•s 
3 

& i 

.S^ U 
Si 

2 
3 0 
00 

73 

•tl 
3 
<u s 
• 

^ 

3 

73 
3 
O 
•3 
00 

• ^ 

o 
73 

00 
3 

'I 
es 
3 

Ul 
. 0 

73 o i2 
•ts o - t i 

2P to 
3 • — 

-.3 « 2 £ 
OJ o cu o 
O . 3 

§ ^ 

73 O 

Si « 2 s 
& o 

00 
3 73 

"O . 3 "O 

«*5 3 
CO Ul 

« 3 

•3 . & 

l g 
O Ul 
« J3 

J 2 73 
* es 
3 " 
O "O 
U es 

ts o 
3 73 
U 73 

T3 es 

^ 3 es 

73 u 3 
*- ts Ŝ  
3 73 CX 

3 

i 

C M 
O 
3 
O 

:-2 00 
o .5 
cu "55 

.2 > 
3 S 
c • -
es X 
C CO 

73 3 

"S -
IU 

•*—» 
00 
3 

'u 
3 

T3 
CO 

3 
_o 
"3 
es 
CO 
3 
es 

CO - ^ 

3 
9j 

3 
es 

Si 
73 
es 

I 
C4-1 
O 

<u 

JS 
5 
o 

X) 

00 
3 

• 3 
3 
es 
3 

T3 

es W 
O CU 



365 

<u 

•3 
Vi 
eo 

Si 
es - 5 

73 3 

§ 8 

:3 « 

.^ § 
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APPENDIX B 

PRELIMINARY DATA REVIEW 

In preparing this study and the questionnaire a review was made of current practices of 

city financial officers and the methods used to present the Statement of Cash Flows (SCF) 

in comprehensive annual financial reports (CAFRs) of local govemments. The review 

included CAFRs fi-om 495 different cities, including 341 cities that prepared the SCF in 

1989, 1990, or 1991. The remaining 154 cities included the Statement of Changes in 

Financial Position (SCFP) as part ofthe general purpose financial statements (GPFS) as 

late as 1990. A complete summary ofthe findings of this overall analysis is found in 

Table B-1. 

It is important to recognize that Statement No. 9 ofthe Govemmental Accounting 

Standards Board, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds 

and Govemmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting {GASBS 9), was 

issued by the GASB in September 1989 with implementation required in fiscal years 

beginning after December 15, 1989. This implementation date allowed a choice for cities 

with fiscal years ending prior to December 31, 1990. Cities could choose to implement 

the GASBS 9 eariy and present the statement for FY89 or FY90 or cities could delay 

implementation until FY91.̂  During the period fi-om the issuance of Statement of 

Financial Accounting Standards No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows (FASBS 95), in 

^Cities whose fiscal years ended on December 31,1990 (calendar year fiscal years) were required 
to present the SCF prepared in accordance with GASBS 9. 
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November 1987 to the publication of GASBS 9, cities were aUowed to report using either 

the SCFP or the SCF prepared in accordance with FASBS 95. 

A review of Table B-1 indicates that most cities continued to issue SCFPs for FY89, 

although 20% did implement GASBS 9 early. Ofthe cities that elected early 

implementation, 31 (72.1%) were larger cities (population greater than 100,000 people). 

Also, some cities elected to use FASBS 95 guidance in preparing the SCF, but this was a 

short-lived practice. 

Table B-1. SCFP/SCF Summary Information. 

Statement of Changes in Financia 

Working Capital basis 

Cash basis 

Statement of Cash Flows (SCF) 

FASBS 95 format 

GASBS 9 format 

Total 

1989 

Reporting 

I Position (SCFP) 

145 

15 

12 

43 

215 

%of 
Total 

67.4% 

7.0% 

5.6% 

20.0% 

1990 

Reporting 

51 

1 

0 

165 

217 

%of 
Total 

23.5% 

0.5% 

0.0% 

76.0% 

1991 

Reporting 

0 

0 

0 

309 

309 

% of Total 

0.0% 

0.0% 

0.0% 

100.0% 

By 1990 significantly more cities were using the SCF. The use ofthe FASBS 95 

format had ceased completely, but a few cities (24% ofthe cities reviewed) continued to 

use the SCFP; all of these cities had fiscal years ending before December 31, 1990. As 

required, all CAFRs reviewed for 1991 contained the SCF. 

As this broad review was being completed, a second review of actual reporting 

practices was made. This review included seven major points: (1) choice of method for 

preparing the operating activities section ofthe statement-<iirect or indirect (one ofthe 
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major research questions for this study); (2) presentation of prior fiscal year data in the 

year of implementation; (3) disclosure of noncash transactions; (4) defining cash and cash 

equivalents; (5) reconciling the ending cash balance shown on the SCF to the amount(s) 

presented on the balance sheet; (6) using income fi-om operations to prepare the indirect 

(reconciliation) method; and (7) presenting total interest paid. The findings of this review 

are summarized in Table B-2 and discussed below. 

The selection of method for preparing the operating activities section ofthe SCF is the 

third ofthe three research questions for this study. This issue was selected for research 

because ofthe disparity between the public sector and the private sector in preparing the 

SCF. As was shown in Chapter IQ (Figure 3-21) relatively few private sector businesses 

present the SCF using the direct method of preparation. However, a review ofthe CAFRs 

indicates that roughly 50% ofthe cities reviewed used the direct method in 1989 and 1990 

and 43.4% used it in 1991. 

When a city finance officer elected to implement the GASBS 9, there was an option of 

restating the prior year's SCFP in the new SCF format or not presenting prior year data. 

This option was only allowed in the year of adoption; subsequent years must follow the 

practice elected for the other financial statements.^ From the CAFR review, it is obvious 

that a significant number of finance directors did not correctly implement the prior year 

reporting requirement (11.7% in 1991). 

^City fmance directors have the option of presenting prior year comparative data in the cit>̂ s 
CAFR However, if one statement has prior year comparaUve data, all the statements should have 

the data. 
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1989 

Reporting 

Direct Method 22 

Indirect Method 9i 

Restate Prior Fiscal Year 

Yes 29 

No, but presented for other 5 
statements 

No, but not presented on other 9 
statements 

Disclose noncash transactions 

Text format 3 

Columnar format 4 

Notes to financial statements 3 

Not presented 33 

Present definition of cash and cash equivalents 

Yes 35 

No 8 

Present reconciliation of ending cash balance shown on 

Balance Sheet 

Face of statement 4 

Notes to financial statements 3 

No 36 

%of 
Total 

51.2% 

48.8% 

67.4% 

11.6% 

20.9% 

7.0% 

9.3% 

7.0% 

76.7% 

81.4% 

18.6% 

199C 

Reporting 

82 

83 

86 

13 

63 

20 

28 

4 

113 

140 

25 

SCF to amount(s) shown on 

9.3% 

7.0% 

83.7% 

20 

6 

139 

Use income from operations for preparation of indirect (reconciliation) method 

Yes 41 

No 2 

Present total interest paid 

Yes 1 

No 42 

95.3% 

4.7% 

2.3% 

97.7% 

147 

18 

4 

161 

1 

%of 
Total 

49.7% 

50.3% 

52.1% 

7.9% 

38.2% 

12.1% 

17.0% 

2.4% 

68.5% 

84.8% 

15.2% 

12.1% 

3.6% 

84.2% 

89.1% 

10.9% 

2.4% 

97.6% 

1991 

Reporting 

134 

175 

183 

36 

89 

59 

80 

6 

165 

261 

48 

38 

17 

254 

298 

11 

6 

303 

%of 
Total 

43.4% 

56 6% 

59.2% 

11.7% 

28.8% 

19.1% 

25.9% 

1.9% 

53.4% 

84.5% 

15.5% 

12.3% 

5.5% 

82.2% 

96.4% 

3.6% 

1.9% 

98.1»o 
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One ofthe more confusing requirements of GASBS 9 is the disclosure of noncash 

investing, capital, and financing activities infomiation. FASBS 95 allows disclosure either 

on the same page as the statement or in the notes to the financial statements. GASBS 9 

states, "The schedule [of noncash transactions] may be presented, if space permits, on the 

same page as the statement of cash flows" (GASBS 9, 1989, p. 13, emphasis added). As 

was noted earlier, the use of "may" typically means that the disclosure is not a requirement 

while "should" typically means "will." Therefore, the standard did not indicate the 

required location ofthe noncash transaction disclosures. 

In the nonauthoritative "Basis for Conclusions" appendix to GASBS 9, the Board was 

more specific, stating: "The Board therefore eliminated the option to present the 

information in the notes to the financial statements" (GASBS 9, 1989, p. 28). So the 

Board did intend for the noncash disclosures to be included on the same page as the SCF 

or on the following page. Unfortunately, the "Basis for Conclusions" are not published in 

the Codification of Govemmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, which 

is considered by most to be GAAP for financial reporting. The publication ofthe Guide to 

Implementation of GASB Statement 9 on Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and 

Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Govemmental Entities that Use Proprietary Fund 

Accounting (GASBS 9 IG) in 1992 clarified this situation by stating: " . . . the disclosures 

should not be separated fi-om the statement of cash flows by being presented in the notes 

to the financial statements" (GASBS 9 IG, 1992, p. 11, emphasis added). 

Nonetheless, the reporting practices for disclosing noncash transactions have been 

inconsistent. Avery small percentage of city finance officers (1.9% in 1991) continue to 
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place the disclosure in the notes to the financial statements. However, more than half of 

the cities (53.4%) report no noncash transactions. Clearly, this could be the result of a 

city not having any noncash transactions, but it is also very possible that city finance 

directors do not understand how to report noncash transactions. In many cases where 

cities did not report the events in 1989 or 1990, the following year's report did disclose 

noncash transactions for the current year and the prior year. 

Another often-abused requirement of GASBS 9 is the requirement to present a 

definition of cash and cash equivalents in the notes to the financial statements. Although 

the standard does provide a detailed definition of cash and cash equivalents, city finance 

director's are required to disclose the specific definition being used for the city financial 

statements—some variation fi-om the standard is allowed. However, a significant number 

of CAFRs (15.5% in 1991) do not present the definition. 

Another confiising aspect ofthe SCF prepared for a city is that the ending balance of 

cash and cash equivalents on the statement does not easily reconcile to cash and cash 

equivalents presented on the balance sheet. Common causes of this problem include 

reporting cash equivalents as investments on the balance sheet and the presence of 

restricted cash and cash equivalents in a separate section on the balance sheet. While 

GASBS 9 does not require this reconciliation, a few CAFRs have the disclosure in the 

notes to the financial statements while others include it on the face ofthe statement. The 

GASBS 9 IG recommended that this reconciliation be prepared (Most CAFRs (82 2% of 

the total in 1991), however, do not reconcile the two amounts. 
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A significant difference in GASBS 9 and FASBS 95 is found in the operating activities 

section prepared using the indirect method or in the reconciliation if the direct method is 

used. FASBS 9 requires that the starting point be net income while GASBS 9 stipulates 

that operating income be the starting point. A declining number of city finance directors 

continue to use net income (11 or 3.6% in 1991) even though operating income is 

presented on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Equity. 

One final point which is relatively minor that proved interesting in comparing 

GASBS 9 and FASBS 95 is the requirement of FASBS 95 to report total interest paid. 

There is no such requirement in GASBS 9, but a small number of cities (6 or 1.9% in 

1991) do present the information. 

One ofthe disclosures that became evident during the review ofthe CAFRs is that 

some city finance directors had made errors in implementing GASBS 9 and corrected 

these errors in later years. The more common errors identified in 1989 and 1990 that 

were corrected either in 1990 or 1991, respectively, are shown in Table B-3. Also noted 

were some changes fi-om earlier reports that were incorrect or unfortunate. These changes 

are also shown in Tables B-4. One disclosure that has not changed in all the reports 

reviewed has been the method of preparation. Once a city finance director has selected a 

method of presentation—either the direct method or the mdirect method— t̂hat method 

has not changed in subsequent years. 



Table B-3. SCF Presentation Improvements MflH<> in 1990 or 1991. 

4. Provided reconciliation of ending cash balance on SCF to 
Balance Sheet. 

Started using income fi-om operations instead of net income. 

6. Began providing prior year data. 
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Change in SCF Reporting Practice # of Cities 

1. Provided cash and cash equivalents note 23 

2. Reported noncash transactions: 

in columnar format. j 9 

in text format. 21 

in notes (incorrect, but better in notes than not at all). 4 

3. Reported total interest payments. 1 

Table B-4. Erroneous Changes Made in Presentation of SCF in 1990 or 1991. 

Change in SCF Reporting Practice # of Cities 

1. Did not provide cash and cash equivalents note. 

2. Stopped presenting noncash transactions. 

3. Stopped providing reconciliation of ending cash balance on SCF to 
Balance Sheet. 

4. Stopped providing prior year data. 



APPENDKC 

QUESTIONNAIRE BOOKLET AND INFORMATION BOOKLET 

On the following pages are the Questionnaire Booklet and the Information Booklet to 

be used in this study. Some format changes have been made in order that both booklets 

may fit in the allowed space for this appendk. 
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QUESTIONNAIRE BOOKLET 

The questions in tius Questioiuiaire Booklet are to be answered using the financial statements in the accompanying 
Infonnation Booklet Completely unfoW both booklets before proceeding. Should you desire to make comments 
about or supplement your answers to specific questions, please attach additional sheets as required. If you require 
assistance m completing this questionnaire, please cafl Robert Smith at (806) 742-1414 or send us a FAX at (806) 
742-2099. ^ ^ 

PART I 

At this time take a few minutes to review the Balance Sheet, Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in 
Fund Equity (Operating Statement) and Statement of Cash Ftows for tiie City of MkJdle Station Solid Waste 
Enterprise Fund These statements are on pages 1 through 3 in the Infonnation Booklet 

In this portion of the survey you are asked to rate the importance of the three financial statements in evaluating 
certain financial analysis issues conceming the operations of the Solid Waste Disposal Enterprise Fund for 1992 To 
rate the importance of each financial statement, use the foUowing rating system: 

1 for the financial statement that is most important for anafyzing the issue 
2 for the financial statement that is of moderate importance for anafyzing the issue 
3 for the financial statement that is tiie least important for anafyzing the issue 
4 if the financial statement is of no importance for analyzing the issue 

For each financial anafysis issue, only one financial statement can be ranked as 1,2, or 3, but more than one 
statement can be ranked as 4. 

Rate Importance of F. S. 
Financial Analvsis Issues BS OS SCF 

Example: To report total assets for the end of 1992. 

1. To determine if sufficient operating revenues were eamed fi-om 1992 
operatwns to finance 1992 operating expenses. 

1 To determine the method of financing for property, plant, and 
equipment acquisitions for 1992. 

3. To assess the current financial position of the enterprise fiind 

4. To determine if sufficient operating cash flows were received from 
1992 operations to pay for 1992 operating expenditures. 

5. To assess whetiier fiiture cash flows will likely be sufficient to meet 
fiiture debt servke principal and interest requirements. 

6. To assess die results of operations of tiie enterprise fimd for 1992. 

7. To determine if cash received from customers equaled fees charged to 
customers during 1992 

8. To assess tiie credit wortiiiness of tiie enterprise fimd 
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PARTE 

Part n of tiie Infonnation Booklet (pages 4 and 5) contains two Statements of Cash Rows prepared using tiie 
requirements of the GASB and the FASB. 

Rease Review tiiese two Statements of Cash Rows. The statements are prepared for flie same govemmental entity. 
Tlie SCF on page 4 is tiie GASB format; flie statement on page 5 is tiie FASB format Government-unique items, 
such as interfimd ti-ansfers, are inchided in these examples to highlight tiie differences in format Each issue 
addressed in this section pertains to tiie differences in tiie two SCF formats. 

In re^xinding to the questions in this section, we are interested in ̂ 'our point of view, not the positwn of the GASB 
or tiie FASB. 

The following pairs of statements compare the organization and design of the Statement of Cash Rows prepared in 
accordance with GASB Statement No. 9 and FASB Statement No. 95. We are interested in your opinion—not tiie 
position of the GASB or the FASB—concerning each of the issues expressed below. For each pair of statements 
place a check ( • ) next to the one with which you most agree, llien, indicate how strongly you prefer the 
statement you chose by circling the corresponding number (1) no preference, (2) littie preference, (3) moderate 
preference, or (4) strong preference. Circle only one number for the statement selected 

Degree of Preference 

Example: 

1. 

2 

3. 

a. 
or 
b. 

a. 

or 
b. 

a. 

or 
b. 

a. 

or 
b. 

I would rather watch a college football game. 

I would rather watch a college basketball game. 

I believe that cash receipts for interest eamed on investments 
should be classified as a cash flow from "operating" activities. 

I believe that cash receipts for interest earned on investments 
should be classified as a cash flow from "investing" activities. 

I believe that debt issued to finance operations should be 
reported in a separate section fiom debt issued to finance 
capital acquisitwns. 

I believe tiiat all debt issues should be reported in tiie same 
sectioa 

I believe tiiat payments made fiom an enterprise fimd to 
support tiie operations of anoflier govemment activity should 
be classified as a "noncapital financing" activity for tiie 
enterprise fund 

I believe tiiat payments made from an enterprise fimd to 
support tiie operations of anotiier govemment activity should 
be classified as an "operating" activity for tiie enterprise fiind 

None Strong 

3 
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Part n (continued) 
Degree of Preference 

"*• ^ ^^^^evetiiatcashpaidforlong-terminvestmentsin " ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ 
marketable securities and cash paid for capital acquisitions 
should be reported in tiie same sectioa 

°^ J,,. ^ , 1 2 3 4 
D. loeiieveUiat cash paid for long-term investments should 

be reported in a separate section firom cash paki for capital 
acquisitions. 

-̂ ^ I believe tiiat cash paid for interest on debt should be 
reported as an "operating" activity. 

°^ 1 2 3 4 
b. I believe tiiat cash paid for interest on debt should be 

reported as a "financing"* activity. 

6- a. I believe that tiie reconciliation of nef income or operorv̂ f 
income to cash flows firom operating activities is essential 
to understanding the SCF. 

or 1 2 3 4 
b. I believe that the reconciliation of net income or operating 

income to cash flows from operating activities is 
redundant 

7. a. I believe that subsidies received to support the operations 
of an enterprise fimd from other funds should be reported 
as an "operating" activity, 

or 1 2 3 4 
b. I believe that subsklies received to support the operations 

of an enterprise fimd firom other funds should be reported 
as a "noncapital financing" activity. 

8. a. I believe governmental fimd financial statements should be 
different firom the proprietary funds, including the SCF. 

or 
b. I beUeve govemmental fimd and proprietary fund financial 

statements should be the same. 1 2 3 4 

9. a. I believe that govemment enterprises should use the same 
financial statements as private sector businesses. 

or 
b. I believe that govemment enterprises should have unique 

financial statements. 
1 2 3 4 

10. a. I believe tiie GASB SCF format is superior overall to tiie 
FASB SCF format 

or 
b. I believe tiie FASB SCF format is superior overall to flie 

GASB SCF format ^ ^ 



395 

PARTin 

in accordance 

pn^endog th. o p e n . 4 S u ^ ^ ^ f tte^ que»om«neyou ai. to compare th. n^thod, for 

S S ^ 3 L ™ S ^ J ' T ' ' ^ ^ tV " ^ 8 "heck (/) ta the appropriate a,lunm wheter ym 
te^ W ^ ^ ^ h ^ „ ^ r ^ " ^ ^ ^^"^ *= '*'•«**• ^ " • ideate how strongly you prefer 

•^fel^iSe _ D|r Ind None Strong 
Method 

Dir Ind 
D^n 
None 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

4 Example: Comes first alphabetically. 1 2 3 

1. Presents tiie best infonnation about "operating" cash flows. 1 2 3 4 

2 Use requires presentation of other financial statements. 1 2 3 4 

3. Language requires littie expertise in accounting to 
understand 

4. Most clearly presents the results of Cash Rows from 
Operations. 

5. Presents unnecessary information about "operating" cash 
flows. 

If all governments were required to report using the same format of the SCF, select one of the following three 
statements that best identifies your position on which format should be required Then, indicate how strongly you 
prefer the standard 

D^ree of Preference 
None Strong 

a. All SCFs should be prepared using the indirect method. 
or 
b. All SCFs should be prepared using the direct method onfy without the 

reconciliation. 1 2 3 4 
or 
c. All SCFs should be prepared using the direct method with the 

reconciliation provided as additional disclosure. 



396 

RESPONDENT DEMOGRAPHIC DATA 

Check tiie one category tiiat best describes tiie group to which you belong. 

Member of citizen advocacy or inforaiation group or tiie news media 

Legislative official (e.g., City Council, County Commission). 

Govemment finance official (e.g., Director of Finance, ControUer). 

Mumcipal bond analyst, investor, or creditor. 

Public Accounting Firm or State Auditor 

Other (please specify) _ ^ 

Please answer questions 1,2, and 3. 

1. Age group: Under 25 //25-35 //36-45 //46-55 //56-65 

2 Circle the number that best describes your level of: 

Familiarity with generalfy accepted accounting principles applicable to 
state and local governments. 

Familiarity with generalfy accepted accounting principles applicable to 
businesses. 

Involvement with the anafysis of state and local govemment financial 
reports. 

//Over 65 

Verv Low Verv High 

1 2 3 4 5 

1 2 3 4 5 

1 2 3 4 5 

3. Approximatefy how marty state and local govemment financial reports do you review each 
year? 

Answer questions 4 and 5 onfy if you are employed by a local govemment (city or county). 

4. What is your positron? ^ 

5. If your govemment uses tiie direct method of If your govemment uses tiie indirect method of 
preparing tiie SCF, was its use (check the one preparing the SCF, was its use (check tiie one that 
tiiat applies): appUes) 

Requested by you. 
Suggested by your public auditor. 
Suggested by your state auditor. 
Other (please explain) 

_Requested by you. 
_Suggested by your public auditor. 
_Suggested by your state auditor. 
_Other (please explain) 
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Respondent Demographic Data (continued) 

^^''^'^V'^^ns 6, 7 and 8 onfy ifyou are employed by an audU organization. 

6. What is your positkm titie? 

7. Ifow^many audits of state or local govemments do you or your firm/office perform each 

8. Of your local govemment cUents, what percentage: 

Prepare a Statement of Cash Rows 

Use tiie direct metiiod of preparing tiie Cash Rows horn Operating Activities section 

Receive tiie GFOA Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Fmancial Reporting 

Have you assist in compiUng tiie information from tiie accounting records into proper financial 
statement format while performing the audit 

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire. 

We welcome your comments about issues addressed in this questionnaire. Please use tiie space provkied below and 
attach additional comment pages as needed 

If you would like to receive a copy of the research results, please enclose your retum address or business card 
Retum onfy this Questionnaire Booklet in the enclosed postage-paid envelope to: 

Governmental Accounting Research Center Should you require assistance in completing this 
ATTN: G. Robert Smith, Jr., Assistant Director questwimaire, please call Robert Smith at 
Texas Tech University (806) 742-1414 or send us a FAX at (806) 742-2099. 
COBA—^Accounting 
Box 4320 
Lubbock, TX 79409 
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INFORMATION BOOKLET 

?^S^ t̂fZ î̂ to"^rr.̂ *^^°™^ -̂y-̂ -«^^^ The booklet is divkled into three parts: 

Part I Pages 1-3 Financial statements for the Solid Waste Disposal Enterprise Fund: 

• Balance Sheet for June 30,1992 and 1991 

• Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Oianges in Fund Equity 
(Operating Statement) for die years ended June 30,1992 and 1991 

• Statement of Cash Rows for tiie years ended June 30,1992 and 1991 

The Enterprise Fund is a dhdsion of tiie City of Middle Station. TTie City 
has a population of approximatefy 150,000 residents. The facility serves ten 
other area cities and the county, a population of 625,000. 

Independent auditors have expressed an unqualified opinion on all financial 
statements of the city. 

Part II Pages 4-5 Two comparative Statements of Cash Flows: 

• a city enterprise fimd Statement of Cash Rows prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of Statement No. 9 of the Govemmental 
Accounting Standards Board Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and 
Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities That Use 
Proprietary Fund Accounting 

• a city enterprise fimd Statement of Cash Rows prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows, of the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board 

Part III Page 6 A comparison of the direct method and indirect method of preparing the 
Cash Flows fbom Operating Activities section ofthe GASB Statement No. 
9 version ofthe Statement of Cash Flows 

Before beginning the anafysis of these financial statements read the instmctions on the cover of the Questionnaire 
Booklet and completefy unfold both booklets. 

When you have completed the questionnaire, return onfy the 
Questionnaire Booklet in the enclosed preaddressed envelope. 

Please DO NOT retum this Infomiation Booklet 

Thanks again for participating in this survey. 
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PARTI 

CITY OF MIDDLE STATION ^^*^ 
SOLTO WASTE DISPOSAL ENTERPRISE FUND 

BALANCE SHEET 
June 30,1992 and 1991 

ASSETS 

Current Assets ^^^ ^^^ 
Cash 

Accounts Receivable '(less A^A^, SIS.OOO for 1992! $12,500 for 199li •:.•.:.•::::: 1567^^ T i m 
Liventoiy of Materials and Supphes [ '3^:^00 25,200 
Prepaid Expenses iglopQ 27 500 

Total Current Assets oi7*;n<:n iTaTorvi 
„ . . . , . ^ _ 2176.1)31) 1.534.900 
Restricted Assets—Construction — — — 
9^ • • 301,150 — 
Snort-term Investments ^QQ QQQ 
AccraedInterestRecebable 65600 — 

Total Restricted Assets 955 4QQ 1 7 
Property, Plant, and Equipment ' 
^ ^ ^ 3,415,000 3,000,000 
^ ^ ^ g S 1,000,000 1,000,000 
Building Improvements 375,000 375,000 
Improvements Other than Buildings 6(X),(X)0 400 000 
Vehicles andEquipment 1.67o!oOO 1.462500 

Total Property, Plant, and Equipment 7,060,000 6,237,500 
Less Accumulated Depreciation 1.458.000 1.227.500 

Net Property, Plant, and Equipment 5.602000 5.010.000 
TOTALASSETS $8.743.450 $6.544.900 

LIABIUTIES AND FUND EQUITY 
UABUJTIES 
Current Liabilities (Payable from Current Assets) 
Vouchers Payable $106,950 $147,400 
Current Portion of Bonds Payable 75,000 75,000 
Accraed Salaries and Wages Payable 98,050 124,950 
Compensated Absences 103,200 97,650 
Accraed Interest Payable 42,400 20,250 
Otiier Accraed UabiUties 24.050 63,900 
Total Current Liabilities (Payable from Current Assets) 449.650 529.150 
Long-Term liabilities 
Advance frotn General Fund 50,000 37,500 
Bonds Payable 2,750.000 600.000 
Total Long-Term Liabilities 2,800,000 637.500 
TOTAL LIABILnTES 3.251.000 1.166.650 
FUND EQUTTYRetained Eamings 
Reserved ^84,750 515,875 
Umeserved ^-258^50 L 6 3 6 ^ 

Total Retained Eamings 2^41300 2.152,750 
Contributed Capital 
Conttibuted Capital-Governmental Unit H S ^ l ^ ^ f ^ S 

Total Contributed Capital | 2 ^ 2^215QQ 
TOTAL FUND EQUITY . t ^ ^ t ^ S 

TOTAL LIABHiTIES AND FUND EQUITY $8,143^50 $6,544.900 
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PARTI 

CITY OF MIDDLE STATION 
SOUD WASTE DISPOSAL ENTERPRISE FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND EQUITY 
(Operating Statement) 

For the Years Ended June 30,1992 and 1991 
1992 

Operating Revenues 
Residential Fees $1,235,000 
Commercial Fees 2150 000 
In*^s^^Fees 2,120^500 
Fees firom Other Government Agencies 525,500 
Fees from Other Gtovemments 395 QOO 
Recycling Revenues 125!500 

Total Operating Revenues 6.551.500 

Operating Expenses 
Salaries and Wages Expense 3,435,000 
Supplks Expense 1,045,000 
Vehicle Maintenance 287,550 
Diqx>sal Site Maintenance 935,550 
Building Maintenance 135,450 
Payments in Lieu of Taxes to General Fund 245,000 
Depreciation Expense 230,500 
Administrative and General Expense 182550 
Bad Debt Expense 16.500 

Total Operating Expenses 6.513.100 

Operating Income 38.400 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 
Interest Revenues 105,550 
Gain on Sale of Investments — 
Interest E^qienses (129,900) 
Loss on Sale of Investments —(35.(X)0) 

Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) —(59.350) 

Income Before Operating Transfers (20,950) 

Operating Transfers 
From Special Revenue Fund n^^^\ 
To GeneralFund usm 

Net Operating Transfers ^̂ •̂ "" 

^ , . (9,450) 
Netlncome. 
Fund Equity, Jufy 1 <;n rvm 
Residual Equity Transfer fiom apital Projects Fund #3 ^u.uuu 
Residual Equity Transfer fiom General Fund $ £ 4 ^ ^ 
Fund Equity, June 30 "* 

Page 2 

1991 

$1,145,500 
2,095,600 
2,116,250 

530,300 
406,150 

12500 
6.306.300 

3,228,900 
1,037,250 

289,650 
863,500 
145,350 
245,000 
184,750 
75,000 
20.100 

6.089.500 

216.800 

53,500 
33,000 

(38,950) 

47.550 

264.350 

32500 
(37300) 
(5.000) 

259,350 
5,188,900 

$5.378.250 
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PARTI 
P^e3 

CITY OF MIDDLE STATION 
SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL ENTERPRISE FUND 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the Years Ended June 30,1992 and 1991 

^ , „ 1992 1991 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
CashRecewed fiom Customers $5,812,150 $6,011,600 
Otiier Operating Revenues 125^00 12400 

Cash Paki to Employees (3,456,350) 
(3,198,900) 
Cash Paki to Supphers for Goods and ServKcs (2,665,200) (2480,850) 
Payment in Lieu ofTaxes to tiie General Fund (245.000) (245.000) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (428.900) 99.350 

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities 
Residual Equity Transfer from General Fund 75,000 — 
Proceeds from Bond Issue 517,500 — 
Repayment of Bonds (25,000) (25,000) 
Operating Transfer from Special Revenue Fund 32,500 32,500 
Operating Transfer to GeneralFund (21,000) (37,500) 
Advance firom General Fund 12,500 37,500 
Interest Paki on Bonds r21.550) (6.900) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Noncapital Financing Activities 569.950 600 

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities 
Proceeds firom Bond Issue 1,207,500 — 
Repayment of Bonds (50,000) (50,000) 
Acquisition of Capital Assets (407,500) (250,000) 
Reskiual Equity Transfer firom Capital Projects Fund #3 50,000 — 
Interest Paki on Bonds .(86.200) (32,050) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related 
Financing Activities J^m (Mm) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 1 ^o nnn 

_ _̂  T .» 41.350 53.5UU 
Interest on Investinents r^nanrKW fiA^nt\ 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities 1508J00) ^6.500 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 346,150 (145.^) 
CashandCashEquivalentsatUieBeginningofti.eYear ^Lm LLLm 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at tiie End of tiie Year $822050 ^UUm 

Noncash Investing, Capital, and Financing Activities: 
In 1992, long-term bonds were exchanged for land, $5UU,uuu. 

Hfite: One-half of the sample received this SCF; the other half received the one on the 

following page. 
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PARTI 
Page 3 

CITY OF MIDDLE STATION 
SOUD WASTE DISPOSAL ENTERPRISE FUND 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the Years Ended June 30,1992 and 1991 

1992 1991 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

? P f ^ S ^ " ^ ^ - - : $38,400 $216,800 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided 

by operating activities 
Depreciation 230.500 184.750 
Qianges m assets and habilities 

(Increase) Decrease m Accounts Receivable (599,850) (253,700) 
Increase (Decrease) in Allowance for Doubtfiil Accounts 2^00 2500 
(Increase) Decrease in Inventory of Materials and Supplies (11,300) (2,450) 
(Increase) Decrease in Prepaid Expenses 121,500 (7^550) 
Increase (Decrease) in Vouchers Payable (40,450) (20,000) 
Increase (Decrease) in Accraed Salaries and Wages Payable (26^900) 30,000 
Increase (Decrease) in Compensated Absences 5,550 4,500 
Increase (Decrease) in Otiier Accraed Liabilities (39,850) (23,000) 

Total Adjustinents (467.300) (117.450) 
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (428.900) 99.350 

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities 
Residual Equity Transfer firom General Fund 75,000 — 
Proceeds firom Bond Issue 517,500 — 
Repayment of Bonds (25,000) (25,000) 
Operating Transfer firom Special Revenue Fund 32500 32500 
OperatingTransfer to GeneralFund (21,000) (37,500) 
Advance firom General Fund 12,500 37,500 
Interest Paid on Bonds ^21.550) (6.900) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Noncapital Financing Activities 569.950 600 

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities 
Proceeds firom Bond Issue 1,207,500 — 
Repayment of Bonds (50,000) (50,000) 
Acquisition of Capital Assets (407,500) (250,000) 
Residual Equity Transfer firom Capital Projects Fund 50,000 — 
InterestPaid on Bonds (86,200) (32.050) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related 
Fmancing Activities -21^0 (332.050) 

Cash Plows from Investing Activities 
P roceeds f i romS^of^en t s !! : ; : : i!!!!:! (m^) ( i S ^ ) 
Pureha^ of Investinents 41.300 53.500 
Interest on Investinents rQii:ni:n\ oA^m 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities i ^ m Mm 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Eqmvalents 346.150 (145,^) 
CashandCashEquivalentsattheB^ni^^^^^^ •••••••• g g | ^ 
Cash and Cash Equhralents at the End ofthe Year "—•— — » = -

Noncash Investing, Capital, and Fmancing Activities: 
In 1992, long-term bonds were exchanged for land, $500,000. 
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Page 4 
P A R T H 

CITY OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
ENTERPRISE FUND 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS PREPARED ACCORDING TO GASBS 9 
For the Year Ended June 30,1992 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Cash Received from (Customers $6 J 5 0 000 
Other Operating Revenues 120000 
Cash Paid to Employees '"!"!!".""!!!! ! ."!! . ' ! ! . ' ! (3,450,'oOO) 
Cash Paid to Supphers for Goods and Services (2,765,000) 
Payment in Lieu ofTaxes to General Fund (25o!oOO) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities $5,000 
Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities 
Residual Equity Transfer firom General Fund 100,000 
Proceeds firom Bond Issue 600,000 
Repayment of Bonds (50,000) 
Operating Transfer firom Special Revenue Fund 45,000 
Gyrat ing Transfer to General Fund (15,000) 
Advance firom General Fimd 10,000 
Interest Paid on Bonds (25.000) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Noncapital Fmancmg Acthities 665,000 
Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities 
ProceedsfiromBondlssue 1,200,000 
Repayment of Bonds (100,000) 
Proceeds firom Sale of Equipment 25,000 
Acquisition of Capital A^ets (750,000) 
Residual Equity Transfer firom Capital Projects Fund 50,(XX) 
InterestPaid onBonds (100.000) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related Financing Activities 325,000 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Proceeds firom Sale of Investments 65,000 
Purchase of Investments (800,000) 
Interest on Investments ^i^OO 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities (637,500) 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 357,500 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the B ^ i n n m g of tiie Year ^̂ '̂ iQOQ 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year $ 884.500 
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 
Operating Income $135,000 
Adjustinents to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities 

Depreciation $230,500 
Changes in assets and UabiUties nfii^(Yr(\ 

(Increase) Decrease in Accounts Receivable ^ c ^ 
Increase (Decrease) in Mowance for Doubtfiil Accounts 5,000 
(Inciease)Decreaseinlnventory of Materials and Supphes (UUW) 
(Increase) Decrease in Prepaid Expenses 1" '"^ 
Increase (Decrease) in Vouchers Payable. . . . . . . . ^ . . . ^ . g ^ ^ 
Increase (Decrease) in Accraed Salaries and Wages Payable (27.000) 
Increase (Increase) in Compensated Absences . 
Increase (Decrease) in Otiier Accraed Liabihdes -C^Q^) ( m ^ ) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities =:= 
Noncash investing, capital, and enancing activities: 
In 1992, long-term bonds were exchanged for land, $l,000,uuu. 
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PARTH 

CITY OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT ^ ^ ' ^ 
ENTERPRISE FUND 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS PREPARED ACCORDING TO FASBS 95 
r- u r , ^ ^ For Uie Year Ended June 30,1992 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Cash Received firom Customers t^a^nnm 
Interest on Investinents .""'"!. ^'.'.'!."!!.'.".*! 97*500 
Otiier Operating Revenues 120 000 
Operating Transfer firom Special Revenue Fund 45 000 
Cash Paid for Purchases ^ 765 000) 
Cash Paid for Operating Expenses (4'45o'oOO) 
InterestPaid on Bonds " ! ! " ! (125000) 
TaxesPaid (250̂ 000) 
Operating Transfer to General Fund (15.000) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operatmg Activities $7,500 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Proceeds firom Sale of Investments 65 000 
Purchase of Investments (800,000) 
Proceeds fiom Sale of O^ital Assets 25,000 
Acquiation of Capital Assets (750.000) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities (1,460,000) 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
Proceeds firom Bond Issue 1,800,000 
Rqiayment of Bonds (150,000) 
Residual Equity Transfer firom General Fund 100,000 
Residual Equity Transfer firom Capital Projects Fund 50,000 
Advance firom General Fund 10.000 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Fmancmg Activities 1.810.000 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 357,500 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the B^inning of the Year 527.000 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at tiie End of tiie Year $ 884.500 
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 
Netlncome $98,500 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities 

Depreciation 230,500 
Gain on Sale of Investments (15,000) 
LossonSaleof Capital Assets 35,000 
Qianges in assets and UabiUties 

(Increase) Decrease in Accounts Receivable (260,000) 
Increase (Decrease) in Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 5,000 
(Increase) Decrease in Accraed Interest Receivable 1,500 
(Increase) Decrease m Inventory of Materials and SuppUes (13,000) 
(Increase) Decrease in Prepaid Expenses fl^'^s. 
Increase (Decrease) in Vouchers Payable oi'nnn^ 
Increase (Decrease) in Accraed Salaries and Wages Payable 1 7 ^ 
Increase (Decrease) in Accraed Interest Payable 17,500 
Increase (Decrease) in Compensated Absences JJ.«JU 
Increase (Decrease) in Otiier Accraed LiabiUties JWim) m ^ 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 
$ 7.500 

Noncash investmg and financing activities: 
Long-term bonds were exchanged for land, $1,000,000. 
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PART HI 
METHODS OF PREPARING THE 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES SECTION 
OF THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Fage6 

Currently, there are two methods of preparing the Cash Flows from Operating Activities Section of the Statement of 
Cash Flows: the direct method and the indirect method. Each method is shown below. Both the GASB and the FASB 
allow these altematives. 

The use of the direct method results in the reporting of the major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments. The 
difference in the receipts and payments is net cash provided (used) by operating activities. What is shown in the example 
below is the minimum disclosure allowed 

The indirect method, also called the reconciliation method, reports the same amount of net cash provided (used) by 
operating activities. This presentation is achieved by adjusting operating income for transactions that do not result in 
cash flows in the current period (depreciation and amortization) and for changes in current asset and current liability 
accounts (except those related to noncapital, capital and relating financing, and investing activities). 

Current^, if a city's finance director elects to use the direct method, the reconciliation must also be presented in a separate 
schedule at the end of the SCF or on the following page. In this part of the survey, we want you to examine the direct 
method and the indirect method independently. Assume that the use ofthe direct method does not also require Uie 
presentation of the reconciliation of operating income to cash flows from operations. 

CITY OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
ENTERPRISE FUND 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the Year Ended June 30,1992 

DIRECT METHOD 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Cash Recehred from Customers 19? 1 m 
Otiier Operating Revenues nl^i^^ 
Cash Paid to Employees o S ^ ' « n 
Cash Paid to Supphers for Goods and Services msnm^ 
PaymentinLieuof Taxes to GeneralFund (245.UUU) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operatmg Activities 

INDIRECT METHOD 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

^ ^ ^ S t o ' I ^ n c f l e operating income to net cash provided by operating activities ^^^^^ 

Depreciation 
Changes in assets and UabiUties ^250 oOO) 

(Increase) Decrease in Accounts Receivable ^ ' •' 
Increase (Decrease) in Allowance for Doubtful Accounts A ^ ^ 
(Increase) Decrease in Inventory of Matenals and Supphes W ^ ^ ) 
(Increase) Decrease in Prepaid Expenses (40450) 

Increase(Decrease)inAdvancePayments.._.. r32.950) 
Increase (Decrease) in Otiier Accraed Liabihties - » - — ^ 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 

($102,550) 

$38,400 

(140.950) 
($102550) 



APPENDIX D 

SURVEY CORRESPONDENCE 

Included in this appendix are examples of: 

• the letters that accompanied the initial mailing. Examples ofthe letters sent to all 

response groups are shown here. The other letter, from David R. Bean, Director 

of Research at the Govemmental Accounting Standards Board, was standard for 

all response groups. The examples shown here exclude the letterhead information. 

• the letter that accompanied the follow-up mailing. Like the cover letter in the 

initial mailing, this letter was on Texas Tech University stationary and was 

adjusted based on the response group ofthe addressee. Only the standard letter is 

shown here. 

• the postcard that followed the second mailing. 
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Finance Directors 

GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING RESEARCH CENTER Robert J. Froeman, Dir«:tor 
G. Robert Smith, Jr., Asst Director 

June 25,1993 

Your city [county] has been selected to participate in a nationwide survey that assesses different aspects of 
the financial statements used currently for the proprietary (business-type) fimds of state and local 
govenraients. We ask that you, or a person within the city [county] govemment more famihar with the 
preparation ofthe financial statements, complete the enclosed survey. 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has stated on numerous occasions its intent to reexamine 
the financial reporting model, including the financial statements used in that model. The enclosed letter 
firom David R. Bean, Director of Research for the GASB, indicates the GASB's interest in and support of 
this research project. 

Completion ofthe entire survey should take from 25 to 35 minutes. Two booklets are enclosed: an 
Information Booklet and a Questionnaire Booklet. Please read the instructions for the survey carefully. 
The issues addressed include financial reporting in general, the format ofthe Statement of Cash Flows, and 
the options available for preparing one section ofthe Statement of Cash Flows. 

To complete the Questionnaire Booklet, you will find it easier if you unfold the Information Booklet 
completely. After unfolding the Information Booklet, pages 1,2, and 3—necessary for Part I—and the 
"arrow" page should be in front of you. When you have finished Part I, fold page 3 and the "arrow" page 
over pages 1 and 2; then pages 4 and 5— n̂ecessary for Part II—will be displayed. When you have finished 
Part n, fold page 5 over page 4 and you will see page 6 which is used to complete Part III. 

Should you encounter any problems in completing the survey, we encourage you to call Robert Smith at 
(806) 742-1414 or send us a FAX at (806) 742-2099. When you have completed the Questionnaire 
Booklet, please retum it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. 

Thank you for taking the time and effort to assist us in this research. 

Sincerely, 

G. Robert Smith, Jr. 
4 enclosures 
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League of Women Voters 

GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING RESEARCH CENTER Robert J. F^man, D i i ^ r 
G. Robert Smith, Jr., Asst Director 

July 6,1993 

Your local chapter ofthe League of Women Voters has been selected to participate in a nationwide survey. 
The survey addresses different aspects ofthe financial statements used currently for the business-type 
(proprietary) fimds of state and local govemments. We request that you or a member of your organization 
complete the enclosed survey. 

In research projects hke this one, it is often difficult to find knowledgeable citizens. The active 
participation of citizen advocacy groups such as the League of Women Voters is very important in any 
research that addresses public policy or financial reporting. The enclosed letter from David R. Bean, 
Director of Research for the Govemmental Accounting Standards Board, indicates tiie GASB's interest in 
and support of this research project. We would appreciate your support as well. 

Completion ofthe entire survey should take from 25 to 35 minutes. Two booklets are enclosed: an 
Information Booklet and a Questionnaire Booklet. Please read the instructions for the survey carefiilly. 
The issues addressed include fmancial reporting in general, the format ofthe Statement of Cash Flows 
(SCF), and the options available for preparing one section ofthe SCF. 

To complete the Questionnaire Booklet, you will find it easier if you unfold the Information Booklet 
completely. After unfolding tiie Information Booklet, pages 1,2, and 3—^necessary for Part I—and tiie 
"arrow" page should be in front of you. When you have finished Part I, fold page 3 and tiie "arrow" page 
over pages 1 and 2; tiien pages 4 and 5—^necessary for Part II—will be displayed. When you have finished 
Part n, fold page 5 over page 4 and you will see page 6 which is used to complete Part III. 

Should you encounter any problems in completing the survey, we encourage you to call Robert Smith at 
(806) 742-1414 or send us a FAX at (806) 742-2099. When you have completed tiie Questionnaire 
Booklet, please return it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. 

Thank you for taking tiie time and effort to assist us in tiiis project. 

Sincerely, 

G. Robert Smitii, Jr. 
4 enclosures 
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Other Citizen Action Groups 

GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING RESEARCH CENTER Robert J. Freeman, Director 
G. Robert Smith, Jr., Asst Director 

July 6,1993 

Your organization has been selected to participate in a nationwide survey. The survey addresses 
different aspects ofthe financial statements used currently for the business-type (proprietary) 
funds of state and local govemments. We request that you or a member of your organization 
complete the enclosed survey. 

In research projects like this one, it is often difficult to find knowledgeable citizens. The active 
participation of citizen advocacy groups such as the [Name of Organization] is very important in 
any research that addresses public poUcy or financial reporting. The enclosed letter from David 
R Bean, Director of Research for Ihe Govemmental Accounting Standards Board, indicates the 
GASB's interest in and support of this research project. We would appreciate your support as 
well. 

Completion ofthe entire survey should take from 25 to 35 minutes. Two booklets are enclosed: 
an Information Booklet and a (Questionnaire Booklet. Please read the instructions for the survey 
carefully. The issues addressed include financial reporting in general, the format ofthe Statement 
of Cash Flows (SCF), and the options available for preparing one section ofthe SCF. 

To complete the Questionnaire Booklet, you will fmd it easier if you unfold the Information 
Booklet completely. After unfolding the Information Booklet, pages 1,2, and 3—necessary for 
Part I—and the "arrow" page should be in front of you. When you have finished Part I, fold page 
3 and the "arrow" page over pages 1 and 2; then pages 4 and 5—necessary for Part II—will be 
displayed. When you have fmished Part H, fold page 5 over page 4 and you will see page 6 which 
is used to complete Part HI. 

Should you encounter any problems in completing the survey, we encourage you to call Robert 
Smith at (806) 742-1414 or send us a FAX at (806) 742-2099. When you have completed the 
Questionnaire Booklet, please retum it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. 

Thank you for taking the time and effort to assist us in this project. 

Sincerely, 

G. Robert Smith, Jr. 
4 enclosures . 
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City CouncU Members and County Commissioners 

GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING RESEARCH CENTER Robert J. Freeman, Doctor 
G. Robert &nith, Jr., Asst Director 

June 25,1993 

Your city [county] has been selected to participate in a nationwide survey that assesses different 
aspects ofthe financial statements used currently for the proprietary (business-type) funds of state 
and local govemments. An important aspect of this research is how city council members [county 
commissioners] and other legislative officers evaluate the statements. Therefore, we ask that you 
complete the enclosed survey without discussing it with your finance director (who may be 
surveyed separately). 

The Govemmental Accounting Standards Board has stated on numerous occasions its intent to 
reexamine the financial reporting model, including the financial statements used in that model. 
The enclosed letter from David R Bean, Director of Research for the GASB, indicates the 
GASB's interest in and support of this research project. 

Completion ofthe entire survey should take from 25 to 35 minutes. Two booklets are enclosed: 
an Information Booklet and a (^estionnaire Booklet. Please read the instructions for the survey 
carefiilly. The issues addressed include financial reporting in general, the format ofthe Statement 
of Cash Flows, and the options available for preparing one section ofthe Statement of Cash 
Flows. 

To complete the Questionnaire Booklet, you will find it easier if you unfold the Information 
Booklet completely. After unfolding the Information Booklet, pages 1,2, and 3—necessary for 
Part I—and the "arrow" page should be in front of you. When you have finished Part I, fold page 
3 and the "arrow" page over pages 1 and 2; then pages 4 and 5—necessary for Part II—will be 
displayed. When you have finished Part H, fold page 5 over page 4 and you will see page 6 which 
is used to complete Part HI. 

Should you encounter any problems in completing the survey, we encourage you to call Robert 
Smith at (806) 742-1414 or send us a FAX at (806) 742-2099. When you have completed the 
Questionnaire Booklet, please reUim it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. 

Thank you for taking the time and effort to assist us in this research. 

Sincerely, 

G. Robert Smith, Jr. 
4 enclosures 
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Members of National Federation of Municipal Analysts 

GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING RESEARCH CENTER I> U _ T ^ 

oi:,/uvv.n v̂ nix 1 tK Robert J. Freeman, Director 
G. Robert Smith, Jr., Asst Director 

June 25,1993 

You have been selected from the National Federation of Municipal Analysts membership to 
participate m a nationwide survey. This survey assesses different aspects ofthe fmancial 
statements used cun-ently for the proprietary (business-type) fimds of state and local 
governments. We are interested in your perspective as an analyst of these statements. 

The Govemmental Accounting Standards Board has stated on numerous occasions its intent to 
reexamine the financial reporting model, including the financial statements used in that model. 
The enclosed letter from David R Bean, Director of Research for the GASB, indicates the 
GASB's interest in and support of this research project. 

Completion ofthe entire survey should take from 25 to 35 minutes. Two booklets are enclosed: 
an Information Booklet and a Questionnaire Booklet. Please read the insUiictions for the survey 
carefiilly. The issues addressed include financial reporting in general, the format ofthe Statement 
of Cash Flows, and the options available for preparing one section ofthe Statement of Cash 
Flows. 

To complete the Questionnaire Booklet, you will find it easier if you imfold the Information 
Booklet completely. After unfolding the Information Booklet, pages 1,2, and 3—necessary for 
Part I—and the "arrow" page should be in front of you. When you have finished Part I, fold page 
3 and the "arrow" page over pages 1 and 2; then pages 4 and 5—necessary for Part II—will be 
displayed. When you have finished Part II, fold page 5 over page 4 and you will see page 6 which 
is used to complete Part HI. 

Should you encounter any problems in completing the survey, we encourage you to call Robert 
Smith at (806) 742-1414 or send us a FAX at (806) 742-2099. When you have completed the 
Questionnaire Booklet, please retum it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. 

Thank you for taking the time and effort to assist us in this research. 

Sincerely, 

G. Robert Smith, Jr. 
4 enclosures 
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Independent Auditors 

GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING RESEARCH CENTER 

June 30,1993 

Robert J. Freeman, Director 
G. Robert Smith, Jr., Asst Director 

You have been selected to participate in a nationwide survey of certified pubhc accountants to 
assess different aspects ofthe financial statements used currently for the proprietary (business-
type) funds of state and local govemments. In preparing this survey we have attempted to 
identify CPAs with an interest in govemmental reporting. We are interested in your perspective 
as an auditor or preparer of these statements. 

The Govemmental Accoimting Standards Board has stated on numerous occasions its intent to 
reexamine the fmancial reporting model, including the fmancial statements used in that model. 
The enclosed letter from David R Bean, Director of Research for the GASB, indicates the 
GASB's interest in and support of this research project. 

Completion ofthe entire survey should take from 25 to 35 minutes. Two booklets are enclosed: 
an Information Booklet and a Questionnaire Booklet. Please read the instmctions for the survey 
carefiilly. The issues addressed include fmancial reporting in general, the format ofthe Statement 
of Cash Flows (SCF), and the options available for preparing one section ofthe SCF. 

To complete the Questionnaire Booklet, you will fmd it easier if you unfold the Information 
Booklet completely. After unfolding the Information Booklet, pages 1,2, and 3—necessary for 
Part I—and the "arrow" page should be m front of you. When you have finished Part I, fold page 
3 and the "arrow" page over pages 1 and 2; then pages 4 and 5—necessary for Part II—will be 
displayed. When you have fmished Part H, fold page 5 over page 4 and you will see page 6 which 
is used to complete Part IH. 

Should you encounter any problems in completing the survey, we encourage you to call Robert 
Smith at (806) 742-1414 or send us a FAX at (806) 742-2099. When you have completed the 
Questionnaire Booklet, please return it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. 

Thank you for taking the time and effort to assist us in this research 

Sincerely, 

G. Robert Smith, Jr. 
4 enclosures . 
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State Auditors 

GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING RESEARCH CENTER Robert J. Freeman, Director 
G. Robert Smith, Jr., Asst Director 

June 30,1993 

You have been selected to participate in a nationwide survey of state auditors to assess different 
aspects ofthe financial statements used currently for the proprietary 0)usiness-type) fimds of state 
and local governments, hi preparing this survey we have attempted to identify the office in each 
state govemment responsible for auditing state agencies and local govemments. We are 
interested in your perspective as an auditor of these statements. 

The Govemmental Accoimting Standards Board has stated on numerous occasions its intent to 
reexamine the financial reporting model, including the financial statements used in that mcdel. 
The enclosed letter from David R Bean, Director of Research for the GASB, indicates the 
GASB's interest in and support of this research project. 

Completion ofthe entire survey should take from 25 to 35 minutes. Two booklets are enclosed: 
an Information Booklet and a Questionnaire Booklet. Please read the instructions for the sur\ e> 
carefully. The issues addressed include financial reporting in general, the format ofthe Statement 
of Cash Flows (SCF), and the options available for preparing one section ofthe SCF. 

To complete the Questionnaire Booklet, you will find it easier if you unfold the Information 
Booklet completely. After unfolding the Information Booklet, pages 1,2, and 3— n̂ecessary for 
Part I—and iie "arrow" page should be in front of you. When you have fmished Part I, fold page 
3 and the "arrow" page over pages 1 and 2; then pages 4 and 5— n̂ecessary for Part II—^will be 
displayed. When you have finished Part H, fold page 5 over page 4 and you will see page 6 which 
is used to complete Part HI. 

Should you encounter any problems in completing the survey, we encourage you to call Robert 
Smith at (806) 742-1414 or send us a FAX at (806) 742-2099. When you have completed the 
Questionnaire Booklet, please retum it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. 

Thank you for taking the time and effort to assist us in this research. 

Sincerely, 

G. Robert Smith, Jr. 
4 enclosures 
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Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

DAVID R. BEAN 
Director of Research 

June 25,1993 

A part ofthe Govemmental Accounting Standards Board's ongoing mission is to review the 
effects of past decisions and to interpret, amend, or replace standards when appropriate. The 
enclosed questionnaire addresses several reporting issues that are important to the GASB, 
including GASB Statement No. 9, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable 
Trust Funds and Govemmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting. 

GASB Statement 9 was issued in 1989 and was effective for financial statements for the fiscal 
year beginning after December 15,1989. Since that time, the Board has taken under 
consideration the application of a cash flows statement to govemmental funds as part of its 
fmancial reporting model project. Therefore, this research will provide valuable information as 
the model project progresses. 

The research project is being conducted by Mr. G. Robert Smith of Texas Tech University. In 
any study such as this one, greater participation leads to more and better information. For this 
reason, I strongly encourage you to complete the survey and retum it to Mr. Smith as soon as 
possible. We are all interested in your assessment of these important fmancial reporting issues. 

Sincerely, 

David R Bean 
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Standard Follow-up Letter 

GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING RESEARCH CENTER Robert J. Freeman, Director 
G. Robert Smith, Jr., Asst Director 

September 7,1993 

This is a second request for you to participate in a nationwide survey of [appropriate group] to 
assess different aspects ofthe financial statements used currently for the proprietary (business-
type) fimds of state and local govemments. 

In preparing this survey we have attempted to identify [appropriate group] with an interest in 
govemmental reporting. We are interested in your perspective of these statements. The issues 
addressed include financial reporting in general, the format ofthe Statement of Cash Flows, and 
the options available for preparing one section ofthe Statement of Cash Flows. 

Completion ofthe entire survey should take from 25 to 35 minutes. Two booklets are enclosed: 
an Information Booklet and a Questionnaire Booklet. Please read the instmctions for the survey 
carefiilly. 

To complete the Questionnaire Booklet, you will fmd it easier if you unfold the Information 
Booklet completely. After unfolding the Information Booklet, pages 1,2, and 3— n̂ecessary for 
Part I—and tiie "arrow" page should be in front of you. When you have finished Part I, fold page 
3 and the "arrow" page over pages 1 and 2; then pages 4 and 5— n̂ecessary for Part II—^will be 
displayed. When you have finished Part H, fold page 5 over page 4 and you will see page 6 which 
is used to complete Part HI. Finally, please be sure to complete the demographic questions at tiie 
end ofthe survey, and let us know if you would like to receive a copy ofthe results of tiiis survey. 

Should you encounter any problems in completing tiie survey, we encourage you to call Robert 
Smitii at his new numbers at Auburn University. The numbers replace tiie ones found in your 
Questionnaire Booklet His telephone number is (205) 844-6203, and his FAX number is 
(205) 844-4016 (School of Accountancy). When you have completed tiie Questionnaire Booklet, 
please retum it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. 

Your response is very valuable to us. We appreciate your participation in tiiis survey. 

Sincerely, 

G. Robert Smitii, Jr. 
3 enclosures 
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FoUow-up Postcard 

Texas Tech University 
Govemmental Accounting Research Center 

You should have already received or soon will receive a follow-up to 
our survey on the current financial reporting practices of state and 
local govemments. 

It should take you about 25 to 35 minutes to complete the survey. 
We value highly your response. If you have aheady returned your 
Questiormaire Booklet, thank you. If not, please do so as soon as 
possible. Should you have any questions conceming the survey or 
require other assistance, please contact: 

G. Robert Smitii, Jr. 
Auburn University 

Telephone: (205) 844-6203 
FAX: (205) 844-4016 

Thank you for your cooperation and support. 



APPEl^IXE 

R E S P G l ^ E ] ^ DEMOGRAPfflC DATA 

This appendix briefly examines the information provided by the respondents about 

themselves. The Respondent Demographic Data section was on the last two pages ofthe 

Questiomiaire Booklet (shown in Appendix C). This placement may have caused fewer 

respondents to complete it than the rest ofthe survey. However, enough information was 

obtained to get a general picture ofthe experience level and other information about the 

people who worked on the survey. 

The first question asked for the approximate age ofthe respondent. Table E-1 

summarizes the information provided.̂  Most ofthe respondents were at age 45 or 

younger, ahhough the Citizens and Legislators group had 73% ofthe respondents over 45. 

This response could indicate that as only older people participate in govemments or in 

citizen action groups, but one would hope that that is not the case. 

The second question asked respondents to rate their own knowledge of generally 

accepted accounting principles (GAAP) applicable to state and local govemments (SLGs) 

and businesses. Also, the respondents were asked to rate their involvement in the analysis 

of State and local govenunent financial reports. A five-point scale was used for these 

ratings, with "1" representing "Very Low" and "5" representing "Very High." Tables E-2 

through E-4 summarize the information provided. 

'All ofthe tables in this appendix report percentages based on the number of respondents 
selecting a response divided by the total number of respondents in that group, unless otiierwise 
indicated. 
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Table E-1. Age Analysis of Respondents. 
Age Group 

Under 25 
25-35 
36-45 
46-55 
56-65 
Over 65 

Finance 
Dfrectors 

A 
0 

23 
49 
21 

5 
2 

Citizens and 
Legislators 

B 
0 
7 

20 
25 
15 
33 

Creditors 

C 
0 

36 
43 
13 
6 
2 

Auditors 

D 
0 

33 
34 
24 

8 
1 

Table E-2. Familiarity with SLG GAAP. 

Rating 
1 
2 
3 
4 
5 

A 
0 
1 

11 
46 
42 

B 
18 
24 
32 
23 

3 

C 
2 

11 
32 
51 
4 

D 
0 
1 

10 
34 
55 

Table E-3. Familiarity v t̂h Business GAAP 

Table E-4. Involvement in SLG Financial Analysis. 
C Rating 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 

B 
3 
8 

20 
38 

31 

28 
17 
28 
22 

5 

2 
8 

25 
38 
27 

D 
3 

11 
14 
45 
27 
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As expected, the Citizens and Legislators group rated themselves moderate to low in 

all categories, while the respondents in the other three groups had a tendency to rate 

themselves moderate to high. Perhaps the most surprising ratmg is that the auditors rated 

themselves more familiar with govemmental GAAP than with private sector GAAP. This 

trend is probably the result of including representatives from State Auditors in this sample. 

Finally, all respondents were asked to report the number of SLG annual financial 

reports they reviewed each year. Table E-5 reports the distribution of these responses. 

Not surprising is the fairly low number of reports reviewed by members ofthe Citizens 

and Legislators group. Many finance directors that review more than one report each year 

are reveiwers in the Govemment Finance Officers Association Certificate of Achievement 

for Excellence in Fmancial Reporting Program or similar state programs. 

Respondents employed by a local govemment were also asked to report their position 

title. This question was asked to get an estimate ofthe types of people completing the 

survey. The more common position titles (held by five or more respondents) were: 

• Chief (or Administrator, Director, Manager, Supervisor) of Accounting—3 5 

respondents; 

• Finance Director—27 respondents; 

• Comptroller/Controller—18 respondents; 

• Accountant—14 respondents; and 

• Auditor—7 respondents. 
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# of Reports 

I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6-10 

11-20 

21-30 

31-40 

41-50 

51-100 

101-150 

151-200 

More than 200 

A 

29 

6 

16 

3 

10 

21 

10 

2 

2 

1 

B 

64 

15 

10 

1 

3 

4 

3 

C 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

10 

8 

12 

10 

32 

8 

4 

4 

any. 
D 

15 

1 

4 

4 

3 

23 

21 

10 

5 

3 

6 
1 

3 

1 

In addition, these respondents were asked to report whether their govemment 

prepared a Statement of Cash Flows, what method used to prepare the statement, and 

who recommended that method. Table E-6 summarizes these responses (the actual counts 

are used in this table). 

Table E-6. SCF Formats. 
Format 

Direct 

Indirect 

# of Responses 

36 

41 

Recommended by 

Respondent 

Public auditor 

State auditor 

Respondent 

PubUc auditor 

State auditor 

17 

15 

4 

16 

21 

4 

The last series of questions was directed only to the respondents employed by 

an audit organization. As with the Finance Directors group, the respondents were 

asked to identify their position title. Of those responding 16 said they work for a 
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state audit agency; 28 are audit managers or audit partners; 28 are partners; and 30 

respondents hold other positions. The auditors were asked how many state or 

local govemment audhs were performed annuaUy by their firm or organization. 

The total number of audits performed by the respondents number over 4,000. The 

largest number of audits performed by a single organization is 600, done by a state 

audhor. The smallest number, as expected, was one. Table E-7 summarizes the 

responses. 

Table E-7. Number of Audits Performed 

Range of Audits 

# performed 

I-IO 

52 

11-20 

20 

21-30 

5 

31-40 

4 

41-50 

6 

More than 50 

21 

Finally, the auditors were asked what percent of their local govenunent clients: 

(1) included a SCF in their annual financial report; (2) use the direct method in preparing 

the SCF; (3) receive the GFOA Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial 

Reporting; and (4) are assisted by the auditor in compiUng proper financial statements 

during the audit. The number of responses to each ofthe above issues, identified by the 

corresponding number [(1) through (4)] are summarized in Table E-8. 

Table E-8. Analysis of Auditor Responses. 

Percentage 
Range 

0-10 
11-20 
21-30 

31-40 

41-50 

More than 50 

1 
104 
18 

5 

3 
1 
9 

issues (actual 

1 2 1 
126 
11 
0 

0 
0 

3 

count) 

3 1 
131 

6 

1 

0 

1 

1 

4 
100 
17 

4 

4 

2 

13 






